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PREFACE

T HE WORLD had scarcely recovered its senses from the
first Moscow trial before it was overwhelmed with the story
of th~ second trial; a second trial made more terrible by the

fact that it clearly inidcates that other trials are to follow.
These trials are the more significant because they are not isol­

ated events which suddenly happen to astonish the world. Indeed, it
is hardly correct to call them the First Moscow Trials for there have
been other trials. In 1931 the Labor and Socialist International was
compelled to issu\~ a pamphlet on the Moscow trials. F¥om 1928 on
there have been recurring trials. The trials covered in this book and
listed as the First Moscow Trials are of outstanding significance.
partly because they present fully that which is but indicated in the
earlier trials.

In the attack upon the right of political asylum, in the promise
of "more convincing" trials to come, in the bitter resentment of any
criticism of their conduct. thes~ trials compel a sober effort to under­
stand what is back of them. The absen.ce of documentary evidence.
the reliance upon "confessions" and the bitterness and suspicion
they produce in an hour when solidarity of all workers is the grow­
ing need in the sharpening struggle raises questions that will not
down. And when we consider the seriousness of what these trials
portend for the future of the workers uJho are prepared to struggle
for a new society we are driven to make every effort to understand
them.

The Socialist Party has from the beginning of the Soviet Union
demanded for it l1ecognition and sought to defend it against all of
the misrepresentations and vicious attacks made upon it by its ene­
mies. The Soviet Union marked a great achievement in the long
struggle of the workers against exploitation. The workers there had
taken a long long step in the march toward the compl~te emancipa­
tion of those who toil. This achievement brought hope and new life
to millions of toilers throughout the world.

These trials go far beyond the political differences of two
groups. They create issues that will for all time affect the struggle
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of all workers everywhere. Even liberals who profess a belief in
democracy are aroused and shocked by the revelations of what
happened. In a much larger m.easure every worker is most vitally
concerned. Charges do not constitute proof. "Confessions" do not
.explain. Bitter attack is not a convincing answer to a plea for a
complete and impartial hearing. From workers everywhere, jealous
as to the integrity of workers institutions and the cause of Interna­
tional Socialism comes a demand for a full understanding of what
is involved. Whether we like it or not, we must sit in judgment.
We want that judgment to be intelligent and adequate. It is essen­
tial that; in so far as possible, we undertsand these trials. Too much
is at stake to be moved with bitterness. Against the hysteria and
hatred of this hour we must seek to unde,rstand and evaluate the
.forces at work.

This book by Comrade Francis Heisler is an attempt to aid
in that effort. It is a critical review of the evidence. It faces the full
implications of the trials. It was not written hurriedly. Much work
was done on it as a result of the first trial. Conclusions and evalua­
tions were reached similar to those reached by other writers but as
a result of independent effort and approach. All the material has
be~n carefully checked and every conclusion carefully examined.
With this painstaking care and work he was ready to present the
whole matter so as to include the second trial.

While I am happy to write this introduction, the work of Com­
¥nae Heisler needs no introduction. It speaks for itself. It is a care­
ful presentation such as would go before any court. EV'ery aspect is
considered. There is the careful and thorough preparation marked
by accuracy and moderation, characteristic of the work of a trained
legal mind. It is couched in language that th.e lay mind fully under­
stands. It is written from the point of view of one who not only
recognizes the struggle of the worker but of one who himself parti­
cipates. Not only is the whole matter of tile trial clearly presented,
the testimony evaluated, the history of the defendants outlined, but
all the implications of the entire trial is fully faced.

It is no accident that this presentation of the Moscow Trials ­
is so ably done by Comrade Heisler. Years of service in the cause
of the· workers is back of this. For a number of years he was an
outstanding .lawyer in the active service of the International Labor
Defense. Then he rendered notable service in the Non-Partisan
Labo:" Defei!se League. At present he is actively engaged in the
work of the' Workers Defense League. .
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In the courtroom he has won many notable victories for work­
ers. In the Chicago courts and throughout the Middle West he has
most capably served the cause of the workers. In court battles ac­
companying strikes as that of the truck drivers in Fargo, N. D., of
the Union struggles in Minneapolis, or in the more routine task of
aiding workers in their defense against perjured testimony and the
"frame-up," so common in the experience of workers he has gained
much of the experience which enables him to evaluate so effectively
these trials of world wide importance.

But it is not merely in the court room where he has served. In
organizing the workers, in sharing in the struggle of their organiza­
tion, in building defense organizations he has been so much a part
of the whole struggle of the workers (hat he is qualified to sense
and make clear to'others the implications of these trials for the
workers of the world.

International Socialism and SociaUsts are gravely concerned.
We want a workers world. We want to champion the Soviet Union
not apologize for her. We cherish the approach made toward the
achievement of Socialism, and we ~ek that that record shall not
be marred. We w'ant to look forward with anticipation and not
lvith dread.

A II men who love liberty and seek justice, all men who desire
the continuance of whatev~r measure of democracy there is in the
world as a means for the reaUzation of a more perfect democracy
keenly feel the challenge which these trials present.

These trials are a matter of history. But the forces which pro­
duced them are still at work. In eVlCry part of the world the forces
of reaction strengthen themselves. New onslaughts are being made
on what little has been gained by the workers in th!eir age old strug­
gle. The issues are being sharpened. The threat of international war
grows ever more acute. Against the forces of capitalism and blind
reaction the workers must prevail. But the forces expressed in these
trials and the threat of new trials, the bitter criticism and hostility
manifested against the protest of workers of unquestioned integrity
and loyalty to the cause of the workers constitute a most sefiou's
threat. That threat cannot be ignored. It must be faced.

Because our lives and our loyalties are pledged to the caus.e
of International Socialism we ,demand that this cause must be served
above all others.

Roy E. BURT.
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INTRODUCTION

A
T THE TIME when the international working class followed
with bated breath the happenings in Spain, the Moscow r:eport
of the trial of the Old Bolsheviks came as lightning out of ~

blue sky.(1) The report caused more than a momentary focusing of
the attentio'n of the workers of the world upon "The Fatherland of
the Workers." No other news coming from' the Soviet Union in
the last few years has caused so much discussion, division of opinion,
taking of definite sides pro and con among workers and intellectuals,
as the one pertaining to the trial of Zinoviev, Kamenev and the
other fourteen accused ones. Individuals, groups, as well as papers,
although avowed friends of the Soviet Union, were horror-stricken
and ruthlessly outspoken in their condemnation of the ruling strata
of the Soviet Union, which was recognized as responsible for the
trial of the Old Bolsheviks. Sympathizers and members of the com­
munist parties throughout the world, as well as the official and un­
official papers of the Third International, on the other hand, were
unanimous in their belief, or at least in the protestation of ·their
belief, in the guilt of the accused Old Bolsheviks, and in their
condemnation even before the trial.

The Manchester Guardian Weekly, one of the first of the papers
which came out against the intervention of the powers in the Soviet
Union, was unequivocal in taking a position against the trial, and
condemned the government of the Soviet Union as nothing short
of criminal for the uncalled for and untimely staging of the new
trial. On Friday, August 21, 1936, before the Moscow trial proceeded
very far, the Manchester Guardian Weekly wrote editorially:

"The Soviet government has surprised and disgusted even
its most 'ardent friends by its sudden decision to hold a new
state trial with all the appearance of III propagandist-terrorist
'staged' production. For a subject it has gone back to Kirov, ....
for victims they have dragged out the wretched Zinoviev and
Kamenev. . . . If, as it is generally supposed, the trial is being
held for the purposes of propaganda, the moment has been
peculiarly badly chosen."

The Nation, of New York which is justly or otherwise considered

(1) Re.fe,rs to the trial of Aug., 1936. After going to press, in Ian. 1937, it is reported
ofhc.ally from Mos'cow that a new trial will begin on the 23r day of Jan. Among the
17 accused are Radek, Piatakov, Sokolnikov-and others.

- 1-



2 THE FIRST TWO MOSCOW TRIALS

by many to be a supporter of Stalin, after the sixteen Old Bolsheviks
were sentenced to death felt that:

"Death fOT sixteen by the firing squad does not smell any
the sweeter for being called, as the Soviet Judge Ulrich called
it, 'the highest form of social defense-shooting.' It would be
easy to construct a complete defense of the Soviet executions;
easy,also, by putting the pieces together rather differently,
to construct as complete an indictment of the regime." (2)

The Nation in the editorial above quoted seeks and claims to
-find an explanation for the trial and the executions in the fact that;

"Russia feels it must gird itself for the most cruciaJ
struggle in itS' life. . .. a struggle whose terrible and unyielding
quality is presaged by the Spanish events.(3) For such llJ strug­
gle it must 'be unified with every opposition stamped out and
every national energy whipped up."

The daily reports from Moscow concerning the Bolshevik Trial
as given in the bourgeois newspapers, most of them openly hostile
to the Soviet Union, can be considered as nothing but observations
of news values and their commentaries, expressing no basic con­
cern for the factors involved in the trial, and therefore not represen­
tative of an opinion pro or con as are those of the liberal, socialist
or communist press. The socialists and the affiliated organizations
and organs of the Second International express a concern very
seldom seen before; the' concern going beyond comments into the
sphere of recommendations and protests submitted to the Moscow
government. Norman Thomas, member of the National Executive
Committee, of the Socialist Party of the United States, three times
presidential candidate, "reads of the extraordinary trial of Zinoviev,
Kamenev and their associates with a heavy heart." He finds that
the trial "was an amazing, fantastic, incredible affair." (4) Thomas
goes even beyond comments when he demands a fair trial for the
accused, and, expressing his opinion of the charges brought against
the sixteen accused, says:

"Everything we know of the character and beliefs of these
men makes the story 'highly improbable. The Stalin govern­
ment must be made to understand thllJt intelligent public opinion
will not accept its charges as proof. Neither will it accept the
results of the ordinary political trial, as conducted in Russia.
A government which, following the assassination of Kirov, sum­
marily put to death more than a hundred persons without trial,
has to win its way back to the confidence of men who believe
that civil liberty is more than a plaything of one group or
faction in a grim struggle. Those of us who rejoiced at Russia's
apparent progress towards civil liberty in her new Constitution,

---'--
(2) Aug. 29. 1936.
(3) The military-fascist uprising of Gen. Franco, July 18, 1936.
(4) Socialist Call, Aug. 29, 1936



INTRODUPTION 3

will be exceedingly anxious that the whole cause of liberty and
humanity, the whole hope of a working class solidarity, shall
not be set bacK by fanatical prosecution of the Trotskyites.
Trotsky is right in asking a special commission to take his own
testimony." (5)

T.he leaders of the Second l'nternational,-just recently having
been invited by the Communist International to form: a United
Front in defense of the workers of the world-telegraphed their
protest in the name of the Labor and Socialist (Second) Interna­
tional to the Central Executive Committee of the Soviet. govern­
ment, declaring that the trial and the execution of the Old Bol­
sheviks must be considered everything but conducive to the unifica­
tion of the workers of the world. The telegram; signed by
DeBrouckere, Fritz Adler, Citrine a'nd Schevenels apparently ex­
pressed the sentiments of the national units of the Second Interna­
tional because it was preceded and followed by condemning articles
in the Daily Herald (England), Arbeiter Bladet (Norway), Le Populaire
(France), Pravo Lidu (Czechoslovakia), and other papers read by
workers usually referred to as class-conscious.

If the liberal friends of the Soviet Union are mournful because
of the Moscow Trial, if the Second International openly condemns
and directly protests to Moscow against the executions, the revolu­
tionary section of the international proletariat goes even farther
and accuses the Moscow government of something which would be
called scabbing in a strike. The Spanish revolutionary workers,
who at the time of the trial did more than writing articles or
sending protest telegrams in the interest of the working class
victory, took the liberty to accuse Stalin, as the represe'ntative of
the Communist Party of Russia, of openly supporting the fascists
of Europe by conducting the trial and thus splitting the unity of
the working class. After Caballero organized the new Spanish
cabinet; after the enthusiasm's of the workers of Spain to fight for
a Workers'Republic was expressed by the volunteering ten-thousands
of workers and farmers; after revolutionary committees had been
set up all over Spain as the necessary and logical step towards the
establishment of a proletarian dictatorship, regiment after regiment
of workers' militia was m(ade ready to depart to the front, but

"Before departing, the regiments passed the resolution whieh
was telegraphed to Moscow, protesting aglliinst the execution
of Zinoviev and indignantly rejecting the calumny that Trotsky,
creator of the Red Army, was an agent of the German Gestapo,
and also demanding the immediate liberation of milliomr of
anllirchists, mensheviks and Tolstoyans from Bolshevik conce~

---
(5) Ibid, Aug. 22, 1936,



THE FIRST TWO MOSCOW TRIALS

tration camps and prisons. In mass meetings going on in all
parts of the city, Stalin was flatly accused of having passed
into the fascist camp and of trying to sabotage the Spanish
revolution as 'h~ wrecked past chances of victory of Chinese,
German and Austrian proletariats.''' (6)

While the effect of the trial as expressed by the opinion of the
liberals, socialists and revolutionary communists, extends from
shock to open protest and condem,nation of Stalin, the adherents and
sympathizers of the Third International show no diversity of opinion
at all. Their unanimity in having found the accused guilty before
the trial is almost suspicious. Their language used against the ac­
cused is provoking, their slander and calumny against those who>
dared to express an opinion different from that of the public pro­
secutor of the Soviet Union recalls the language of the so-called
"third period" of the Communist International, when the Second In­
:t,ernational and the Socialists in general were called '"[Social­
fascists"; they, as Stalin expressed it, being "tw~n brothers of
fascismj."

The communist press of the world printed the first news of the'
trial proper, on August 15, 1936, at which time the news did not
as yet take on first page importance. It appears that the pre­
liminary examination was concluded on August 14, 1936, and "the
indictment of the State Prosecutor of the U.S.S.R. is confirmed
and has been forwarded, together with the documents of the case,.
to the Military Tribunal of the High Court of the U.S.S.R2 to be
dealt w:ith on the basis of the resolution of the Central Executive­
Committee of the U.S.S.R. of August 11." (7)

While the indictment was not as yet published, the communist
press of the world was informed on August 14, 1936 by the Peoples"
Commissariat of Hom~ Affairs concerning "the discovery of a.
number of Trotskyist-Zinovievist terrorist groups preparing ter­
rorist acts against the leaders of the Communist Party of the Soviet
Union and the Soviet State, under the direct instructions of Trotsky'
and under the direct leadership of the so-called United Center
Trotskyite-Zinovievite block." (8)

On August 17th the communist press informed its readers, that·
"Trotskyist Ties With Nazis Revealed As Trials Near" and that.
"U.S.S.R. Masses Ask No Mercy For Plotters" and that because'
"Preliminary Statements A;nd Editorials in the Soviet press Leave·
No Doubt That The Trial Will Produce Crushing Evidence Of The
Guilt Of The Leaders Of This Terrorist Conspiracy." The Daily'

(6) Toronto Star, Sept. 5. 1936-Report of Pierre Van Paassen from Madrid.
(7) Daily Worker, New York, Aug. Ill, 1936.
(8) Ibid.



INTRODU,CTION 5

Worker on that day was informed by cable from Moscow that
"under the direction of the United Center of the group, several
terrorist acts were carried out, among them the murder of Sergei
Kirov on December 1, 1934, under direct instructions given by
Trotsky and Zinoviev. (Emphasis always ours unless otherwise
noted.)

August 18th and 19th, apparently taken up by the preludes of
the trial, were passed up by the com:munist press without any
mention of the proceedings against the alleged conspirators of
Moscow. On the 20th, however, headlines reported that "'Fourteen
Accused Trotskyites Admit Guilt In Soviet Trial"; and on the 21st
"Trotsky Gave Orders To Kill Stalin, Kirov, Say Plotters," and on
the same day the communist press of the world spread another
headline across six columns that "Soviet Indictments Against
Trotskyist Plotters Disclose Conspiracy With Nazi Secret Police­
head To Assassinate Stalin, Red Army Chie£''' On this day the of..;
ficial publications of the Communist International were grinding
out not only their reports but also editorial comments, as did the
Daily Worker (New York) which stated that "Hitler's chief assassin.
Him:mler, directed the fiendish Trotskyite assassination plot against the
leaders of the Soviet Union." The same editorial becam'e prophetic
concerning Trotsky, saying that "the trial, as it goes on, will demon­
strate that he joined hmuls with Hitler's bloody agent . ..\.'. , to carry
through that terrorism which he has openly championed and encouraged."

Reading the communist press or at least glancing at the head­
lines, one almost forgets that there were sixteen alleged conspira­
tors on trial and that Trotsky was not among them. The com~

munist press continued reporting from Moscow; "Trotsky Demand­
ed Killing Of Stalin l'n Plot For Power," and that "Trotskyism.
Spurned By Masses, Uses Nazi Aid Against USSR.'·

There was a momentary let-up in the accusations directed by
the international communist press against Trotsky and against
Trotskyites only after the Labor and Socialist (Second) Interna­
tional sent its protest telegram on the 23rd of August, 1936. Then
the international pre~s of the Third International w,ent after the
Trotskyites only part-time, being at other times busy in assailing
the Second International because of its concern for the "Trotsky
plotters."

On August 23rd, the Pravda, the official organ of the Com­
munist Party U.S.S.R., had the information that;

"the Council of Peoples' CommiS'Sars of the U.S.S.R. does not
consider it necessary to answer this teleiTam regarding the



6 THE FIRST TWO MOSCOW TRIALS

case of the Trotskyite-Zinovievite terrorist center now being
tried before the Military Collegium of the Supreme Court of
the U.S.S.R..... The telegram from DeBroukere, Adler, Citrine
and Schevenels is 8l crude attempt to encroach upon the rights
and duties of the Soviet court. It is 3J political demonstration
against the Soviet Union and deserving of branding before the
face of the working clasS' of the whole world.

The trial in progress at that time and the so-called confessions
of the accused were apparently not sufficient to establish the guilt
of Trotsky and the Trotskyites (who, we may recall, were not on
trial in Moscow); therefore, luminaries of the Russian Communist
Party were brought to the fore. On August 23rd, Karl Radek and
G. Piatakov (not yet among the accused on that day) published
their articles against Trotsky and the Trotskyites in the Pravda,
full of vituperatio'ns, speaking of Trotsky as "arch bandits" and the
"organizer of assassinations of the best people of the World Proletariat,"'"
calling him the "fascist bandit chief" who "was thrown out of the country
by Soviet power" as deserved by the "bloody bandit" and the "agent of
the counter·revolutionary bourgeoisie whose agent Trotsky has long been""
and "who united his criminal work with that of the fascists . . • •
Together they directed the terrorist group." These gems of political
pamphleteering (some persons would call it political character
assassination) appeared on the same day when the communist press..
fearful that the readers might forget Trotsky and the Trotskyites
while reading about the trial of Zinoviev and his alleged con­
spirators, reported that the "Soviet Court Weighs Death For
Trotsky Conspirators."

When on August 24th, Moscow reported upon the verdict, ac­
cording to wihich the sixteen plotters were to be shot, the headlines.
of the communist press again preferred Trotsky by informing the­
world that "'Court Sentences Trotsky-Zinoviev Conspirators Under
Criminal Code." The Russian press urged "Greater Vigilance
Against Trotsky's Agents .Who Plot Murder Of Leaders." After
the publication of the verdict, one reading the press of the Soviet
Union found a not unexpected unanimity expressed by resolutions·
of workers organizations and farm cooperatives. The unanimity
with which, according to the official communist press, the workers·
of the world hailed the execution of the so-called plotters, was sur­
passed only by the unanimity of slander and vituperation heaped'
upon the head of all those who failed to join in the jubilation for
the sentence and executions. From George Dimitroff, General
Secretary of the Communist I'nternational, up and down, every
bureaucrat, ever,x functionary of the official Communist parties and
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of the peripheral communist organizations was busily engaged in
name calling and calling down of those socialists, and those liberals
who expressed some misgivings or even doubt as to the justification
or even advisability of the trial, the sentence and of the execution.
The slogan was given by Dimitroff who, writing in Pravda, succinctly
declares on August 26th that "to defend the despicable terrorists means
to help fascism."

As if to crown the trial of Moscow with an open declaration that
it was really directed against Trotsky and the Trotskyites, the
Soviet government on August 30th· officially and formally re­
quested the Norwegian government that Leon Trotsky be expelled(9)
from Norway, which demand was immediately refused by the Nor­
wegian governm'ent and was condemned by workers' organizations
throughout the world as a most dastardly attempt upon the right
of political asylum, the sharper to be condemned because the attack
came from the "Fatherland of the Workers."

Even though the sixteen Old Bolsheviks, the alleged conspirators
against the safety of the Soviet Union and against the life of the
Soviet leaders, were reported as having been shot, the communist
press did not feel safe as yet. The sluice gates of the Communist
International press bureau were opened, reams of paper and gallons
of ink were used in putting out articles-all to convince the world,
or that part of it which is interested in working-class unity, that
the Moscow trial was necessary and the executions justified in the
interest of the workers. The People's Commissariat of Justice of
the U.S.S.R. even felt it necessary to publish a "Report of Court
Proceedings; The Case of the. Trotskyites-Zinov'ievite Terrorist
Centre." The report was made available to those who do not read
Russian, in an official translation.

To many it is apparent that the trial was not called to deal
with sixteen allegedly confessed conspirators alone, if at all. The
trial and the executions, as well as the subsequent international
propaganda have obviously important antecedents, as well as ex­
pected and unexpected reverberations. To understand the what-for
and the where-for of the trial, the reasons for the stage setting, it
is necessary to analyze the dramatis personae, their acts, their
present, past and expected role in the proletarian history. How­
ever, to make such an analysis worth while, one must observe an

(9) The request is made for the expulaion and not for the extradition of Trotsky. The
reason for it is that expulsion is accom'plished hy administrative oreer while extradition
is decreed only after a iudic.ial hearing where a prima facie case must be made out on
the basis of the charges of the Soviet government. Such procedure, giving Trotsky the
opportunity to defend himself before an impartial Norwegian Court, was, for obvious
reasons, not desired by the Soviet government.
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objectivity, if objectivity is at all possible, in facing the problem~

An attempt shall be made to check carefully whatever records are
available, more particularly, to use nothing but official sources
at all times, always giving reference to the source used.. Because
of the importance of the problem and for the purpose of bringing
at least a semblance of order out of the maze of contradictory
reports, opinions, accusations and counter-accusations, a systematic
discussion of the national and international relations of the Soviet
Union appears necessary. After establishing certain facts, as we
believe we shall be able to do in the following chapters, 'Only a
summation will be necessary to advance the conclusions, which
following proven premises must remain unassailable. To clarify
all problems which are raised in connection with the trial, and
which urgently confront and closely touch the working class is a
need openly expressed; therefore, an early analysis such as this,
even though it is based on incomplete records, is considered just­
ified.

N.ovember, 19.36.



I. TilE INDICTMENT

U
RON READING the "Report of Court Proceedings" published
by the Peoples Commissariat of Justice of the USSR entitled
"The Case of the Trotskyite-Zinovievite Terrorist Centre," one

is reminded of an oft related story about the "ability" of Czarist
Russia to execute death sentences. A revolutionary was to be
hanged. The noose was placed around his neck, and the functionary
started the necessary machinations to hang the convict. The
rope used was not strong enough, and the revolutionary, after hav­
ing been lifted from the ground, fell when the rope broke. While
on the ground, he looked up and, in a tone which carried utter
conviction, exclaimed, "My poor Russia, you don't even know how
to hang people."

After going over the record of the trial and after reading the
indictment signed by A. Y. Vyshinsky, State's Attorney of the
USSR, one cannot help remarking that the prosecuting office of
Stalin's Russia does not even know how: to frame an indictment
("'frame" is used in a sense which will become self-evident later).

If one recalls the prosecutions against certain members of the
working class, such as the Tom Mooney trial, the trial of the Hay­
market Martyrs, the Sacco-Vanzetti, the Haywood-Moyer-Pettibone
trials, the trial of the Communists of Cologne, or even the reports
of bourgeois trials subsequently found to be frame-ups, such as the
Dreyfus trial,-masterpieces of intricate covering up of the facts
and a network of credible, probable or at least possible but untrue
statements and testimony,-one wonders how such a piece of di­
lettantism, as the indictment and the record of this trial, could be
permitted by the Soviet government to come before the eyes of an
unprejudiced public. The indictment, as we shall show, would not
stand up before the scrutiny of a first year law student, not to
speak of the debacle it would meet in conflict with a' seasoned
criminal lawyer. Had not the evidence caused such tragic con­
sequences, it would have been ridiculous. It is enough,-if during
the so-called "third period" of the Communist I'nternational, one­
as a radical worker-has had experience in New York, Chicago,
Cincinnati, Los Angeles, etc., with the Red or Industrial Squads
of the police,-to know that mu.ch better framed evidence has been

-9-
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presented thousands of times to bring about the conviction of
workers on the simple charge of "Disorderly Conduct." That no
better piece of evidence was presented by the Soviet government
in the trial of the sixteen Old Bolsheviks may be because it was
not considered necessary to present any evidence at all to bring
about the desired end, or possibly because A. Y. Vyshinsky was
and is a beginner in presenting trials such as the one just con­
cluded. If the latter is the case, then we may expect when Rykov,
Bucharin, Radek and Sokolnikov, the second group of accused
"counter-revolutionaries," will be brought to trial, that the indict­
ment and the evidence will be much better; and possibly when
Kaganovich, Dimitroff, Voroshilov, Molotov (the present ruling
group around Stalin) and others will follow to be tried for "fascist­
counter-revolutionary activities," the work of the State's Attorney
of the USSR will -be exemplary, since even a State's Attorney may
learn.

* * * *
On the 19th day of August, 1936, the Military Collegium of the

Supreme Court of the USSR Was presented by the prosecution,­
represented by the State's Attorney of the USSR himself, A. Y.
Vyshinsky,-with the indictment against the sixteen accused. The
indictment was drawn on August 14, 1936 (1), in accordance with
the decision of the Central Executive Committee of the USSR
handed down on August 11, 1936, and brought charges under so­
called Article 58 of the Criminal Code of the RS.F.S.R against:

G. E. Zinoviev; E. S. Holtzman;
L. B. Kamenev; 1. 1. Reingold;
S. V. Mrachkovsky; R V. Pickel;
I. N. Smirnov; V. P. Olberg;
I. P. Bakayev; K. B. Berman-Yurin;
V. A. Ter-Vaganyan; Fritz David;
G. E. Evdokimov; M. Lurye; and
E. A. Dreitzer; N. Lurye.

The indictment falls into three parts:
:'1. The Trotskyite-Zinovievite United Terrorist Centre.
II. The United Trotskyite-Zinovievite Centre and the Assas­

sination of Comrade S. M. Kirov.
11'1. Organization by the United Trotskyite-Zinovievite Centre

of terroristic acts against Comrade Voroshilov, Zhdanov, Kagano­
vich, Kossior, Orjonikidze and Postyshev."

'I The three sub-headings are followed by:

(1) Report of Court Proceedings-The Cas'e of the Trotskyite·Zinovievite Terrorist Center­
Published by the Peoples Commissariat of Justice of the USSR. Moscow, 1936, pp. 9-39.
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"Definition of the Charge."
There is an introduction in which the State's Attorney expresses

certain opinion after reviewing the (Leningrad) trial of January
15, 16, 1935, of the "underground-counter-revolutionary group of
Zinovievists calling itself the 'Moscow Centre', the principal leaders
of which among the other convicted were G. E. Zinoviev, L. B.
Kamenev, G. E. Evdokimov and 1. P. Bakayev," (This trial is
identified by the name of the defendant Kirov.)

The prosecutor states that "the preliminary and the Court in­
vestigation of that case (the Kirov trial) established that f?r a
number of years this 'Moscow Centre' guided the counter-revolu­
tionary activities of diverse underground groups of Zinovievites,
including the counter-revolutionary activities of the Leningrad group
of Nikolayev-Kotolynov which on December 1, 1934, foully murdered
comrade S. M. Kirov," (1a) In the opinion of the State's Attorney,
that trial "established" that the Moscow Center was "The idealogical­
political leader of the Leningrad group of Zinovievists, knew that
this group was inclined to terrorism and did all it could to fan this
inclination."(2) There was an apparent slip-up during the first
trial, but that slip-up has been corrected because the State's At­
torney claims that "it now transpires that eighteen months ago,
during the investigation of the case of the assassination of Comrade
S. M. Kirov, the investigating and judicial authorities were not in
possession of all the facts revealing the true role of the Zinovievite
leaders of the so-called 'Moscow Centre' on the one hand and
the leaders of the Trotskyite underground organization on the other, in the
white-guard, terroristic underground activities."(S) (Note how the
Trotskyites are brought into the case, where formerly only
Zindvievites are mentioned.)

Here, and throughout the transcript, one is surprised to note the
carelessness with which dates are handled. While on page 10 of
the transcript the State's Attorney bases the indictment "on the
strength of newly revealed circumstances ascertained by the in­
vestigating authorities in 1936," subsequent testimony shows that
many of the accused were arrested already in 1933 and 1934 to
respond for the present charges. Of course, it is possible that the

. prosecutor's office anticipated the "newly revealed circumstances"
of 1936 when the arrests were made as early as 1933 or 1934.

Slowly the charge takes form when the indictment speaks of
Zinoviev, Kamenev, Evdokimov, Bakayev, as the "initiators and or­
ganizers of attempts which were being prepared on the lives of

(1)a. Ibid, p. 10 (2) Ibid, p. 10 (3) Ibid, p. 10
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other leaders of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union."(4)
We note that the charge is "to prepare attempts on the lives of certain
individuals."(5) Up to now we heard of accomplished facts-we have
heard of attempts to commit a certain act in criminal proceedings,
but it remained for the prosecutor of the USSR to charge someone
with preparations for attempts to commit a certain act. (If the answer
is made that this absurd charge may be just the fault of a clumsy
tanslation, then reference is made to the report as published in the
Isvestia.") (6)

:Beginning with page 11 of the report, one is struck by the
repeated use of the word "bloc" italicized' and thus made con.­
spicuous in the report. The word "bloc" appears repeatedly when
the indictment states that '"investigation has also established that
the Zinovievites pursued their criminal terroristic practices in a
direct bloc (italicized in the official report) with the Trotskyites
and with L. Trotsky who is abroad." "Blpc" is used in connection
with the adjectives: "Trotskyite-Zinovievite," the "Trotskyite­
Zinovievite counter-revolutionary," etc. At all times italicized,
"bloc" appears once or more on almost every other page of the
report containing 180 pages.

* * * *
iVyshinsky becomes emphatic when on page 11 of the "Report"

he states that the "newly revealed circumstances established without a
doubt that:

"1) At the end of 1932, the Trotskyite and Zinovievite groups
joined and formed a United Centre consisting of Zinoviev, Kamenev,
Evdokimov, Bakayev (from the Zinovievites) and I. N. Smirnov,
Ter-Vaganyan, Mrachkovsky (from the Trotskyites) all charged in
the present case.

'"2) The principal condition for the union of these counter-revolu­
tionary groups was their common recognition of individual terrorism
against the leadership of the Communist p;a.riy of the Soviet Union
and the Soviet Government.

'(3) .Precisely from that time onward (end of 1932), the
Trotskyites and Zinovievites, acting on direct instructions from L.
Trotsky received by the United Centre through special agents, con-.
centrated their hostile activities against the Communist Party of
the Soviet Union and the Soviet' Government mainly on the or­
ganization of terrorism against the most prominent leaders of the
Party and the Government.

(4) Ibid, p. 11 (5) Ibid, p. 11 (6) Ibid, p. 8
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'(4) With this end in view" the United Centre organized special
terrorist groups which prepared a number of practical measures for
the assassination of Comrades Stalin, Voroshilov, Kaganovich,
Kirov, Orjonikidze, Zhdanov, Kossior, Postyshev and others."

Quite an accusation, is it not? We expect· that the accused
present and the accused L. T'rotsky, who is absent, will be con­
fronted with proof that they "concentrated their hostile activities
against the Communist Party of the Soviet Union," that they
"prepared a number of practical measures for the assassination of Stalin
and others."

The indictment goes further and recalls the assassination of
S. M. Kirov when it refers to the accused and states:

"5) One of these terrorist groups consisting of Nicholayev, Ru­
myantsev, Mandelstamm, Levin Kptolynov and others, who were con­
victed by the Military Collegium of the Supreme Court of the USSR
on December 28-29, 1934, carried out the foul murder of Comrade
S. M. Kirov on December 1, 1934 011, direct instructions from Zinoviev
and L. Trotsky and under the direct guidance of the United Centre."

A) The Results of the P,reliminary Examination
Beginning on page 12, the indictment presents what appears

to be excerpts from the record of the hearing prece,ding the draw­
ing up of the indictment. There must have been a slip-up in the
numbering of the books .of transcript since "confessions" made
at an early date appear in transcripts earrying high numbers and
vIce versa; e.g.:
Confession of N. A. K:arev July 5, Transcript III, 11

" ,. Reingold July 3, ,. XXVII. 52
" " Mrachkovsky July 20, '" XVIII, 40, 41
" " M. Lurye July 21, " XXXIl', 243,244
" "N. Lurye July 21, ,. XXXIII, 141,142
" " Kamenev July 23, " XV, 10, 12, 13
" "R. V. Pickel July 23, " XXV, 65
" ,. P. Olberg July 31, ,. XXI, 263, 264
" " 1. N. Smirnov Aug. 5, " XXIX, 93, 104
" ,. Evdokimov Aug. 10. " XXVI, 10

(The reason for such confusion in the chronology of the record is
not yet apparent, unless Vyshinsky never expected anyone to read
his "chef-d'oeuvre.")

While the accused Bakayev's confession in Volume I on page
89(7) is undated; because Volume III is dated as of July 5, 1936 and
XXXIII as of July 21, it w'ould appear that the whole transcript,

(7) Ibid, p. 33
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extending from Volume I to XXXiVI must have begun not earlier
than July 5th, 1936 or thereabouts. Because some of the volume
pages are as high as 244, one may assume that approximately
70,000 pages of confession were taken in these proceedings. The
inconsistencies in the numbering of the volumes and of 'the dates
of the testimony are of apparent little consequence when one sees
inconsistencies so much more confusing, to be shown subsequently.

Everyone of the accused, according to the indictment, confessed
that "the main object which the Trotskyite-Zinovievite centre pursued
was 'assassination'" and that "the main thing on which all members
of the bloc agreed" and "on which the bloc received instructions
from L. Trotsky" was "to adopb the path of terrorism and to prepare
attempts on the life of Stalin."

In the opinion of the State's Attorney, there is "no doubt left
that the Trotskyite-Zinovievite bloc had turned into a group of
unprincipled political adventurers and assassins striving at only one
.thing; namely, to make their way to power even through ter­
rorism." (8)

Accused sometimes deny their complicity, but such did not
happen in this case. Reingold-according to the indictment-came
out blandly and stated that he and Zinoviev decided in advance,
to preclude being compromised in any way, to follow the precept:
"When under examination, the main thing is persistently to deny
any connection with the organization."(9) (As .it appears from the

. confessions, they changed their minds and refused to follow' such
rule of conduct.)

At least sometime in the past, the accused were Bolshevik­
Marxists who were in principle and at all times against individual
terror. This fact might have been raised as a defense, but the
State's Attorney cut off this path of retreat because Reingold,
(XXVII, 110, 112) confessed that he. and Zinoviev advised in
advance that "if accused of terroristic activities, you must method­
ically deny it and argue that terrorism is incompatible with the
views of Bolshevik-Marxists."(10) (Here again, though prepared
for defense, the accused changed their minds and followed the op­
posite of the pre-arranged path.)

Trotsky himself-in the words of the indictment-must ha:ve
thought of the contingency of being caught; therefore, the "same
instructions were given by L. Trotsky, who recommended that
when terroristic acts were committed, they should be disavowed."
A "position should be taken up analogous to that taken up by the

(8) Ibid, p. 18 (9) Ibid, p. 19 (10) Ibid. p. 19
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Central Committee of the Socialist Revolutionaries toward Madam
Kaplan, who shot at V. I. Lenin." The indictment apparently as­
sumes that conspirators do not usually act in secrecy because it points
out "another reason why the United Centre resorted to profound
secrecy and carefully masked its terroristic activities was that one
of its aims was to betray the vigilance of the working-class and the
masses of the toilers."(l1)

Here again the indictment makes a statement which one
would expect to be followed by proof. l't speaks of the conspirators
as "preparing the assassination of Comrade Stalin." We will have to
await the trial to see what those preparations were, and whether
or not Stalin was actually assassinated, a~ one would surmise from
the foregoing phrase.

Those who are acquainted with the recent history of the Soviet
Union know that those of the accused who had played any role in
the past (Zinoviev, Kamenev, etc.) and who at one time or another
had opposed Stalin, because of their public recantation had been
reinstated into the party machinery. Usually such a repentance
and denial of one's past does not speak for one's political integrity.
This fact is made use of in the indictment which states that "the
United Centre simultaneously strove by all means in its power to
give assurances of its loyalty and even devotion to the Party and to
the Soviet Power, of its repentance of past mistakes' and of its
readiness to serve the Proletarian Revolution honestly. The leaders
of the United Centre figured that having been 'forgiven,' they
could, after killing Comrade Stalin, utilize this 'forgiveness' to
come into power."(12)

Of course, criminals more often than not have a motive for
committing an act. So confessed Kamenev who was "determined
to come to power by any means and who banked on the economic
crisis and banked on the collapse of the economic policy of the
party leadership." But he was fooled by banking on such con­
tingencies because they "obviously failed by the second half of
1932," at which time (13) the country was overcoming the difficulties
under the leadership of Stalin; and "Kamenev," as he stated, "could
not help seeing this."

The State's Attorney informed us that the accused confessed,
knowing that they had "lost any and all support of the masses," and
they realized that "the only means by which" they "could hope to
com,e to power was to organize terroristic acts against the leaders
of the USSR, and primarily against Stalin." (14) Now it requires

(11) Ibid, p. 19 (12) Ibid, PP. 19, 20 (13) Ibid, p. 14 (14) Ibid, p. 14
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more than the understanding of a prosecuting attorney to follow
the logic of conspirators who lost their popular support because
of the recognized excellence of the present leadership, and who
then expected that they could be restored to leadership as soon as
they conspired to and successfully assassinated the "successful and
beloved leader," Stalin. Of course, one might expect that these
conspirators, after they arrived at their conclusion, that is, that the
leadership of Stalin was overcoming all difficulties, would simul­
taneously arrive at the conclusion that they themselves were politi­
cal bankrupts and they should have abandoned their fight against
Stalin. They did not do so because-as Kamenev said: "as a matter
of fact, the bloc was a counter-revolutionary terrorist gang of assassins
who strove to seize power in the country by any means whatever." (15)
This "terrorist gang of assassins" included Old Bolsheviks such as
Kamenev, Zinoviev, Reingold, Mrachkovsky, Ter-Vaganyan, Smir­
nov, who spent a lifetime in the revolutionary labor movement and
a great deal of that lifetime in fighting the counter-revolution
in Russia.

There is no doubt, after reading the remainder of the indict­
ment, that the conspirators recognized the fact that "the emergence
from the difficulties, the victory of the policy of the Central Com­
mittee of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union caused" in them
"a new wave of animosity and hatred towards the leadership of the
party and primarily toward Stalin." (Transcript XI, 10, 12, 13,)(16)

As a matter of fact, Kamenev was very emphatic because he re­
peated the exact words again fifteen pages later on page 27 of the
same volume of the transcript. Though testimony covering fifteen
pages intervened, Kamenev did not fail to repeat everything word
by word and comma by comma. (One marvels at the memory of
these Old Bolsheviks who can learn their lesson so well!)

Kamenev may be a member of a "counter-revolutionary gang
of assassins," but possibly because of his Marxist-Bolshevik past,
he does not fail to give credit for "the victory of the policy of the
Central Com'mittee of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union"
under the leadership of Stalin. This acknowledgement is made in
spite of the fact that the indictment states that the accused "sank
definitively into the swamp of white-guardism, joined forces and merged
with the most inveterate enemies of the Soviet Power, and becam'e the
organizing force of the last rem.nants of the exploiting classes."(17)
But Bolshevik blood will tell, will it not, A. Y. Vyshinsky?

Sometimes the submerged better self of the accused breaks

(15) Ibid, p. 16 (16) Ibid, p. 14 (17) Ibid, p. 12
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through as when Reingold, during the examination, states, with
reference to Stalin and his co-workers, that "the leadership that had
grown up was made of too hard a granite."(18) (It appears that these
Russian Bolsheviks, even when they are conspirators, cannot be
anything but fair to the leadership represented by Stalin. They
do recognize that the leadership is of too hard a granite, though
one would expect that when this "counter-revolutionary gang of
assassins" came together they would speak of Stalin-whom they
expected to assassinate-in terms less respectful than the above
quoted. (But, of course, we do not understand Russia,n, nor the new
Bolshevik-Marxists,-surely not when they are tried before and by
Stalinite "Bolsheviks" and that may account for the fact that we
cannot clearly understand the charges, the trial, the testimony and
the execution.)

Though the accused are complimentary to Stalin and to the
present leadership of the Soviet Union, during the examination they
are anything but complimentary when they speak of Trotsky, even
though he is alleged to be their leader to whom they promised al­
legiance, who with his organization, the accused said, "particularly
fostered hatred and animosity against the leaders of the Communist
Party of the Soviet Union."(19)

To make good for the slip-up during the trial of 1935 when
Trotsky and Trotskyites were not brought in otherwise than by
innuendo, Mrachkovsky now testifies during the preliminary hear­
ing ; "We Trotskyites adopted the policy of terrorism long before
the bloc with Zinoviev and Kamenev was formed." (20)

B) Dates and Documents in the Indictment
As we observed before, dates are rather carelessly thrown about.

While Mrachkovsky speaks about the fact that in 1931, when
Smirnov was in Berlin and established contact with Trotsky, the
latter gave instructions "to proceed to the organization of action
groups of Trotskyites" (XVIII, 40, 41); in XVIII, 44, 56, the same
Mrachkovsky testifies that it was in the middle of 1932 when he
and "Smirnov put before" their "leading trio the question of the
necessity of uniting our organization with Zinoviev and Kamenev,"
and it was in the middle of 1932 "when it was then decidad to
consult L. Trotsky"; and it was then, in the m'iddle of 1932, when
L. Trotsky replied and spoke of the «necessity of removing by
violence the leaders of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union
and Stalin jn the first place." (These conspirators surely had time
and leisure to go forward with their conspiracy.)

(18) Ibid, p. 16 (19) Ibid, p. 17 (20) Ibid, p. 21
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In case anyone should think that the alleged conspiracy was not
all that it was cracked up to be by the prosecutor, there were
written documents but these documents could not be produced
because the person receiving them "eventually destroyed" them
"for reasons of secrecy,"(21) (Such a pity!!) While it was in 1931 or
at the latest in the middle of 1932, in accordance with Mrachkov­
sky, when L. Trotsky gave his instructions as to terrorism,(22)
it was not until two or three years later that "in 1934 the accused
Dreitzer personally received written instructions from Trotsky
through L. Trotsky's son, Sedov, to prepare and carry out a ter­
roristic act against Comrade Stalin."(23) Apparently Trotsky felt
that his old instructions as to the assassination of Stalin in 1931
or 1932 were no good and brought no results; therefore, he repeated
his instructions two or three years later in writing. "This letter
was written personally by Trotsky," according to Dreitzer's testi­
mony, and the contents of this letter were as follows:

"Dear friend,
Convey that today we have the following mam tasks

before us:
1. To remove Stalin and Voroshilov.
2. To unfold w,ork for organizing nuclei in the army.
3. In the event of war, to take advantage of every setback

and confusion to capture the leadership."

,Whether or not Dreitzer was a good Bolshevik-Marxist is
not known to us, but his association with Bolshevik-Marxists, even
though they were '"a counter-revolutionary gang of assassins,"
must have endowed him with a good memory, because he remembers
a letter which he received two years back and which began with
the salutation "Dear friend." He even remembers the terse, .suc·­
cinct style of Trotsky, recalling the. style of an army man. In four
lines he gives his orders without wasting too many words, and the
task which Trotsky puts before Dreitzer includes nothing less than
the removal of Stalin and Voroshilov, the unfolding of organizing
work in the army and the capture of the leadership. As Dreitzer
recalls, these tasks were for "today." (Trotsky must have felt that
a 'delay of two-three years was enough, therefore, the thing is to
be done «today" and no further pussy-footing is brooked.)

There are some persons who believe that Trotsky accomplished
a .number of things; he escaped twice from Czarist Siberia; he led'
the Soviets.in the revolution of 1905; he was the head of the Military
Committee which effectively took over the power after defeating

(21) Ibid, p. 22 (22) ,Ibid, p. 21 (23) Ibid, p. 22
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the Kerensky government in 1917; he organized the Red Army
and carried on a warfare against the White generals successfully.
He also wrote a few pamphlets, a few books and a monumental
history of the Russian Revolution, which is considered by experts
an oustanding work of research. But with all his accomplishments
one wonders whether Trotsky himself would dare to trust himself
to the extent of giving orders and hope that the same might be
executed, as Dreitzer's letter --"which was eventually destroyed"­
claims. Unfortunately for the prosecution, this letter was destroyed
for reasons of secrecy, but Trotsky was careless enough because
he "sent to the Trotskyite-Zinovievite Centre a number of other
verbal and written instructions concerning terrorism."(24) We
may expect from the tenor of the State's Aaorney's harangue that
some of the number of written instructions concerning terrorism given
by L. Trotsky will appear in evidence. If such should not be the
case, than Dreitzer goes o,n inferring. "I must add that these in­
structions of Trotsky fully confirmed the instructions I received
from Mrachkovsky in May, 1934."(25) (Here is one of the hooping­
snakes in the "confessions." It appears that the "instructions"
were given by Mrachkovsky to Dreitzer, who returned them to
Mrachkovsky to receive them back again, and so forth ad nauseam.)

The State's Attorney further 'claims: "The investigation has
established that after the smash-up of the Trotskyite-Zinovievite
Center in connection with the murder of Comrade Kirov, L. Trotsky
himself assumed the leadership of terroristic activities in the
USSR."(26) If we recall that Kirov was assassinated on December
1, 1934, the "smash-up" of the Center and the subsequent assumption
of the leadership by Trotsky could not have occurred before Decem­
ber, 1934. But Mrachkovsky already testified that "in the middle
of 1932 .... it was then decided to consult L. Trotsky on this
question and to obtain his directions."(27) And further '"In 1931 ....
contact was established with L. Trotsky, instructions were received
from the iatter."(28) The foregoing quotation is from the "confes­
sion" of Mrachkovsky, which is prefaced by the State's Attorney
with the finding that "the united Trotskyite-Zinovievite Center
took the path of terrorism under the direct influence of L. D.
Trotsky, who personally gave the members 'of the United Center
a number of verbal and written instructions to this effect."(29)
Mr. State's Attorney, is the question unjustified, as to whether the
first of your statements is true, i.e. that Trotsky assumed leadership
of the United Center and of its terroristic activities in late 1934,

(24) Ibid. p.. 22
(28) Ibid, p, 21

(25) Ibid. p. 22
(29) Ibid, p. 21

(26) Ibid, p. 23 (27) Ibid, p. 21
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or is the correct statement that which claims that such assumpion
had already taken place "in the middle of 1932," or is it true that
Trotsky "took over the direction in 1931?" l's it not a physical
impossibility that more than one of the statements can be correct,
and is it not also a physical, legal and political possibility that you
are mistaken not only in the dates but also as to your facts? Even
a State's Attorney who prosecutes Old Bolsheviks should be some­
what more careful with his dates.

C) The Role of the Gestapo

The reference of the indictment to V. Olberg, who claims to
have begun "active Trotskyite work at the beginning of 1930" and
"who arrived in the USSR with the passport of a citizen of the
Republic of Honduras," presents him as Trotsky's emissary in
Germany.(30) V. Olberg confessed that "during one of his meetings
with L. Trotsky's son Sedov, the latter showed him a letter from
Trotsky, in which Trotsky proposed that Olberg be sent to the
Soviet Union with a group of German Trotskyites for (he purpose
of preparing and organizing the murder of Stalin."(31) Olberg
further "confesses" that he obtairieft a passport of the Republic of
Honduras with the aid of the German Secret Police, that he "suc­
ceeded in obtaining a passport with the help of" his "younger
brother, Paul Olberg." Thanks to his "connection with the German
police and their agent in Prague, V. P. Tukalevsky," he, "by means
of a bribe obtained the passport of a citizen of Honduras. The
money for the passport, 1,3,000 Czechoslovakian kronen-I (Olberg)
obtained from Sedov, or rather, from the Trotskyite organization
on Sedov's instructions."(32) It is worthwhile to stop and look into
V. Olberg's alleged confession a'nd at the same time to take a look
at him. He claims to have been Trotsky's emissary from 1930 on and
that in 1930, or thereabouts, he was sent by Trotsky to the USSR and
obtained his passport with the "aid of the German Secret Police (Gestapo)",
forgetting that the Gestap~ was not established until after 1933 when Hitler
took power. Our search of the records pertaining to German and
international communist movetI\ents fails to disclose a V. Olberg of
any prominence. Nevertheless, it is claimed that Trotsky, in his
carelessness picked none of the staunch Trotskyists, but V. Olberg
as his emissary "to be sent to the Soviet Union .... for the purpose
of preparing and organizing the murder of Stalin." V. Olberg,
prior to his being sent to Russia was in contact with the at thai
time not yet existing Hitlerite Gestapo. Watch the plot thicken!
Trotsky selects a Hitlerite agent as his emissary. Apparently V.

(30) Ibid, p. 23 (31) Ibid, p. 24 (32) Ibid, p. 24
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Olberg had already been in the USSR once because he confesses
that "Sedov promised to help me to obtain a passport to return to
the USSR once more."(33) So it seems that Trotsky's son had con­
nections not only with terrorists but also with the consular Qfficers
of the USSR. How otherwise could he have hoped to obtain a
return passport for Olberg? It .is important to notice that Olberg
was to return to Russia because this factor coincides w'~th the state­
ment of Vladimir Tukalevski, the man implicated in Olberg's con­
fession as the Gestapo agent. Tukalevski's following declaration was
printed in the Prager Tageblatt.

"One of the accused: in the Moscow trial, Olberg, declared 1;hat
I, as a Gestapo agent, had procured him a passport of the
Honduran Republic so as to make it possible for him to travel
in the U. S. S. R. V. Olberg appeared in the Slavic Library
for the first time in 1933 and presented himself as being
an instructor at the Pedagogical Institute of Stalinabad in
Tadchigistane, si,gned himself as a. German citizen on
a questionnaire put to him in order to procure his library iden­
tification card and declared his desire to acquaint himself with
the latest publications in the field of history. On the 29th of
Septembe\, 1933, his library identification card was handed to
,him. For some time he visited the reading room; later, liIccord­
ing to his statement, he travelled in the USSR. In the spring
of 1934 he re-appeail'ed at the Library and on the 4th of May,
1934 his library card was renewed. He frequented the reading
room of the library over a longer period of time, declared that
he was going to stay here for a considerable time yet, since the
German Embassy refused to prolong his passport for foreign
countries. For the same reason, he tried to obtain with the aid
of the Pedagogical Instituted of Stalinabad a visa for the USSR
to continue his pedagogic activities in Sta.linabad. On the 21st
of January, 1935, his library card was extended. He frequented
the reading room at intervals. Then, in the spring of 1935, he
came to the Library and declared he wa.s departing for Stalin­
abad'.. I have never heail'd from him since. Now that I read of
his participation in the plot and his calumny directed aga,inst my
person, I immediately presented a protest to the Soviet Lega­
tion in Prague with the request to forward this protest to the
High Tribunal at Moscow. It was clear that Olberg, driven by
a desire to hide his real accomplices, abusively used my nalllle
to complicate matters. In fact, I sent a telegram to the High
Court of Moscow, in which I demanded that in the interest
of the truth they should carefully check Olberg's statement, made
part of the indictment, which statement I indignantly refuted
as a caJumny. I demanded such a checking of Olberg's state­
ment as a satisfaction to me. When I was informed of Olberg's
deposition made before the Court, I found in it the names of

(33) Ibid, p. 24
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other persons unknown to me. The only other person I heard
of is V. Olberg's brother, P. Olberg, who visited the reading
room of the library as a student. Since I did not find my name
mentioned in the verdict, I hope that the High Court accepted
my demand.

(signed) Vladimir TukaJewskij"(34).

In conjunction with Tukalevski's declaration concerning V.
Olberg, L. Trotsky's statement, conceni.ing the same person, as
printed in the interview in the Oslo Dagbladet, appears to be of some
interest. Trotsky states:

"Among my papers, I find the following: In 1930 a certain
Olberg attempted to become my secretary. Franz Pfempfert,
at that time Editor of the Aktion, warned me in his letter of
April 1, 1930 'in the most determined manner aga:nst Olberg;
that he was a person of questionable character a~d in all pro­
bability an agent of the GPU. Because Olberg appears to be
the foundation of all charges, I shall put at the disposal of the
press all ma,terial pertaining to him. It is simply absurd to
state that I would trust a man with secret terrorist commis-.
sions whom I personally never have known and against whom
a very good friend warned me in advance."(35)

We may expect that those who try, however hard it may be,
to believe in the m.onstrous accusation of A. Y. Vyshinsky, will
answer that of course Trotsky and Tukalewski would deny the
charges. (It might occur to someone that an International In­
vestigation Committee as demanded by Trotsky, could establish
the truth.) Ther~fore, we are leaving Trotsky's statement aside.
Let us look further at the official report.

V. Olberg confesses:
"I emphasize tha,t my connection with the Gestapo was not at
all an exception, of which one could speak as of the fall of an
individual Trotskyite."

(Of course not, that would not fall in line with the design and
purpose of the trial which must show up the Trotskyites and L.
Trotsky as a "counter-revolutionary terrorist gang of assassins"
and Hitler agents). Olberg continues confessing that the Gestapo
cOll!1ection "was the line of the Trotskyites in conformity with the
instructions of L. Trotsky given through Sedov."(36) Apparently
Olberg did approach ilOt only Trotsky, whom he did not know, but
also, he continues, "'several times I met a prominent official of the
Gestapo whose name was not mentioned to me .... with this of­
ficial I discussed my first journey to Moscow and my_plans con­
cerning the preparation of a terroristic act."(37) So Olberg actually

(34) Prager Tagablatt, Aug. 27, 1936
(35) Dagbladet (Oslo, Norway), Aug. 21, 1936.
(36) Report of Court Proceedings, etc (See note No. 1.) p. 25.
(37) Ibid, p. 25
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"confesses" ',discussing .Trotskyite, terroristic 'acts with, ~a prominent
official of the Gestapo, and not even his ,"name was m:entioned'~, orknow1&
tb' him'. 'Mr; ~ S'tate's A tto~ney, , the', plot thickens arid is be'coaling
fantastic, too' fantastic to be' believed by anyone "but "prominent
English and AmerIcan attorneys'" who were present at the ,trial and
who "cabled ,to the c~mmunist press 'abroad that "the testiniony of
the "acciised rings' true." "

The""confession" of Berman-Yurin, whose person 'is just as
ribs'cure 'as thatof6lberg, adds to the tale of,the first "Gestapo"
agent. ' But now the State's:Attorneydoes not 'even feel it necessary
to"'irit~oducehini,'as a, Trotskyite' woiker; he is one who siiriply
goes' arid meets Trotsky in Copenhagen; 'and Trotsky, the' great ;con';':
spirator that he is, gives the unknown' Betman,.Yurin the "spedal
mission' 'and instructions "to ;organi~ethe assasslnatio'n'of :'comrade
Stalin.".(38) The denial of Trotsky that he ever met Berman-Yutin
is of no avail. Trotsky s'ays: ' , '

"From Constantinople I went to deliver a discussion to a student'
association in Copenhagen. During my sojourn BAt Copenhagen:
some forty persons visited me. I remember all of them and I
know that no Berman was among them, unless he change9 hiS'
name since, nor did any other Soviet citizen visit me at that
time. There was, however, a Lithuanian who spoke Russian'
8lmong my visitors."(39)

No, the denial of Trotsky is of no avail, because Trotsky was not
only careless in selecting V. Olberg and Berma'n-Yurin, both of
whom he sent to Russia with the instructions "to kill Stalin"; on
the top of that, he must have mistrusted his "emissaries," Olberg
and Berman, because "simultaneously with Berman-Yurin, L. Trotsky
sent also the accused Fritz David to the USSR."(40) (Who Fritz
David is, is not told.) Now this Fritz David met L. Trotsky in the
autumn of 1932 and L. Trotsky proposed to him that he undertake
the "historic mission of killing Stalin."(41) Fritz David's "conver­
sation" with Trotsky "took place in November, 1932 and I accepted
his proposal to kill Stalin." The date of November, 1932 may be
unimportant to the State's attorney, but it is of colossal importance
to those who want to unravel the truth on the basis of the official
Russian publications. The official Report of Court Proceedings
states:

"On arriving in the USSR Berman-Yurin (who was sent by L.
Trotsky simultaneous'ly with Fritz David to the USSR, that is,
sometime after November, 1932) found Fritz David at an address
given him by Sedov. Fritz David and Berman-Yurin decided to

----
(38) Ibid, p, 26
(39) Dagbladet (Oslo, Norway), Aug. 21, 1936.
(40) Report of Court Proceedings, etc. (See note No.1), p. 26

,(41) Ibid, p. 26
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carry out the assassination of Comrade Stalin at the Seventh
Congress of the Comintern."(42) ,

The State's Attorney may not know the historical fact, but it is
a fact, nevertheless, that the Seventh Congress of the Comintern
was not called before the late Spring of 1935 and no living person
had any information .in Nove~l1'ber, 1932, or 1933, or in the whole
year of 1934, whether and when the Seventh Congress would con­
vene. How in the name of common sense shall one believe these
"confessed terrorists" Berman-Yurin and Fritz David that they were,
able in 1932 or even 1933, or giving them plenty of time in 1934,
to plan to kill Stalin at the Seventh Congress of the Communist InternG­
tional, if the Seventh Congress was still off in the far future, as a
matter of fact, not yet even annouced?

But plan they did, Berman-Yurin and Fritz David decided some­
time shortly after November, 1932, to kill Stalin at the Seventh
Congress, actually convoked in the summer of 1935. (What these
determined terrorists did .in the USSR for almost three years, that
is between the order given to them by Trotsky in 1932 and the
Seventh Congress of 1935, again nobody knows and the prosecutor
does not care to know.) The Congress was at last convened
and the plan as to the assassination of Stalin was ready for three
years, but the terrorists "failed to do (what they 'confessed' they
had prepared for years) owing to the fact that Berman..Yurin
was unable to get into the Congress, while Fritz David, although
he got into the Congress, could not carry out his criminal intention
because he sat far away from the presidium and had no opportunity:
of getting near Comrade Stalin."(43)

Trotsky failed miserably in selecting his emissaries. He al­
legedly selected twp men-previously unknown to him-who "in
November, 1932 accepted his proposal to kill Stalin;" they go to the
USSR and sit around until the summer of 1935 and then, evetl
thdugh one of them is present at the Congress where Stalin is
sitting at the presidium, the terrorists are unable to find an "'op­
portunity of getting near Comrade Stalin." The story is presented
as "evidence of the plot," in spite of the fact that the Congress.
lasted for several days, and in spite of the fact that the "beloved
leader Stalin" freely mingled with the thousands of delegates. Never­
theless, one cannot deny-according to the State's Attorney-that
both Berman-Yurin and Fritz David had every intention in. the
summer of 1935 to execute Trotsky's order of 1932, because "/FritJz
David was to have shot comrade Stalin at the Seventh Congress
with a Browning pistol, which he had received from Berman-

(42) Ibid, p. 27 (43) Ibid, p. 27



THE INDICTMENT 26

Yurin."(44) So the plot is complete; the shooting is to be done with
a Browning pistol and not with a pea-gun. The gun is given by one
terrorist, Berman-Yurin, to another, David. (You now again see a
hoop-snake with its tail in its mouth.) Berman-Yurin must have
acknowlledged that David was a better shot, so even though they
had only one Browning pistol, and even though Berman-Yurin had
it, and though he came to Russia to use it, he generously gave it to
the other fellow. Here is one phase. of the State's Attorney com­
plete plot.

D) Enter Hitler.
The indictment from which the above quotations were taken

purports to be a transcript; however, it is a peculiar one because
in addition to some quotations allegedly representing confessions,
there are a great number of interpolations in which the opinion of
the State's Attorney is given, as when he states:

"The investigation has also established that the terrorist group
headed by Trotsky's agent, M'oissei Lurye, whom Trotsky sent
into the USSR from abroad, wasactuaJly organized by the active
German Fascist Franz Weitz, the representative of Himmler, at
that time the leader of the Fascist SS Detachments and now the
director of the German Secret Police (Gestapo)."(45~

The State's Attorney does not bother to give any evidence found
by the alleged investigation, allegedly proving the organization of a
terrorist group by an alleged Franz Weitz. As a matter of fact
Weitz's identity remains a secret and about whom we get only
such information as the State's Attorney desires to hand to us.
Neither by the personal appearance of Weitz nor by anything else
do we learn about Weitz's actions, but only by the confession of
M. Lurye, who is permitted to establish what is the apparent
main tendency of the indictment-the alleged connection between
the Nazis and the Trotskyites. According to the indictment:

"Nathan Lurye replied that he was still,as before, a convinced
Trotskyite, and he reported that a terrorist group, small in
number, but very reliable had been organized here in M.oscow
in April, 1932 .... "(46)

The question is naturally asked, by whom was the terrorist
group organized in Moscow in April, 1932. This same question is
asked and answered by the State's Attorney and by M. Lurye who
confessed that N. Lurye stated to him, the "action group was created
by a certain Franz Weitz ...." M. Lurye was inquisitive, as may
be gathered from his following comments:

"When I asked who was Franz Weitz, N. Lurye, at first un­
willingly, answered as follows: Franz Wleitz is an active mem-

(44) Ibid, p. 27 (45) Ibid, p. 27 (46) Ibid, p. 27
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her of the N81tional Socialist Party in Germany and a trusted
man of Himmler (the present director of the Gestapo in
Germany). At that time Himmler was the leader of the "SS"­
Blackshirt Guards .... "

" ••.. The main task of the group, according to W'eitz, was to
prepare terroristic acts against Stalin, Kaganovich, Voroshilov
81nd Orjonikidze .... "(47)

According to the indictment, M. Lurye's confession was sup-
ported by N. Lurye who confessed:

"I must admit that from the autumn of 1932 to the end of 1933
the terrorist action group of which I was the head, was actively
preparing a terroristic act against the People's Commissar of
Defense, Voroshilov.... "

" ....1 was commissioned to do this by Franz Weitz, a German
engineer-architect, member of the Nation8l1-Socialist party of
Germany, representative of Rimmler, now director of the
Gestapo."

." .... In August, 1932, leaving for Germany for his vacation,
Franz Weitz put me in charge of the terrorist action group
and set before me the task of preparing and carrying out ter­
roristic acts against Stalin, Kaganovich and Voroshilov."(48)

lIt is interesting to observe the subtle insinuation which per­
mitted the bourgeois reporters present at ·.the trial to arrive"at a
conclusion which was then headlined by the Stalinite press con'::
cerning the connection between Trotsky, the Trotskyites and the
Hitler agent, Weitz. There is not a word of testimony that Franz
Weitz had any connection with the Trotskyites. There is no proof
that Franz Weitz existed. While on the one hand David confessed
that it was in in November, 1932 when Trotsky proposed to him the
terroristic act (49), according to Lurye, Weitz leaving for Germany,
in August, 1932; had already put Lurye in charge of the existing
terroristic group. Weitz must have ,been many steps ahead of
Trotsky!

There is another question which might occur to those who
still remember history. It is a historical faCt that Ritler came to
power at the end of January, 1933. In March, 1933, the Communist
International declared that the .policy of the Communist Party of
Germany in its fight against Hitlerism was correct before, during
and after Hitler's taking power. On the other hand, the Trotskyites
were urging a United Front of all working cla~s patties (not the
People's Front, but a United Action Front of the Socialists, Co~­

munists and Trade Unions). The. Stalinites in Germany, as well
as throughout the .world denounced that proposal because they felt

(47) Ibid, p. 28 (48) Ibid, pp. 28, 29 (49) Ibid, p. 27
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that a United Front with the Socialists (at that time denominated
by them "social"-fascists") and with the Trade Unions was nothing
less than counter-revolutionary. The Trotskyites, however, pre­
dicted prior to 1933 that unless a United Front were actuated,
fascism would be successful in Germany. The Stalinites, on the
contrary, were convinced that Hitler, because of the strong or­
ganization of the Communist Party in Germany and because of its
correct policy before during and after Hitler's advance, could not
come to power in Germ'any.

The fact that the indictment now attempts to show that the
Trotskyites already in 1932 were connected with the future' leaders
of Hitler Germany, gives a latent acknowledgm,ent of their foresight
as to ·future happenings, and at the same time permits a doubt to
arise in the mind of the people as to how the non-existing secret;
police (Gestapo) of Hitler Germany could engage in any kind of act
whether terroristic or otherwise. But Mr. Vyshinsky-:...-wh6, by the
w:ay, will be recognized as the same Vyshinsky who in 1917 was a
member of the Russian Anti-B'olsheviks,(50) and who at that time
bitterly fought the Bolsheviks, includIng those tried now and those
of the present functionaries of the USSR who were Bolsheviks at'
that ti~e-is not to be bothered by such questions. '

There is no mistake about the Nazi connections of the accused;
at least the ,State's Attorney points to "'the establishing of ,direct
organizational contact with the German Fascist and German Secret
Police ;(51) which contact was allegedly established, by ,M. Lurye
and N. Lurye in 1932. Lack of evidence is easily bridged by the
State's Attorney when he states that ,"finally the <;:ircurnst':lnces
established by the investigation (when .and where is not stated).
show thatL. Trotsky, Zinoviev, Kamenev and others, the leaders
of the Trotskyite-Zinovie~itebloc, in their fight against the Soviet
government sank so low that their morals proved to I b~ more con-,
temptible than those of gangs of the most ha~de~ed criminals."(52)

This bridging of, lacking evidence is for the most part, if not
• always, presented by a declaration of the State's Attorney, as when.

he says that: , ','
"It was already established in the case of Nikolayev, Rumyants~v,
KQtolynov anp, others shot by sentence of the Military ,Collegium
of the Supreme Court of the USSR on the charge of murder-

'ing Comrade S. M. Kirov on December 1, 1934, t,hat direct coii~:

nections existed between the group' of Zinovievites in Leningrad
who committed the murder, and the accused Zinoviev, Kamenev "

---
(50f SerVice D'lnformation et'de Presse; No. 11, Oct. 2, 1936, Pa'ris.
(51) R,:port of Court Proceedings, etc. (See note No.1), p. 29
(52) Ib.d, p. 29 "



28 THE FIRST TWO MOSCOW TRIALS

and B8.kayev, already .convicted in the case of the so-called
'Moscow Centre'."(53)

E)' The Kirov Trial

Up to.;this point of .the indictment proper, there has been no
reference .to. any record of the previous Kirov Trial. As,a matter of
fact, there, has be~n no ref~rence to the shooting of others besides
Nikolayev for the Kirov murder. It may be recalled that in con-,
nection with the assassination of Kirov, Zinoviev, Kamenev, Evdo­
kimov, . Bakayev were convicted for "moral responsibility." Now
they. are ~e:-tried ~ot for moral but for material responsibilities.
We m~y qe're a~k t,he question whether or not the Soviet Criminal
~od;e pertr:\its double jeopardy, but the answer to this question is
unimportant;becaus'e others much more momentuous are to be asked.
One such 'qu~sti~nis how is it that the investigation of the accused
and previ~1,Usly sentenced Zinoviev, Kamenev, Evdokimov and
Bat<:ayev lasted-aft'er their first trial-for nineteen months before
the so-:-caIled 'confessions were obtained? Why is it that the State's
Attorney has to resort, however unwiIling, to the further decla-
mation that: "

"After 'obdurate denioals, the accused Zinoviev, convicted by the
testimony of a number of others accused, had to admit .... "(54)

Many of the Socialist commentators doubted the truth of the
accuseds' "confessions." Others queried how it came about that
revolutionaries; or former revolutionaries such as Zinoviev, Kame­
nev, Evdokimov etc. were willing to confess if they were reaIly
innocent. ,This question is very hard, if not impossible to answer'
at this time;' but before one spends nineteen months in Stali'n's jail,
one cannot teIl what he or she would b~ wiIling to confess. The
working-class of the world apparently forgot about the convicted
Old Bolsheviks, convicted and jailed early in 1935 or prior thereto.
There were no Trade Union delegations visiting Zinoviev in Stalin's
jail as there were a number visiting Dimitrov when he was in
Hitler;s jail---'-charged with the firing of the Reichstag. : Thet-e
were no protest telegrams, no encouraging letters sent by the
working-class of the world to Kamenev as were sent by the hundreds
of thousands to Dirriitrov in Germany. How does one know
whether or not these Old Bolsheviks came to the conclusion that
they were already considered guilty by the working-class of the
world? How does one know whether or not Zinoviev and his co­
sufferers in Stalin's jail were not wiIling to escape from their im­
prisonment by paying for it with anything and everything, includ-

(53) Ibid. p. 30 (54) Ibid, p. 31
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ing a confession? .We do not attempt to give the answer to these
questions, at least not yet.

,Only now, after the K!irov assassination,' W~ -learn, from ,'the
statements of the State's Attorney made within the indictment that
Nikolayev, Rumyantsev, Kotolynov and others were shot ;(55) that
among "the others" were Levin, Mandelstamm and Myasnikov.(56)
We cannot be sure that these are all who were meant "by others'"
shot for the Kirov murder. (In the final argument of the State's
Attorney (57), he again refers to the foregoing names and adds the
name of "Sossitsky and a number of others convicted and shot.")'

We do not know whether the sixteen accused tried 'recently had
information as to the fate of those accused of the murder of S. M.
Kirov, but it is possible that they knew something about it and
even Old Bolsheviks may attempt to evade and escape the fate of
Nikolayev, Rumyantsev and others by confessing, if such confession
promises to bring them not only relief from Stalin's prison but also
the possibility of escaping the fate of "the ?thers." ,

Like a red thread appears throughout the indictment and also
throughout the subsequent trial the name of Trotsky. There is not
one confession, there is not one statement in which the Trotskyites
and Trotsky himself are not made to appear as having played the
role of the regisseur. Kamenev testified that whenthe',Trotskiyite­
Zinoviev bloc was organized, Zinoviev informed him:

"that the representatives of the Trotskyites in the center of the
bloc, Smirnov, Mrachkovsky and Ter-Vaganyan, , emphaltically
insisted on this decision (to organize terroTistic acts), th81t, they
had direct 'instructions on this matter from Trotsky.... "(58)

Again the State's Attorney concludes, not on the basis of any
evidence presented, but just so, that "the investigation has establish­
ed, the practical fulfillment of the plan to organize the murder of
Comrade Kirov was assigned by the United Center to I. P.
Bakayev . . . "(59)

.If the statements, the indictment and the confession in the
present trial are loose, the organizers of the United Center must
have been still more so. While I. P. Bakayev was assigned by the
United Center to organize the murder of Kirov, Kirov, as we know,
happened to be murdered by Nikolayev. To bring the United Center
in contact with Nikolayev is quite easy. Evd~kimov just testifies
that he "learned from Bakayev that in the autumn of 1934 he,
Bakayev, together with one Trotskyite terrorist, whose name" he does
"not know," went to Leningrad to establish contact with the Lenin-:

(55) Ibid, p, 30 (56) Ibid, p. 31
(58) Ibid, pp, 31, 32 (59) Ibid, p, 32

(57) Ibid, p. 141
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gradi'terrorist Center and, tootganize: the assasshi.ation: ;;0£ ,Kirov/'(l!Q)_
Now this plan to murder Kirov was hatche<dj,sorrietim.einc1931or~

1932, but' Bakayeviiwho' Was put ;,in 'charge of ,the; organizaticih of
this .murd~t;: l:iid not even 'go to Lepingrad' until the' autumnof.193'4.:
While' he did not do very .much for two or .three:yea:rs~ conc:erning-':
the·advancement' ·of the' plan, in the autumn' of:- 1934 he ll1eant;
b'usiness.. H.e went to Leningrad and: then ,."while: in; Leningrad',
Bakayev ;and' the above; mentioned (unnamed; F. H.):" Trotskyite~

tertorist, met Nikolay~¥,:and arranged with him thaf he would as":
s'assinl:itd' Kirbv."(~1). ,Presto !Now through the ':!lOl'l.amed' Trotsky":
1st,:; arises., the ,connection between.Nikolayev" who is 'alleged to be
the- actual:triurdereriof Kirov, and the: United Trotskyite-Zinbvievite
terwdst 'Center; .• and through the United Center with· L. Trotsky
himsd£. . There is rio question but that th~s testimony .shoUld con-'
vince everyone, as it· apparently did convince all the Stalinite. news-~
papermen land legal talents present at the trial, that the plot existed;

::~: ~,a~~~~l<;nnectiO}.w~s actually established between Ni.k.Ol~ye'r

, ,Of colirse, that was 'not aIr the evidence that brought about the
conviction. .There Was a whole lot more. It was the accused
Reingold who !'confessed" that he;

'. "learned· personally from Zinoviev that the assassination of
Kirov in Leningrad was prepared on his direct instructions and
on . the instructions of the Center of the Trotskyite-Zinovievite
bloc. . ... In: 'giving reasons for the necessity of .committing a
terroristic act against Kirov, Zinoviev said! that Kirov must be
physically destroyed as Stalin's closest assistant..... "(62)

It is interesting to note that while Trotsky allegedly used exactly
the same words, that is that "'Stalin must be physically destroyed."
Zinoviev, ranking below Trotsky, used the. same words with re­
ferenc't:, to Kirov, ranking below Stalin. .But Zinoviev said some­
thing more. According to Reingold "He also added: 'It is not
enough to fell the oak; all the young oaks growing around it must
be felled too'."(63) Now the statement as to "the oak" and "the
young oaks" is quite nice, as far as Zinoviev is concerned, since he
was nothing but a member of a "counter-revolutionary g~ng of
assassins." (These Old BiOlsheviks, even when they turn into as­
sassins, apparently give credit where credit is due. When Zinoviev
talks about Stalin and about his assistants to be assassinated,
then he refers to Stalin as the oak and to the assistants as the
young oaks. One who does not have much information about the
mentality of an assassin would imagine that such an individual

(60) Ibid, pp. 33, 34 (61) Ibid, p. 34 (62) Ibid, p. 32 (63) Ibid, p. 32
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would refer to his victim by calling him all kinds of- names: and
rarely, if ever, compare him :with an oak, but that is just onC',niore
of those strange things. appearing.in the trial.)

.The State's Attorney in summing up the so-called confessions
sometimes makes an admission which taken together with· other
parts .of .the transcript must appear as a slip-up" l'ntrbducing
Bakayev's admission,(M) he states: " ,'::,. ".,'

"after persistent ·denials of his participation in the org:apizatipn:
of the assassina.tion of Comrade Kirov, the accused Bakayev·
under the weight of the evidence brought against him'te~tifi~d;
I admit tha.t Zinoviev personally inst~ucted me to 'organize--the' .
'assassination of Stalin in Moscow and Karev to organize the as-
sassination of Kirov in Leningrad.'" .

There is a contradiction between previous and subsequent ad­
missions as to Bakayev's role, Bakayev who. here appears ·to'ibe
in charge of the assassination of Stalin and who later is presented
as the organizer of the Kirov assassination, The State's Attorney
himself, in contradiction to Bakayev's confession, declares that:.

"Evidence on the role pla.yed by Bakayev, as one of the prin­
cipal organizers of the assassination of Kirov :was also given.'~(~5)

Still. more important than the contradictions, is the fact that
Bakayev submitted to confessing only after persistent· denials and
only after he was already sentenced and in the custody of . the
State's Attorney from January 16, 1935 bn,(66) The que;;'tion may
be justly asked why did it take the State's Attorn'ey fro~ 'January,
1935 until July 23, 1936 (when ,the first alleged co,nfessio~ was
made) to get the so-called truth. This same question re-occurs in
connection with the "confession" of the other accused persons,

F) Terroristic Conversations

Most of the reporters present during the trial mention the
overwhelming effect made upon them by the facts brought out
during the trial. A careful examination of the record, however,
shows a whole lot of talk, «attempts," "trials of attempts':' and
"intention to commit certain acts" and no facts at all. Karev's
confession shows that "in conversation with Bakayev I learned that
the latter intended to utilize the Zinovievite groups . . .. for the
organization of a terroristic act against Kirov."(67) Bvdokimov
stated that he ''learned from Bakayev that in the autumn of 1934
he .... went to Leningrad to establish contact with the Leningrad
terrorist center and to organize the assassination of Kirov.' (68).

Slowly the. only actual fact, that is, the assassination of Kirov, is
brought hom'e to the so-called Zinovievite-Trotskyite Center. How

(64) Ibid, p. 33 (65) . Ibid, p. 33 (66) Ibid, p. 175, para. 4
(67) Ibid, p. 33 (68) Ibid, pp. 32, 34
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is that done? The State's Attorney simply declares that after
obdurate denials the accused Zinoviev had to admit that "in the
autumn of 19,32 in my vil1a at Ilyinskoye ... I instructed Bakayev
to prepare a terroristic act against Stalin, and Karev to prepare
a terroristic act against Kirov."(69) Here is a new beginning of the
plot. Thereafter, Bakayev for years engages in "conversations"
from which one may learn that he intended to utilize the Zinovievite
group for his plan against Kirov.(70) Bakayev further "converses"
and from this "conversation" Evdokimov learns that Bakayev, after
"conversing" from the autumn of 1932 until the autumn of 1934,
went to Leningrad to establish the contacts about which he was
"conversing" and to organize the assassination of Kirov, about
which he "conversed" some more. And then comes the grand finale:
MWhile in Leningrad, Bakayev .... met Nikolayev and arranged
with him that he would assassinate Kirov." (71) If this plot is not
complete, then A. Y. Vyshinsky, the State's Attorney of the USSR,
does not know his plot. As a matter of fact,

"the terrorists had expressed confidence in the success of the
terroristic act; they considered themselves to be safe. The
reason lor this was that all of them.... enjoyed the con­
fidence of a number of leading party workers and officials of
Soviet organizations in Leningrad. This ensured them every
possibility of pursuing their preparations for a terroristic act
against Kirov." (72)

Thanks to this confidence which the terrorists enjoyed and
thanks to the possibility which was ensured to them to pursue their
preparations, such preparations took only two years. One may
conclude that but for the confidence these terrorists enjoyed the
preparations would have lasted probably two hundred years.

If one does not see the connection between Kirov's assassina­
tion on December 1, 1934, and the activities of the so-called
Trotskyite-Zinovievite Center, the State's Attorney will come to his
help by again declaring that "the investigation has established
that .... Kamenev made a special journey to Leningrad in June,
1934 for checking up on the progress of the work of organizing the
terroristic act against Comrade Kirov." (73) Here it appears that
the Center made a slip-up, because Evdok~mov learned that Bakayev,
who was in charge of the Kirov assassination, went to Leningrad
Qnly in the autumn of 1934 to organize the assassination of Kirov.
Kamenev, the boss of Bakayev, was ahead of him because he had
already in June, 1934, gone to Leningrad to check up on the work.
Not only Kamenev was ahead of the game; Zinoviev, who also

(69) Ibid, p. 3l
(72) Ibid, p. 34

(70) Ibid, p. 33
(73) Ibid, p. 34

(71) Ibid, p. 34
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engaged in "conversations," as Matorin confessed, .tolq ... h)m that
"the preparations for the terroristic acts must be, pr~s~~d forward
to the utmost and that Kirov must be killed by the. winter." (74)

Kirov was acually killed in the winter; therefore, the.. conclusion
must be that, presented by the State's Attorney of the USSR.

One wonders that the reporters who were, as some of them
stated. flabergasted after hearing the overwhelming facts, did not
report about the assassination of Stalin, because the State's
Attorney of the USSR speaks about it when he declares that
"the materials of the invesfigati* have established that the United
Trotskyite-Zinovlievite Center, after it had killed Comrade Kirov•.
did not confine itself to organizing the assassination of Conu-ade,
Stalin alone." (75) If that means anything, it means first that the,
terrorist Center organized the assassination of Stalin and it means.
secondly that they not only did that but "the terrorist Trotskyite­
Zinovievite Center simultaneously carried on work to organize
assassinations of other leaders of the Party, namely, Comrades.
V'oroshilov, Zhdanov, Kaganovitch,Kossior, Orjonikidze and Posty­
shev," (76) So the declaration of the State's Attorney leads one to
believe that not only Kirov but at least seven others, among them
Stalin, were killed because the Center «organized assassinations"
of these other leaders. However, we are soon put at ease when
we read the further declaration of the State's Attorney that «various.
terrorist groups operating under the general leadership of the
Vnited Center attempted to carry out the assassinations" of the
leaders mentioned above. So they were not engaged in assassi­
nations, only in attempts to carry out assassinations. But then
again it appears that there were actually terroristic acts committed,
because the State's Attorney further declares that "the organiza­
tion of the terroristic act against Comrade Voroshilov was the
work of Dreitzer's group, which received directly from Trotsky
instructions to murder Voroshilov." (77)

About Dreitzer's work we get details because. as was further
testified to by the State's Attorney, "in regard to the preparations
for the assassination of Comrade Voroshilov, the accused Mrach­
kovsky testified: 'In the middle of 1934, E. Dreitzer reported to me
that simultaneously he was organizing the assassination of Voroshi-·
loy for which purpose Dimitry Schmidt, who was a commander in
the army and under no suspicion in the party was to be pre­
pared.' "(78) The accused Dreitzer on July 31, 1936 testified: "For
the purpose of committing the terroristic act, I recruited Esterman

(74) Ibid, p. 34
(77) Ibid, p. 35

(75) Ibid, 'p. 35
(78) ;Ibid, p. 36

(76) Ibid, p. 35
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and; Qlyevsky, and i}n- 1935 -Sch~dt and Kuzmichev. The latter
two'undertOok to kill Voroshilov." (79) So one sees that Dreitzer in
the middle -of 1934 reports to Mrachkovsky _that he organized the
assassination of Voroshilov, for which purpose Schmidt was to be
prepared, who therefore at that time was not yet engaged to do
the killing because Dreitzer "recruited Schmidt only in 1935." So
far so good, but the State's Attorney does not watch his dates be­
cause he declares that "the testimony of Mrachkovsky and Dreitzer
was also confirmed by the- accused Reingold who testified as
follows: 'I learned from Mrachkovsky and Dreitzer that in the
summer of 1933, a Trotskyite group of military men was organized
under the leadershiip of Dreitzer. The group consisted of Schmidt,
commander of a brigade of the Red Ar~y, Kuzmichev. chief of
staffdf a military unit, and a number of other persons Wlhose names
I do not know. I learned from Dreitzer that Schmidt and Kuzmi­
chev -were to carry out personally the terroristic act against Voro­
shilov and that they had agreed to do so." (80) (All these contradic­
tions appear on the one and same page of the official printed re­
port.)'

So to sum up, Mrachkovsky in conversation in the middle of
1934 learns that Dreitzer will engage Schrqidt to assassinate Voro­
shilov sometime in the future. Dreitzer states that he engaged
Schmidt only in 1935, but Reingold learns about Schmidt being in
charge of the Voroshilov assassination already in 1933. This is
what the State's Attorney calls "the investigation has established;"
and which must be just as truthful and just as well esablished as
th-e State's Attorney's further statement that '"the investigation
has also established that in the same period a number of terrorist
groups were organized in attempts on the lives of other Soviet
functionaries." (81) If one counter that the patent contradiction is
made _by the accused and not by the prosecutor, one may answer
that the purpose of the trial was to establish the facts by clearing
up just such contradiction. The State's Atorney however could
not be bothered with such unimportant details, his job was to prove
--by hook or crook-the Trotsky-Gestapo connection.

(79) Ibid, p. 38 (80) Ibid, p. 36 (81) Ibid, p. 341



II. THE CHARGE OF THE INDICTMENT

T
HE STATE'S ATTORNEY, continuing his monologue which
he calls an analysis, defines the charges:

'" .... the investigating authorities consider it established:"

"1) That in the period of 1932-1936 there was a United Trot'sky­
ite--Zinovievite Center organi~ed in the City of Moscow with the
object of committing a number of terroristic acts against, the
leaders of the c.P.S.U. and the Soviet Government for the purpose
of seizing power.

'(2) That Zinoviev, Kamenev, Evdokimov and Bakayev repre­
sented the Zinovievites; and Smirnov, Ter-Vaganyan and Mrach­
kovsky, the Trotskyites in the so-called Center.

'(3) That during this period, the United Trotskyite-Zinovievite
Center organized a number of terrorist groups and prepared a
number of practical measures to assassinate Comrade Stalin, Voro­
shilov, Zhdanov, Kaganovich, Kirov, Kossior, OTjonikidze and
Postyshev.

'(4) That one goup on direct instructions from Zinoviev and
L. Trotsky and under the direction of Bakayev murdered Kirov
on December 1, 1934." (1)

The State's Attorney further confesses that all of the accused,
with the exception of Smirnov, admitted their guilt but that
~mirnov acknowledged only his participation in the United Center,
his personal connections with Trotsky and meeting Trotsky's son
while abroad in 1931, a'nd that he maintained connections with
Trotsky up to his, Smirnov's arrest in 1933. But Smirnov "'utego­
rically denied" that he took part in the terroristic activities of
the Center. (The categorical denial of Smirnov does not help him
because the State's Attorney, presenting the charges, claims that
Smirnov is proved by the testimony of the other accused as having
participated in terroristic activities.)

The State's Attorney show:s that there are no inhibitions, at
least so far a5 the prosecution is concerned, in dealing with Old
Bolsheviks. He states categorically arid succinctly that "on the

(1) Report of Court Proceedings, etc" p. 37
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basis of the above," Zinoviev, Kamenev, Evdokimov, Bakayev, Ter­
Vaganyan, Mrachkovsky and Smirnov are accused of having or­
ganized terrorist groups and accused of making preparations to as­
sassinate Stalin, Voroshilov, Zhdanov, Kaganovich, Kirov, Kossior,
Orjonikidze and Postyshev and of having also organized and carried
out on December 1, 1934 the murder of Kirov and thus stand
\~harged with having committed crimes covered by Article S8 of the
Criminal Code of the Russian Socialist Federation of Soviet Re­
publics.\(~) (Note Smirnov's participation ~ the murder \iin 1934
thougJ1 imprisoned since January, 1933.

Dreitzer, Reingold, Pickel, Holtzman, David, Olberg, Berman­
Yurin, M. Lurye and N. Lurye stand charged under Articles 19
and S8 of the Criminal Code, as having been members of the under­
ground terrorist Trotskyite-Zinovievite organization and having
taken part in the preparation to assassinate Stalin, Voroshilov,
Zhdanov, Kaganovich, Kossior, Orjonikidze, and Postyshev.(3)

The State's Attorney represents Trotsky and his son, L. L.
Sedov, as "having been exposed by the materials in the present case
as having directly prepared and personally guided the work of
organizing in the USSR terroristic acts against the leaders of the
Communist Party of the Soviet Union and of the Soviet State,"
and he promises them that they, "in the event of their being dis­
covered on the territory of the USSR, are subject to immediate
arrest and trial by the Military Collegium of the Supreme Court
of the USSR."(4)

Besides the great number of persons who paid with their lives
in connection with the assassination of Kirov in December, 1934,
and in addit,ion to the sixteen defendants now on trial, there are
others to whom. the State's Attorney refers, such as Gertik, Grin­
berg, Y. Gaven, Karev, Kuzmlichev, Konstant, Matorin, Paul 01­
berg, Radin, Safanova, Faivilovich, D. Schmidt and Esterman, who
w.ill be tried at a later date. (5) All these, past, present and future,
defendants are,-according to the summation in the indictment,­
charged with complicity in the Kirov murder.

(2) Ibid, p. 38 (3) Ibid, pp. 38. 89 (4) Ibid, p. 39 (n) Ibid, p. 39



III. THE TRIAL

T
HE REPORT of Court Proceedings informs us that "after the
reading of the indictment, the_ President of the Court questions
in turn all accused whether they plead quilty as charged."(1)

All the accused with the excep}ion of Smirnov and H,oltzman plead
guilty on all charges. Smirnov admits personal communication with
Trotsky, and while "admitting his political responsibility for the
activities of the United Center,(2) denies personal participation in
the preparation and execution of terroristic acts. Holtzman, similarly
to Smirnov, admits membership in the Center and denies personal
participation in any act, making no statement as to political re­
'sponsibility for the activities of the Center.

The excerpts from the testimony-as published by the People's
Commissariat of Justice-cover seventy-five closely printed pages,
followed by the statement of the State's Attorney, Vyshinsky,
covering fifty additional pages. The latter appears to be printed
in full, thus preserving for posterity every gem, every provocative
statement, prejudicial remark that the Soviet prosecutor presented
before the court. Nine pages of the transcript present what appear
to be highly condensed and disconnected statem'ents of the accl\sed,
followed by the verdict signed by the presiding judge, V. V. Ulrich,
and two members of the court, 1. Matulevich and 1. Nikitchenko.

Reading the report of the trial, the vituperative statements
of the State's Attorney, disjointed excerpts from the accuseds' final
statements and then the verdict, one must feel as though he had
had a nightmare, a nightmare wherein appeared three legged men,
women with one eye in the middle of their forehead, pink elephants
and other creatures of phantasy gone mad. It is hardly possible to
believe that such a performance as the trial really happened.

A) Witches Sabbath

To get even a semblance of sanity out of so incredible a
spectacle, one must read the reports of those w;ho were present
at the trial, and who are trying to give an objective description of
the atlmosphere surrounding the case. The New York Times des-

(1) Report of Court Proceedings, etd. p. 40
(2) Ibid, p. 40
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cribes the trial as "an amazing story of a series of plots, both within
and without this country to 'decapitate' the Soviet regime by as­
sassinating all the principal leaders and place a new government
in the saddle ...."(3)

,The reporter of the New York Times, Harold Denny, describes
the testimony of Reingold and comments that "it would seem a
perfectly incredible story except that Zinoviev and Kamenev
sprang almost eagerly to their feet tonight to confirm it."(4) Yes,
it would seem a perfectly incredible story and none the less because;

"the manner in which the story was divulged is characteristic of
the trial, in which the defendants are wrangling among them­
selves, jealo,us of standing up as plotters and cheerily piling up
evidence against each other. Zinoviev and Kamenev in earlier
testimony belittled Reingold's importance in the terrorist group.
When Reingold's turn came, he told of this plot to kill Stalin,
to show how completely 'in the know' he was."(5) Those who
observed the defendants before the Military Tribunal must have
fund it extraordina.ry that "most of today's defendants who
certainly are in the shadow of death appeared casual about
their fate."(6)

The reports coming out from the Soviet Union and published
by the press of the world unanimously agreed that only two of the
defendants remained in disagreement with the indictment by fail­
ing to "confess up." "The testimony of the others up to the close
of the day's sessions composed a bizarre picture."(7) The picture
must have been at least bizarre when the newspapers describe the
defendants who "vied to be named as killers," even though the de­
fendants were "calmly aware that the executioner's rifles answer
confessions such as theirs."(8) It must have been quite elevating
to observe when:

"in an almost bored voice G. Evdokimov, former chairman of
the Leningrad Soviet, told the Court how the sixteen vied fo.r
the 'honor' of shooting Joseph Stalin."(9)

There was almost an untimely end for the trial, because "'hardly
had the session opened, than Zinoviev rose and declared: 'I am
fully guilty' (thirteen of the co-defendants doing similarly) ; where­
upon Zinoviev was asked by the prosecuror if he had organized
the plot.

Answer : Yes.
Question: Did you plot the death of Sergei M. Kirov?
A. Yes.
Q.' Did you organize the plan to kill Stalin?

(3) New York Times, Special Cable from Moscow, August 19, 1936
(4) Ibid, (5) Ibid (6) Ibid (7) Ibid.
(8) Associated Press Telegram, Moscow, August 19, 1936 (9) Ibid
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A. Yes, I am guilty of every charge in the indictment."
After such a statement, one, would imagine that everything is

over but the shooting. But such an early conclusion of the trial
would have been "too bizarre a picture," and to make it less (or
more) so, the trial was carried on for five days.

There may be a few persons, or the improbable is possible,
that there are many who believe the performance put on in
Moscow is not a stage play. The editorial of the Manchester Guardian
believes, to the contrary;

"Few but the faithfully blind will take ,at their face value the
charges against Trotsky, Zinoviev and Kamenev and the rest,
and regard the 'confessions' honest. And even the faithful will
be sorely put to it to explain why, at the moment when they
are denouncing (and being by Moscow exhorted to denounce)
the bloodthirsty method's of fascism in Spain, Germany, Abys­
sinia, Japan, etc. the workers government should find it politic
to follow their example * '" * * The mighty government of the
Soviet Union drags miserable prisoners from their cells to make
a public holiday and tries them for new offenses, which the
'0mniscient state curiously omitted to discover before. With the
best will in the world it is hard not to be cynical about this
Russian trial. One can only look for the explanation not in any
desire f01' justice, but in the shift of state's policy illnd the
need of an internal diversion. In this case it is the familiar
cry of the state in danger, the beloved leader's life hazarded,
a foreign power fomenting assassination. And, the scape goats
are the old sca,pe goats-all the politicians whom Stalin has
broken."(lO)

The Manchester Guardian did not forget the Kirov assassina­
tion and the subsequent trial arranged in January, 1935. At the
tim'e of the trial the State had already repeatedly changed the
story as to the cause of the murder. Giving the motive for the
murder first as a White-guardist plot from without, the official
explanation later turned to the counter-revolutionaries within, and
still later brought into the story an obscure Latvian consul who
with his five thousand rubles attempted to start a counter- revolu­
tion in Russia and allegedly initiated it with the Kirov murder. The
Manchester Guardian points out that in 1935 there was no direct ac­
cusation against Trotsky and the Trotskyites, though it is possible
that "the real faithful" sensed already the coming charges staged
at the present time. Zinoviev and Kam'enev themselves were at
the time charged only with "mora'l responsibility" for the Kirov
murder. (The "moral responsibility" w~.as placed against Andre, the
communist counselor of Hamburg who was recently sentenced to

(10) Manchester Cuardian Weekly, August 21, 1936
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death in Hitler Germany for the murder in 1931, of the Nazi named
Dreckman. Apparently the Hitler Courts and prosecutors know how
and wherefrom to learn.)

The Manchester Guardian believes that during the Kirov trial of
1935, Zinoviev and Kamenev escaped a direct charge and subsequent
death as

"a recognition that they had been virtually impotent since their
fall nine years before.... now eighteen months later, the
story is retold! with new trimmings, fresh characters appear,
almost every communist leader ;who has passed out of favor
is held up as a potential murderer. The Latvian consul with
his five thousand rubles vanishes into the background and the
Gestapo and 13,000 Tcheck kroner (orne in.... Once again the
narratives al1'e complete, the confessions of the accused abject,
their guilt handsomely acknowledged. But so also were the
narratives and confessions and admissions in January 1935.
It is strange that such material parts of the story were then
unknown and sUI stranger that important events did not take
place until months after the earlier trial .. , everything we know
of Trotsky and the principal accused, it is highly unlikely that
they have intrigued with their country's greatest foe. Still one
supposes the trial will go according to plan and the death sen­
tences for which the state controlled Mbscow press is clamoring,
will be pronounced."(l1)

Yes, the trial went on according to a plan, which plan was soon
revealed as the attempt to use the trial as a stage setting on which
to place and shoot at the real defendant, Leon Trotsky. Already on
August 20th, the New York Times reported from Moscow that;

"Leon Trotsky who Is now safe in exile, but wJto will be shotl
if he sets foot on Soviet soil, emergedl as the rea,l defendant
in the triaL... Prosecutor Andre Y. Vyshinsky concentrated
today in tracing the plot to Trotsky, and in turn linking him and
his son, Sedov, to the German Secret Police. In dbing this he
had the fullest cooperation of Zinoviev, Kamanev land most of
their admitted confederates who spent today as they did yester­
day eagerly damning themselves as 'hypocrits and traitors'."

There is, however, a recurring incredibility in the testimonies,
as when the reporter present at the session of August 20th cables
to the New York Times that;

"today even more than yesterd'ay was Illpparent the incom­
prehensible desire of the defemtants to convict themselves ....
The spectacle here is one of sixteen men accused of a crime
having only one possible penalty and with no possibility of
technicality saving them, facing the court with 'We, who are
about to die, saJute you'." (This may be the rudiment or the
remnant of the Old Bolshevik spirit of the accused.)

(11) Ibid
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Almost all of the defendants, who after their being sentenced,
pitifully begged for their lives in their petition for clemency to
Stalin, during the trial acted to

"supplement their full confessions with eager testim()ny against
themselves and against each other. They spring to their feet
like bright pupils glad to show how much they know. TheTe is
witty repartee among the prisoners, prosecutor and court in
which the prisoners join in the merriment.... These doomed
men ,are marching toward the firing squad amid gales of
laughter.. Only one so far, Smirnov, is fighting for his life and
his fellows are hounding him harder than the prosecutor."(12) .

The hounding of the non-confessor Smirnov by his fellow de­
fendants may be of some significance. His non-confessing does
spoil an otherwise perfect scene.

The stage is set, the curtain is up and back of the scenes the
regisseurs are working' diligently to stage as complete a plot as
their ability and imagination will permit. Their ability is not great.
They are staging a tragic and bloody melodrama, but melodrama
nevertheless, and poorly staged at that. Their imagination did not
carry them beyond the substituting of the Gestapo for the Latvian
Consul, increasing the 5000 rubles to 13,000 Tcheck kronen, and
making the moral responsibility into a "self-confessed" criminal
responsibility, and last, but not least, fraudulently and clumsily,
bringing Trotsky's and the Trotskyites' names into the plot. The
Trotskyists are to take the most important place at this trial, while
during the Kirov trial they were present by inuendo only.

The back stage regisseurs w'orked overtime; already on August
16th the sentimient of the workers was brought to a desired
crystallization in Russia when, as the Daily Worker reported,
"35,000 workers of the Stalin Auto Plant resolved that there is not
and can be no mercy or leniency for those who in a bandit under-·
world prepare terrorist acts against our Stalin and his colleagues."
Not only did the workers of Moscow, Leningrad, Kiev, Rostow on
IDon, Tiflis, Odessa and other cities demanded the death of the
"plotters," but Soviet citizens in far away Peking were highly
incensed and even though the indictment was presented only on
the 14th day of August in Moscow, the Daily Worker in New York
already two days later could report about the sentiment of those
in Peking who were "indignant ot the despicable terrorist activi­
ties of Trotskyite-Zinovievite counter-revolutionaries. We demand
ruthless punishment of the enemies of the Socialist fatherl'and
and toilers." (13) Thanks to the cable system which brought this

(12) New York Times, August 20, 1936
(13) Daily Worker, New York, August 17, 1936
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Peking resolution to Moscow on August 16th, the State's Attorney
must have felt himself strenghtened by the immediate arrival of
the moral support from China. While the trial was to open only
on the 19th of August, the Pravda of Moscow in its edition of
August 16th knew already that "'the whole Soviet Union, the whole
international proletariat will learn with bitter indignation about
new crimes committed by degenerate scoundrels (apparently mean­
ing Zinoviev, the former chairman of the Communist International,
Kamenev, the former chairman of the People's Commissariat of the
USSR, and others.) whose names have long since aroused the
disgust of all honest workers. Despicable handful of bankrupt
people without support in any country representing no one but
themselves, these men are skunks."

~The Pravda is unnecessarily violent in warning the people of
Russia against the opponents of Stalin. designat,ing them "people
without support in any country." The Opposition "representing no
one but themselves" by some occult means "for years they were
the source of all secret attack on the unity of the party and its
leaders,. They incessantly vilified the leaders. inflamed frantic
hatred against them, among the entire Trotskyite-Zinovievite
rabble. They inculcated vile hypocritical method for misleading
the party." (14) One is not quite able to follow the Pravda when it
speaks of a "handful of bankrupt people" and then again speaks of
them as "rabble;" or is there something like a "handful of rabble"?
One is not quite able to undertsand the Pravdev-how people "re­
presenting no one but themselves" could mislead the party. Were
those handful of men so strong in their arguments, or is the mighty
Communist Party of Russia so weak that it can be misled by people
representing no one but themselves? This would be hardly possible,
even though the Pravda refers to them as ":White-guard B:andits"
and "Fascist Spies." One could go on quoting fro1D' the Pravda
and other official communist papers, but we believe that the above
is a fair sample of the atmosphere preceding and surrounding the
trial.

*' II< * *
THE TESTIMONY OF THE DEFENDANT MRACHKOV­

SKY presents him, according to the official report, as "the man
most in the confidence of Trotsky and personally closest to him.
In the past he had occupied an important position in the army." (15)

He is further presented as an old Trotskyite. In the words of the
prosecutor "Mrachkovsky from 1923 onward had carried on, in

(14) Pravda. Moscow, August 16, 1936
(15) Report of Court Proceedings, etc., p. ~
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conjunction with Trotsky, Trotskyite anti-Soviet work." (16) He is
designated as a leading member of the Center who worked under
the personal direction of Trotsky, from whom he received his in­
structions through Smirnov. He is called by the State's Attorney
"one of the leaders of the counter-revolutionary Trotskyite under­
ground organization (17) who in 1932 joined the United Center."

Mrachkovsky is further presented by the prosecution as one
of those who in the disfavor of the St!alinite leadership was sent, .
to exile, but later recanted. "On returning from exile in 1929, he
only on paper admitted the correctness of the general line of the
party." (18) After having recanted, he confessed having organized
'.'a .further struggle against the party. ..... Even though the
group had no political platform, the platfol"!m drawn up in the
preceding period, 1925-27, was upset by the fact of the correctnes'3
of the general line of the party." (19) (This is one of the many
bouquets handed by the defendants to the Stalinite leadership for
the "correctness of the general line of the party.")

It is strange, to put it mildly, to see the obvious willingness
of the defendants to cooperate with the State's Attorney and say
whatever the State's Attorney wants them to say. When the State's
Attorney queries: "What do you mean by the expression 'until we
put Stalin out of the way?' "Mrachkovsky answers: "Until we
kill Stalin."(20)

Mrachkovsky, though willing to testify to all he expected to
do and wihat he was suspected of doing, does not remember his
dates any more than the State's Attorney. He states: "Already in
1931, this Trotskyite group openly discussed the question of ter­
rorism ... At that very meeting in the presence of Smirnov, my­
self. Ter-Vaganyan and Safanova. I was given the task of or­
ganizing a terrorist group, that is to say, to select reliable people.
The same task was assigned to Dreitzer together with me. That
period, 1931 and 1932, was spent in inducing and preparing people
to commit terroristic acts. For this purpose 11 recruited Yatsek and
Yudin. Dreitzer recruitetl another group of people including
Schmidt, Kuzmichev and some others whom I don't remember."(21)

If we recall the transcript in which Mrachkovsky "confessed"
having received the information from Dreitzer concerning the
latter's recruiting Dimitry Schmidt in 1934 and Dreitzer's con­
fession of having done so in 1935, and further R'eingold's testimony,
who was allegedly informed by Mrachkovsky and Dreitzer already
in 1933 of Dreitzer's having recruited Schmidt and Kuzmichev, ORe

(16) Ibid, p. 40
(19) Ibid, p. 41

(17) Ibid, p. 40
(20) Ibid, p. 41

(18) Ibid, pp. 40, 41
(21) Ibid, p. 41
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wonders whether the fourth version, as stated during the trial by
Mrachkovsky, is correct, i.e., that Schmidt and Kuzmichev were
recruited by Dreitzer in 1931 and 1932. Such contradictory test­
imonies appear to the State's Attorney of no sufficiient importance
to inquire into, nor is he willing to resolve the contradiction here
presented concerning the Trotskyists, whose entry into the plot
is advanced from 1932 to 1931.

Mrachkovsky, in his testimony, put the initiative upon Smirno'V,
whom he accused of receiving instructions from Trotsky. The same
desir~ to implicate the "non-confessor" Smirnov is demonstrated
by the other "confessor" defendants.

When the defendants are not well prepared to give the proper
answer, the State's Attorney is ready and willing to come to their
help; so when Mrachkovsky testifies as to his being instructed by
Smirnov to go to see Reingold and to come to an agreement with
him ·about the uniting of all forces, the following colloquy ensues:

"VYSRINSKY: On what basis?
MRACHKOVSKY: On the basis of organizing the assassina­

tion of Stalin.
VYSHINSKY: (The prosecutor and not the defendant testify':

ing!) Smirnov said: Go to Reingold and come to an
agreement with him about ....

MRACHKOVSKY: ... Uniting our terrorist forces for the
purpose of assassinating Stalin, Voroshilov and Kagano­
vich."(22)

This is not the only time when the defendants, (who as Harold
Denny stated in the New York Times,) gave their "fullest cooperation
to the State's Attorney" and presented their testimony in the form
of a duet where the State's Attorney carried on the brunt of the
testifying, the defendants just continuing the statements or sen­
tences begun by the prosecutor. Some of the details of the testi­
mony read like exerpts from the old "Nick Carter" series, as when
Mrachkovsky states that in December, 1934 he "received from
Dreitzer a letter of 'Drotsky's written in invisible ink."(23) Here
the story begins to get really mysterious-the invisible ink enters,
apparently for the purpose of preventing others from getting the
information. When the letter itself is needed for evidence, it
appears to have been written on invisible paper because no letter
is produced during the trial. However, Mrachkovsky recalls the
approximate content of the mysterious letter, and he quotes it
from memory as follows:

(22) Ibid, pp. 42, 43 (23) Ibid, p. 43
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"Dear friend, the task that confronts us today is to accelerate
the assassination of Stalin and Voroshilov. In event of war, it
is riecessail'Y to adopt a defeatist position and take advantage
of the confusion. Nuclei must be organized in the Red army.
The letter was signed 'Starik' (old man)."(24)

Now this letter appears to be the same to which,-according to
X, page 102, 103 of the transcript-(25) Dreitzer referred. Dreitzer
recalled Trotsky's inst.ructions to remove Stalin and Voroshilov.
Mrachkovsky read in the instructions "to accelerate the assassina­
tion of Stalin, and V;oroshilov." Dreitzer is ready to admit only the
instruction: "in event of war to capture the leadership." Mrachkov­
sky claims more details because he is instructed "to adopt a defeat­
ist position." But such discrepancies do not matter when the so­
called letter (on invisible paper and ink) is permitted to stand as
evidence without being introduced.

The above letter is again referred to in Dreitzer's testimony(26)
where it is stated that "in October 1934, Dreitzer's sister brought
him from Warsa~ a German Cinema magazine which an agent of
Sedov's had given her for Dreitzer. In the magazine Dreitzer had
no difficulty in discovering .... a message written in invisible
ink in Trotsky's own handwriting containing instructions to prepare
and carry out immediately terroristic acts against Stalin and
Voroshilov."

Dreitzer claims having passed the letter to Mrachkovsky, and
now it turns out why the oft mentioned letter of Trotsky cannot
be presented in court. The reason is that Mrachkovsky, "after
reading it, burned it for reasons of secrecy."

There is more or less agreement as to the time of the alleged
organization of the alleged United Center, and it is agreed by the
defendants and by the State's Attorney that it was sometime in
the fall of 1932. The defendant, Smirnov was arrested on certain
charges, not otherwise specified, on January 1, 1933 and remained
in the jails of. the Soviet Union up to the time of the present
trial.(27) Nevertheless, the State's Attorney, with the heartfelt co­
operation of the other defendants, is trying to make Sm:irnov admit
his participation in the United Center, even though the time be­
tween his arrest, January 1933, and the organization of the Center,
the fall of 1932, was just a short period, i'n no case more than six
months. Smirnov must be connected with the acts confessed by
the others because Sm1.rnov was a supporter of Trotsky's position
prior to the latter's expulsion from the country, therefore the at­
tempt to use Smirnov as a bridge from the confessed defendants to

(24) Ibid, p. 43 (25) Ibid, p. 22 (26) Ibid, p. 112 (27) Ibid, p. 152
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Trotsky. Most baffling' is the' willingness of, Zinoviev 'to admit
everything charged against him by the State's Attorney. Interrupt­
ing the examination of Mrachkovsky,- Ziriovi~v is questioned con­
cerning the activities of the so-called United Center.,

"VYSHINSKY: Against whom? (were the terrorist actS' directed)
ZINOVIEV: Against 'the leaders.
VYSHIN.8KY: That is, against Comrade Stalin, V<>roshilov, and'

Kaganovich? Was it your center that. organized the as­
assassination of Comrade Kiro'V? Was the assassination of
Sergei Mironovich Kirov org3Jnized by your center, or by
some other organization?

ZINOVIEV: Yes, by our center.
VYSHINSKY: In that center there were you, Kamenev, Smirnov,

Mrachkovsky and Ter-Vaganyan?
ZINOVIEV: Yes.
VISHINSKY: So you all organized the assassination of Kirov?
ZINOVIEV: Yes.
VYSHINSKY: So you all assassinated Comrade Kirov?
ZINOVIEV: Yes.
VISHINSKY: Sit down."(28)

We almost expect the State's Attorney, upon such excellent
answers given by the defendant, to express his appreciation by some'
sign, as a teacher would towards a "bright pupil," (such was Zino':'
viev designated by the reporter of the New Yark Times.)

Just as a mere aside, on Page 4S of the transcript there appear
three lines without being quoted-as if it were an unimportant
opinion of someone: "I. N. Smirno,v denies Mrachkovsky's testimony
to the effect that he, Sm;irnov, had conveyed Trotsky's instructions
about terrorism to the Moscow Trotskyite center." The State's
Attorney thereupon confronts Smirnov with his "confession" al­
legedly given on August 13 in XXIX, page 115 of the record.
Smirnov, even under the prompting of the State's Attorney, "re­
mains silent."(29)

* * * *
THE T'ESTIMONY OF EVDOKIMOV elicited that he, the

former member of the Central Committee of the c.P.S.U., up to a
short time 'prior to the trial belonged 'to the closest circle built up
around Stalin. Wh~n questioned by the ~ourt whether or not he
confirmed his "confession" given at the preliminary examination
"replies in the affirmative."(30) He admits every charge made
against him;

"VYSHINSKY: You were 3J/hlember of the center?
EVDOKIMOV: Yes, I was.
VYSHINSKY: Did you know /that the center was preparing

---
(28) Ibid, pp. 44, 45 (29) Ibid, pp. 45, 46 (30) Ibid, p. 46
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" assas!,inations of the· leaders' of/the C.P.S.U. and. the Soviet
Government?

EYPOKIMOY; Yes.' . .. . .'
VYSHINSKY: 'J)~~):ou personally approve; of the preparation of
. these assassina.tion!!1J' . . ' .

. "EVDOKIM:OV: I agreed to them. . . .
VYSHINSKY: You' took 'part/in and considered it· necessary

to/proceed by ~he pa~h;o;f.assassination?

EVlDOKIMOV: Yes. ". .' .'
VYSHINSKY: Do you' admit'thatjtqe a,sS'assination of Com­
. ,tade! Kirov" was preplll1'ed with) your' assistance? J

/ .
EVDOKIMOV: Yes I adIpit that." (31)l , . ". "

. Some' of the foreign cortespondents present at thetdal' were
wonderirig how it came that di,lring the Kirov trial' in January;
1935, the alleged facts as now presented 'were not known. "It is
strange that such m'aterial parts of the story were then unknown
arid' still' stranger that important events did' not take place until
mOnths after the earlier' trial." The reporters were wondering,
arid the State's Attorney must have Wondered about the' same
thing a~d must have tried to find an answ;er to the 'se1f~same
question when he declared to and for Evdokimov:

j'VYSHINSKY: At the trial in Leningrad, on January 15-16,
1935, when facing the courts as you do now, you emphatically
asserted that you had nothing to do withthaJt murder.. At'
that time you told untruths?

EVDOKIMIQV: Yes, I deceived the court.
VYSHINSKY: You thought you deceived the Court. As a

matter of fact, the deception did not work. Now it is exposed.
EVDOKIMOV: Yes."(32)

Apparently, Evdokimov agreed at last that "crime does not
pay;" he is willing to agree with the State's Attorney though it
took eighteen months, or longer in prison before he was brought
to that conclusion. After eighteen or more months in prison, the
State's Attorney may call upon the accused to join in and make
the confession an almost unanimous one. He succeeded with all
but Smirnov who again, according to the State's Attorney, "makes
the attempt to deny this testimony of Evdokimov:" (33) This at­
tempt of Smirnov was not successful (not anymore than were the
alleged attempts upon the life of Stalin, Voroshilov, Kaganovich),
because, "the replies of Mrachkovsky and Evdokimov to questions
put to them by Comrade Vyshinsky establish that the conversation
about terrowism did take place and that Smirnov fully and com­
pletely supported the line of terroristic acts."(34)

From the above quotations, it would appear that the accused

(31) Ibid, pp. 46, 47 (32) Ibid, p. 47 (33) Ibid, p. 47 (34) Ibid, p. 47
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were Oil trial really because they were conversing about terrorism,
and that Smirnov was particularly tried because "he fully and com­
pletely supported the line of terroristic acts" in the "conversations."
How> he did do that is not explained. Apparently Smirnov, who
was in the penitentiary of the Soviet Government from January 1,
1933 on, has had some good connections within and may have
walked out every once in a while when a terroristic act was to be
"conversed about." Hut let us see the terroristic acts.

Evdokimov testifies as to the conferences of 1932 at Ilyinskoye
where "there was outright talk about the necessity of terrorism in
the first place against Stalin and Kirov. The organization of these
terroristic acts was, on Zinoviev's proposal,entrusted toBakayev."(35)

So the State's Attorney progresses; first there are only c~n­
versations about terrorism; now there is outright talk, so one ex­
pects that with the help of the State's Attorney, we will arrive at
something more tangible because after this outright talking was
done in 1932, "in the summer of 1934 a conference was held in Ka­
menev's apartment in Moscow ...." where "it was decided to ex­
pedite the assassination of S. M. Kirov." (36)

Here the State's Attorney wants to emphasize the outrightness
of the talk and so he queries:

"VYSHINSKY: So it was put as straight as that: 'To expedite
the assassination of S. M. Kirov!?"

EVDOKIM:OV: Yes, it was put like that." (37)

Of course, one would imagine that if the terrorists already in
1932 were talking outright about terrorism, then in 1934 they
would put it as straight as they did, because two years should be
long enough to move from "outright talking" to "putting it
straight."

Now the acts are related: Bakayev, according to Evdokimov's
testimony, went to Leningrad in the autumn of 1934 "to check up
on the progress of the preparations for the terroristic act against
Karov."(38) Then, «as a result of further questioning, Comrade
Vyshinsky established that while on his visit to Leningrad, Bakayev
met the future murderer of S. M. Kirov, Nikolayev, with whom he
discussed the preparations for the assassination."(39) Here is a little
retrogression because the man Bakayev, entrusted with the ter­
roristic act in 1932, after doing some "outright talk about the"
necessity of terrorism, in 1934 goes to Leningrad, meets the future
murderer of Kirov with whom "he discussed the preparations for
the assassination."

(35) Ibid, p. 48
(38) Ibid, p. 48

(36) Ibid, p~ 48
(39) Ibid, p. 49

(37) Ibid, p. 48
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There must have been quite a number who were desirous of
assassinating Kirov, because on further questioning by the State's
Attorney it is stated:

"BAKAYEV!: There was no need for me to come to an under­
standing with him (Nikolayev) about it because the instruc­
tions for the assassination had been given by Zinoviev and
Kamenev.

VYSHINSKY: But Nikola.yev told you that ,he had decided to
assassinate S. M. Kirov, didn't he?

BAKAYEV: He did, and so did other terrorists-Levin, Mian-
delstamm, Kotolynov, Rumyantsev.

VISHINSKY: You discussed the assassination of Kirov?
BAKAYEV: Yes.
VYSHINSKY: He expressed his determination. And what was

your attitude towards it?
BAKAYEV: I was for it."(40)

The only apparent reason for the foregoing testim.ony is the
attempt to prove the guilt of Levin, Mandelstamm, Kotolynov etc.
who were previously executed in conection with the Kirov murder.

* * * *
THE TESTIMONY OF THE ACCUSED DREITZER con­

tradicts that part of the Record, which, on page 40, claims Mrach­
kovsky to be "the man most in the confidence of Trotsky and per­
sonally closest to him." On page 51, it is Dreitzer who was "one
of the most prominent Trotskyites. He had been chief of Trotsky's
body-guards." Dreitzer even brags about the Trotskyite-Zinovievite
Center being a strictly "centralized and disciplined counter-revolu­
tionary organization ;"(41) though subsequently it appears that the
discipline could not have gone very far. While Dreitzer allegedly
took upon himself the committing of terroristic acts, he did not do
much, if anything, for three or four years.

The first act which Dreitzer actually did was to talk during
the trial. This "most prominent Trotskyite" Dreitzer, helps the
State's Attorney with surprising readiness to accomplish what the
trial set out to do, that is, to find the absent Trotsky guilty on
every count of the indictment. As Dreitzer stated: "There could
be no acting on one's own, no orchestra without a conductor
among US."(42)

Smirnov appears to be the only one who was actually abroad
after Trotsky was expelled from the Soviet Union. That explains
the obvious desire on the part of the State's Attorney and the
defendants assisting him, to bring Smirnov in contact with the
Center. Dreitzer states that the Trotskyite section received in-

(40) Ibid, p. 49 (41) Ibid, p. 51 (42) Ibid, p. 51
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structions "'from abroad from L. D. Trotsky, and here from 1. N.
Smirnov, Trotsky's deputy in the USSR."(43) Poor Smirnov! He
must have had a hard job giving instructions to the so-called Center
while he was sitting cooling his heels in the government prisons
from 1933 on, while the Center organized in the fall of 1932 did the
most important· and the most "outright talking" in 1933, that ils,
after Smirnov's imprisonment. There is no evidence that any of
the accused Orrd Bolsheviks, ever talked to Trotsky after 1928,
because wbile Dreitzer confesses that in 1931 he went to Berlin to
make contact With Trotsky, the only thing he did "in Berlin
he twice met Sedov (Trotsky's son) in a cafe in Leipziger Strasse."(44)

. (Concerning the testimony of Olberg, David and the other u,nknown
defendants meeting Trotsky, more later.)

It was rather careless of Sedov and· also careful on the part
of Dreitzer to go to Berlin for the purpose of "ascertaining
Trotsky's attitude on the question of a block between the Trotsky­
i,tes and the Zinovievites," that is, the formation of the terroristic
Center, and discuss the matters nowhere else than in a cafe in
Leipziger Strasse. A cafe without a name located on Leipziger
Strasse isa very hard place to disprove, as there are many places
m,entioned in this trial wholly disproven.

The State's Attorney himself m~st have noticed that there was
too much talk and too little action on the part of the confessed
terrorists because he turns to Zinoviev and asks:

"VYSHINSKY: Accused Zinoviev, in the summer of 1932
had you already come to an understanding about the necessity
of organizing terroristc acts, or was there only talk about
these terroristic acts?

ZINOVIEV: As far as I can picture it, the situation was as
follows: With the Trotskyites this wa's already a mature deci­
sion, based on the absolutely precise instructions of Trotsky
given a fairly long time before that, and they had taken a
number of practical steps."(45)

Now, here you have it! Vyshinsky is put at ease. There was
more than talk; as a matter of fact, Trotsky gave "absolutely
precise instructions" (to whom, when and· where does not matter),
and they, the Trotskyites, had taken a number of practical steps.
(What these practical steps w~re is of no consequence, the main
thing is that there was some more talk, some more conversation
before and during the trial."

Here Smirnov is again grabbed, the State's Attorney makes
a- sudden tackle at him when he asks of Zinoviev;

(43) Ibid, p. 51 (44) Ibid, p. 52 (45) Ibid, p. 53
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"VYSHINSKY: Did Smirnov display any activity in relation
to this, or not?

ZINOVIEV: Smirnov, in my opinion, displayed more activity
Ithan anyone else, and we regarded ;him as the undisputed
head of the Trotskyite part of the bloc, as the man best
informed about Trotsky's views, and full sharing these
views."(46)

We, of ·course, may be permitted to draw, the logical conclusion
and ask if Smirnov, who was in the penitentiary from the beginning
of January, 1933 "displayed more activity than anyone else," how
little terroristic activity was displayed on the part of the others?

Smirnov is apparently not one of those to whom the reporters
refer as "bright pupils." Nor is he one of those who vied with
the others to confess the murders, but to the contrary, he is a poor
pupil and because of this attitude, the State's Attorney calls for
testimony against him.

,"VYSHINSKY: Did Smirnov display persistence during these
negotiations, did he press for terroristic acts?

ZINOVIEV: As I have already said, he heatedly and with much
persuasion insisted on the commission of terroristic acts, al­
though there was no need to persuade us. We were already
convinced:." (47)

:The, State's Attorney still seems to be bothered about the fact
that no acts were proven. Therefore, he comes out in in outright
manner and asks the "court to note that the testimony of Zinoviev,
Reingold and Dreitzer establishes that after 1932 practical prepara­
tions were made for terroristic acts."(48) Where, how and when
these practical preparations were made is again not the purpose
of the trial to establish. It is further interesting to note the small
slip-up. At this time Vyshinsky refered to the testimony of Rein.,
gold as already presented, though this statement is followed by the:,

* * * * '
TESTIMONY OF: REINGOLD, which brings out the fact that

he was "one of the most active members of the Zinovievite under:­
ground counter-revolutionary organization." (49) Reingold appears
to be one of the activists who went further than just conversing,
because he was «invited by Zinoviev and Katrlenev to take part in
drawing up the platform of the counter-revolutionary organiza­
tion." (50) (Incidentally Mrachkowsky testified that they had no plat-,
form.) (51) Whether Reingold accepted the invitation and did some­
thing is n,ot shown by any testimony; however, the State's Attorney
claims that Reingold "personally directed one of the groups which
was preparing to assassinate Comrade Stalin." (52) What the prepa-

(46) Ibid, p. 53
(50) Ibid, p. 54

(47) Ibid, p. 54
(51) Ibid, p. 41

(48) Ibid, p. 54
(52) Ibid, p. 54

(49) Ibid, p, 54
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rations were are details left entirely outside the scope of the trial.
Reingold, while accusing his co-defendants, does that as an

apparent personal favor to them, because he testifies about his
long standing acquaintance with K:amenev since 1923: with Sokol­
nikov since 1919-Sokolnikov whose name appears for the first time
connected with that of the so-called Trotskyite-Zinovievite center.
Reingold even claims that "Dreitzer was my personal friend; I was
in very close touch with Mrachkovsky ..... I also knew I'. N.
Smirnov very well. I was in close contact with Zinoviev." (:;3) Be­
cause of his long-standing acquaintance and because of the close
contact, Reingold is eminently fitted to say that he "can confirm
that Zinoviev, Kamenev, Bakayev, Evdokimov, Smirnov, Mrach­
kovsky, Ter-Vaganyan and Sokolnikov Were members of the
Trotskyite-Zinovievite center." Apparently the State's Attorney
became impatient with the individual identification of the defen­
dants, and so obtained from Reingold a wholesale implication.

Reingold goes eveQ. further. He did not only identify his co­
defendants as participants in the terroristic "conversations," but
he also brought in'the names of others because "negotiations were
carried on about joint activity with the 'Leftists': Shatskin, Lo:mil..
nadze, and Sten, and also with the representatives of the 'Right
deviation': Rykov, Bukharin and TOl11$ky."(54) This is the first time
that the trial reaches out to embrace in addition to the so-called
Trotzkyites and Zinovievites, the Bukharinites, holding a right
wing position.

Reingold apears to be the brightest of all "bright pupils" be­
cause he explained just about everything. There are people who
still recall the historical fact that Trotsky and Zinovie~ ·did not
cooperate after the capitulation of Zinoviev and Kamenev to Stalin;
therefore, it is necessary to explain how it came about that Zinoviev
and the Zinovievites did now form the so-called Center with' the
Trotskyites. Reingold does the explaining when he says "'the
Zinovievites uniting with the Trotskyites arose as far back as 1931.
Meeting Zinoviev in his apartment and in his villa that year, I heard
him say that it was a pity that we had fallen out with Trotsky."(55)
("It was a pity" said Zinoviev, and that proves the existence of the
Center.)

Reingold also explain the irreconcilable deviation between
Marxism and terrorism when he refers to the purported statement
of Zinoviev allegedly made in 1932 that "although terror is incom­
p,llible with Marxism, at the present moment these considerations

(:;3) Ibid, p. 54 (54) Ibid, p. 55 . (55) Ibid, p. 55
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must be abandoned (this is a "suspended" Marxian theory). There
are no other methods available of fighting the leaders of the Party
and the Government at the present time. Stalin combines in him­
self all the strength. and firmness of the present Party leader­
ship." (56) (See the bouquets being thrown to Stalin!) According
to Reingold, "K,amenev enlarged on this theory and said that the
former methods of fighting, namely, attempts to win the massea,
combinations with the leaders of the Rightists, and banking on
economic difficulties, have failed. That is why the only method of
struggle available is terroristic acts against Stalin. and his closest
comrades-in-arms." (57)

Jrhe logic of Zinoviev, the Marxist, is that while Marxism is
incompatible with terrorism, the theory must be suspended so that
one may remain a Marxist while following a terroristic path.
Kamenev's logic seems to be that "after attempts to win the masses
have failed," the next step is to remove the leader who "combines
in himself all the strength and firmness of the present Party leader­
ship." Kamenev must have hoped to win the masses-which he by
political :means failed to win-by removing the leadership which the
masses trusted and followed. Vain hope that is founded on such
illogic!

Reingold is rather verbose in his testimony and adopts the
jargon of New York, St. Louis, and Chicago gangsters when he
talks about "the job." He claims that "'it was decided to create
au organization of the most carefully chosen and resolute people
who could go right through with the job." (58) What kind of a
"job" is not explained, nor does the State's Attorney inquire into
that. Apparently the job was to converse some more and probably
to proceed to "outright talking."

Reingold goes on to implicate the so-called "Rightist leaders"
in the complicity of conversation and negotiations when he states
that such "negotiations were carried on with the leaders of the
H.ightists: Bukharin and Tomsky. After these negotiations Zino­
viev definitely said that he had found common political ground
with Tomsky in appraising the policy of our country." The fact
that no evidence w(as presented of any terroristic act committed
by the Left or Right is of no consequence, because Reingold goes
on and testifies that "there was an interruption in our terroristic
activities between the autumn of 1932 and the summer of 1933," (59)

reSUlting from the fact "that Zinoviev and Kamenev were compro­
mised in connection with the Ryutin case," and both were exiled;

(56) Ibid, p. 55 (57) Ibid, p. 55 (58) Ibid, p. 5[j (5ll) Ibid, p. 56
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but it was decided .in advance that the exiles should show.repen-:
tance _(false 'repentance, of course.) Ater having been' generously
forgiven .by. Stalin, thew were, as stated by Zinoviev, to "crawl
on ·thebelly.into the P:arty," so·that. they could again go on _with
their "terroristic conversation." Here the' State's Attorney comes
to .the.~help of. Reingold when he sums up as follows:

' .. "VYSHINSKY: I' understand: then from what you say that
.both . Kamenev- and Zinoviev proceeded' along two. lines:. on

. '., ... th,e. one hand. they' did all they.possibly could to diplay their
. loyaltr, ~heir devotion to ~he Party, while on the other hand it

was they who were preparing terrorist acts against the leaders
of the Parly. Is that right?

REINGOLD iYes. . .
VYSHINSKY: Accused Zinoviev, Reingold's testimPny iIilpli·

Cilltes you in a grave crime. Do you adl~it· your .guilt?
ZINOVIEV; Yes•.
VYSHINSK,Y: Accuse<l KJamenev. I put the same question to

you.
KAMENEVi I answer in the affirmative: •
VYSHINSKY; So you confirm that you had such a ·monstrous

plan?
KAMENEV; Yes, there was such a monstrous plan.
VYSHINSKY: You worked out this monstrous plan and confirm

this now?
KAMENEV; Yes, I do." (60)

One must agree with the reporters present at the trial that
the defendants were testifying as "bright pupils" do when the in­
spector of the school appears. One is rather taken aback if he
knows that the "bright pupils" include the life-long collaborators
of Lenin, the President of the Third International and the Vice­
Chairman of the People's Commissariat of the USSR-Zinoviev
and Kamenev; especially because Kamenev turns out, by his own
confession, to be also a brigand ready to rob the State Bank. The
State's Attorney, confessing for Reingold, states that "it is ascer­
tained that Kamenev and Z~noviev commissioned Reingold to carry
out a number of responsible tasks, in particular that of creating
abroad a special fund for the purpose of financing the ter'rorist
oganization in the event of K.amenev and Zinoviev being deported
abroad." (61) After the State's Attorney so testifies, he turns to
Kamenev.

"VYSHINSKY: Accused Kamenev, was there any such talk?
KAMENEV; This was in 1929 when I and Zinoviev presumed

that we might be deported abroad like Trotsky and there­
il'ore we thought it necessary to create abroad some fund for

(60) Ibid, p. 57 (61) Ibid, p. 57
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the purpose of maintaining and continuing the work which
we had been carrying on here.

VYSHINS~Y: From what resources did you think you could
set up this fund?

KAMENEV: We had certain resources in view.
VYSHINSKY: Did you appeal to Reingold for RJssistance?
KAMENEV: Not for assistance. We simply instructed Reingold

and Arkus to create this fund. Reingold' and Arkus were
financial officialls under Sokolnikov.

VYSHINSKY; Did you propose to organize this fund at the
expense of the State?

KAM'ENEV: At any rate not out of Reingold's personal fund.
VYSHINSKY: To put it more exactly, you intended to rob the

State." (62)

Kamenev does not only implicate the Center and does not only
confess the intention to rob the State, but he also implicates others
not on trial-Arkus and Sokolnikov, the former Soviet ambassador
to London.

* *,* *
DURING THE TESTIMONY OF BAKAYEV, repeated refe­

rence is made to him as one of the absolutely reliable persons be­
longing to the Center, though it is shown subsequently that he
failed every time his co-conspirators relied upon him. Bakayev
states that "particularly intense terroristic activity was carried on
in August 1932 and in the autumn of 1934." (63) What these intense
terroristic activities were is not brought out; but as it· appears
from further testimony they did not go beyond '"some more. con­
versation" and "outright talking." According to the State's Attor­
ney, Bakayev stated that "in October 1934 an attempt on the life
of Stalin was organized in Moscow under the direction of Kamenev,
Evdokimov and himself, in which he, Bakayev, took a direct part.
The attempt failed. When the attempt failed, Bakayev went to
Kamenev and told him about it." (64) So there was, according to
the State's Attorney, an attempt upon the life of Stalin. This
attempt failed, but the failure must have been such a colossal one
that no one even knew anything about the attempt, no newspaper
wrote about the attempt nor about its failure; so Bakayev had to
inform Kamenev that the attempt had failed. When informed, the
former Vice-Chairman of the People's Commissariat said: "A pity,
let's hope that next time we'll be more successful." (65)

This defendant, who was allegedly in direct charge of the Kirov
assassination, relates his visit to Leningrad and his meeting with
Levin, Mandelstamm, Sossitsky, Rumyanstev, Kotolynov and Myas-

(62) Ibid, pp. 57, 58 (63) Ibid, p. f)O (f)J) Ibid, p. 60 (65) Ibid, p. 60
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nikov (66) in Levin's apartment, where he was introduced to Niko­
layev. It is interesting to note that this man, in di1rect charge of
the organization of the Kirov assassination for two years, was first
introduced to the actual terrorist only in the fall of 1934, i.e. just
prior to the assassination. Personal acq1;1aintance was apparently
substituted by "conversations" and "outright talking," because
Bakayev states that: "Levin said that Nikolayev was an old mem­
ber of the Young ColD/lIlunist League whom Evdokimov had known
for many years and whom he had given the best recommendation
as an absolutely reliable person. Nikolayev gave me the impression
of being a determined and convinced terrorist." (67)

While in Leningrad Bakayev learned that the so-called terror­
ist group "had established a regular watch over Kirov and that
Kirov was so well covered there would be no difficulty in killing
him." (68) He was also informed, and this time by Nikolayev, that
the latter "had suceeded in finding out the exact t~me when Kirov
traveled from his apartment to the Sm,olny, that he could kill Kirov
either near the Smolny or in the Smolny itself." (69) But apparently
Nikolayev could not, for years, make up his mind whether to kill
Kirov near or in the Smolny. Therefore, preparations took from
1932 to 1934.

It was reported repeatedly by reliable newspapers that Niko­
layev was a secretary of Kirov. In the testimony, however, noth­
ing must appear concerning such relationship because if Nikolayev,
as a secretary, had personal contact with Kirov, it would have been
difficult for the State's Attorney to explain the long delay between
the so-called laying of the plan and its execution. Ne.ither could
it be explained why Nikolayev allegedly stated to Bakayev that he
"had tried to get an appointment with Kirov so as to shoot him but
had failed to get an appointment." (70) One usually does not get
an appointment with someone "so as to shoot him."

Bakayev, to whom the State's Attorney repeatedly refers in
the indictment, as well as in his closing argument, as the most
determined terrorist, seems to be rather meek and to be eating out
of the hand of the State's Attorney when he was asked:

VYSHINSK'Y: In 1932 you received instruction to organize
the 3lssassination of Comrade Stalin. Was that so?

BAKAYEV: Yes.
VYSHINSKY: Did you take a number of practical measures to

carry out these instructions, namely, to organize several
attempts on the life c.f Comrade Stalin, which failed through
no frault of yours?

(66) Ibid, pp. 60, 61 (67) Ibid, p. 61
(69) Ibid, p. 61 (70) Ibid, p. 61

(68) Ibid, p. 60
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BAKAYEV: That is so.
VYSHINSKY: Besides, did you take part in the assaS'sinaltion

of Comrade Kirov?
BAKAYEV: YeS'." (71)

No details are volunteered, nor are any asked by the State's
Attorney concerning the several attempts on the life of Comrade
Stalin. As far as the record goes, these several attempts were all
exhausted by discussion, and nothing more. In summing up the testi­
mony of Bakayev, just as in summing up all other testimonies, the
State's Attorney and one of the defendants concluded:

"WSHINSKY: The decisive part was played by you, Trotsky
and Kamenev. Accused Kamenev, do you associate yourself
with Zinoviev's statement that the principal organizers were
you, Trotsky and Zinoviev, and that Bakayev played the
part of a practical orgaiIlizer?

iKAMENEV: Yes." (72)

this makes the role of T.rotsky clear and the purpose of the trial
still clearer.

* * * *
THE TESTIMONY OF PICKEL brings out, according to the

statement of the State's Attorney, that "Pickel, supplementing
Bakayev's testimony, states that in the autumn of '1933, Bogdan
made another attem'pt on the life of Comrade Stalin." (73) Here is
reference made to another attempt on the life of Comrade Stalin,
though the most careful scrutiny of the Record does not show any
trace of any previous or subsequent attempt. Proof of such at­
tempts are details, of no apparent interest to the prosecution.

* * * *
THE TESTIMONY OF KAMENEV could have been made a

very short one, but for the desire of the State's Attorney to prolong
it. Kamenev starts with the categoric statement that "the terror­
ist conspiracy was organized and guided by myself, Zinoviev and
Trotsky." This statement appears to be sufficient for his con­
viction, if confession alone is sufficient, but K'amenev was
prompted to do his utmost, to do even the impossible, not to be
expected even from the brightest pupils of the State's Attorney.
Kamenev was apparently aware of the fact that "it was no use
counting on any kind of serious internal difficulties to secure the
overthrow of the leadership which has guided the country through
extremely difficult stages, through industrialization and collectivi­
zation." (74) Kam!enev was "without any hope of obtaining any
mass support ~atsoever."(75) Nevertheless, he proceeded to plan

(71) Ibid, p, 61
(74) Ibid, p. 65

(72) Ibid, p. 62
(75) Ibid, p. 65

(73) Ibid, p. 63
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terroristic acts hoping against hope that after assassinating the
"leadership which had guided the country through extremely dif­
ficult stages," mass support would come to him. Why and how is
not stated, not even inquired into.

Kamenev is ready to give credit where credit is due. He is
ready to make Trotsky alone exclusively responsible for all the
alleged and confessed acts of the accused:

"We carried on negotiation about the block with Smirnov,
MrachkovS'ky and Ter-Vaganyan, not as with men who inde­
pendently issued political instruction. They were of Vlalue to us
as men who precisely repeated! the instructions of Trotsky." (76)

Dates, places, persons are of no consequence whatsoever in
this trial and they are mentioned as casual things, as when Kamenev
states that "in the summer of 1932 a meeting" was held at Ilyins­
koye. "At this meeting Zinoviev reported that the union with the
Trotskyites, who had received Trotsky's personal instructions to
commit terroristic acts, was an accomplished fact. At this very
meeting Bakayev was instructed to carry out a terroristic act in
Moscow, and Karev in Leningrad." (77) But what happened?
Kamenev does tell us that '"the exile of myself and Zinoviev some­
what held up the execution of our terroristic plans." (78) So a plan
concocted in 1932 was "somewhat" delayed until at least December,
1934, but the accused, according to· their own confessions, were
engaged in historical acts-and two or three years are but a moment
in the eyes of the Gods, or when measured by history.

Kamenev helps the State's Attorney in preparing evidence for
new trials, if and when such trials shall be deemed necessary by
the Government. He gives evidence against a second set of defen­
dants, or at least helps the prosecutor holding the sword of
Damocles over persons not yet drawn into the conspiracy. Kamenev
states: "Among the leaders of the conspiracy another person may
be named who in point of fact was one of the leaders, but who, in
view of the special plans we made in regard to him, was not drawn
into the practical work. I refer to Sokolnikov." (79) Not only
Sokolt:ikov but others are pointed out by Kamenev: "Knowing
that we might be discovered, we designated a small group to con­
tinue our terroristic activities. For this purpose we designated
Sokolnikov. It seemed to us that on the side of the Trotskyites
this role could be successfully performed by Serebryakov and
Radek." (80) Serebryakov and Radek, together with Sokolnikov, are
made part of the second set not yet on trial,' as well as Shlyapnikov,

(76) Ibid, p. 66
(79) Ibid, p. 67

(77) Ibid, p. 66
(80) Ibid, p. 67

(78) Ibid, p. 66
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and Medvedyev with whom Kamenev "and Zinoviev maintained con­
stant contact," (81) and \vho are designated by Kamenev as the
"former Workers' Opposition Group." Still others are pointed
out. Kamenev "personally maintained relations with Tomsky and
Bukharin and sounded their political sentiment. They sympathized
with us. When I asked Tomsky about Rykov's frame of mind, he
replied, 'Rykov thinks the same as I' do.' "(82) So Rykov, as weD
as Tomsky, may stand charged with "thinking."

The gem of all testimonie's was presented by Kamenev in his
colloquy with V~shinsky:

"VYSHINSKY: What appraisal should be given of the articles
and statementS' you wrote in 1933, in w,hich you expressed
loyalty to the Party? Deception?

KAMENEV: No, worse than deception.
VYSHINSKY: Perfidy?
KAMENEV: Worse.
VYSHINSKY: Worse than deception, worse than perfidy-find

the word. Treason?
KAMENEV: You have found it..
VYSHINSK,Y: Accused Zinoviev, do you confirm that?
ZINOVIEV: Yes.
VYSHINSKY: Treason, perfid'y, double-dealing?
ZINOVIEV: Yes." (83)

Social ideals, Marxist convictions, even good upright character
is negated by the alleged confessions of the former Vice-Chairman
of the Peoples Commissariat when discussing these problems with
Vyshinsky:

VYSHINSKY: Consequently, your struggle against the leaders
of the Part.y and the government was guided by motives of
a personal base character-by the thirst for personal power?

KAMENEV: Yes, by the thirst for power of our group.

VYSHINSKY: Don't you think that this has nothing in common
with social ideals?

KAMENEV: It has as much in common as revolution has with
counter-revolution.

VYSHINSKY: That is, you are on the side of counter-revolu­
tion?

KAMENEV: YeS'.
VYSHINSKY: Consequently, you clearly perceive that you are

fighting against socialism?
KAMENEV: We clearly perceive that we are fighting against

Ithe leaders of the Party and of the government who are lead­
ing the country to sociaJism.

VYSHINSKY: Thereby you are fighting socialism as well,
aren't you?

(81) Ibid, p. 68 (82) Ibid, p. 68 (83) Ibid, p. 68
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KAMENEV: You are dnawing the conclusion of an historian
and prosecutor." (84)

The last statement of Kamenev, even though he appears to be
playing the role of the "bright pupil," may be nothing else but a
"pulling of the leg" of the prosecutor. What else can it mean that
Vyshinsky is "drawing the conclusion of an historian and prose­
cutor?"

* * * *
IN HIS TESTIMONY ZINOVIBV, as the State's Attorney

recites, proceeds "relating the history of the restoration of the
united Trotskyite-Zinovievite center in 1932." (85) The history thus
presented by the State's Attorney is not quite in keeping with the
facts. The statement that Zinoviev "emphasizes that there never were
any material differences between the Trotskyites and Zinovievites"
does not need any disproving, since the opposite is quite clearly
known to any and all who ever studied the period of 1923-1936
of the Russian revolution.

Zinoviev knows, and possibly the State's Attorney has some
inkling of of the fact, that there were unbridgeable differences be­
tween Trotsky and Zinoviev. These differences, which permitted
no rapprochment between the two, are just swept aside in passing
when the bright pupil, Zinoviev, states: "Our differences with
Trotsky after the Fifteenth Congress wllten Trotsky used the word
'treachery' in relation to me and Kamenev. were really slight zig­
zags, petty disagreements." (86) To one, like Zinoviev-who disco­
vered the suspension of the Marxian theory pertaining to its anta­
gonism to terrorism~treacherymay be a petty disagreement, but
to others it must seem more serious.

History does and will testify that Zinoviev's statements, whether
they were made voluntarily or because of his eighteen months of im­
prisoment, are not facts. It js not true that "'from 1928 to 1932
there was not for one moment any real difference between Zinoviev
and Trotsky."

Zinoviev concurs with Kamenev in bringing in the names of
the "Workers' Opposition"-Shlyapnikov and Medvedyev-and of
the "leftists"-Lominadze, Shatskin, Sten-and of the "individuals"
-Smilga and Sokolnikov. There is a fine distinction made between
those who are brought in by the confessors' testimony directly,
and those implicated "but only to a certain extent"-as Sokolnikov;
thus permitting a grading of the subsequent accused. Zinoviev
testifies that he "often told untruths" but that now he is telling

(84) Ibid, p. 69 (85) Ibid, p. '71 (86) Ibid, p. 71
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the whole truth. Evidently Vyshinsky has certain doubts and so
he proceeds to question him:

"VYSHINSK:Y: Are you telling the whole truth now?
ZINOVIEV: Now I am telling the whole truth to the end'.
VYSHINSKY: Remember that on January 15-16, 1935, at the

session of the Military Collegium of the Supreme Court, you
also asserted that you were telling the whole truth.

ZINOVIEV: Yes. On JlliIluary 15-16 I did not tell the whole
truth.

VYSHINSKY: You did not tell the truth, but you maintained
that you were telling the truth." (87)

The answer leaves the State's Attorney in a dilemma as to
whether or not one who once told untrue stories while he main­
tained they were true can be believed now just because he says
so-even though his story now is different from that previously
told. Vyshinsky, as we shall see, recalls this dilemma in his clos­
ing arguments.

Zinoviev is one of the most ardent of the confessors, for the
obvious purpose of implicating Smirnov. He presents Smirnov as
one in charge of the group (while in jail ?), as when he states: "':I;
N. Smirnov entirely' agreed with this instruction (pertaining to
the unification of the groups) and carried it out wholeheartedly
and with conviction." (88) As if «a counter-revolutionary gang of
assassins" could have any conviction.

The State's Attorney, with the cooperation of Zinoviev, pre­
sents another gem:

"VYSHINSKY: Thus, summing up your testimony, we may draw
the conclusion that in the organization of the, Trotl?kyjte­
Zinovievite terrorist block and center, the deCisive 'part'w~
played, on the one hand, by you, as the leader of the Zino­
vievites, and, on the other, by Trotsky through his represen­
tatives?

ZINOVIEV: That is correct.
VYSHINSKY: At the time Trotsky's principal representllJtive

and even deputy in the U.S.S.R. was 1. N. Smirnov?
ZINOVIEV: That is correct.
VYSHINSKY: Was the recognition of the necessity of terror­

ism the decisive condition for uniting the Trotskyites and
Zinovievites?

ZINOVIEV: Yes." (89)

It is more than obvious that the purpose of the testimony is
not to relate any facts or acts, if such facts or acts existed, but to
bring into the record certain conversations so as to prove Trotsky's
leadership in the alleged conspiracy. The State's Attorney does

(87) Ibid, p. 72 (88) Ibid, p. 72 (89) Ibid, p. 73
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not bother to go into any details, but just relates that Zinoviev
testified "as to what practical steps were taken in preparation for

'the assassination of the leaders of the party." (90) There is informa­
tion neither as to Zinoviev's testimony nor as to the proof of the
practical steps which were allegedly testified to.

Every so often one sees the real purpose of the confessions
when the former chairman of the Third International, Zinoviev,
presents statements studded with self-incrimination, self-abuse,
as that: "we continued our tactics, which represented a combina­
tion of ever subtler forms of perfidious double-dealing with thej
preparation O;f the conspiracy." (91) It is hard to believe that the
defendants also confessed that they considered Trotsky as their
superior in every respect. l't is incredible to reconcile such a state­
ment with their present attitude, because now all of the defendants,
most particularly Zjnoviev, abuse and slander Trotsky and the
Trotskyites. When Zinoviev speaks about his co-defendant, M.
Lurye, he says: "I ~new\ that M. Lurye was a Trotskyite and not
a Trotskyite only, for when he spoke one could even hear the lan­
guage of a fascist." (92) Vyshinsky is interested in learning how one
hears the language of a fascist, therefore he inquires:

"VYSHINSKY: In what did his fascism show itself?
ZINOVIEV: H:is fascism showed itself when he said that in a

situation like the present we must resort to the use of every
possible means." (93)

Zinoviev here forgets that in XXXII, 252, he is purported to
be saying to the same M. Lurye, (who was apparently disturbed
about making connections with the German Secret Police:)

"What is there in this to dIsturb you? You, are a historian,
Moissei Ilych, you know the case of Lassalle and Bismarck,
when Lassalle wanted to use Bismarck in the interests of the
revolution."
" ....By means of this historical parallel," added M.. Lurye,
"Zinoviev wanted to prove the possibility and the necessity of
utilizing an alliance with the National-Socialists in the fight
against the C.P.S.u. and the Soviet Government." (94)

Even bright pupils slip-up sometimes. The slip-up is to be cor­
rected by a belated explanatory attempt of Zinoviev and the State's
Attorney. (95)

* * * *
THE ROLE OF THE FOREIGN TROTSKYITES.

Zinoviev. performing in cooperation with the State's Attorney.
does a good job. Not only does he bring in on every turn the

(oo) Ibid, p. 73
(93) Ibid, p. 75

(91) Ibid, p. 74
(94) Ibid, p. 28

(92) Ibid, p. 75
(95) Ibid, p. 76
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name of Trotsky and the Trotskyites in general, but even some of
the foreign I'nternational Communists. It seems from the testimony
that because of their standing as International Communists they
must be dragged down; their names must be brought into contempt
before the workers of the world.

Zinoviev allegedly discussed terroristic acts with M. Lurye, and
the State's Attorney sums up the testimony of Zinoviev: "They
discussed the terrorist instructions of Trotsky which M. Lurye had
received in Berlin through Ruth Fischer and Maslov." (96) H,ere
again no time, place, or other evidence is needed; just a statement
on the run and Ruth Fischer and Maslov have been, at last in the
opinion of the State's Attorney, proved to be the co-workers of
the German Fascist Secret Police. There are however people who
want more than such proof as to Fischer and Maslov, whose names
have been connected with the front rank of the international revolu­
tionary workers for the past twenty years.

Zinoviev, who was considered by all leaders of the Russian re­
volution as possibly the most talented speaker, shows some signs
of his talent, during the trial. H;e is if nothing else, verbose some
of the time during the. examination, while most of the time he is
satisfied with answering the questions of the State's Attorney by
"yes" and "correct." He goes into detail whenever details are needed
for the purposes of the trial. So he tells us that "he took part in
this affair (preparing the terroristic acts) and that he knew of two
attempts on the life of Comrade Stalin." (97) To show when, where;
and how these attempts were committed is apparently not the duty
of the prosecution. ~nowledge, conversation, talk-they are suf­
ficient in the opinion of the State's Attorney to convict, and he
must have known what was to be sufficient.

* * * *
THE EXAMINATION OF SMIRNOV shows that he is a

rather hard nut to crak. In spite of all the atte:mpts of the State's
Attorney, in spite of all accusations of his co-defendants, Smirnov
remains the only non-confessor. The testimony of Safanova,(1l8)
Smirnov's former w\ife, was expected by the State's Attorney to
break down Smirnov. She is used· to illustrate "I. N. Smirnov's at­
titude to terrorism."(99) She is here to tell that in December 1932,
I. N. Smirnov "categorically confirmed the opinion that Stalin must
be assassinated, that Stalin would be assassinated." Apparently
the only reason for Smirnov's arrest-on January 1st, 1933-was
his categoric conviction as to, the need for assassinating Stalin,

(96) Ibiel, p. 75 (97) Ibid, p. 76 (98) Ibid, pp. 76-78 (99) Ibiel. p. 77
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expressed one month prior to his arrest. The State's Attorney him­
self admitted that "Smirnov denies that he had passed on to Ter­
Vagariyan, Mrachkovsky and Safanova, Trotsky's instruction to
adopt terrori$m. He also dei¥es that, when Mrachkovsky returned
after his talk with Stalin, he spoke of the necessity of assassinating
Stalin."(l00) However, the denial does not bother the State's Attorney.
If anyone has any doubts as to the purpose of Safanova's examina­
tion, the State's Attorney will dispel such doubts in saying: "the
evidence of the accused (of the accused . . . ?) and of witnesses
utterly exposes Smirnov as one of the principal leaders of terror­
ism against leaders of the party and of the Soviet Government,
which Smirnov pursued on the direct instructions of Trotsky.(lOl)

01'le is justified to ask whether or not the other allegations of
State are just as "utterly exposed" as that of Smirnov's participa­
tion in the alleged terroristic conspiracy. (The prosecution itself
admi,ts that Smirnov, from January 1, 1933 on, spent the time in
the jails of the State against which he was allegedly conspiring.)

This utter lack of proof, in spite of the utter "expose" against
this defendant, is best seen from the testimony of Smirnov who is
introduced by the State's Attorney as "one of the leaders of the
Trotskyite organization since its formation, the closest friend
of Trotsky and the actual organizer and leader of the underground
Trotskyite counter-revolutionary activities in the U.S.S.R., who
maintained personal connections with Trotsky and the Trotskyite or­
ganizations abroad. Smirnov, Trotsky's deputy in the U.S.S.R.,"(102)
must have been better than ambidextrous, because if he was the
leader of the underground group, he was such leader from within
the prison. He not only maintained personal connections with the
Trotskyites abroad, but he did so from beyond prison-walls.

The State's Attorney admits that Smirnov "denies his own
direct part in the terorristic activities and only partly admits his
crimes."(l03) and testifies for Smirnov that he in 1931 went abroad;
"in Berlin he met Sedov, Trotsky's son and agent. Smirnov claims
that this was an 'accidental' meeting. During his 'accidental' meet­
ing, Smirnov hastened to make arrangements with Sedov about
their next meeting which took place in Smirnov's 10dgings."(1Q4)
Apparently Smirnov's lodging was in a cafe in Leipziger Strasse,
because the indictment states that: "In Berlin he (Smirnov) twice
met Sedov (Trotsky's son) in a cafe in Leipziger Strasse:' (105)

In discussion with Simirnov, Sedov expressed what Smirnov

(100) Ibid, p. 77
(103) Ibid, p. 79

(101) Ibid, p. 78
(104) Ibid, p. 79

(102) Ibid, p. 79
(105) Ibid, p. 52
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"tries to make (it) appear (that this was,) Sedov's own opin,ion
with which he, Smirnov, allegedly did not agree." (106) Never­
theless, Smirnov committed hjgh treason because he "right there
promised Sedov to establish communications with him and to
establish 'informational' communication with Trotsky." (107)

So at last we know the charges against Smirnov, In addition
to that brought forward in the indictment, he is charged with having
promised to communicate with Sedov and to establish "information-'
al" communication with Trotsky. Maybe being in "informational"
communication with Trotsky is a crime against the state, but a
perusal of the Criminal Code of the Soviet Union will not find
any such crime defined.

When Smirnov states that he did not expect that Sedov's
opinion, to whomever it would be communicated, would be accepted
as that of Trotsky's or directives given by Trotsky, the State's
Attorney refutes him with the testimony of Mrachkovsky who ap­
parently accepted Sedov's opinion as that of Trotsky. Smirnov
does not even admit the existence of the Center, however subtly
the State's Attorney conducts his examination.

"VYSHINSKY: So when did you leave the Center?
SMIRNOV: I did not intend to resign: there was nothing to

resign from.
VISIUNSKY: Did the Center exist?
:SMIRNOV: What sort of a Center.... ?" (108)

Smirnov does not know anything about the Center, but the favorite
confessors, the bright pupils come to the help of the State's At­
torney:

"VYSHINSKY: Mrachkovsky, did the Center exist?
MRACHKOVSKY: Yes.
ViYSHINSKY: Zinoviev, did the Center exist?
ZINOVIEV: Yes.
VYSHINSKY: Evdokimov, did the Center exist?
EVDOKIMOV: Yes.
VYSHINSKY: Bakayev, did the center exist?
BAKAYEV: Yes.
VYSHINSl(,Y: How, then, Smirnov, can you take the liberty

to maintain_ that no center existed? "(109)

One wonders how Smirnov, after being in the custody of
the State from January 1, 1933 on, can have the moral courage to
deny the existence of the non-existing Center when Zinoviev,
Kamenev and others in jail for only eighteen months so readily
confess. If Smirnov does not want to accept leadership in what he
considers a non-existing group, then such leadership is given to

(106) Ibid, p, 79 (107) Ibid, p. 79 (108) Ibid, p. 81 (109) Ibid, p. 81



66 THE FIRST TWO MOSCOW TRIALS

him willy-nil'ly, as when Olberg testifies about his alleged meeting
with Sedov: "Sedov spoke with great respect of Smirnov as the
leader of the Trotskyite organization in the USSR.(110)

When Smirnov denies the ,acts credited to him by the State's
Attorney, then the State's Attorney concluded the matter by stat­
ing: ''The accused pers:ists in his evasiom and tries to deny the
part he played as the leader of the Trotskyite organization."(111)

There is a summing up by the State's Attorney to the effect
that in spite of Smirnov's denial, there were certain facts elicited
from him, and that he was forced to confess certain things pre­
viously denied. However, even the State's Attorney must admit:
"But the accused makes this confession only after the prosecution
has exposed him by absolutely incontrovertible facts," and if the
State's Attorney says these facts are incontrovertible, then they
must be such.

Smirnov is presented as the person who maintained personal
contact with Trotsky, and the State's Attorney even accepts that
as pr0ven.

"VYSHINSKY: Did you haNe direct communication with
Trotsky?

SMIRNOV: I had two addresses.
VYSHINSKY: I ask you, was there any communication?
SlMIRNOV: If having addresses is called communication....
VYSHINSKY: What do' you call it?
SMIRNOV: I said that I received two addresses.
VYSHINSKY: Did you maintain communication with Trotsky?
SMIRNOV: I had two addresses.
VYSHINSKY: Was there communication by mail with Trotsky?
SMIRNOV: There was communication by mail with Trotsky's

80n."(112)

There was something further when Smirnov stated that he
wrote a letter to Trotsky and received a reply from him. (113) What
this letter and answer were about, when they were written is of no
consequence to the prosecutor. For him it is sufficient that Trotsky's
name is mentioned, and another stone is laid to the monumental
edifice to be 9uilt up by the trial against Trotsky.

When Smirnow is asked: "Did you give instructions to the
group?" and Smirnov answers: "No, I did not," then again Mrach­
,,"osky and others will belie Smirnov's statement, and that denial
is more than sufficient for the State. When, in contradiction to
Smirnov, the others agree with the State's Attorney, the latter
turns to Smirnov and asks him: '"Accused Smirnov, dQ you think

(110) ]'bid, p. 82 (111) Ibid, p. 82 (112) Ibid, p. 33 (113) Ibid, p. 84
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that Ter-Vaganyan, Mrachkovsky and Evdokimov are telling un­
truths;" Sm'irnov's answer is silence which may be taken by the
State's Attorney as an agreement with him, but may also be taken
as a sign of strength of character which does not permit Smirnov
to call the confessing co-defendants by their real name.

Smirnov had at last made some contradictory statements, which
the State's Attorney considers necessary to have contradicted
further, and in turn by everyone 'of the co-defendants. The
ch~nge from the first to the later part of Smirnov's testimony is
apparent. While through most of his testimony he clearly denied
any and all of the accusations even after all the confessors, his co­
defendants, contradicted him, at the end he becomes contradictory
to himself and to his own testimony.

Page after page, Smirnov consistently denies any participation
in any terroristic act, denies any orders or instructions as to ter­
rorism coming from Trotsky. After he denied even his knowledge
of any terroristic Center, which the co-defendants agree was or­
ganized,(114) there was a sudden change when Vyshinsky turned to
Smirnov:

"VYSHINSKY: What then do you admit?
SMIRNOV: I admit that I belonged to the under-ground:

Trotskyite organization, joined the bloc, joined the center
of this bloc, met Sedov in Berlin in 1931, listened to hiS'
<>pinion on terrorism and passed this opinion on Moscow.
I admit that I received Trotsky's instructions on terrorism
from Gaven and, although not in agreement with them, I
communicated them to the Zinovievites through Ter­
Vaganyan." (lUi)

Though the above statement of Smirnov appears as a quota­
tion from the testimony, one wonders whether there is anyone who
ever did or will testify as the report presents Smirnov as testifying
-just as a music box after being wound up and the catch released
continues to grind until the machinery is unwound. Was it disgust?
Volas it utter hopelessness on the part of Smirnov? Was it a
desire to escape further questions that makes him confess, was it an
attempt on his part to make his testimony obviously improbable?
It is difficult, if not impossible to say; but the fact that Smirnov's
testimony was never considered an admission even by the State's
Attorney will be seen from the latter's concluding argument and
can 8e sen from the further fact that after Smirnov allegedly con­
fessed, the State's Attorney felt it necessary to turn again to
Ter-Vaganyan, Mrachkovsky, Dreitzer, Evdokimov and Kamenev,

(114) Ibid, p. 85 (115) Ibid, p. 85
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who one by one contradicted Smirnov and agreed with the
State's Attorney that Simirnov was the man responsible for all and
everything, that Smirnov was the leader who have the instructions
to organize the terrorist group. (116)

* * * *
THE EXAMINATION OF V. P. OLBERG makes one wonder

who this man is. One wonders whether Kamenev in his closing
speech referred to this man when he bemoaned his disgraceful end
sitting in the dock with shady characters.(117) Olberg is quite ac­
commodating to the President of the Court who querries whether
or not he confirms his principal "confession" of terroristic acts.
Olberg "confirms it fully and completely."(118)

He claims connection with the German Trotskyite organization
as of 1927-1928 and that he contacted Trotsky and Sedov in 1930
through Grilevich, the publisher of Trotsky's pamphlets in Ger­
many.(119)

Olberg makes a statement concerning his visits to the Soviet
Union; that terrorism was discussed "after Trotsky's ~ssage in
connection ~th Trotsky's being deprived of the citizenship of the
USSR. In this message Trotsky developed the idea that it was
necessary to assassinate Stalin. This idea was expressed in the
following words: 'Stalin must be removed'."(120) I'f anyone doubts
that "must be removed" means a directive from Trotsky that
Stalin "must be assassinated," Olberg explains that it must mean
as much even though it is not expressed more in detail. The proof
of it is that Sedov stated to him: "Well, now you see, it cannot be
expressed in a clearer way. It is a diplomatic wording." (121)

Insinuations, allusions may be of some help to the State's At­
torney to mislead those who, heard for the first time during the
trial reference made to the political, theoretical, and tactical con­
troversies, which Were carried on between Trotsky and ·Stalin. It
might be of some help to mislead those who do not know the his­
tory of the Russian Opposition into believing that Trotsky actual­
ly wrote a letter recommending the assassination of Stalin. Those
who still remember facts, cannot be misled even though most of
the defendants testified to the existence of such a letter. Fortunately
for those who want to know the truth Olberg's statement clarifies
the situation and identifies the letter to which the defendants refer
as allegedly containing Trotsky's recommendation as to terrorism.

Olberg identifies the letter as ''Trotsky's message in connection

(116) Ibid, p. 86
(120) Ibid, p. 87. (117) Ibid, pp. 169, 170 (118) Ibid, p. 86 (119) Ibid, p. 86

(121) Ibid, p. 87
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with Trotsky's being deprived of the Citizenship of the the
USSR ••••" in which the idea of assassination of Stalin was ex­
pressed in the words: "Stalin must be removed." Yes, the letter
exists. More than that, the letter was published by Trotsky and
made available to anyone who cared to read it. It was printed in
the March number of the Bulletin of the Opposition in the year of
1932. The letter actually written by Trotsky and dated March 1,
1932 was not sent through Gaven; it was not sent to Smirnov; it
was not written in a German cinema magazine with invisible ink;
to the contrary it was written for publication and addressed as an
"Open Letter to the Central Executive Committee of the Soviet
Union." The letter refers to the resolution of the Central Execu­
tive Committee of the U.S.S.R. of February 20, 1932. Trotsky by
this resolution was deprived of his Russian citizenship. In his letter
of March 1, 1932, Trotsky protests against the act of the Central
Executive Committee, and stamps it an unpolitical and incorrect act
of Stalin, to whom Trotsky, in the Open Letter, refers as follows:

"Stalin has led you into a blind alley. The only way out is
through the ending of Stalinism. Trust must be placed in the
working class; the proletarian advance guard must be put into
a position to take stock of the whole Soviet organization, from
top to bottom, by means of free criticism and mercilessly to
clear away the accumulated rubbish. Lenin's last urgent advice
must at last be followed: Stalin must be removed." (122)

Yes, Trotsky wrote the letter and he recommended-not to
the conspirators who are now on trial, but-to the Central Execu­
tive Committee of the Soviet Unlion that Stalin must be rempved.
The same recommendation was made by Lenin in his last letter,
sometimes referred to as Len~n's Testament-a Confidentia'l Com­
munication. Lenin's letter was to be read at the party Congress.
but was suppressed, after having been discussed in the Central
Executive Committee. (The suppression occurred while Stalin was
General Secretary of the party.) Lenin, in his letter, expressed
great misgivings concerning the "stability of the Central Commit­
tee" and he recommended "measures to prevent a split so far as
such measures can be taken." He wrote:

"The fundamental factor in the matter of stability-from this
point of view-are such members of the Central Committee
as Stalin and Trotsky. The relation between them consti­
tutes, in my opinion, a big half of the d:anger of that split,
which might be avoided,...... Comrade Stalin, having become
General Secreta~y, haS' concentrated an enormous power in his
hands; and I am not sure that he always knows how to use

(122) Bulletin of the Opposition, March. 1932.
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that power with sufficient caution. On t;he other hand, c,omrade
Trotsky, as was proved by his struggle against the Central
Committee in connection with the question of the People's Com­
missariat . of Ways and Communica,tions, is distinguished not
only by ,his exceptional ability-he is, to be sure, the most able
man in the present Central Committee-but also by his too
far-reaching self-confidence and a disposition to be far too
much attracted by the purely administrative side of affairs.
These two qualities of the two' most able leaders of the present
Central Committee might, quite innocently, lead to a split, and
if our party does not take measures to prevent it, a split
might arise unexpectedly." (123)

Lenin, just before his final illness, added a postcript dated
January 4, 1923:

"Stalin is too rude, and this fault, entirely supportable in re­
lations among us communists, becomes unsupportable in the
office of General Secretary. Therefore, I propose to the com·
rades to find a way to remove Stalin from that position and
appoint another man who in all respects differs from Stalin
only in superiority-namely, more pa,tient, more loyal, more
polite and more attentive to comrades, less ca,pricious, etc.
This circumstances may seem an insignificant trifle, but I think
that from the point of view of the relation between Stalin and
Trotsky which I dsicussed' above, it is not a trifle, or it is such
a trifle as may acquire a decisive significance." (124)

Olberg, Dreitzer, Mrachkovsky" are referring to Trotsky's
letter and claim that Trotsky therein recommended the assassi­
nation of Stalin, while the letter-not produced at the trial­
contains nothing more nor less than a quotation by Trotsky ad­
dressed to the Central Executive Committee of the Soviet Union,
which quotation "vjas taken from Lenin's last letter to his party,
the party which he built up with the help of others, not the least
among them Trotsky. Many people wonder why Trotsky's letter
was not introduced in evidence. The answer is simple. On~ cannot
be prosecuted, nor slandered. for writing a letter quoting Lenin­
at least, not in a court which claims to exist under the traditional
teachings of the salf-same Lenin.

Olberg is inexhaustable in confessing. He goes on to explain in
detail how he was to go to the Soviet Union and how his difficul­
ties in obtaining a passport w,ere overcome. In the description of
his difficulties, there were interesting sidelights thrown upon the
real purpose of the trial, as, for instance, in the following discourse:

"VYSHINSKY: Connection between the German Trotskyites and
the German police-was that systematic?

(123) Lenin's letter of December 25, 1922-Pioneer Publishers-The Suppressed Testament
of Lenin, pp. 5, 6

(124) Ibid. pp. 6, 7
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OLBERG: Yes, it was systematic and it was done with Trotsky's
consent." (125)

Olberg does not confess directly his connection with the
Gestapo, but does it otherwise:

"VYSHlNSKY: So it can be said that you yourself admit con­
nection with the Gesta1po?

OLDERG: I do not deny this." (126)

Olberg claims to have gone to the USSR the first time at the
end of March, 1933 and to have remained there until July, 1933.
During his short sojourn, he lived in Moscow for six weeks and
then "went to Stalinabad, where he obtained a position as teacher
of history." (127) There is no reference whatsoever as to how it
came about, and with whose help, the stranger Olberg obtained a
teaching position in Stalinabad after having been in the USSR but for
six weeks. Besides the connections which he claimed he had with
Trotsky, Olberg must have had others, sufficiently powerful to
provide him with the position of a teacher.

Upon his return to Prague, Olberg made contact with one
Tukalevsky, "an agent of the German secret police in Prague." (128)
According to Olberg "Tukalevsky is the director of the Slavonic
Library of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in Prague. I learned
from my brother that he was an agent of the fascist secret
police." (129) As to this testimony Tukalevsky's statement in the
Prager Tageblatt (heretofore quoted,) is of some interest.

It is also interesting to read the statement of the State's
Attorney that "Olberg obtained a passport from Lucas-Parades,
Consul-General of the Republic of Honduras in Berlin who had
arrived in Prague at that time," and who, according to Olberg,
"sold me the passport for thirteen thousand Czechoslovak kronen.
This money I received from Sedov."(130) Olberg, in accordance
with a statement in the Revolution Proletarienne, obtained a passport
with the full knowledge of the Soviet legation in Prague.(131) The
correspondent of the Revolution Proletarienne, who personally knew
Olberg and who is ready to prove his statement before an interna­
tional labor-jury, writes:

"The declaration of Vyshinsky is well known. The defendants
of the great sensational trial ,of Moscow were the agents of
Hitler's Gestapo! The proof of it? There is none. Rather there
was produced at the trial a single tangible piece of evidence,
aJ passport.
"Olberg carried this passport; he went to the USSR with this
passport, having a valid visa obtained in due form: the passport

(125) Report of Court Proceedings, etc., p. 8i
(126) Ib\d, p. 88 (127) Ibid, 1'.. 88 (128) Ibid, PI'. 88, 89 (129) Ibid, p. 89
(130) IbId, p. 89 (131) Revolution Proletarienne, September 9, 1936
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was a passport of Honduran Republic, but the prasecutor
accused Olberg, this 'rabid dog,' this 'vomit of the counter­
revolution', for having such a 'false' passport.
"Around this passport., the prosecution built a whole structure.
It was supposed to have been purchased with the help of a
Gestapo agent in Prague; the price was supposed to ,have been
thirteen thous'and Czeck kronen, which was allegedly supplied
by the 'Trotskyites' of Prague. This embroidered story is
false from the beginning to the end.
"First: Olberg never entered the USSR without proper per­
missioI1l. He could not have entered clandestinely, since he was
employed in the USSR. He entered the country in a perfectly
legal manner, with his passport, with a permit issued by the
Soviet legation of Prague.
i'The court conducted the investigation in a manner to hide this
first important fact.
"Second fact: Olberg did announce in advance to the Soviet
Legation at Prague, that he was going to procure a foreign
passport. The Soviet Legation itself suggested the idea, because
Olberg, a refugee emigrating from Germa,ny and deprived of his
Illationality applied to the Soviet Legation and requested the
necessary apthoTization to enter the USSR. There he was told
approximately the following: 'Since you are not a citizen of our
country; since you do not enjoy the advantageS' of a communist
we have no right to supply you with the papers. However, you
should procure some kind of a regular and valid passport and
then we shall see.'
"Third fact: There was nothing irregular in the acquisition of
the passport. Olberg, the son of a former Russian citizen, a
German emigrant, deprived of his citizenship by Hitler, con­
tacted' one of the many runners (couriers) existing in Prague,
which runners, for a compensation procure a regular passport
-not counterfeit, to the contrary issued by the Legations of
certain countries. Olberg, to acquire a nationality, purchaS'ed
~ passport in such manner. The price was fixed at six thousand
Czeck kronen.

"The last and most important fact: The persons who gave the
money necessary for the purchase of the passport are known.
"In fact, this man Olberg, who' studied history at the University
of Berlin, obtained from his parents .and friends six thouS'and
kronen; and further, to raise the money necessary, he Iilold his
library to the Masaryk Library in Prague. The painful gather­
ing of the sum took two months.

"With the money in his hand, Olberg looked up his runner, but
since the passports of the Honduran Republic were in great
demand, the runner increased the price to nine thousand kronen.
Olberg did not have that sum. He bargained and succeeded in
fixing the price at seven thousand kronen.
"As to the other money, Olberg obtained the one thousand
by bo.rrowing it. The persons thus 'touched' by Olberg live in
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Prague. They can be examined before an International Trial
Board.
"The above facts demolish the fragile structure created by the
prosecutor of Moscow. There is no Gestapo, there are no
"Trotskyites"; nor are there thirteen thousand kronen, nor
clandestine entries into the USSR. Wh3Jt remains is an almost
banal story of a. passport purchased on the market. One can
refer to other German emigrants in posses'sion of the same
kind of passport.
"The Soviet Legation in Prague knew and knows absolutely
everything about the origin of the passport; knows th3Jt Olberg
entered the USSR in a regular manner with the visa issued by
the Soviet Legation. Therefore, the Legation a.ccuses itself of
being the agent of the Gestapo."

Olberg seems to have traveled quite extensively between the
Soviet Union and Prague because in March, 1935, he arrived in
Russia for the second time. In July, 1935, that is three months
later, he was already back again for the third time. During his
third visit to Russia "he soon obtained employment in the Gorky
Pedagogical Institute, where he remainend until his arrest," (132)

C).gain showing that it was rather easy for Olberg to obtain employ­
ment in Russia, just about at his own pleasure, and further point­
ing to some other then Trotskyist tie-up.

A very enlightening statement is made by the State's Attorney
during Olberg's testimony:

"VYSHINSKY: There is a gap here in your testimony. In
what capacity did your brother Paul Olberg, arrive here?" (133)

It is enlightening to see that the State's Attorney knew that
there was a gap in Olberg's' testimony, and it is still more enlight­
ning to see that Olberg was more than ready to fill up the gap.
One wonders whether Olberg did not follow an exect line of testi­
mony which may have been established during a previous rehearsal.
If one, however, thinks it unfair to assume that a reherseal may
have been arranged for, prior to the testimony, one has only to
take a look at page 91 of the official report where, without any
causal connection whatever, V'yshinsky, out of the blue sky, poses
the question: "vVhen did you have that talk with Sedov about not
permitting the Trotskyite organization to be compromised;"
although Olberg had not up to that point made even an allusion
to the fact that he had had a talk with Sedov concerning the com­
promising or not compromising of the Trotskyite organization.
Nevertheless, Olberg is ready to answer the question and states:
"That was at the time of my second journey. He said that if I

(132) Report of Court Proceedings, ,etc., p. 90
(133) Ibid, p. 91
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were arrested by the organs of security of the USSR, I was under
no circumstances to say that this terroristic act was carried out
on Trotsky's instructions, and at all events l' was to try to conceal
Trotsky's role." (134)

Here again the State's Attorney asks questions to which he
must have known the answers in advance. The question is formu­
lated in a manner 'which shows no connection to the previous an­
sers unless the answers were given at a secret rehearsal.

"VYSHINSKY: Whom did he advise you to throw the blame
on for the organization of terroristic acts?

OLBERG: On the white-guards or the Gestapo." (135)

While Olberg did not testify concerning advice to throw the
blame on anyone, Vyshinsky, quick-witted as he is, must have
sensed that there was such advice. One is justified to ask, why did
Olberg faile to follow the advice to blame the white-guards, or the
Gestapo? Why though fore-armed did he fail to make use of the
plan? The prosecutor shows no curiosity to find the answer.

Vyshinsky instead of clarifying the issues takes the liberty of
putting things in his own way; he says: "Consequently we may
put it this way: you, Valentin Olberg were connected with Trotsky
through his son Sedov; you were sent on Trotsky's direct instruc­
tions conveyed through Sedov to the USSR as Trotsky's agent to
prepare and carry out a terroristic act against Comrade Stalin?"

"OLBERG: Yes."(136)

The Court, claiming objectivity, permitted such statement to
stand, as a resume of the evidence.

* * *' *
THE EXAMINATION OF BERMAN-YURIN shows that the

State's Attorney and the President of the Court felt that they might
throw aside even the formalities of examining or cross-examining
the witnesses. It was not necessary; it was enough to call upon
the "'bright pupils" to recite their piece:

The accused opens up almost naturally-one woul4 say-with
the name of Trotsky.

"PRESIDENT: Berman-Yurin, tell us what instructions you
received from abroad before your departure for the Soviet
Union." (137)

"BERMAN-YURIN: I received instructions from Trotsky to go
to the Soviet Union to commit a terroristic act against
Stalin. I visited Trotsky personally in Copenhagen in No­
vember, 1932." (138)

(134) Ibid, p. 91
'(138) Ibid, p. 93

(135) Ibid, p. 92 (136) Ibid, p. _ 92 (137) Ibid, pp. 92, 93
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This witness brings in the names of so-called German Trotsky­
ites when he mentions Grilevich and Alfred Kundt through whom­
he alleges, he came in contact with Sedov. Watch the testimony,
which shows the utter disregard of caution on the part of Trotsky
who allegedly arranged for terroristc acts in Russia. Berman­
Yurin states:

"In November, 1932, I had there, a meeting with Sedov who
then for the first time spoke openly about the necessity of
assassinating the leaders of the Communist Party of the Soviet
UniOOl. Evidently Sedov noticed that I was wavering and: he
said that Trotsky would be in CopenhllJgen shortly and asked
whether I would not like to go there and meet Trotsky. I, of
course, expressed my agreement." (139)

Mind you, it was in November, 1932, and Berman-Yurin is not
mistaken about it; no, he remembers well that it was in November,
1932 because it was then the first time that Sedov talked about
the necessity of preparing for assassinations. This witness claims
that it was evident that Sedov noticed his wavering, but never­
theless, Sedov, the "incautious," took the "wavering" Berman­
Yurin to Copenhagen to meet Trotsky between the 25th and 28th
clay of November, 1932, and there the witness was introduced to
Trotsky. (140) While "evidently Sedov noticed that" the witness
"was wavering," nevertheless, Sedov threw all caution to the wind
and introduced the "wavering" Trotskyite to Trotsky, the "older
incautious," who after meeting for the first time this "wavering"
terrorist, told him "the principal question is the question of Stalin.
Stalin must be physically destroyed." (141)

Any terrorist leader who was as careless as Trotsky appears
to have been, deserves to be caught, as the State's Attorney claims
he is; but there is also the possibility that the State's Attorney's
story, is not even well made up. It is not a good story, not an
interesting one and surely not a credible one. But Trotsky must
be discredited at all costs; therefore, the State's Attorney makes
Trotsky talk some more through the mouth of BermaR-Yurin, who
claims that already at his first meeting with Trotsky, the latter
"also expressed his views on the situation in the event of interven­
tion against the Soviet Union. He adppted an absolute.Iy clear
defeatist attitude. He also said that the Trotskyites must join
the army and that they would not defend the Soviet Union." (142)

You take it or leave it. Berman-Yurin says so; and the fact that
Trotsky for years and years wrote about the great neeGl of defend­
ing the Soviet Union in spite of the Soviet leadership is for naught

(139) Ibid, p. 94 (140) Ibid, p. 94 (141) Ibid, p. 94 (142) Ibid, p. 95
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since Berman-Yurin, who was in the confidence of Trotsky during
his first and only meeting with him, belies Trotsky's writings for
the past nineteen years. Trotsky was extremely careless, was he
not Mr. State's Attorney? Not only did he entrust Berman-Yurin,
upon seeing him for the first time, with the secret terroristic act,
but he also entrusted the same act to a man whom he did not even
meet, and whose name was mentioned the first time by his new ac­
quaintance, Berman-Yurin. Trotsky wanted Berman-Yurin "to
carryon the work independently. I replied I did not know any­
body in Moscow and it was difficult for me to see how I should
act under the circumstances. I said that I had an acquaintance
named Fritz David and asked lif I might get in touch with
him."(143) During this trial the natural thing is that Trotsky, accepts
Berman-Yurin's recolmmendation as to the unknown Fritz David.
(Such and similar details must have caused the foreign newspaper
writer to exclaim: "Incredible . . .. the concoction of a diseased
mind !)" (144)

Berman-Yurin, this special trusted emissary of Trotsky, left for
Moscow' in March, 1933. Arriving in Moscow, he met his acquain­
tance, Fritz David, «and together they discussed the terroristic
plan and began to make preparation to carry it out. At first they
thought it possible to make an attempt upon Comade ;3talin's life
at the Thirteenth Plenum of the Executive Committee of the Com­
munist International .. '... and the plan failed. It was decided to
postpone the assassination of Comrade Stalin until the Congress of
the Comintern." (145)

Berman-Yurin's testimony in open court tallies in general with
his admission made prior to the trial. Therefore, it is necessary
to point out again that Berman~Yurin,-who left for Moscow in
M~rch, 193~-then, or shortly thereafter, undertook, together
with Fritz David, to carry out the assassination of Stalin during
the Congress of the Comintern, which Congress at that time was
not even convoked. As a matter of fact, in 1934, the "Opposition~

openly chastised the Stalin leadership for its failure to call the
Congress. Berman-Yurin is unable to give any information as to
the cause of the inability of David to commit the act during the
Congress, but the fact comm'unicated to him by David was that
"he could not manage to shooL" He was sitting in a box in which
there were many people and there was no possibility of shooting."

(143) Ibid, p. 95
(144) Joshua Kunitz, New Masses, October' 20, 1936, p. 4
(145) Report of COU1't Proceedings, etc., p. 96



THE TRIAL 77

Berman~ Yurin forgot to ask David why he did not get up and
walk out of the box and around the people.

While no evidence of an act or even of an attempt is given by
Berman-Yurin, some conversation is related which shows that at
least in the opinion of the State's Attorney, the hellish plot existed,
because "in May, 1936, Fritz David informed me that another
emissary ..... a German-had arrived from Trotsky and visited
him and had spoken to him extremely sharply accusing us of being
inactive, irresolute, la,cking courage and had literally demanded that
we take advantage of any opportunity that might arise to assassi­
nate Stalin." (146)

One would say that terroristis who arrived in Moscow in
March, 1933, may be justly accused of inactivity in May, 1936, if
they, like Berman-Yurin and Fritz David, did nothing during the
period of three years.

* * * *
THE ACCUSED HOLTZMAN, is introduced as "one of the

most active members of the Trotskyite counter-revolutionary or­
ganization." (147) It is claimed that Holtzman joined the Trotskyite
organization in 1926, and the State's Attorney informs an unaware
world that "later on he formally broke with the Trotskyites and
continued to meet with them, particularly with Smirnov." (148) So
Holtzman, even though he had capitulated to Stalin, must respond
for his former aberration and must stand trial as a "counter­
revolutionary assassin."

Holtzman does not seem to have been at all pliable because
the report states that "after a protracted denial of his illegal
Trotskyite activities, Holtzman in reply to point blank questions
put to him by Com/rade Vyshinsky testified that in 1931 he 'acci­
dentally' met Smirnov in the street." One can just see the point
blank questions of Comrade Vyshinsky and his satisfaction when
Holtzamn admits the crime of meeting Smirnov in 1931 "acciden­
tally" in the street. (Quotation supplied in the report.)

When this defendant is at last ready to testify, then he testifies
to all that the State's Attorney desires him to. And if the witness
is not willing to do so, then the State's Attorney does it for him,
as when he refers to a certain place where Holtzman met Smirnov,
and Vyshinsky asks: "This was Smirnov's Trotskyite meeting
place?" (149) Apparently, Smirnov had other meeting places besides
a "Trotskyite meeting place."

Up to the time of reading the official record of the Moscow

(146) Ibid, pp. 96, 97 (147) Ibid, p. 98 (148) Ibid, p. 98 (141)) Ibid, p. 99
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trial, one labors under the misapprehension that a defendant
is innocent until he is proved guilty. But that is not the case here
because it was up to Holtzman to disprove the charges. He was
not successful, and so the record says: "The accused Holtzman
fails to disprove the fact that upon the instructions of the Trotsky­
ite center he remained a covert Trotskyite within the party."

"VYSHINSKY: Formally you were in the party?
HOLTZMAN: Yes.
VYSHINSKY: At the same time you were a Trotskyite?
HOLTZMAN: A Trotskyite.
VYSHINSKY: And (A little prompting is needed.-F.H.)
HOLTZMAN: A counter-revolutionary.
VYSHINSKY: And la double-dtlaler?
HOLTZMAN: Yes." (150)

If one is not convinced by such testimony as were those great
legal talents who were present during the trial and cabled to the
New York Daily Worker as to the fairness of the trial, he must be
made of other stuff than those legal talents are made of.

Upon reading the official report, one has the sneaking suspi­
cion that the State's Attorney is a reader of mystery stories.
Holtzman talks about "a secret code for correspondence with Trot­
sky, for which. purpose certain pages from the Arabian Nights
were used." (151) It is possible that the State's Attorney followed
T'rotsky's example; but instead of using certain pages, he used
the whole Arabian Nights to present it in the form of a trial.

Holtzman relates his going_ to Europe in 1932,(152) and his
meeting with Sedov, who recommended that he meet Trotsky.
Sedov told him "that we could not go together for reasons of
secrecy. I arranged wiIth Sedo,v to be in Copenhagen for two or
three days, to put u,p at the Hotel Bristol and meet him there. I
went to the Hotel straight from the station and in the lounge met
Sedov." (153) That alleged meeting occurred in 1932 when he was
"to be sent abroad on official business." (154) Unfortunately for the
prosecution, he again failed to watch his dates and places, because,
as the Copenhagen Socialdemocraten writes, the Hotel Bristol of
Copenhagen was wrecked in 1917 and was not rebuilt until 1936.

The statement, according to the Prager Tagblatt (155) follows:
"Holtzman, ,one of the accused at the Moscow trial, declared
that Sedov, Trotsky's son, entrusted him, Holtzman, with the
assassination of Stalin and others; that this occurrelil in the
Bristol Hotel, City Hall Square, Co'penhagen. The Socialdemo­
kraten of Copenhagen, having learned about this testimony from
the official report of the trial, makes the observation that the

(150) Ibid, p. 99
(154) Ibid, p. 98

(151) Ibid, p. 99 (15:!) Ibid, p. 98
(155) Prager Tagblatt, October 5, 1936

(153) Ibid, p. 100
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Hotel Bristol had already been wrecked in 1917. In :llact, the
Scandinavian Baedecker does not list the name of Hotel Bristol,
Copenhagen."

It must have been pretty hard for Holtzman to meet Trotsky
or Sedov in the lounge of the Hotel Bristol in 1932, when the hotel
to which the lounge allegedly belonged was not existing for fifteen
years. During this alleged conversation in the non-existing Hotel
Bristol, Trotsky's instructions-so often testified to by other wit­
nesses- were given. To make sure it was not in 1936 that Holtz­
man met Trotsky by arranging it with Sedov in the Hotel Bristol,
one need merely quote the following from Vyshinky: "So Trotsky
plainly told you that the official task now, that is, in the autumn of
1932, was to assassinate Comrade Stalin; you remember for sure?"

"HOLTZMAN: Yes." (156)

While Holtzman and Berman-Yurin are ready to give the
details of their meetings with Sedov in Copenhagen, which meet­
ings were disproved by the non-existence of the Hotel Bristol,
Sedov in a statement denies meeting Holtzman or Berman-Yurin
altogether. Sedov's deposition sums up to:

1) Sedov was not in the Hotel Bristol in Copenhagen.
2) Sedov was not in Copenhagen at the time of his alleged

meeting with Holtzman or Berman-Yurin in 1932.
3) Sedov never was in Copenhagen.
(Sedov is ready to prove his statement before an International

Board of Inquiry.)

* * >1/ *
THE TESTIMONY OF N. LURYE shows that he was another

emissary of Trotsky who came to the USSR from Berlin "on the
special mission of the Trotskyite organization for the purpose of
committing terroristic acts." (157) If one, listening to the testimonies,
should still have a lingering doubt as to the character of the
Trotskyite organizations, Lurye'is made to state that "the training
of Trotskyite organizations given me during all those years I spent
in that organization in Germany, in the long run reduced itself to
arousing hatred towards Stalin and the leadership of the Commun­
ist Party of the Soviet Union." Thus Lurye's statement should
serve as a warning to anyone who, for any reason, may stray from
the fold of the bona fide Stalinite organization.

This witness was really ready to make "a trial" to attempt a
terroristic act, because, upon questioning by the President of the
Court, he states that he was armed during the period from Sept-

(156) Report of Court Proceedings, etc., p. 101 (157) Ibid, pp, 101, 102
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ember, 1932 to the spring of 1933, and was planning to assassinate
Voroshilov.

"PRESIDENT OF THE COURT: So that you would have
committed the terroristic act had a favorable moment of­
fered itself. Why did you not succeed in doing so?

LURYE: We saw Voroshilov's car going down Frunze Street.
It was traveling too fast. It was hopeless firing at the fast
running car. We decided that it wa.s ,hopeless." (158)

Yes, it must have been hopeless, though it is not hopeless to
present such "evidence" now in open court. These defendants must
have had all kinds of bad intentions, because this witness, after
finding it "hopeless to shoot at Voroshilov's car," tried to meet
Kaganovich or Orjonokidze at Chaljabinsk "and tried to commit a
terroristic act against them." The record shows that again "he
failed to carry out his intention." (159) (The fast running car with
the contemplated victim in it may have been plagiarized from
Malraux's book, "Man's Fate." Plagiarism or not, the testimony
of N. Lurye, absurd as it is, was permitted to stand as evidence.)

* * * *
(THE A~CUSED M. LURYE claims that on leaving Berlin for

Moscow he "received (these instructions) from Ruth Fischer and
Maslov, but actually they were the instructions of Trotsky him­
self."(l60) How and why the instructions, even if received from
Fischer and Maslov, were the instructions of Trotsky is not stated.
Statements, insinuations and conclusions are permitted to be pre­
sented as "evidence" before the court which claims to have given
a fair trial to the defendants present and to those, who like Trot­
sky, were judged in absentia.

There is much talk about "'practical steps the accused have
taken to organize terroristic acts." (161) But there are no details as
to these acts. There is also a statement by the defendant that he
"took part in preparing an attempt on the life of Zhdanov;" but
no details are given as to the place, time and factual matters. Noth­
mg but the naked, unverified statement. Testimony is permitted
to go into evidence in the formi of a declaration, as that a certai'n
"terroristic act was to have been com'mitted." (162) Whether it was
committed or whether it was to have been committed, or whether
the act existed only in the imagination of the State's Attorney is
not brought out. The prosecutor is not concerned with anything,
but with the presentation of prejudicial, though unverified, sta­
tements. The State's Attorney may not know that magna est veritas,

(158) Ibid, p. 103
(162) Ibid, p. 107

(159) Ibid, p. 104 (160) Ibid, p. 105 (161) Ibid, p. 106
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et praevalet. He may not believe but nevertheless: Truth must and
will prevail.

* * * *
THE TESTIMONY OF TER-VAGANYAN is just about a

_ repetition of those preceding it. The record confesses that "Ter­
Vaganyan admits that he was one of the organizers of the Trot­
skyite-Zinovievite center and also that the center was organized
on the basis of Trotsky's instructions on terrorism." (163)

This witness brings into the picture some persons, oppositions,
or tendencies that had not been mentioned previously. He claims
that Smirnov maintained systematic connections with the "Gruzian
deviationists." (164) He refers also to the "Stuckgol'd terrorist
group." (165) The reason the group was a terrorist one is because
Smirnov, according to this witness, "did not want Stuckgold to see
anyone else. Such secrecy could have only one meaning-that
Stuckgold had some kind of special connections which had to be.
safe-guarded." (166) (This is a further sample of the kind of "evi­
dence" admitted.)

Other names and other groups are mentioned by this witness,
such as Lomanidze, who had knowledge of the bloc, as well as
the so-called "Leftists-." (167) To dispel any misunderstandings which
some of the members of the groups thus far implicated may have
had, this witness volunteers the statement that he met "Friedland
and told him that it was now necessary to adopt violent forms of .
struggle against the party. In reply to this question as to the mean­
ing of violent fon;us of struggle, I said : 'You are not a child­
violent forms of struggle are terroristic forms of struggle, that is
clear.' " (168) The communist press, reporting the trial, readily
accepted the equating of "'violent struggle" with "terrorism."

And the testimony thus takes on a clarity parallelled only by
the clarity with which the purpose of the whole trial is demon­
strated, i.e. to stamp any and all opponents of Stalin with the
mark of counter-revolution and terrorism.

* * * *
THE ACCUSED FRITZ DAVID claims he received instruc-

tions "personally from Trotsky in Copenhagen." Fritz David and
Trotsky were unknown to each other up to 1932-or even later,
if we accept Benman-Yurin's testimony. In spite of their chance
acquaintance, David testifies to a childish faith which Trotsky
put in him in entrusting "David, the unknown," with the alleged
terroristic act already testified to by Berman-Yurin.

(163) Ibid, p. 108
(167) Ibid, p. 110

(164) Ibid, p. 109
(168) Ibid, p. 111

(165) Ibid, p. 110 (166) Ibid, p. 110
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WITH THE TESTIMONY OF DAVID, the prosecution rests
and the State's Attorney makes a statement to the court concern­
ing Tom'sky, Rykov, Buckharin, Uglanov, Radek, Piatakov, Sere­
bryakov and Sokolnikov, as persons who, because of the testimony
of Kamenev, Zinoviev and Reingold, "to a greater or lesser degree
(are) involved in the' criminal counter-revolution'ary activities for
which the accused in the present case are being tried." (169)

The State's Attorney further informs the court that he found
it necessary to institute investigations against the persons named
and further, that "in regard to Serebryakov and Sokolnikov, the in­
vestigating authorities are already in possession of material convict­
ing these persons of counter-revolutionary crimes."(170) As an after­
thought, there are appended a few lines referring to Dreitzer's
alleged statement implicating as "an active participant in the terror­
istic work of the Trotskyites," Putna, "an old and active Trot­
1"kyite." (171)

(UlU) Ibid, p. 1111 (170) Ibid, p. 116 (171) Ibid, p. 116
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T
HE STATE'S ATTORNEY rested his case, apparently convin­

ced that he had succeeded in proving the guilt of the sixteen
defendants. He asserted that he had also proved L. Trotsky

and the International Communists, to be accomplices of common
murderers and of. the German Nazis. The Soviet Government it­
self did not feel so sure that the trial was an unmitigat<:d success.
Neither did the Communist press of the world-seeing the world­
wide reaction to the executions- feel that the obvious purpose of
the trial was accomplished. To silence the adverse critics the
Communist International published additional documents and pole­
mics and thought thus to prove what the trial failed to do. Leaving
for the moment the supporting Communist literature aside, from
the official record alone it appears;

1) The first so-called "confession" was obtained not much be­
fore July 23, 1936, at which time Kam,enev "confessed" (XV, 10, 12,
13). On the same day, Pickel's "confession" was put on record
(XXV, 65). Mrachkovsky's testimony-though it is dated July
20,-must have been obtained on the 23rd, between the testimony
of Kamenev and Pickel, because it appears in XV1'II, 40, 41. Rein­
gold "confessed" between July 23 and August 5 (XXVII, 52). On
August 5th, Smirnov "confessed" (XXIX, 93, 104). Evdokimov's
"confession" although dated August 10, 1936, must have been
obtained prior to August 5th and after July 23rd because it appears
in XXVI, 10. Zinoviev's testimony is not dated but it appears in
XII, 36, 37, 38; therefore, it must have preceded the testimony of
Kamenev in XV, 10, 12, 13 by just a short time. When the testi­
mony of M. Lurye and N. Lurye or Olberg was obtained is not
quite clear, because, even though Kamenev is reputed to have
"confessed" on July 23rd in XV, the Luryes' testimony as of July 31st
are placed in XXXII and XXXIl'I. These volumes should logically
follow that of August 5th, numbered XXIX (admissions of Smir­
nov). The record attempts to show that Olberg testified on July
31st in XXI while an earlier testimony dated May 16th is reputed
to have been included in the later volume XXIV.' ,J It is ~nothing

but a conjecture, but a justified one, nevertheless, that none of the
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so-called Old Bolsheviks testified Prior to July 21, 1936. (i.e. two
days prior to Kamenev's "confession" in XV.) This assumption
is especially justified because the Soviet press did not report any­
thing about the conspiracy, and the trial to follow before the end
of July, 1936. We shall return later to the date of July 21, 1936.

2) The State's Attorney brings the defendants to trial "on
the strength of newly revealed circumstances ascertained by the
investigating authorities in 1936." (1) However, all the defendants,
at least all the Old Bolsheviks were impriso;ned not later than
December, 1934. As a matter of fact, Smirnov was arrested in
January, 1933, and he was not even mentioned during the first
Kirov Trial; therefore, his arrest in 1933 must have anticipated
the "newly revealed circumstances ascertained in 1936."

3) Allegations were made as to the organization of numerous
Centers and Groups, while no "evidence" of any other Center or
of any other Group was shown but of that to which the alleged
conspirators belonged. It was not shown that there were any
rank and file members of the groups as, naturally there could not
be, since Kamenev testified that they had no popular support at
all. There was no evidence whatsoever as to any attempt upon
the life of any of the Soviet leaders, even though all of the defen­
danfs testified as to the preparations to assassinate Stalin, Voro­
shilov, Kaganovich, etc.

(The charge, concerning the existence of the conspiratorial
United Center, is a copying of the charge made during the men­
shevik trial of 1931. The accused of 1931 were allegedly members
of the "Menshevik Union Bureau," the existence of which was
successfully denied by the Socialist Internationa1.<2)

4) No documentary evidence was introduced with the excep­
tion of the Honduran passport of Olberg, even though there were
repeated references made by the confessing defendants to Trotsky's
letter in which he advised that "Stalin must be removed." Nor was
there any evidence as to the many other "'w'ritten instructions of
Trotsky sent to the center," mentioned at the trial.

5) There was no evidence connecting the Center with the
assassination of Kirov, with the exception of Bakayev's alleged
action. Bakayev, however, did nothing more than visit Leningrad
in November, 1934, allegedly meeting with Nikolayev who later
on committed the murder which, according to the testimony, was
to have been commited by Bakayev.

6) Repeated statements were made that the conspirators,

(1) Report of Court Proceedings, etc., p. 10
(2) The Moscow Trial and the Labor and Socialist International-London, 1931
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and most particularly the Trotskyites, had no program whatsoever.
This attempt to show lack of progrClj'tn and thus to show up Trot­
sky and the Tirotskyites as common murderers falls, in the face
of the historical fact that Trotsky's group in 1934 openly embarked
upon the organization of the Fourth International, the program
of which was published in a statement signed by four national
organizations of the Trotskyites.

7) It was not shown that any of the confessing defendants
had personal contact with Trotsky, with the exception of the
statements of alberg, :Holtzman and Berman-Yurin, which state­
ments were disproved by their own testimony, as when it was
stated that Holtzman met Trotsky's son in the Hotel Bristol at a
time when the said Hotel did not exist.

8) Evidence was introduced (alberg's confession) as to the
connection of Olberg with the Gestapo at the time when the Ge­
stapo did not yet exist.

9) The evidence claimed that every act allegedly discussed,
every directive allegedly given, came from Trotsky and from the
International Trotskyite group-thus showing definitely the purpose
of the trial to bring Trotsky and his group into disrepute.

10) Great effort was exerted by the prosecution to show that
plans for assassination were laid, but all these plans were un­
successful. As a matter of fact no attempt to carry out the
plans was proven, unless one accepts the fantastic statement that
Berman-Yurin and David decided in 1933 to make an attempt upon
Stalin's life during the Seventh Congress, which was not announ­
ced until two years later, as proof.

11) The record shows a unanimous desire on the part of the
confessors, with the exception of Smirnov, to testify to anything
and everything the prosecutor wants them to and to follow every
prompting of the State's Attorney to debase themselves and at
the same time to show that they were the innocent victims of the
arch-conspirator, Trotsky.

12) All evidence introduced was to prove that the defendants
had no political status whatever and that all their acts are to be
judged as those of common murderers. This desire of the pro­
secution to eliminate any and all political coloring of the defendants
was clearly shown, in spite of the fact that some of the defendants,
as Zinoviev and Kamenev, represented a political tendency in Russia.
In this respect the trial is clearly reminiscent of others, preceding
the Moscow trial. One is forced to recall the trial of the leaders
of the. Hungarian Soviet Government arranged by the Horthy
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dictatorship. All revolutionary leaders were tried not as political
offenders, but as common criminals, e.g., the President of the
Supreme Court of Soviet Hungary was tried for murder because
of the sentences passed by his court; the Soviet Commissar of
Finance, for larceny and embezzlement because of his official
orders, etc. As a matter of fact, all Communists of Hitler Ger­
many are charged and tried as common felons and not for their
former political activities.

13) None of the alleged co-conspirators of Trotsky were his
political followers at the time of the purported conspiracy. The trial
brought out the strange fact that Trotsky chose his co-workers
not from among the Trotskyists, but from camps inimical to his
political theories. The prosecutor was successful in proving that
the "Trotskyist conspirators were either anti-Trotsky (as Zinoviev,
Kamenev, Evdokimov and Bakayev); former Trotskyists, who
capitulated to Stalin (as Sm'irnov, Ter-Vaganyan, Mrachkovsky,
Dreitzer and Holtzman); or total strangers to Trotsky (David,
Berman-Yurin, Olberg and the Lurye's). A strange fact indeed!



IV. THE CONCLUDING ARGUMENT OF A. Y. VYSHINSKY,

STATE'S ATTORNEY OF THE USSR

T
HE LONG-WINDED speech for the prosecution is worth
analysing, if for no other reason than that it gives interesting
side-lights on the trial, and more particularly, because it

inadvertently recites certain facts and statements made by the
accused and not otherwise referred to in the transcript of the
trial. It contains many conclusions, a large share of which are not
borne out by the testimonies but are ·such as the prosecutor, or
the powers behind him, desire to draw. The speech is character­
ized by the juxta-position of the "horrible and monstrous guilt'·
of the defendants with the exemplary life of the leaders of the
Soviet Government, "the fiery tribunes of the proletarian revolu­
tion." The State's Attorney contrasts the attitude of the defen­
dants with those who "are building a new Socialist system, a new
Soviet State, under the dificult conditions of class-struggle, amidst
the fierce resistance of the last remnants of the exploiting classes
which we have routed and utterly crushed." (1) Vyshinsky here
speaks about "building Socialism" apparently forgotting the "Reso­
lution on the Report of Comrade Manuilsky" adopted by the Seventh
Congress of the Communist International on August 20, 1935,
wherein it is stated that the building job has been completed,
since "The fina'l and irrevocable victory of Socialism in the USSR,
and the all-around consolidation of the State of the proletarian
dictatorship have been achieved." (2) A few pages later, the State's
Attorney brings himself in line with Manuilsky by stating: "Under
the leadership of the Soviet Government and our party he.aded by
Stalin, Socialism has finally and irrevocably triumphed in our
country." (3)

The State's Attorney, nevertheless, feels that in spite of, or
because of, the great victory, there is a danger that certain enemies
of Stalinism may come to the fore, to show increased resistance
against the Socialist conquest. He refers to the statement of Stalin

(1) Report of Court Proceedings. etc. p. 118
(2) International Preas Correspondence, XV, No. 44, p. 1145
(3) Report of Court Proceedings. etc. p. 121
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wherein "the beloved leader" warned against such contingencies,
against the "resistance of the last remnants of the dying classes."
Vyshinsy~ it seems, considers Zinoviev, Kamenev and the oth{'r
fourteen on trial as the last remnants of a dying class-what class
is not stated. It surely cannot be the class or the group of tl}e
Stalinite Bolsheviks to which they, at the time of the trial,
obviously did not belong. It may be possible that he classifies
them into the group of the Old Bolsheviks who started out in the
school of Lenin and who, under the pressure of Stalin's Bolshevism,
turned into whatever the indictment claims them to be. The State's
Attorney recalls the warning of Stalin that the Victory of Social­
ism may "give ground for the revival of the activities of the defeat­
ed groups of the old counter-revolutionary parties; the Socialist­
Revolutionaries, the Mensheviks, the bourgeois nationalists in the
center and in the outlying regions; it might also give ground for
the revival of the fragments of counter-revolutionay opposition
elements from' among the Trotskyites and Right deviationists."(4)
The State's Attorney feels "this trial has fully and distinctly proved
the great wisdom of this forecast." (Another fully proven forecast,
made sometime ago by L. Trotsky, that Stalin and his supporters
in Russia will have to resort to executions to weaken the ever in­
creasing opposition, will be returned to later.)

It is not cheerful to hear Vyshinsky referring to the defendants
as: "these mad dogs of capitalism ;*** liars and clowns, insignificant
pigmies, little dogs snarling at an elephant, this is what this gang

-represents ;*** common criminals ;*** "incorrigible, hardened mur­
derers." Any disparaging reference to the defendants is off-set by
the adjectives applied to the leaders of the Soviet Government whom
the State's Attorney calls "our wonderful Bolsheviks ;*** tireless
and gifted builders of our state ;*** with great and unsurpassed love,
the -toilers of the whole world utter the name of the great teacher
and leader of the peoples of the USSR-Joseph Vissarionovich
Stalin ;*** the victory of Socialis'm is first and foremost the victory
of our own Bolshevik party, of its Leninist, Stalinist leadership, of
its Central Committee headed by the great Stalin."(5) The prosecutor
may be stating a fact:- it may be that everyone of the Russian
workers exhales the name of the great Stalin with awe; it may be
that the toilers of the whole world utter the name of the great
Stalin with great and unsurpassed love; but it is not quite true that
the Stakhanovites and the Krivonossites are universally loved in
the USSR as claimed by Vyshinsky. As a matter of fact, the

(4) Ibid, p. 119 (5) Ibid, pp_ 120, 121
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Stakhanovites and the Krivonossites, representing a method of
speed-up, are no mpre cherished by the Russian Workers than the
speed-up, the Taylor, and the piece-work systems are loved by the
workers of the United States or of Europe. Much of the popular
opposition, as of late, expressed itself in the open attack of the
workers upon Stakhanovism.

The State's Attorney clearly show; that one purpose of the
trial is to eliminate all possibility of considering the act of the ac­
cused a political one. To deny any and all political motive to the
Old Bolsheviks, the State's Attorney presents a picture not borne
out by the official report of the trial. It is not true that the defen­
dants during the trial "sought and expected a political evaluation
of their crimes." It is not true that the defendants "talked about
political struggle." It is not true that the defendants talked "about
some kind of political agreement with some kind of alleged political
party." All these statements are untrue because the defendants
were more than submissive and pointed out that they had no
political program, that they had no political motives, and to the con­
trary, the defendants, according to their own testimony, had only
one motive and that was to show that every act, every alleged con­
spiracy was the result of their being misled into Trotskyism, which,
according to their confessions, had no political content whatso­
ever.

There are many who believe that the trial was arranged be­
cause the powers of the USSR felt that leaders of opposition cannot
safely be kept in jails or in exile when opposition sentiment is
growing in the country. There are many who feel that the leaders
of the USSR were disturbed by the possibility that the growing
opposition sentiment might find expression and a leader among
those jailed or exiled for opositional attitude, and that therefore
the firing squad was called upon. This theory is substantiated or
at least alluded to by the State's Attorney who refers to the Old
Bolshevik defendants and claims that "to chain them is not
enough. We must adopt more determined and radical measures
against them."(6)

In reviewing the co-called confessions and testimonies, the
State's Attorney simplifies matters when he presents his conviction
that tJ:1e defendants had only one program-"to murder." (7)

Those who read the report of the court proceedings as published
by the People's Commissariat of Justice of the USSR and read it
with a' semblance of attention must wonder why it is necessary

(6) Ibid, p. 123 (7) Ibid, p. 123
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for the State's Attorney to mis-state facts in his closing argument.
Is it because a State's Attorney, whether in a bourgeois country
or in the USSR, has only one purpose-to obtain conviction? Or
because there is some motive behind such falsification? No' one
who followed the trial and read the newspaper reports about the
incredible attitude of the defendants-how "fearlessly they confess­
ed," how "joyously" they cooperated with the State's Attorney in
their confessions, how "they participated in the merriment which
often prevailed in the courtroom~'-can help wondering why the
State's Attorney resorts to mis-statements in saying that after the
court has scrutinized the record it "'will become convinced of the
animal fear with which the accused tried to avoid admitting that
terrorism was precisely the basis of their criminal activities."(8)

The prosecutor does not believe in Smirnov's partial admission
because he himself says tha~ this defendant "tries by every means
in his power to prove that he, Smirnov personally, did not adopt
terror and did not agree with it, and he even went so far as to say
that he had left the Trotskyite-Zinovievite terrorist center or
bloc." (9)

The closing argument for the State contradicts the record in
speaking of V:alentine Olberg who claimed, during the testimony,
that he was a Trotskyite. Here the State's Attorney refers to him
as "a paid agent of Trotsky (i.e. not a voluntary political adherent,
F. H.) and simultaneously of the German Secret police-the
Gestapo."(10) One wonders whether Franz Pfempfert in writing to
Trotsky and warning him against Olberg was not really right in
stating that he believed Olberg to be a paid agent of the GPU
(Russian Secret Police.)

The prosecutor embarks upon theoretical discussions of the
differences involved between Trotsky and Stalin "and his glorious
comrades in arms." He states "that under the leadership of Comrade
Stalin, the great executor and keeper of Lenin's will and testament,"
(Not of Lenin's testament in which he calls Stalin rude and a person
who must be removed from the secretaryship), '"the counter-re­
volutionary Trotskyite organization was routed. It was under their
leadership, amidst fierce battles against Trotskyite counter-revolu­
tion, that Trotskyite counter-revolution was finally crushed." (11)

One wonders why "fierce battles against Trotskyite counter-revolu­
tion" were necessary when the Trotskyites, as is so often stated,
represented no one but themselves, and if they were just a handful
of people opposing Stalin "and his glorious comrades in arms."

(8) Ibid, p. 125 (9) Ibid, p. 126 (10) Ibid, p. 126 (11) Ibid, p. 127
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Vyshinsky, the State's Attorney, puts his stamp of approval upon
the policy of Stalin, which policy, for the past twelve. ~ars,

has been battled by the Left Opposition under the leadership of
Trotsky as a pernicious theory endangering the very existence of
the Soviet Union.

The State's Attorney claims that Stalin '"developed and un­
deviatingly carried out Lenin's teachings on the building of Social­
ism in our country."(12) Stalin did, in fact, develop the un-Marxian
idea of the possibility of building Socialism in one country, but the
State's Attorney does not know Lenin's teachings if he claims
that Stalin's Socialism in one country is founded upon Lenin's
teachings.

With the help of Olberg's testimony, we found it possible to tie
up the alleged letter of Trotsky, in which he allegedly called for
Stalin's assassination, with an existing letter in which Trotsky
recommended, in line with Lenin's last words, that Stalin should
be removed from leadership. It was possible to do so by circum­
stantial evidence only. In his closing argument the State's At­
torney himself puts his finger on the letter when he says that
"in March, 1932, in a fit of counter-revolutionary fury, Trotsky
burst out in an open letter with an appeal to 'put Stalin out of
the way'."(13) So it Was actually in March, 1932; it was actually
an open letter and not a letter written in invisible ink in a German
cinema magazine; it was not a secret letter but an open one, which
was published, as we have shown, on March 1, 1932. Of course,
the State's Attorney cannot quote correctly, and while the letter
actually contains the recommendation that "Stalin must be re­
moved," he changes it completely; replaces it with "to put Stalin
out of the way." In this connection, Vyshinsky does not fail to
make a statement contradicted by his own record when he claims
that this open letter of Trotsky of March, 1932 "was found between
the double walls of Holtzman's suit case and figured as an ex­
hibit in this case."(14) There was no such ~xhibit, and checking back
with the testimony of Holtzman, the record further belies
Vyshinsky because Holtzman stated that Trotsky's instructions
to him were not put in writing:

"VYSIDNSK,Y: So Trotsky plainly told you that the funda­
mental task now (that is, in the autumn of 1932) was to as­
sassinate Comrade Stalin? You remember for sure?

HOLTZMAN: Yes.
VYSHINSKY: So this was Trotsky's instructions?
HOLTZMAN: Yes. Trotsky could not put it in writing, and

(12) Ibid, p. 127 (13) Ibid, p. 127 (14) Ibid, p. 127
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SO' I accepted it in verbal form and coriununicated the exact
sense of it on my arrival in. Moscow.

VYSHINSKY: That was Trotsky's verbal instruction?
HOLTZMAN: Yes."(15)

Apparently Holtzman had a suit-case with double walls in which
the verbal., instructions of Trotsky were placed; at least that is the
logic of Vyshinsky's statement and record.

Verbose as the State's Attorney is in his final argument, he
cannot fail to talk out of turn and make references to statements
of the defendants eliminated from the official transcript. Vyshinsky
claims that the defendant, Ter-Vaganyan, "confirmed that Smirnov,
while abroad, really did receive from Trotsky instructions to adopt
terror. Ter-Vaganyan merely veiled his evidence by substituting
for the world 'terror' the phrase: 'sharp struggle agaillst the leaders
of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union'."(16) So for Mr.
Vyshinsky the substituting of terror for sharp struggle is simply
a veiling of the evidence. Such falsification is needed to built up
the issues!

Trotsky repeatedly wrote of and repeatedly published his
position concerning the necessity of defending the Soviet Union in
spite of the Stalin bureaucracy. Although Trotsky entered into
polemics with those who could not see that even such an incorrect
leadership as that of Stalin represents the interest of the Soviet
Union, which therefore must be defended by the workers of the
world against imperialist aggressions, the State's Attorney feels
that the statement of Berman-Yurin must be quoted and believed
to the contrary-that is, "Trotsky said to me literally the follow­
ing: We will defend the Soviet Union provided the Stalin leader­
ship is overthrown." The purpose of this allegation is obviously
to discredit everything that Trotsky ever stood for.

To those who do not understand the complete capitulation of
Zinoviev during the trial, the State's Attorney gives a cue when he
says that Zinoviev has repented previously, that he "'sent a letter
dated May 8, 1933, .... Zinoviev not only renounced all his past
mistakes, but hypocritically vowed his loyalty to socialism and to
the Party."(17) Not only that, but Zinoviev, during his previous
capitulations, never failed to slander Trotsky and to claim that he
understood at last how incorrect Trotsky's and how correct Stalin's
policy was. Those who do not understand the reason for capitula­
tion of the Old Bolsheviks, thosew'ho do not see the reason why
Zinoviev confessed to everything required of him, will find it in-

(15) Ibid, p. 101 (16) Ibid, p. 129 (17) Ibid, 'p. 133
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teresting to read Zinoviev's letter of· May 9, 1933, referred to by
the prosecutor:

"I ask you to believe that I am speaking the truth and nothing
but the· truth. I ask you to restore me tOJthe ranks of the Party
and to give me an opportunity of working for the common cause.
I give my word as a revolutionary that I .will be the most
devoted member of the Party, and will do alI·1 possibly canLat
least to some extent to atone for my guilt before the Party and
Its Central Committee."(18) .

The prosecutor makes excursions into the politiCal· field as
when he warns all those who should by any chance become doubt­
ful as to the correctness of Stalin's leadership that such· doubting
must inevitably lead to counter-revolution. V1yshinsky says that he
must refer to certain evidence so that he may' beabU( "through
the court, to warn the whole country, riot <:inly against 'Kamenev
and Zinoviev, but against all other double-dealers, all other traitors
whom unfortunately we still have in· our ranks and who talk about
their repentance, who dissociate themselves, and· mask tHemselves."
(19) This is a warning to those who are on the verge of losing their
faith in the infallibility of Stalin's leadership ; and at; the same time,
it is a warning to all those who at one time· or another were in
opposition to Stalin that their repentance may not bring the hoped
for restoration into the ranks of the party. It may be a direct
warning to Radek and Piatokov, implicated during the trial, and
who so readily repented on August 23rd in their article in the Pravda,
to be quoted hereafter.

The State's Attorney places very little confidence in the con­
fessions of the defendants, even though the confessions went to a
length which, from the point of view of the prosecutor, left nothing
to be desired. No, "not the slightest confidence must be placed
in these certified and hardened deceivers! They themselves un­
derstand that they do not deserve any confidence. While examin­
ing Zinoviev I asked him: 'Are you speaking the whole truth now?'
And he answered : 'Now I am speaking the whole truth to the
very end.' But what proof is there of this? How can we believe
them when they have surpassed all conceptions of perfidy, cunning,
deceit and treachery?"(2O)

We ask with the State's Attorney, what confidence can be
placed upon the so-called confessions, upon the testimony of the
defendants now on trial? And if no confidence is to be placed in
the truthfulness of those confessions, then what is left of the
evidence against these confessed Old Bolsheviks?

(18) Ibid, p. 183 (19) Ibid, p. 185 (20) Ibid, p. 13ti
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There are a great number of roles which the prosecutor takes
upon himself during his closing argument; among them is one of
apparent great importance-to show Stalin as the "great executor
and keeper of Lenin's will and testament" and and to show him
as one who never departed from the real Bolshevik line. It falls
to Vyshinsky to show' by means of false allusions that the early
opponents of Lenin did not include Stalin. He claims that accord­
ing to Kamenev "the resistance to the policy headed by Comrade
Stalin was based on the premise~ which made members of the
Party in October, 1927 come out as the opponents of the policy of
Lenin."(21) Anyone having even a slight acquaintance with the his­
to,ry of the Russian Revolution knows that Lenin's policy, as ex­
pressed in the April Thesis of 1917 was violently opposed not only
by Zinoviev and Kamenev, but with them by Stalin, at that time
the editor in chief of the Pravda, who openly attacked Lenin's
thesis in which the latter expounded the theory leading to the
October Revolution.

From the closing argument, we first learn 'that in "January,
1935 we tried the Moscow center in connection with the trial of the
Leningrad center which took place a little before that, about two
weeks before, and as a result of which L. Nikolayev, Kotolynov,
Rumyantsev, Sossitsky and a nu~mber of others were convicted and
shot ;"(22) thus presenting the names of those unknown persons
who already had paid with their lives for the Kirov assassination.
Vyshinsky also refers to Levin who "'was shot in 1935 in connection
with the murder of Comrade Kirov" ;(23) to Mandelstamm and a
number of other members of the Leningrad Zinovievites.(24)

Contradiction after contradiction is piled up by the State's
Attorney when he claims that though there was a bloc organized,
uniting the Trotskyites and Zinovievites, there was competition
between them because "Zinoviev admitted that he was pressing to
hasten murder. He was in a hurry, he clutched feverishly at people
like Nikolayev and Kotolynov in order to hasten this murder. Not
the least motive was the desire to forestall the Trotskyite ter­
rorists."(2:» The prosecutor makes it appear that though there was
a bloc, it was not a bloc. There was a United Center but there
was no united activity; or was it that the prosecutor forgot the
indictment throughout which "bloc" is italicized and which word,
if it means anything, denotes united efforts?

The only act of assassination-that of Kirov,-for the purpose
of making any kind of showing,-was to be brought home to the

(21) Ibid, p. 137
(2:» Ibid. p. 141

(22) Ibid, p. 141 (23) Ibid, p. 145 (24) Ibid, p. 146
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so-called Zinovievite-TrotskyiteCenter. The only evidence COI1­

necting the defendants to the Kirov murder was Bakayev's going
to Lenigrad; and here, the prosecutor, referring to this occasion,
quotes from Evdokimov's testimony: "For the ,purpose of preparing
for the murder, Bakayev was sent to Leningrad at the beginning of
November, 1934, that is to say, some days before Nikolayev killed
Kirov."(26) The connection between Bakayev and Nikolayev was to
be established by hook or crook. The fact that Bakayev was sent
to see Nikolayev "some days before Nikolayev killed Kirov" was the
only connecting link between the so-called bloc and the Kirov
murder, if one disregards the great number of "conversations" con­
fessed to.

The prosecutor must have prepared the closing argument be­
fore the trial because he talks about plans for assassinations in
Moscow and "Kiev." There was not a word of evidence introduced,
not even mention made, that the bloc had anything to do with
Kiev, but such little incongruities are of no consequence, at least
not to the prosecutor, because he himself is worried about greater
inconsistencies. He worries about the possible question of how it
came about that Smirnov in jail, and Kamenev and Zinoviev in
exile, were able to direct the assassinations or the plans for as­
sassinations, of even the attempted attempts of assassination. He
says that: "In 1932-33 Kartl'enev and Zinoviev were in exile; but the
center functioned. I't is known that in 1934 Smirnov too, was not at
liberty; he was arrested in January, 1933; but the center function­
ed. And Zinoviev confirms that the center functioned. I draw
the conclusion that if the center functioned, it was because of the
well-organized technique of communication which enabled even
those who were not at liberty, Smirnov, for example, to take part
in guiding the work of this center."(27) There may be some who
believe and will say that Sm'irnov, in jail, could not have participated
in any of the alleged acts, but to them the State's Attorney says
that that is "'a naive assertion!· Smirnov was imprisoned from
1933, but we know that while in prison, Smirnov organized con­
tacts with his Trotskyites, for a code was discovered by means of
which Smirnov, while in prison, communicated with his companions.
outside. This proves that communication existed, and Smirnov'
cannot deny this."(28)

We do not feel it proper, in the course of this analysis, to ques­
tion legal technicalities of the trial, but, nevertheless, it must be­
pointed out that it is unheard of that a prosecutor, who claims to-

(26) Ibid, p. 1111 (27) Ibid, p. 1112 (28) Ibid, p. IllS
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be in poss'ession 'of overwhelming evidence as to the guilt of the
defendants, should permit himself to make an assertion without any
proof of it. He knows "that while in prison, Smirnov organized
contacts with his 'T:rotskyites." 'It is unheard of· in any court of
record, jn any civilized country, that the State's Attorney should
be permitted to: state, without proof being submitted, that "a code
was discovered by means of which Smirnov, while in prison, com­
municated with his companions outside." It is: unheard of that the
State's Attorney should be permitted,' without proof, to declare
that "this proves that communication existed." l'f the code was
di~covered, as the State's Attorney claims, it :was his duty to in­
troduce it before the court. But why do that? The State's At­
torney is satisfied, and the verdict shows that the court in turn
was satisfied that everything had been proved. Even some "mem­
bers of the American and English bar" are satisfied' that the evi­
dence presented during a "fair trial proved the allegations."

The prosecutor, in his vehemence to denounce the Old Bol­
sheviks, most particularly Smirnov, did not notice that while con­
fessing, the defendants were som'etimes engaged in, what is called
in the vernacular, "pulling the leg" of the State's Attorney. He
says: "The most persistent in his denials is Smirnov. He pleaded
guilty only to· being the leader of the Trotskyite underground
counter-revolutionary center. True, he said this in a somewhat
jocular way. Turning to Ter-Vaganyan, Mrachkovsky and Dreit­
zer, he said to them: 'You want a leader? Well, take me!' "(29)

So Smirnov, seeing the great desire of the State's Attorney to find
a leader for the so-called Trotskyite group, stated in a '"jocular
way": "you want a leader? Well, take me." Smirnov apparently
thought: What is the difference? The trial set out to accomplish
something and he might as well cooperate even though only in a
"jocular way."

These involuntary admissions on the part of the State's At­
torney may endanger the structure which he believes to have
been erected. He endangered his great work when he repeated
some of the testimony not printed in the record: "Smirnov, in reply
to Mrachkovsky, said: 'Invention and slander'."(30) So Smirnov
called the testimony of the others "invention," he designated it
"slander;" bwt this part of his testimony is not quoted in the trans­
cript for obvious reasons. The State's Attorney also refers to the
fact that Kamenev and Zinoviev refused to acknowledge and confess
to the so-called plot eliminatiRg some of their co-workers of the

(29) Ibid, pp. 1M. 1M (30) Ibid, p. 1M
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so-called Center. No, they were not willing to do so. They were
willing to confess to the first part of the plot concerning the
distributIon of posts, among the defendants, after they successfully
took over power. But that part of the plot which refers to the
alleged plan of murdering some of the conspirators-no, they would
not confess to that charge because "that s~c~nd part is too ghastly,
and Zinoviev said it was taken frolJ1l Jules, V e~e."(31) Some part
of the alleged plot was further characterized Cl.ccordi~g, to the
State's Attorney: "Zinoviev and Kamenev cail'this 'fantastic biles
from the Arabian Nights."(32) Why does the transcript fail to quote
that part of the testimony? The omission is more than suspicious
and does not strengthen the case of the prosechtion.

It is significant that the State's Attorney can state to Smirnov':
" ,

"We 'know that in your defense speech you w'ill' curse Trbtsky ;"(33)

,Even though Smirnov denied terroristic motives and though he
refused up to this point to join in with the others in slandering
Trotsky, but a good Soviet prosecutor can anticipate many a thing!

The course of the whole trial is expressed in a few lines by
the State's Attorney when he refers to that part of the testimony
wherein "Ter-Vaganyan said that work was carried onto get to­
gether terrorist groups, but that this was preparatory work which
did not go beyond the limits of preparations."(34) While Ter-Vaga­
nyan was talking about preparing a "sharp struggle against the
leaders of the Comm'unist Party of the Soviet Union," the State's
Attorney is ready to present the result of the trial as evidencing
preparatory work carried to conclusion in the form of terroristic
acts.

Vyshinsky concludes as he began with the desire to eliminate
every trace of political motive which the defendants may have. had.
He says: "Before us are criminals, dangerous hardened, cruel and
ruthless towards our people, towards our ideals, towards the leaders
of our struggle .... (therefore).... I demand that dogs gone
mad should be shot--evey one of them."(35)

(31) Ibid, p. 161 (32) Ibid, p. 162
(35) Ibid, pp. 163, 164

(33) Ibid, p. 156 (34) Ibid, p. 157 .



v. THE LAST STATEMENTS OF THE DEFENDANTS

T
HE CLOSING sessions in the evening, of August 22nd and the
morning of August 23rd were taken up with the final plea of
the defendants. There are two points which were repeated

by everyone of the Old Bolsheviks:

1) Their desire to show what they call their downfall to be
the result of their being misled by Trotsky;

2) Their unwillingness to ask for consideration of mitigating
circumstances. As a matter of fact, they begged that they be
punished by death.

Concerning the first point, the defendant Mrachkovsky said:
"My connection with Trotsky-that is what brought me to this
(counter-revolutionary path) ."(1)

Evdokimov bemoans the fact that "Trotsky is not with us here
in the dock because he is abroad. Re has two perspectives before
him: either to disappear immediately and without a trace as Azef
(Russian Tzaristic spy-F.R.) did, not only from the political arena,
but from the arena of life in general and go into oblivion, hide
behind some false name a5 Azef did-or else, at some time, face
a proletarian court."(2)

Reingold feels that "our trial, the trial of the Trotskyite-Zino­
vievite terrorist atld fascist organization, will bury the political
corpses of Zinoviev. Kamenev a.nd Trotsky."(ll)

Bakayev claims: «the organizer of this unprecedented Trotsky­
ite-Zinovievit-e counter-revolutionary terrorist bloc, its moving
spirit, is Trotsky." (4)

Pickel knows ROW that "Trotsky, Zinoviev and Kamenev were
our banner."(5)

Kamenev, the former Vice-chairman of the People's Commis­
sariat, takes at least a coordinated, and not a subordinated role
when he declares that "I, together with Zinoviev and Trotsky, was
the organizer and leader of a terrorist plot."(S)

Zinoviev is somewhat more modest and confesses only to a role

(1) Report of Court Proceedings, etc., p. 165
(2) Ibid, pp. 166, 1G7 (3) Ibid, p. 167
(6) Ibid, p. 169
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of lieutenant; but, nevertheless, says "I am guilty of having been
an organizer of the Trotskyite-Zinovievite bloc second only to
Trotsky."(7) "Through Trotskyism I arrived at fascism."(8)

The prophecy made by the State's Attorney during his closing
argument that Smirnov "will curse Trotsky later" is borne out
because "Smirnov appeals to all his adherents resolutely to break
with the past, to fight against Trotskyism and Trotsky."(9)

As to the second common characteristic of the Old Bolsheviks'
final plea:

Even though the State's Attorney calls the court's attention
to the "animal fear" of the defendants, Mrachkovsky says: "'1 do not
ask for mitigation of my punishment."(10)

Evdokimov says that "I do not consider it possible to plead for
clemency."(l1) Reingold: "I fully admit my guilt. l't is not for me
to plea for mercy." Blakayev is prepared "to bear full respo'n­
sibility,'(12) and "awaits the deserved and just verdict of the pro­
letarian court." Pickel says he "must bear" his "deserved punish­
ment."(13) K;amenev recalls: "Twice my life was spared. But there
is a limit to the magnanimity of the proletariat and that limit we
have reached."(14)

Zinoviev: "I suffered the greatest punishment, greater than
anything that awaits me, when I heard the testimony of Nathan
Lurye and the testimony of Olberg."(15)

The utter abandonment of the Old Bolsheviks, their desire
to be punished, makes one wonder why and how it came about that
these same Old Bolsheviks, upon hearing the verdict, immediately
penned their plea of mercy denied to them by Stalin.(16)

(7) Ibid, p. 170
(11) Ibid, p. 167
(111) Ibid, p. 171

(2) Ibid, p. 171
(12) Ibid, p. 167
(16) Ibid, p. 177

(9) Ibid, p. 171
(13) Ibid, p. 168

(10) Ibid, p. 1M
(14) ~id, p. 169



VI. THE VERDICT

T
HE VERDICT which sentences all of the defendants to the
"supreme penalty-to be shot, and all property personally be­
longing to them to be confiscated" is of some interest only

because of the wording of it.
The court finds that it is established that Bakayev, Reingold

and Dreitzer "in accordance with the decision of the 'united center,'
twice tried to make an atte~pt upon the life of Comrade Stalin."(1)
"Tried to make an attempt"-that phrase may be a definition of a
certain crime, but it is a crime which does n?t appear in any of
the Criminal Annals of any country. It is incomprehensible how
one can try to make an attempt; but nevertheless, Bakayev, Rein­
gold, and Dreitzer Were attot because they tried to make an attempL

Not only Bakayev, Reingold and Dreitzer, but also Nathan Lurye
is found guilty or "having tried to rqake an attempt" on the lives
of certain functionaries of the USSR.(2) Similarly, M. Lurye "tried
to make an attempt on the life of Comrade Zhdanov." These five
people were sentenced and executed for a crime no one else was
ever found guilty of-i.e., for "trying to make an attempt." The
cautious wording of the verdict finding the defendants guilty of
«trying to make an attempt," bears out the contention that there
was no evidence of any terroristic act-not even of an attempt.

While there is not a word of evidence in the record showing any
activities of the so-called center in the Ukraine, the court finds that
the terrOrist center "made preparations for terroristic acts against
Comrade Kossior and Postyshev through the medium' of the Ukrain­
ian terrorist group operating under the direction of the Trotskyite
Mukhin, whose case has been set aside for separate trial." (3)

Mukhin appears here for the first time in the record.

* * * *
The State's Attorney convinced himself and the court of the

guilt of the defendants. The Court thus convinced brought in the
verdict that the defendants should suffer "the supreme penalty­
to be shot." Those howe~er, who read the transcript with any

(1) Report of Court Proceedings, etc., p. 176
(2) Ibid, p. 177 (3) Ibid, p. 178
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semblance of attention will be less than ever convinced of the
guilt of the accused. Many will feel that the real purpose of the
trial was to convict all those opposing Stalin, not the least among
them Trotsky. Many, reading the transcript, will feel that the
State's Attorney though he tried hard to accomplish the purpose of
the trial, failed utterly. He failed because he forgot the saying:
age quod agis! The State's Attorney failed, because of his great
ambition to prove the incredible, he disregarded the old advice
"Do your taSk carefully!'



VII. THE IMPLICATIONS OF THE TRIAL

T HERE are in connection with the trial a number of questions
which in the mind of the objective observer require an answer.
It does not seem enough to say with the "foreign observer" sit­

ting next to Joshua Kunitz of the New Masses that the indictment is
"incredible .... the concoction of a diseased mind."(l) It does not
give satisfaction to say with the Nation that "the official record of
the court proceedings, unfortunately, does not decide the issue ;"(2)

and that "there is no indication, with one minor exception, of the
presence in court of any documentary evidence beyond the con­
fessions which had already been made in private examination and
set down in the Government records."(3) The Nation's finding that
"the mystery that veils the motives and conduct of the Moscow
Trial cannot conceal their essential implications"(4) is correct;
therefore, the motive or motives must be sought to unveil the facts.
These hidden facts,-sensed by everyone to be present in the trial,
-cannot be dismissed even by the most categorical statements,
issued by the most prominent of all foreign barristers, who claim
to have been present at the trial.

Three of those prominent lawyers became indignant when the
telegram sent by the Executive Committee of the Socialist (Labor)
International to Moscow protesting against the trial and executions
was published. Thyy expressed their indignation in a cable sent
to Roger Baldwin of the International Committee for Political
Prisoners. The cable, because of its implications, is worth quoting.

The three "members of English and American bars at present
in M'oscow hlwe been following trial Zinoviev, Kamenev, others
closest attention and we desire protest indignantly against
telegram president, secretary, L.S.I. LF.T.U. seen it fit send
Council People Commisar in name International and Socialist
movement. Implication telegram that trial likely be both sum­
mary unfaar is in our opinion completely unjustified. Specific
demands made in telegram really fantastic. Accused offered
defending counsel-in the USSR all defending counsel indepen­
dent of government--but refused preferring defend themselves.

(1) Joshua Kunitz, New Masses, October 20, 1936, p. 4
(2) The Nation, Oe;tober 10, 1936, p. 409
(3) Ibid (4) Ibid
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Attempt suggest to court while trial pending that death penalty
inappropriate would in our own countries render its authors
liable to imprisonment for contempt court. Not many countries
where persons charged treasonable terrorist activity would not
be liable to death penalty. In most countries for example,
England there no right appeal against plea guilty and since in
this case defendants confessed guilt question of appeal doesn't
appear to rise. We <fesire place on record that accused had per­
fectly fair trial, that on evidence and in particular on connec­
tions revealed between accused and Nazi secret police death
penalty well merited and that telegram since not composed by
ignorant men, can only be regarded as attempt create prejudice
against USSR and liable to harm to workclass solidarity about
which 31uthors telegram profess be so concerned." (5)

Yes, there are certain implications in the cable, none of them
helpful, how~ver, in convincing the world of the fairness of the
trial. It is not justifiable to ask why it was necessa'ry for the
USSR to "inspire" three lawyers-two of them entirely unknown
in the labor movement-to lecture the Executive Committee of the
Second International? Why was it necessary to have these in­
dignant m1embers of the bar state something as glaringly
untrue as their assertion that; '~in the USSR all defending
counsels (are) independent of government," whereas anyone with the
ability to read and with the further ability to understand what he
reads knows, that in the USSR,-as in any country where a "pro­
letarian dictatorship" exists,-no counsel can be independent of the
government? Why-if at alI,-was it necessary to have three
foreign lawyers cable from Moscow the great news that the
Second International, for its cable to the court, would be held in
"contempt' in the home countries of the bar members? Do they
try to scare the Second International with a cOJ;ltempt citation, or
are the cabling bar members simply unable to get away from legal
technicalities? In any case, they are anxious to "place on record
that (the) accused had a perfectly fair trial." The cable was signed
by three attorneys, at least one of whom dOes not speak Russian
and was present only on the closing day of the trial.(6)

No, it is not possible to make categorical statements and thus
find the implications of the trial; but rather one must seek for the
motives behind the scenes in order to find the answers to the many
"Why's'."

A. Why did the Defendants, if Innocent, Confess?

One of the most often repeated questions is why did the de-

(5) Daily Worker, N. Y., Aug. 29, 1936
(6) Statement made by one of the three cabling attorneys during his Chicago, lecture,

November 13. 1936.
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fendants, if innocent, nevertheless confess? To answer this question,
one must make some historical retrospect.

The question of Trotskyism first appeared in the USSR during
the early political struggles between Trotsky on the one side and
Zinoviev, Kamenev and Stalin on the other. As Trotsky said, in this
struggle of the bureaucracy of Stalin" Zinoviev and Kamenev
against international revolutionary policy, the "sharpshooters were
always Zinoviev and Kamenev."(7) Later, however,

"under the pressure of deep social processes, the group of
Stalin, Zinoviev and Kamenev itself fell apart. Zinoviev and
Kamenev found themselves obliged to acknowledge that the
so-called 'Trotskyists' had been right upon fundamental ques­
tions .... At the July Plenum of 1926, Zinoviev announced th3lt
his struggle against me had been the greatest mistake of his
life--'more dangerous than the mistake of 1917' (when, he had
opposed ,Lenin).... In October, 1926, 'You must understand,'
he said in my presence to his closest friends, some Leningrad
workers who honestly believed in the legend of 'Trotskyism,'
"You must understand that it was a struggle for power. The
whole llirt of the thing was to combine the old disagreement with
the new questions. For this purpose Trotskyism was invented."(8)

Thos'e who have studied the history of the Russian Revolu­
tion will recall that upon the death of Lenin, on January 21, 1924,
the leadership of the Communist p:arty of Russia, and with it part
of Russia, was headed by the triumvirate of Zinoviev, Kamenev
and Stalin. Zinoviev himself says that this triumvirate was engaged
with Trotsky in "a struggle for power . . . . for- this purpose
Trotskyism was invented." In 1926, Zinoviev and Kamenev joined
the Opposition (to which Trotsky belonged as one of its leading
n\embers) and;

"during their two yearS' stay in the Opposition, Zinoviev and
Kamenev managed te expose completely the back-stage mecl:lanics
of the preceding period when they with Stalin had created the
legend of 'Trotskyism' by conspiratorial methods. A year later,
~hen it becaane clear that the Opposition would be compelled
to swim long and stubbornly against the current, Zinoviev
and Kamenev threw themselves upon the mercy of the victor
(i.e. of Stalin-F.R.). As a first conditicm of their party
rehabilitation, it was demanded thay they rehabilitate the legend
of Trotskyism. They agreed."(9)

But Trotsky decided to preserve Zinoviev's and Kamenev's oral
declaration, and for that purpose obtained W'l'itten statements, in­
cluding one from Radek, the self-same Radek who, as late as
August 23, 1936, published a violent article attacking and defaming

('7) Leon Trotsky, "On LeDIn's Testament," PiODeer Publishers, N. Y. 19311.
(8) Ibid (9) Ibid
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Trotsky, the same Radek who but a short time ago was one of
Stalin's comrades in arms. Radek's early statement says:

"I was present at a conversation with K!amenev to the effect
that Kamenev was going to tell at the Plenum of the Central
Committee how they (that is, Kamenevand Zinoviev) together
with Stalin, decided to use the old disagreements between Trotsky
and Lenin in order-after the death of Lenin-to keep Trotsky
out of the party leardership. Moreover, I have often heard
from the lips of Zinoviev and Kamenev how they 'invented'
Trotskyism as an actual slogan.... "(10)

Similar written testimonies were given by Preobrazhensky, Piatakov,
R,akovsky and Eltzin.(11) Trotsky further sheds some light upon the
acts and actors of the fight against "Trotskyism."

"The above cited testimony of Radek was submitted: by him
on December 25, 1927. A few weeks later he was already in
exile, and a few months lalter on the meridian of Tomsk he
Ibecame convinced of the _correctness of Stalin's position; a
thing which had not been revealed to him earlier in Moscow.
But from Radek also the powers demanded as condition sine
qua non an acknowledgement of the reality of this same legend
of Trotskyism. Mter Radek agreed to this, he had nothing left
to do but repeat the old formula of Zinoviev ~hich the latter
!had himself exposed in 1926, only to return to it again in
1928."(12)

Trotsky adds;
"from this short historic record, resting exclusively upon docu­
mentary data, many conclusions may be drawn. One is that
a revolution is an alustere process and does not spare its human
vertebrae."(13)

Indeed, the Opposition was compelled "to swim long and stub­
bornly against the current," and so it came about that Zinoviev and
Kamenev,-who together with Stalin formed the original anti­
Trotsky group of ~924-1926 and-who under the "pressure of deep
social processes" joined the Opposition in 1926, finally (but not for
the last time) capitulated to Stalin in 1928. Twice more did Zinoviev
and Kamenev join the Opposition, because, as Zinoviev expressed
it before the Centni.l Committee of the Communist Party of
Russia;

"there can no longer be any doubt now that the kernel of the
1923 Oppositio~ (Trotskyist-F.H.), as the development of the
leading faction (of Stalin-F.H.) has shown, correctly warned
against the departure from the proletarian line and against the
menacing growth of the apparatus regime-- In the question
of deterioration and in the question of bureaucracy Trotsky
waS' right in the end against you."(14)

(10) Ibid (11) Ibid (12) Ibid (13) Ibid
(14) Record of the Minutes of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Russia, IV, 33
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While-according to Zinoviev,-Trotsky, in his fight against
Stalin's bureaucracy was right, the "austere process of the revolu­
tion" did not spare Zinoviev's vertebrae either. In this light we
understand the three capitulations of Zinoviev prior to the fourth
one in 1936.

By the same process, Kamenev followed Zinoviev in his re­
peated capitulations before Stalin's bureaucratic power. Likewise,
Bukharin, who with Stalin and Zinoviev fought Trotsky after 1923
and broke with Stalin only in 1928, later capitulated to Stalin.
Bukharin, because of his participation with Rykov and Tomsky, in
the "Right Opposition," was removed from the presidency of the
Third International. (He had succeeded Zinoviev in the presidency,
after the latter's removal.) Bukharin's capitulation to Stalin took
place under the threat of expulsion from the Communist Party of
Russia.

The same historical process at work in the Stalin controlled
Communist Party of Russia caused Lominadze,-who supported
Stalin in his fight against Bukharin in 1927 and 1928, and who later
opposed Stalin's dictatorial rule,-to capitulate. His capitulation
did not spare him, and he became in 1936 one of those implicated
as a "member of the counter-revolutionary gang of assassins." So
it came that Piatakov,-an anarchist turned Bolshevik in 1910,­
the Chairman of the first Ukranian Soviet Government, who sup­
ported the Trotsky Opposition from ·1923 to 1928, w'as expelled
from the party of Stalin. Whereupon he promptly capitulated for
the first time. About his second capitulation at the 1936 trial,
more anon.

The same austere process wrought havoc with Karl Radek,
a Zimmerwaldist during the war, a founder of the Third Intert~a­

tional, who had supported the Left Opposition since 1923. He was
expelled from the party with Trotsky and Rakovsky in 1927, to
capitulate to Stalin in 1929 and now again in 1936, without how­
ever, escaping the charge of being a "'counter-revolutionary." We
shall yet return to Radek and his capitulation because his path
seem's to give the answer to the question: why did they confess?

One is alm.ost prompted to state that the "austere process"
referred to by Trotsky played havoc ~ith the vertebrae' of every
accu5ed "Old Bolshevik." in 1934, even Christian Rakovsky joined
the long line of capitulator5. Rakovsky, a Zimmerwaldist with
Lenin during the war, a founder of the Third International, Soviet
arn:bassador to England and to France, had joined the Left Op­
position in 1923 together with Trotsky. He was expelled by Stalin
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from the party and sent to exile, and was permitted to returl'l only
in 1934 after making a statement violently denouncing and slander­
ing Trotsky and Trotskyism.

Rykov, the President of the Council of People's Commissars,
after Lenin's death first joined Stalin, Zinoviev, and Kamenev in
the early anti-Trotsky campaign. Later, he joined Bukharin and
Tomsky in the "Right Opposition;" now in 1936, he is charged
with complicity in counter-revolutionary activities. Rykov, even
though cleared of the charges, was removed from his cabinet
position in September, 1936.(15)

The list of the Old Bolsheviks who at one tim'e or other op­
posed Stalin's bureaucratic regime and who later capitulated, in­
cludes Smilga and Preobrazhensky, both of whom were expelled
in 1927 and capitulated in 1929; Tomsky, the "Right Oppositionist"
and head of the Russian Trade Unions, who for his opposition was
remioved from his post, and who in 1936, charged with counter­
revolutionary activities, colm'mitted suicide.

Everyone of the Old Bolsheviks tried in August, 1936, was one
time or another, a member of the opposition against Stalin; but
everyone un8er the pressure of the "austere process" of the revolu­
tion capitulated to Stalin prior to 1936. Why? The answer is not
difficult to find. They capitulated not because they were "counter­
revolutionary," not because they were opportunists hungry for
jobs; no! but exactly because they were "Old Bolsheviks." They
capitulated because the Russian Revolution was their revolution;
because they voluntarily and willingly had fought and starved for
it; h,ecaltse to see the victorious Russian Revolution, the Old Bol­
sheviks had suffered the anguish of the jails and of the exile of the
Tzar; because they bore the sufferings of uprooted emigrants in all
the countries of Europe for the Russian Revolution yet to come.
They were Old Bolsheviks who were living, working and fighting
to the utmost in order to be able to see the victorious October
of 1917.

After Lenin's death, the Old Bolsheviks watched jealously that
the Revolution be carried onward successfully, and when they felt,
when they observed that as against Stalinism «in the question of
deterioration and in the question of bureaucracy 'Trotskyism' was
right in the end," they said so by joining the Opposition. The
pressure exerted by the tremendous party machine controlled by
Stalin was resisted by the Old Bolsheviks in an individual manner.
While it took Radek less than two years to see the light, it was

(15) After the writing of this. unconfirmed reports announced Rykov's' suicide.
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seven years before Rakovsky joined the capitulators. After only
eighteen months in Stalin's jail, Zinoviev finally capitulated in
1936 and denounced himself and the leader of the Opposition,
Trotsky. Smirnov, though in the same jail for forty-five months,
was not willing to go the whole road of capitulation even when
brought to trial in 1936. But capitulate they did, some of them
earlier and some of them later; some of them wholly and some of
them partially. On the other hand, there are yet thousands, mem­
bers of the Opposition, who, remaining in Stalin's jails and in exile,
have not yet broken down, have not yet reached the stage of capi­
tulation. And those who entered the gate of capitulation, did they
do it for personal and selfish reasons, or for such reasons alone?

. To the contrary, we believe that these Old Bolsheviks, whose life
work had been the building of the Russian Revolution and of the
USSR, were willing to pay the price exacted by Stalin for the
privilege of continuing in their life-work, even under the false
leadership of Stalin. They were all willing in 1927, 1928 and 1929
to denounce their former political position and their former
political friend, Trotsky, for the single purpose of being reinstated
in the party and permitted to participate in the work of building
the workers' State.

The Old Bolsheviks paid the price exacted from them in the
form of the earlier capitulations and re-entered the party to work
therein, hoping thus to correct the policies of Stalin, which they
considered faulty, even treacherous, to the destiny of the Revolution.
Now once more these Old Bolsheviks were confronted with ex­
clusion from the party and from the party work. Stalin and "the
'powers demanded as condition sine qua non an acknowledgement of
the reality of this same legend of Trotskyism," which these same
Old Bolsheviks exposed as the invention of Stalin's group for the
purpose of keeping Trotsky from political leadership and his revolu­
tionary tactics from practical application. 'The Old Bolsheviks,
while ready to capitulate and to subscribe to the reality of the
Trotskyist legend, were, however, not willing, at least at first, to
call themselves and Tirotsky murderers. But' now in 1936, the
terms of capitulation were stricter; the Opposition was to be an­
nihilated once for all: complete surrender was demanded. And
surrender they did, after periods of eighteen to forty-five months
in Stalin's jail and the denial of active revolutionary work for a
longer period. 'to gain the freedom of activity, to be perm:itted
to return to revolutionary work as they had pteviously been per­
mitted to dq, they at last surrendered. Their surrender, however,
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did not gain for them the right of being active again, but was
asknowledged instead by the firing squad. Why? Because by this
time Stalin understood that the only way to obtain freedom from
the threat of the Opposition of the Old Bolshevik leadership, was
to eliminate the leadership bodily.

The capitulating Old Bolsheviks may not have acted as men
"upright and brave," but they acted under compulsion, if not under
that exerted by Stalin, then under their own, which prompted
them to pay any price extorted from them for the privilege of
resuming their old role as revolutionary workers.

Of course, it may be contended that this analysis is only a
theory, a theory most probably incomprehensible to "indignant
members of the English and American bar" who without under­
standing the Russian language and neither knowing about the
workings of a revolutionary /111'ind, nor of Stalins jail and of the
G.P.D., assert that the MoscoW' trial of August, 1936, was a fair one.
Our theory may not be the correct one, but to us it appears more
in keeping with everything we know of the Old Bolsheviks than a
theory which suggests Hitler's tactics (in his "purge" of June,
1934) of accusing the executed Old Bolsheviks of "degeneracy."(16)

Karl Radek is the person whose example confirms the above
analysis of the question: Why, if innocent, did they confess? Karl
Radek was ready to pay any price demanded from him in exchange
for the privilege of freedom of action, even under Stalin's leader­
ship. Radek, like the other Old Bolsheviks, was made to believe
that if he paid the price and capitulatetl to the extent demanded
of him, he would be permitted to return to his work. Radek, too,
hoped that the oppositional policy, since it is correct, would in the
end triumph; and· this end he preferred to await not in exile, not
in jail, not before the firing squad, but in the ranks of the re­
volutionary worker~.

Reading the official record of the trial, one must be convinced
that now all the former oppositionists were to be brought to task
before Stalin; and so among them Radek was implicated by the
testimony of Kamenev. R.adek's name was mentioned on the 20th
of August, 1936, for the first time, an ii'Ivestigation was ordered
in the evening of the 21st, and on August 23rd, he was ready
to pay the price. He paid in the form of an article entitled "The
Trotskyite-Zinovievite Fascist Gang and Its Leader Trotsky." The
article itself ~o clearly demonstrates what we have stated above
that it de~erves being quoted:

(16) New Maa_, Novembre 10. ~936.
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"The foul stench of the ease of Zinoviev, Kamenev, Mrach­
kovsky, Smirnov and the absent Trotsky, who are being tried
by the M'ilitary Collegium of the Supreme Court of the USSR
poisons the whole world. One acfter another, heroes of the
Fascist underworld rise up, and stripping themselves of all
contradictory covering, admit that they plotted with Trotsky
and among themselves to murder the best people of the Soviet
Union and the international proletariat.

"The leader of this gang of fascist murderers, Trotsky, tries,
in face of this evidence, to cleM· himself by empty denial. The
chief inspirer and organizer of the assassination of Kirov, the
leader of the whole gang which was preparing assassination of
the leaders of the Party' and of the USSR, thinks thllJt his sub­
terfuges will hide the facts. But he cannot wash the blood off
his hands, for facts are stubborn things, and these facts have
come from the mouths of his most faithful agents.

"Arch-bandit Trotsky, organizer of assassination of the best
people of t,he world proletariat, is living in Norway; here his
henchmen .expose their nakedness. They are doing it because
they know that the hand of proletarian justic.e would never­
theless have torn off their cloaks and shown them to the
world in all naked foulness. But their headman, the fascist
arch-bandit Trotsky, thanks to the kindness of Soviet power,
was able to save his skin abroad. He thinks that since the
Soviet court cannot try him, he can perjure llJS much as he
pleases. He lies when he says he was not concerned with any
activity within the USSR, although he writes on the USSR.

"He lies when he says that perhaps certain persons sym­
pathizing with him misused his name! It is useless for the fascist
bandit chief, Trotsky, to reckon that he can fool anyone. Be­
fore he was thrown out .of the country by Soviet power, he urged
me llJDd Rakovsky and Smilga to form a center abroad which
would direct the activities of the Trotskyites in the USSR.

"In January, 1928, he prepared for flight abroad, urging me
and others to do the same, for nothing would materialize with­
out a foreign center. Smirnov knew of this and got a foreign
passport for this purpose. A passport was not suitable for
Trotsky. Our flight was llJTranged. Although at that time
I was under Trotsky's influence and committed a grave crime
against the Party, I was horrified at the thought of working
under the protection of bourgeois states against the USSR and
sabotaged the attempt to escape. Trotsky was glad when he
was deported, although he made theatrical gestures of protest
against his exile. During his stay abroad, he not only organ­
ized a base for propagllJDda against the policy of the Central
Committee of the USSR, but organized crimes.

"In i929, Trotsky, having persuaded the Trotskyite Blumkin
to organize the sending of literature to the USSR, sent hiS' son
Sedov to him in a hot~ with instructions to organize an attack
on commercial representatives abroad for the purpose of getting
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.money needed for anti-Soviet work. From robberies which
Trotsky prepaiTed: in 1929, he went over to preparing terror in
1931, giving direct instructions. Smirnov, Mrachkovsky and their
people were connected with him in this for eighteen years.

"The bloody bandit who prepared the death of the best people
of the proletariat even now has not forgotten his natural theatri­
cal clawnishness. He proposed judicial trial in Norway, where
he would prove his innocence. Only send Mra.chkovsky, Smirnov,
Fritz Da,vid, Berman-Yurin to Norway for him. Everything
would be fine. The bloody clown of the petty-bourgeoisie, once
a revolutionary, later a petty-bourgeois, counter-revolutionary,
now an open fascist, is playing a bad: joke.

"The case is being tried in the presence of hundreds of people,
scores of foreign correspondents. Nobody in his senses believe~

that the defendants are slandering both themselves and Trotsky.
No one doubts his guilt before this country, before the ashes of
Kirov, before the learlers"ofour Party whose lives he attempted
to take, before mankind w:hose peace he attacked by organ­
izing his band~"(17)

One may see how "the powers that be" demanded as a con­
dition sine qua non the writing and publishing of such a testimony
of self-flagellation and of vilification of Trotsky. Radek paid the
price of his anticipated freedom-which he did not get. (He was
arrested OR October 7, 1936 though in custody before that date.)
If he has not as yet been tried and executed, he may thank the
general protest raised by the· Socialist and Labor parties of the
world, and not least among them 'by those Trotskyist groups of
the foreign countries, which Trotskyists he maligned in his article.

Can it be questioned that Radek's article was '"inspired" or
"ordered' as a price of his being left unmolested? No one but the
faithfully blind will deny it. Can it be doubted that the so-called
testimonies and confessions of the Old Bolsheviks were inspired,
written for them' and rehearsed ? No one but the utterly and
hopelessly blind can fail to see it.

Piatakov was named with Radek as one of the conspirators
with the Old Bolsheviks on trial. After he was mentioned on the
21st of August, 1936, there followed an article by Piatakov, which
like Radek's showed an urge toward self-reviling and also a similar
slandering of Trotsky. Pistakov writes:

"Now after the publication of all the indictments and informa­
tion, it can positively, objectively be considered as established
that Trotsky-Trotsky personally-is the organizer of the
dastardly political assassination plots in the USSR.... Our
country, under the brilliant leadership of the Central Committee
and in the first place under Comrade Stalin, developed at an

(17) Pravda, Moscow. August 23, 1936.
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unprecedented rate.... The results of the Five Year Plan have
smashed the thesis of the Social-Democrats that it is impossible
to build Socialism in one country (Stalin) .... It is unsuffer­
ably shameful to me to remember that in 1925-1927 I went with
.this bandit. I committed a mistake-a big mistake." (18)

Is it possible not to see the "inspiration" being forcefully
handed to Piatakov? Can one fail to see how Piatakov, the former
member of the Left Opposition who combatted Stalin's un-Marxian
theory of "Socialism in one country," was made to see the light
to the extent of championing the same the·ory and quoting Stalin?
No, Piatakov had to pay the price for his former "deviation."
Whether or not his price will be accepted as a payment or will be·
mocked at, as in the case of Radek and of the other Old Bolsheviks,
remains to be seen.(19) In any case, we feel that our analysis as an
answer to the query: Why, if innocent, did the Old Bolsheviks con­
fess,- is confirmed by the "spontaneous" articles of Radek and
Piatakov.

If further support is needed to prove that the powers in the
USSR now demand complete surrender on the part of every Old
Bolshevik who ever showed any aberration from the virtuous and
devious path of Stalin, such support is given by the declaration of
RakovsRy, who with Trotsky carried on the fight of the Interna­
tional Bolsheviks against the Stalinist bureaucracy from 1923 to
1927. In January, 1928, Rakov.sky with Trotsky (and with all other
members of the Opposition) was expelled from the Communist
Party of Russia; but while Trotsky was first exiled to Alma-Ata
and later deported to TUrkey, Rakovsky was confined to his Asiatic
exile. Steeled by his forty years fight for proletarian rights in
Bulgaria, Roumania, F.rance and after 1918 in Russia, Rakovsky
remained adament in his opposition to Stalin's policy until 1934,
when, broken in health, he signed his "Articles of Surrender," in
which he denied his past and at the same time joined in the
chorus "Laudeamus Stalin." Then and only then was he permitted
to return to Moscow. For two years, Rakovsky lived quietly,
taking no part in the political life of the country until the trial
of the Old Bolsheviks, when he, as one day later Radek and Piata­
kov, "'succumbed" to the irrepressible compulsion to self-abuse
and of the abuse of Trotsky. Rakovsky Writes:

"I personally felt burning shame for my past participation in amy
opposition whose leaders have become counter-revolutionaries ....
It is now clear for all, including myself, who maintained per­
sonal friendship for many years with him (that) Trotsky is a

(18) Ibid
(19) After going to press, the forthcoming trial of Piatakov and 16 others was announced.
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political adventurer, a scoundreL ... I. appeal to all friends of
the Soviet Union abroad-Keep away from Trotsky-....There
must be no mercy for the Trotskyist-ZiI).ovievists."(20)

So writes Rakovsky, who together with Trotsky in January,
1928, went to exile rather than renounce his opposition. Thus does
Rakovsky revile Trotsky, his personal and political friend of many
years. Does he do it because after meditating for six years in
his Siberian exile he suddenly saw the correctness of Stalin's policy
and because now, after two more years in "captive capitulation"
he has discovered Trotsky's counter-revolutionary position? No.
To Rakovsky it was no news that Stalin had officially accused
Trotsky of being a counter-revolutionary before. At that tim'e
Rakovsky had looked upon the charge ajl coming from that Stalin
whom Lenin characterized as one who in the interest of the party
should be removed from his office as party secretary. Rakovsky
knew that on January 20, 1929, Trotsky was forced to leave Alma­
Ata in accordance with a decree of the O.G.P.V., which states,
among other things, that Trotsky was to be deported because he
was "guilty of infraCtions of Article 58 of the Criminal Code against
counter-revolutionary activity . . . ." (The charge for which the
present defendants stood trial.) Rakovsky knew that Trotsky's
activities, designated by the O.G.P.V. as "counter-revolutionary,"
were identical with his own, and those activities were known to
Rakovsky not to be counter-revolutionary. Why now the sudden
change? It is possible not to see that Rakovsky, Radek, p;iatakov
and the other Old Bolsheviks were "inspired" to humiliate them­
selves, to deny their past anew, as the price exacted for the privilege
of carrying on, outside the jail, away from Siberia, safe from. the
firing squad?

It is true that the Old Bolsheviks confessed, and their con­
fessions stand up gravely against them. On the other hand, it is
also true that there is nothing more suspicious, nothing that re­
quires /lllore and closer scrutiny than a "complete confession" of an
alleged criminal. Because of much experience with the unreliability
of confessions, the criminal code of every civilized country requires
for a guilty finding corroborating evidence in addition to the con­
fession. Why is it that the prosecution, which claims to have in its
possession overwhelming proof, failed to show an iota of corrobo­
rating evidence? Is the prosecution unaware of the fact that
confessions are often proved to be false? Did the prosecutor of the
Old Bolsheviks never hear of the so-called "confessions" in ritual

(20) Pravda, Moscow, August 22, 1936.
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murder cases and does he believe them to be true? Has Vyshinsky
never read any of the accounts of "Famous Criminal Trials?" Did
he ever read the confession of the son of the chief-accused in the
ritual murder case of Tisza-Eszlar? Did he ever read the grue­
some details of the murder confessed to by the accused's own son;
the details of how the father held the knife, how the blood of the
victim ran? Does he remember that after the "complete con­
fession," when the alleged victim was found and positively iden­
tified, she carried not even the slightest trace of violence? (21)

No, the confessions are not enough, not even if we are told
that "under similar circumstances Dimitroff refused to confess
before the Hitler court." The circumstances were not similar.
Dimitroff, while before his class-enemy, was supported by the class­
conscious workers of the world, and could have had no such revolu­
tionary motives for capitulation as the Old Bolsheviks had. Dimi­
troff's confessing meant only one thing-the "Hitler ax." The Old
Bolsheviks' confession meant, so they hoped and so they must have
been promised, their return to revolutionary work. They were
deceived, or possibly deceived themselves; but nevertheless their
confession was the pay-off exacted from them in exchange for the
expected privilege of active participation in the building or rebuild­
ing of revolutionary Russia.

The great importance of the moral support of ·the workers
given to the defendant at the Leipzig trial is acknowledged by
Dimitroff himself, who speaking about the Brown Book (22) states:

" .... It indicated to us the international solidarity with which
we felt our case to be supported! throughout the proceedings,
during the preliminail'Y investigation during the trial and within
the very Courtroom itself."(23)

It is no one else but Dimitroff who testifies to the overwhelm­
ing importance of the support given to him by the international
proletariat, which support was entirely lacking in the case of the
Old-Bolsheviks. (The Moscow Trial was arranged and co:mpleted in
such a short time that no sympathy-demonstration did reach the
accused.) Dimitroff speaks of the

"many letters, greetings and expression of solidarity, which came
to me, often through inexplicable channels, even into my cell..
shown again what III force, a living force is constituted by inter.
national solidarity."(24)

Those who disbelieve the "'evidence" of the Moscow trial, failed
to show their solidarity with the defendants. The Old-Bolsheviks,

(21)"The Trial of Tisza-Eszlar," by defense attorney Eotvos, 1892.
(22) Report of the World Committee for the Victims of German Fasc1sm.
(23) Foreword by Georgei Dimitrov to the "Second Brown Book," j. 2.
(24) Ibid, p. 3
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isolated in the Soviet prisons, must have felt themselves utterly
abandoned by the international workingclass. This feeling of isola­
tion undoubtedly did contribute to their fantastic behavior at the
trial.

There is another point which is raised by the "faithful." The
question seems justified. Why did the Old Bolsheviks not repudiate
their confessions when at the open trial? The answer is that the
price exacted from them included not only confessing but confirm­
ing openly, and that of course excluded a repudiation of their con­
fession. The Old Bolsheviks did not know that their pleas for mercy
was to be answered with the firing squad in such a short time,
that no repudiation of their confession would be possible.! No!
The prosecution did not slip-up this time as it did after the Men­
shevik trial of 1931. As one may recall, the accused then con­
fessed just as completely as the Old Bolsheviks. The defendants
of 1931 confessed the possible and the impossible. Among the im­
possibilities was the placing of Abramovitch, the alleged ring­
leader, in Russia in the summer of 1928, when he was supposed
to have conspired there with the confessing defendants. The of­
ficial protograph of the delegates to the International Socialist
Congress proved Abramovitch to have been in Brussels at the time
of his alleged and "confessed" presence in Russia.(25) And this is a
fact proved by a photograph in spite of all "confession" and in spite
of the defendant's failure to repudiate the confessions at the open
trial. But a graver slip occurred nevertheless. The accused and
confessed Menshevik Shukhanov, after the trial, succeeded in
smuggling out a letter from his prison, describing how the "con­
fessions" were rehearsed prior to the trial. Shukhanov notified
the outside world that the defendants' failure to repudiate their
confessions while at the m'icrophone in the courtroom was because
of the deal made by and between the accused and the prosecution.

This time there was to be no slip-up; there was no chance to
be given to the Old Bolsheviks to repudiate their confesS{iipns:
The firing-squad sealed their lips. "'Dead men tell no tales." Or
possibly they do! There is a story about another great confession
which was "staged" some three hundred years ago. The confessor
was Galileo Galilei, the great astronomer. Galileo believed, and so
he declared, that the earth revolves around the sun. This belief
was considered by the Roman inquisition to be heresy (the antique
word for the "social-fascism," "counter-revolutionary" or "Trot­
skyism" of today). Galileo was "inspired" by the Roman inquisition

(25) The Moscow Trial and the Labor and Socialist International, London, 1931, pp. 29, 30.
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to confess his heresy (i.e., to accept the "official line"), which he
did with "a sincere heart and unfeigned faith;" (like Zinoviev who,
during the trial, "tells the whole truth;" or Mrachkovsky who
begs only for one thing, to '"be believed when I say that during the
investigation I spat out all this vomit;" i.e. the heresy, having
departed from the official line.).

Galileo was further "inspired" by the inquisition to add to his
confession; "I curse and detest the said errors and heresies" (just
as the Old Bolsheviks curse and detested theirs; just as they
cursed Trotskyism).

There is, however, a moral to Galileo's story. The moral may
or may not have application to the trial of the Old Bolsheviks. The
legend has it that Galileo, while standing before the Council of
Inquisitors; while openly and loudly confessing his errors; while
repudiating his scientific discovery that the earth moves around
the sun, spoke softly, scarcely audibly:

"Eppur S{ Muove." (26)

Galileo's whisper, at that time, could not be heard. But, never­
theless, today, the "earth moves" in spite of the Inquisition of the
Middle Ages, and of the present Century.

B. .What is the Left Opposition

The existence of a group of men and women opposing the
policies of Stalin cannot be denied, even though the prosecution
maintained that they were only a "handful." The official reports
coming from Russia show that in the past men and women have
been expelled from the party, others exiled and still others jailed
and now some executed, and still others to face the firing-squad,
for their "counter-revolutionary" activities. We read that the
Fifteenth Congress of the Communist Party (January, 1928)
expelled thousands of party members, members of the Opposition,
and later ordered them exiled to Siberia. The first exiles were
followed by others in ever-increasing number, until today there
are literally tens of thousands who pay with their exile for their
"heretical" ·opposition to Stalin's policy. We read about groups
representing hundreds and thousands of Social-Revolutionaries,
Mensheviks, Anarchists and Bolshevik (opposition) tendencies
silenced by their exile and confined to Russian jails. (27) We find
among the early "oppositionists" Trotsky in exile, Rakovsky for­
merly exiled, Radek (to be tried), Smirnov (now executed); Preo-

(26) Abbe Ir:,!I, QuereIles Li!teraires," III, pp. 49, 176l.
(27) New Militant, 1936, artIcles by Dr. Anton Ciliga.
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brazhensky (the well-known Bolshevik economist and financial ad­
visor of the USSR during the negotiations with France); Mrach­
kovsky (now executed); Uralov (one of the organizers of the Red
Army); Beloborodov (former P;eople's Commissar of Interior);
Sosnovsky (one of the greatest political propagandists of the
Bolsheviks); Kasporova (in charge of propaganda among oriental
women); Bogulavski (of the Council of People's Commissariat);
Sokolnikov (now under arrest); Zinoviev (now executed); and
thousands of others, all participants in the "Ten Days that shook
the world."

The present trial is so obviously directed against the "Left­
Opposition" led by Trotsky that a discussion of the program of
this "International Bolshevik" group appears necessary to com-
plete our analysis. I

The clash between the political theories represented by Trotsky
on the one hand and by Stalin on the other-the discussion of which
cannot be anything but sketchy within the confines of this pam­
phlet-began, contrary to popular opinion, during the life of Lenin.

1) Lenin was greatly concerned about the mushroom growth
of the "Organization Bureau of the Central Committee" of the
party, headed by Stalin, and to "cut-back" the growth of what
Lenin called "bureaucratization" of the party, he proposed in an
article written in 1922, the establishment of a Control Commission
composed of reliable party members occupying no official position
but Commission membership. The Commission was to be author­
ized to call any functionary of the Communist Party of Russia or
official of the USSR to account for any violation of revolutionary
morality. Lenin's article was refused publication in the Pravda
because of the objections of Stalin, Molotov, Rykov, Bucharin and
other members of the Political Bureau. The obvious reason for

. such refusal was the opposition of Stalin, Molotov, etc. to Lenin's
proposal. Publication was only acceeded to upon the urgent demand
of Trotsky and Xamenev. (28) I

2) In 1922, Trotsky supported Lenin against Stalin's attempt·
to change the policy of the USSR concerning foreign trade. Stalin's
proposal was to weaken and thus make ineffective the policy of
state monopoly. Hecause of Lenin's and Trotsky's opposition, the
law, based on Stalin's program and enacted by the November
Plenum of the Central Committee in the absence of Lenin and

(28) Leon Trotsky, "On Lenin's Testament," Pioneer Publishers, N. Y., 1935.
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Trotsky, was rescinded at the December Plenum of the same
year.(29)

3 ) Stalin, as the People's Commissar for Nationalities, in 1922
was in charge of reorganizing the political state of Soviet Russia
into a Federated Republic of all national units. While Lenin advised
considering all reasonable demands of the representatives of the
national groupings, Stalin advanced his proposals on strict cen­
tralism. (The first conflict between democratic and bureaucratic
centralism in the political field?) Lenin's conflict with Stalin neces­
sitated the carrying of the question of the nationalities to the
party. Those supporting Lenin, and thus opposing Stalin, included
Trotsky and Rakovsky.

4)Lenin's thesis entitled Better Less and Better(30) e'xpressed
his misgiving against the policy of the "'Commissariat· of Workers
and Peasants Inspection" headed by Stalin. The Commissariat,
originally conceived in the nature of a Control Commission against
the danger of party bureaucracy, became itself bureaucracy incar­
nate. Lenin's reorganization poposal was met by the opposition
of the party Secretariat, under the leadership of Stalin, which oppo­
sition was bitterly attacked by Trotsky who supported Lenin's
reform proposals. Because of Stalin's bureaucratic attitude within
the party, Lenin, in one of his last letters, broke off comradely
relationships with Stalin in the beginning of 1923 (31)

5) With Lenin alive in 1923, Trotsky carried on his fight
against the policy of the ruling group in the party and of the Third
International (headed by Stalin and Zinoviev) with reference to the
Bulgarian and German revolutionary situations. Stalin and Zino­
viev considered the German political situation in the Fall of 1923
such that the taking over. of power by the proletariat would un­
avoidably be followed by defeat. (The same objection was raised
by the same rightist group to Lenin's and Trotsky's proposal to
seize power in Russia in October, 1917.) Trotsky, on the other hand,
considered the German bourgeoisie unable to stand up against the
proletariat; he considered the bourgeoisie unable to save itself. He
expounded the theory that the power of the bourgeoisie cannot be
restored, except by the fatal mistake of the proletariat. Trotsky
said that the Germ'an bourgeois state could be saved only if the
"Communist Party did not understand at the right time that the
position of the bourgeoisie was inextricable and did not draw the

(29) Minute!!' of the Plenum of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Russia, 1&22­
(30) Pravda, Moscow, March 4, 1922
(31) Zinoviev's statement at the July Plenum of the Communist Party of Russia, 1926.
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necessary revolutionary conclusions." (32) As is known from history,
the Communist Party of Germany in 1923 followed the lead of
Stalin and Zinoviev rather than that of Trotsky; followed consi­
stently the lead of Stalin and of the Communist International from
then until now. The result, direct and indirect, is Hitler over Ger­
many; over Europe and in 1936 threatening the world.

6) The new Soviet government was still engaged in a struggle
for its life when Lenin in 1920 presented his proposal concerning a
large scale "Electrification Plan" to precede a-soon-to-be-initiated
industrialization program. Trotsky proposed in 1923 a "Plan of
Coordination of Industry and Agriculture." (33) (At the same time,
he insisted upon the revamping of the party organization to re­
establish workers' democracy.) Trotsky felt that the backward
agriculture could not be brought in step with the advanced political
status of the Soviet state until and unless a rapid industrialization
took place; the industrialization to permit the transformation of
agriculture from primitive-private operation to industrialized-social­
ist form, the latt"er form to decrease the economic-political power
of the large agricultural owners (Kulaks), whose reactionary
political influence Trotsky considered a latent, but existing danger.

Already in 1923, Trotsky and the so-called "Trotskyists" pre­
pared a "Planned National Economy" which proposal was met, on
the part of the group of Zinoviev, Kalmenev, Stalin, Bukharin,
Rykov, etc., with contemptuous jeers and disapproval. (The disap­
proval of the Opposition's 1923 Planned-Economy came from the
same Stalin who borrowed the plan and who from 1928 on sacri­
fied everything, including the G.erman revolution, to accomplish
the Five Ye,ar Plan in four-or was it in three ?-years.)

7) The Trotskyist Opposition, to provide for a future leader­
ship of the Workers' State, prepared to eliniinate the chasm
separating the existing leadership (bureaucracy) from the young
party members. Stalin's group, in answering the poposal, accused
the Opposition of desiring to bring about a conflict between the
leadership and the younger generation; that the proposal was noth­
ing else but Trotsky's desire to get rid of the "Old School of Bol­
sheviks." The official machinery was brought into play; calumny,
distortion, misrepresentation were used to discredit every move of
the Opposition, the poposals of which the bureaucracy felt to be
dangerous to its continued existence.

8) The Trotskyist Opposition maintained with Marx and

(32) Leon Trotsky; "Lessons of October," Pioneer "Publis'hers, N. Y.
(33) Leon Trotsky, "The New Course," Pioneer Publishers, N. Y.
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Lenin that the leading role in the revolution belongs to the prole­
tariat, which must teach the peasantry how to follow in building
the Soviet State. Bureaucratic misrepresentations turned this
proposal ino the charge that Trotsky is the enemy of the peasantry;
that he underestimates the revolutionary role of the peasant class.

9) Trotsky developed the Marxian theory of the "Permanent
Revolution," (34) His programmatic proposals, concerning the
national and international policy, considered the Bolshevik revolu­
tion of Russia "as the first stage in the world revolution which
inevitably extends over decades." (35) To this theory of the perma­
nency of the revolution is contrasted that developed by Stalin in
1924, the theory of "Socialism in one country."

The "Left Opposition" maintained and still maintains that the
theory of "Socialism in one country" is the result of Stalin's utter
theoretic-al bankruptcy; of Stalin's loss of faith in the \Vorld Re­
volution. Trotsky repeatedly pointed out that "Socialism in one
country," an un-Marxian confusionism, if attempted to be carried
nut-as now it is attempted by Stalin-would and logically does
bring about the national and international defeat of the working
class and finally it endangers the very existence of the Soviet
State. The Left Opposition, in its repeated evaluat~on of the
policies of the Third l'nternational and of the Communist Party
of Russia, pointed out that the repeated zig-zags and turns executed
by the official communist parties are the direct result of the
fantastic "Socialis(m' in one country." The Left Opposition claims
in many of its analyses of the Stalinist policies that certain
inevitable results, all leading to the disorientation and destruction
of the workers' organizations of the world, follow the attempt
to build '"finally and irrevocably Socialism· in one country." One of
the results is, that outside Russia, the revolutionary parties will
become nothing but frontier-guards for the Russian Commissariat
of Foreign Affairs, in fact, will become changed into peripheral
organizations, "Friends of the Soviet Union," under the director­
ship of the Third International.

The Left Opposition maintained and still maintains that Stalin's
failure to discern the revolutionary possibilities in Bulgaria and
Germany in 1923-1924 brought about his defeatist position expressed
by the pronouncement of 1924, i.e., the establishment of "Socialism
in one country." Trotsky clearly showed that the un-Marxian
theory of Stalin was refuted before its inception by Lenin who

(34) Leon Trotsky, "The Permanent Revolution," Pioneer Publishers, N. Y.
(M) Ibid
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maintained throughout his life that the social revolution, begun
,by the Bolsheviks in Russia, can succeed "finally and irrevocably"
-only if it is supported by the successful social revolution of other
economically more advanced countries (as Germany, France). Lenin
asserted that the Russian social revolution can maintain itself,
until the supporting revolution of other countries occur, only if
the industrial proletariat exercising the Soviet power is able to
-obtain the working support of the peasantry (at least of a majority

-of it.)
In its attacks upon Stalin's theory, the Left Opposition suc­

cessfully points to Stalin's own statement in which he denies the
possibility of "Socialism in one country." Stalin is quoted not be­
cause he is considered a theoretician of any distinction, but because
under the theoretical leadership of Lenin he was able to distinguish
between correct and incorrect theories. Stalin himself wrote in
evaluating the task of the Communist Party of Russia that: "The
organization of socialist production-still lies ahead. Can this task
be accomplished, eatI1 the final victory of Sociialism in one country
be attained, without the joint efforts of the proletariat of several
advanced countries? No, this is impossible." (36) The fact that Stalin
felt constrained to amend his first and correct analysis in a later
edition of his book, shows in the opinion of the Left Opposition
't4a't he makes, as Trotsky said, "a virtue out of the necessity."
After-late in 1924--Stalin pronounced his new theory, he recalled
his first and correct analysis and hastened to amend it to read:

"After the victoriuos proletariat of one country has consoli­
dated its power and has won the peasantry for itself, it can
and must build up the Socialist society." (37)

The amendment in itself is not, of course, Stalin's theory of
"Socialism in one country," pure and simple; but together with
the many other statements of Stalin and hi;s lieutenants (as Manuil­
sky at the Seventh Congress) leads, rather misleads the Commun­
ists of the world to believe that Stalin's theory. is possible in
practice; that in fact it is a reality in the USSR. If the latter. were
to be the case, then even according to Stalin, the Russian proleta­
riat would have already "'consolidated its power" and would have
"won over the peasantry for itself." The Left Opposition points
out, sorrowfully that neither of those preconditions does exist, as
is demonstrated by the recent necessity for applying repressive
measures against the peasantry; that in fact a dictatorship is still
maintained. If the proletariat had "consolidated it? power"

(36) Joseph Stalin, "Problems of Leninism," International Pnblishers, N. Y., First Edition.
(37) Ibid, Second Edition.
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those repressive measures would not be necessary; a Moscow trial
of August, 1936 would be unthinkable.

The Left Opposition claims that the "Socialism' in one country"
thesis brought about the frightful mistake of the Anglo-Russian
Committee of 1926, a basic misunderstanding of the theory and ap­
plication of the "UnitedFront." Following the conclusions drawn from
Stalin's theory, the government of the USSR embarked upon the
policy of seeking allies to protect the country from imperialist in­
tervention. Such an' ally was to be the English Trade Union Com­
mittee composed of reactionary Trade Union leaders. Because of
the reciprocal relationship, the English Trade Union leadership
obtained for its hom;e policy the support of the Third International,
which effectively blocked the attack of the left-wing trade-union­
ists, even during the British general strike of 1926. The general
strike, as .it is known, was first sabotaged and later brought to
dcteat by the reactionary policy of the self-same leaders forming
the British side of the Anglo-Russian Committee. The Left Opposi­
tion forecast just such an action on the part of the British Trade
Union leaders and did prior to and during the strike demand the dis­
solution of the Committee, thus to prevent the reactionary English
Trade Union leaders from misusing the prestige derived from a
Committee membership and from the joint work with the repre­
sentatives of the proletariat of the "Land of the Workers." The
demand of the Opposition was refused by the Stalin leadership,
and the Committee was maintained; in fact, the British reactionary
Trade-Union leadership was supported as against the rank and
filers until 1927, i.e., almost a full year after the defeat of the
British general strike.

10) The Anglo-Russian Committee was dissolved just about
the time when the Communist International embarked upon its new,
at the time, left swing; known as the "Third period." The Opposi-,
tion pointed out that this infantile left trend was due, as were the
lJrevious and subsequent right swings, to the inability· of the
Stalin leadership to understand the workings of the historical forces
during revolutionary and post-revolutionary periods. The left-turn
was the direct result of the defeatist position expressed in the slo­
gan "Socialism in one country." After the painful experiment with
the Anglo-Russian Committee; after learning that the reactionary
leadership of the English Trade U nicms could not and did not serve
to prevent imperialist excursions of the British Government in
the colonies and did not serve as a fence to prevent such ·inter­
vention in Russia, the swing to the left took place, demonstrating
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itself among others in the new theory ,of the ,"United Front From
Below." Today, when the official Communist leadership is ready
to do just about everything to achieve a United Front witb the
Socialist and Trade Union leadership, it is hard to believe that once,
and not so long ago, the same leade'rship was considered and pu­
blicly ,designated "social-fascist."(38) Itt is hard to believe that the
bureaucracy, just a short time ago, labelled the Trotskyists counter­
revolutionary because of their proposal for a United Front with the
Social Democracy and the Trade Unions. But, as it is said, "tempora
mutantur et nos mutamur in illis." (39)

Because of the categorical refusal of the Communist Interna­
tional to consider a United Front with the Socialist parties ~nd with
the Trade Unions, the Left Opposition charges that no effective
bar was erected against the oncoming Nazism, which attitude,
among other factors, permitted the ascendency of Hitl~r" 1'1; is­
today, in the era of the "Popular Front"-almost unbelievable, but
nevertheless a historical fact that the ~ficial German Communist
Party voted with the representatives of the National SO,cialists
(Hitlerites) against the Socialist government of Prussia, and thus
helped, in accordance with the slogans of "United front From Be­
low" and "Social-fascism is the main danger," the putsch of
Von Papen and the subsequent materialization of the pact
culminating in January 30, 1933-Hjtler's Chancellor'ship. •The
Left Opposition did not only criticize after a fait' accompli"
but again, on the basis of the interpretation and understanding of
the forces at work, forecast that the policy of' the Communist
International would by necessity bring about the defeat of the
German working class and th~ advent of Hitler. This' scientific
forecast earned for them the opprobrium of being called counter­
revolutionaries and defeatists who do not believe in the forces and
organizations of the German (Communist Party led?) working
class.

11) ;\From about 1923 on, Trotsky and the Left Opposition
as a whole predicted the deplorable but logical consequences to
flow from the hopeless attempt to establish Socialism in Russia
with disregard of other countries. Pointing out the elementary
thesis, as explained by Marx, Engels, Lenil) and Trotsky ptany
years prior to the October Revolution, Trotsky stated: ,

"That the productive forces of capitaJist society have long ago
grown beyond the' national frontier...... in the productive-'

(38) Earl Browder, "The Meaning of Social Fasllism," Workers Library pubiishers, N. Y.;
see also other similar works published by the Communist Party, of America.

(39) Times' are changing .and, 'we are changing with them.
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,'technical respect, socialist society must represent a hig,her
stage compared to capitalism. To aim at the construction of
• nationally isolated socialist society means, in spite of tem­
porary successes. to pull the productive forces backward

,even as compared to capitalism. To attempt (regardless
of the whole world) .... to realize a fenced-in proportionality
of aU' the' branches of economy within national limits, means
to pursue a, reactionary utopia." (40)

and therefore:
"The conception of building Socialism in one country is a
social-patriotic conception." (41)

Trotsky repeatedly pointed, out that the misinterpretation of
the Marxian economic theory, such as that by Stalin in claiming
the possibility of establishing Socialism in one country (and that
in the only one, Russia), lays the foundation of a national-social­
istic program and leads to the degradation of the Com,munist 1n­
terri.ati~nal "to an auxiliary corps which is not destined to solve
independent tasks." (42)

The' Left Opposition, which accepted and adopted Trotsky's
critidsms as expressed above, points now to the latest development
in the USSR and maintains that the present policies, all conditioned
upon the' maintenance of the status-quo, bear out the Opposition's
critical prognostication.

12) :Ouring the Chinese Revolution of 1925-27, the official
policy advanced by the Communist International was criticized by
the Left Oppos,ition as the result of Stalin's defeatist policy and
as one which must bring about the crushing of the Chinese work­
ing Class. The Communist International subordinated the forces
of the revolutionary Chinese working class and that of the Chinese
Communist Party to the national bourgeoisie repr'esented by the
Kuomintang and its leader, Chiang-Kai-Shek. This subordination
was ordered on the false conception that in China,-a semi-colonial
country,-a revolutionary grouping of the four classes i.e., workers,
peasants, petty and big-bourgeoisie, exists, which grouping is directed
against the imperialist bourgeoisie of the world. Against the warn­
ing of 'Trotsky,' the Communist International entrusted the carry-'
ing out of the revolution to the nationalist bourgeois Kuomrntang.
(The Ktiomintang was admitted as a sympathizing member to the
Communist International. The vote of the Political Bureau on the
admission was unanimous, but for the lone protest vote of Leo'n
Trotsky.).

(40)

(41)
(42)

Leon Trotsky, "The Permanent Revolution," Pioneer Publishers, N. Y.: see also by the
same author,' "The Bolsheviki and the World Peace."
Leon Trotsky; "Draft Program of the Comintern."
Leon Trotsky, "The Permanent Revolution," Pioneer Publishers, N. Y.
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To prevent any interference with the "revolutionary" role ex­
pected from Chiang-Kai-Shek, the Communist International
forbade the anti-bourgeois activities of the peasant groups, and the
industrial workers were "advised" against the establishing of
Soviets. l'n addition, the Chinese representative of the Com­
munist International brought about the disarmament of,' the
revolutionary Nanking industrial proletariat,(43) and thus' pre­
pared China for the subsequent rule of the counter-revolution under
the leadership of Chiang-Kai-Shek and of the Koumintang. The
Shanghai massacre perpetrated by Chiang-Kai-Shek justified' the
advance criticism of the Left Opposition on every point, and proved
the utter political bankruptcy of the Stalin led Third International
and the total failure of its leadership in the Chinese Revolution. .

After the defeat of the Chinese Revolution at the hand of the
Koumintang, the Communist International, against the contrary
proposal of the Left Opposition, transferred its support to the "Left
Koumintang" and the Wuhan government, which in the estimation

. of the Russian bureaucracy was at work to establish a ~'dem'ocratic

dictatorship of the industrial workers and of the Peasants." To
help along the experimentation of this new bourgeois ally of the
Communist International, a coalition government, with the partici­
pation of the Comunist Party of China, was formed (the first
People's Front government?), which government, as is now known
from history, brought about a second defeat of the Chinese revolu­
tionary workers. Unfortunately for the Chinese Revolution, the
forecast of the Left 0p'position was correct and its advance critic­
ism was justified by -the subsequent events.

13) The program of the Left Opposition, presented in 1927,
embraced every phase of the domestic life of the USSR. It recom­
mended, as a follow up to Trotsky',s plan of 1923, a sweeping in­
dustrialization; the question of farm collectivization for the purpose
of bringing about a socialization of agriculture, and sirilUltaneously
the strengthening of the economic-political influence .of the farm
workers as against the owner farmers. The program further dis­
cussed the question of foreign trade monopoly, the control of the
bureaucracy, etc., all of which proposals were met by the Centrist
and Right wing leadership (Stalin-Lominadze, and Bukharin­
Rykov) with slanderous attacks' upon the "counter-revolutionary
Trotskyism. The proposals of the Left Opposition of 1927, at that
time violently condemned, were made part of the industrialization

(43) Dispatches from China in the MUitant, N. Y., 1929. See also "Problems of the Chinese
Revolution," L. Trotsky, N. Y. 1932; and Andre Mialreaux, "Man's Fate." ,
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program adopted in i928. If is a historical fact, which one may
leaI'n' £i-om"readlng, that the p~oposals concerning ,the agricultural
:prog.iam,'·~ssubinittedbythe Left Opposition in 1927, were mad~
Stall',j's D,wn, but not before the Kulak's uprising and the destruc­
tipn 'of the 'farm'- a'nimals, which endangered the food supply of the
'city ~orkers:for' years to come.

" 14) All' ~f Tr~tsky's warnings to the Communist Party of
Rt.iS'~ia"anXt~'the n~tional sections of the Third l'nternational were
,answ~re'~by' :~lander o~, the pa'rt of the ruling group. Trotsky
,wanled, that, unless the leadership recognized its mistakes in the
Jie1d.'of 'il~tlonai and inteinational politics, a degradation of the
;fo~ces"o'fthe revoi4tion ,must inevitably follow, which in time
wouidendanger the very existence of the Soviets. The warnings
of the. Left Opposition 'were thrust aside by the Communist In·
ternational, 'and the degeneration, in fact destruction of the Com­
munist Parties followed in most countries, not the least in Germany.
The- warhing o'f Trotsky, concerning the danger of a nationalistic
degeneration' in the USSR was not heeded; to the contrary, he was
charged' with' counter-revolutionary propaganda, he was exiled as
a counter-revolutionary; and today the USSR is far advanced on
the road which threatens to reach the form of autarchy.

The Left Opposition's proposal that' the USSR must build its
defenses, in the form of strong Communist parties in the world
and hot by relying on reactionary-bourgeois alliances, was rejected,
the Opposition itself slandered, its program suppressed, and today
the' USSR finds itself encircled by an hostile world. This encircling
has become almost complete at the present time, when the USSR has
almost n9 supporting forces outside of Russia. Such supporting
forces once existed in the form of the revolutionary labor move­
ment,; of E?t;'ope.

,The gwwth, of the bureaucracy of the Russian Communist Party
was" chara·ct.erized, by the Opposition as the beginnig of a tendency,
wh.ich.:if not, checked in time, will choke the revolutionary life of
the party;~ must logically lead to the repetition of the downfall of
theCo'rIlmune ofl7~L The answer of the bureaucracy was further
slanq.er, iurtl,le,r suppression and persecution of the Opposition, and
today,,: as fOf('~cast,by the Opposition, the adoration of the "leader,"
the, persot:J,al dictatorship of Stalin and his satelites bode ill for the
successful carrying on, of the Proletarian Dictatorship towards
Socialism., ", "

* * * *
';:These~"a"r~ only a few of the charges placed by the Left Op-
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posItIOn against the leadership of Russia and of th~, C.orllln,~nis1;

International. The charges are grave, and theyar,e<;()n~idered

such by the leadership ~o accused. The charges ll,lust :~pp~argrave
because -one by one-they become justified by sU1::>sequent events.
Because of the irrefutable correctness of the program and ,proposals
of the Left Opposition, the official leadership, attempts to rid itself
of its own mistakes, not by correcting the incorrect steps and by
abandoning the false policies, but rather by eliminating the critics,
by suppressing the Opposition. The Opposition, however, is grow­
ing. The inarticulate masses of Russia sense, if they do not know,
that they are led astray, away from the path opened ,up in October,
1917. The Masses search, even if gropingly, for a leadership. They

,look for leaders in their struggle for regaining t~e ;Ldlievements
of 1917. To prevent the masses from finding their true and revolu­
tionary leadership, Stalin set out to eliminate the Left Opposition;
first by suppression of its program, then by slander and ~fam'a­

tion, later by exile and jail and now by the firing squad. The'
firing squad which, though it snuffed out the life of ZinovieY' ~nd ot:
Kamenev, was really directed against Trotsky and t~e LeftOp­
'position.

C. THE P,RESENT RUSSIAN POLICY AND THE OPPOSITION

As if to supply proof of the correctness of the program of the
Left Oppos-~tion, the leadership of Stalin set out in 1933 'to legIslate'
in a :m\anne~ showing the culmination of a policy of gradual elimina­
tion of the revolutionary principles of 1917. The degeneration of
the Soviets, forecast by Trotsky, was made legal,as was the tendency'
towards national-bolshevism. The defeatist attitude of Stalin,
giving up his faith in the working class and relying on reactionary
alliances, was made apparent by the entry of the Soviet Union
into the League of Nations (called by Lenin the "Thieves Kitchen
of Geneva") and the conclusion of the Franco-Russian military
alliance.

In its home policy, the Soviet Government decreed:

a) Changes in the statutes of the system of collective farms;
changes favoring the right of holding and owning property
(February 1934. "'Socialism is one country" apparently leads to­
de-socialization after "Socialism is established finally and irre­
vocably.")

b) Wages to be determined in accordance with the quality:
and quantity of work done. (March, 1934. The old-fashioned'
Marxian slogan "In a socialist state, from each in accordance to·
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his ability, to each in accordance to his needs" does not apply to
the "exceptional" country of Russia.)

c) Drastic changes concerning the re-introduction of discipline
among th'e youth and reorganization of the method and system of
instru:ction. (April and September, 1935. A prelude to the depoliti­
calization of the youth and its elimination from a political role.)

d) The reformation of the Young Co;mmunist League of Rus­
sia, taking away its former political and propagandistic status and
remaking in into a Russian "Friends of the Soviet Union," concerned
only' with educational activities and the advancement of the "com­
monweal". (Congress of the Young Communist International,
1935. Apparently this is the beginning of a mass "Boy and Girl
Scout" movement, if not of the "Balilla?'.)

e) Last, but not least, following the decrees strengthening
the marriage ties, making divorces and abortions more difficult,
came the announcement of the New Constitution.

,Rumors have it that the draft approved by the Central
Executive Committee on June 12, 1936, is the work of Stalin. The
publication was coupled with the announcement that public criti­
cism and suggestions for amendments were invited. The public,
even though not accustomed to such invitations of their critical
cooperation, soon found its voice and papers were flooded with
outspoken criticisms. Suggestions for improvement were submitted
day after day to such an extent that the invitation to criticize was
withdrawli. The final draft was then published without adopting
any of the popular amendments, with the exception of minor
technical changes. (44)

The new Constitution represents such a basic departure from
Bolshevik theory and confirms the forecast and criticisms of the
Left Opposition to such an extent that a detailed review of it
seems worthwhile. The New Constitution provides for:

a) Introduction of the universal, direct, equal and secret vote.
i.e., the preponderance of the rural territories is guaranteed as
against the political weight of the industrial proletariat.)

b) The Supreme Council of two chambers supersedes the All­
Union Congress of Soviets. (The revolutionary one chamber Soviets
are replaced by the reactionary check and balances of the double
legislative body, wherein the decisions of the popularly elected
chamber can be and are successfully vetoed by that representing
the Federal Republics; i.e., the bureaucracy.)

c) The Supreme Council appoints the Commissars and the

(44) Louis Fischer, The Nation, 1936.
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higher judiciary. (The will of the bureaucracy will. demonstrate
itself in such appointments, making its perpetuation a fait accompli.)

d) Suffrage is extended to every male and female"cttizert 'over
the' age of eighteen, irrespective of '"social origin; prbpertY'st'attis
or past activity." This extention means, if anything, the' prepon­
derance of elements other than the industrial.pr~letarlat,''and' fit'rthe;r
the restoration to political participation of th6sewho 'Jus,t' a short
time ago, because of their "past activities" (e.g. whit~~~uiirdist),
were considered the classical enemies of tl1eWorkers' State. 'It
is not to be expected that the members of the "Opposition" will be
given the right to vote, since they belong to one of· the excluded
categories, i.e., they have been "condemned bya law' court to the
loss of their civil rights." Those mejmbers of the Opposition who
have never been tried by a court but have been exiled by an
administrative order will be excluded from the franchise because of
their exiled status.)

Ie) Elections are to be held not as heretofore on t~e basis of
of the economic units, (Factories, cooperatives, communal farms,
etc.) but on a territorial basis. (Elimination of the princil?le of the
Soviets.)

-'While it is not our purpose to analyze or to give.' a summary
of the New Constitution, we feel it is necessary to point out certain
implications therein, all of which bear out the prognostication of
the Left Opposition concerning the trend of the USSR to'wards the
degradation of the Soviet system and the gradual trend toward a
nationalistic economic and political system. That such a trend exists
may be seen from the fact that the Communist controlled press of
the USSR has lately begun to speak of a "Russian Nation," of a
"national unit" within which a new patriotism is to be engendered.(45)

Criticism of the new draft of the Constitution was not confined
to the adherents of the Left Opposition, as may be seen from, the
many thousands of corrective suggestions sent from all parts of
the country. (46) To forestall criticism, the latest "check-up on the
party credentials" was initiated. The check-up, follow~d by the
expulsion of approximately 200,000 members from the Communist
Party of Russia, was an answer of the leadership to the ever in­
creasing number of opponents of Stalin's internal and external
policies, and was to forestall any and all organized opposition to
the New Constitution, more particularly to forestall. oppesition to
the emasculation of the Soviets.

(45) Pravda. 1936. ....
(46) Li;,ois Fischer, The Nation. 1936.
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D. THE GROWTH OF THE OPPOSITION

The l;1test Communist Party purge of 1935 and of the early
part of 1936 _was carried on in an unusual form. Instead of the
party-trial of the members, the expulsion took place subsequent
to an administrative order of the bpreaucracy ~hich contemplated
only a "check-up" of the party cards. Though no complete. figures
are available,. news reports coming from Russia per;mit the con­
clusion. that between two and three hundred thousand party mem­
bers were refused new membership cards, thus bringing about the
effective expulsion of those "checked" off. .

It is worthwhile to speculate upon the categories of those ex­
pelled from the Communist Party of Russia~ The Pravda(47) con­
siders those eliminateq from the party as belonging to one of the
following groups:

1) Trotskyists
2) Zinovievists
3). Opportunists, adventurers
4) Criminal elements
5) Spies

(The Trotskyists, who are thus thrown into a sub-category with
"spies" console themselves with the knowledge that in 1917 Lenin
and Trotsky were hounded as the spies of the German Kaiser.)

Assuming the most conservative figure; i.e., two hundred thou­
sand, as the number of those expelled, and reversing the order in
which the categories are listed, may we not ask whether the Com­
munist Party of Russia, after the "final and irrevocable victory
of Socialism"(48) was achieved, contained more than ten thousand
spies? Giving the party the benefit of the doubt, ten thousand
expelled members do, we hope, include all the spies belonging to it
up to· that time; leaving one hundred ninety thousand expelled
members to account for.

Extending the same benefit of doubt to the party, another ten
thousand must cover all felons (sneak-thieves, etc.) who succeeded
in becoming members of the Communist Party; still leaving one
hundr:ed eighty thousand in the remaining three categories.

The benefits of a membership in the Communist Party 6f
Russia, in spite of all the exacting duties, must have attracted a
great number of the third category, i.e., opportunists and adven­
turers. Speculating further and still giving the party the benefit
of all conceivable doubt, we cannot assume that the well-central-

(47) Pravda, January2, 1936.
(48) In\ernational PreSlS Correspondence, XV, No. 44, p. 1145.
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ized and centrally controlled party made it possible for more than
eighty thousand opportunists and adventurers to find a berth with
the ruling group of the USSR. Having eliminated eighty thousand
opportunists, there remains the stupendous number of one hundred
thousand who were expelled for being Trotskyists and Zinovievists.
Since the cataloguing of those expelled, as done by the Pravda,
mentions first the Trotskyists, it is fair to assume that they pre­
ponderate, and thus a proportion of 60/40 in favor (or disfavor)
of the Trotskyists is not out of place; bringing the number of those
expelled for Trotskyism to sixty tliousand. The figure of sixty
thousand Trotskyists, as against forty thousand Zinovievists is
surely a conservative one and gives a larger share to the latter
group than the real proportion. It is known that the Zinovievists
were confined to Leningrad (almost exclusively), while the Trotsky­
ists were present in every important industrial town, even in the
communal farms of Russia. That the latter is the case may be seen
from the "purging" reports of the party, wherein the expulsion of
Trotskyists is reported from every part of the country. Further
it is to be expected that the Zinovievists represented a small minor­
itv of the "Opposition," since their ideological leader, Zinoviev.
gave up his principled position already in 1928 and thus made it
more than hard for his followers to carryon any kind of political
propaganda work in the absence of a principled program. The
T.rotskyists, on the other hand, not only enlarged upon their pro­
gram in 1927, but they carried on their principled criticism of
the bureaucracy, without ever renouncing their political position.
As Ciliga, the former member of the Executive Committee of the
] ugoslav Communist Party, its delegate to the Communist Inter­
national and who, for his opposition position, was imprisoned in
Russia and released only in 1935, pointed out (49) the only real op­
position in Russia is represented by the Trotskyists; i.e., the group
of the' Bolshevik-Leninists.

Though the leaders of the bureaucracy, speaking during the
trial through the Pravda, refer to the Trotskyists as "a handful,"
the Pravda previously presented a radically different picture. Dur­
ing the party purge, the Pravda quotes the provisional secretary of
the Communist Party of Russia, Khatarjevich, to the effect that;
"We succeeded in uncovering not only isolated individuals but entire
counter-revolutionary Trotskyist-Zinovievist groups, skulking in
the ranks of the party." The report from the Black Sea province
states "there existed counter-revolutionary Trotskyist-Zinovievist

(49) New Militant, January 25, and February 8, 1935.



132 THE FIRST TWO MOSCOW TRIALS

groups" in several of the cities and in the ii1dustrial and agricultural
plants. (50)

Among the local reports, analyzing the result of the latest
party purge, there are some which give more than an approxima­
tion of the number of the expelled Trotskyists. Secretary Zaitsev
of the Charkov district catalogues two thousand three hundred fifty
six expelled party members. He assigns from among them 907
to the Kulaks and White-guardists, 594 to the moral degenerates.
(a horribly large percentage from among the 50,000 party mem­
bers of the district. From all we have read about Hitler Germany,.
even the organization of the Nazis did not attract such a large
proportion of degenerates as that reported by secretary Zaitsev.)
The same report further classifies those expelled as undisciplined
workers, sneak-thieves, speculators and bourgeois nationalists
(mind you, bourgeois-nationalists and not the kind of the pro­
letarian-nationalist variety, the latter apparently were not "purged'"
from the party.) Last, but not least, there were one hundred twenty
Trotskyists, or just about 5% of those expelled.(51) Taking 5% as
the common factor for all Russia, the number of the Trotskyists.
expelled with the total of about two hundred thousand, would
amount to not more than ten thousand. Our first assum'ed figure
of sixty thousand must, for diverse reasons, nevertheless, be nearer
to the fuctual number. One of the reasons is that: "In Charkov,.
the satrapy of S. K!ossior, Petrovsky & Co., the physical extermina­
tion of the Opposition has been going on since 1923, with a bestial
ruthlessness, so thorough that its fame has spread throughout the
entire Soviet Union."(52) One may imagine that after a continuous
purge extending over thirteen years there would be mighty little left
for further purging. If, on the other hand, as the party secretary
reports, there were still enough Trotskyists to account for 5% of
those expelled, then it is fair to assume that in districts less efficient
in purging than Charkov, the proportion of the Trotskyists among
those expelled in 1936 will be considerably higher than 5%.

,There is another reason which leads us to believe that sixty
thousand comes near to the true number of the expelled members
of the Opposition and that is the fact, that the official figures do
not even mention those who belonged, while adhering to the prin­
ciples of the Opposition, to the Young Communist League of the
USSR. It is impossible to believe that the youth of Russia, the
least corruptible, the most idealistic section of the population, that

(50) Pravda. December ·26, 1936.
(50) Ibid.
(52) Leon Trotsky: "20.000 Oppositionists expelled from the Communist Party of the Soviet

Union." New Militant. Feb. 15, 1936.
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section which always and everywhere represents the advance guard
of the revolution, would have failed to be attracted by the revolu­
tionary program of the Bolshevik-Leninists. To the contrary,
the decreed degradation of the Young Communist League from a
political to a social-welfare organization,(53) indicates nothing less
than a political development in a direction not countenanced by the
bureaucracy. That the members of the youth group were not un­
aware of fhe Opposition w,as pointed out by the State's Attorney
himself during the August trial of the Old Bolsheviks. The pro­
secutor, wielding his tarbrush, leaves a few spots upon the, yet un­
sullied vestment of the political youth of Russia, when he (of
course, without any proof) declares that: "Nikolayev (the alleged
murderer of Kirov) was an old member of the Young Communist
League."(54)

The bureaucracy of the USSR, whenever it expresses itself con­
cerning the Opposition, unfailingly shows a desire to :minimize the
number and importance of the Trotskyists. Repeated references
are found to the '"miserably few" and to the "handful" of Trotsky­
ists, proving conclusively that the 5% allotted by secretary Zaitsev
to the members of the Opposition within the Communist Party ~f

Russia (now expelled) must be an absolute minimum. Because of
the obvious desire of the leadership to keep the number of Trotsky­
ists down, (at least on their records) it is not impossible to imagine
that many of the expelled rank and file members of the Opposition
were lumped with one or the other of the categories expelled.
Only prottninent members of the Opposition, whose role was known
to the party members, were, by necessity, purged for their Trotsky­
ist policy.

[Recent figures and facts are available concerning the thousands
of imprisoned Bolshevik-Leninists. A. Tarov, a member of the
Opposition, succeeded in 1935 in escaping from one of Stalin's
prisons: Tarov, a worker who joined the Bplshevik Party in 1917,
saw service on the revolutionary fronts, first as a soldier, later,
after graduating from a Military Training School, as a Commander
of a Red Detachment. From 1921 on, Tarov worked as an organ­
izer under the Central Executive Committee. In 1923 he was order­
ed to the Communist University in Moscow, where he studied until
1926, in which year he was expelled for an Oppositionist speech
and sent to a railroad construction job. I'll 1927, during the first
concentrated attack upon the Opposition, Tarov was expelled from

(53) Decision of the Congress of the Young Communist International, Moscow, 1935.
(54) Report of Court proceedings, eta., p. 61.
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the party, and in September 1928 he was arrested as a Bolshevik­
Leninist. After lingering in the jails of the G.P.U. for six weeks,
he was exiled, together with 'many other members of the Opposition,
to Kazakstan. Many exiled members of the Opposition capitulated
after 1930. Those failing to "see the light" were arrested in
1931 (it happened to be in January, the anniversary of Lenin's
death), and were sent from their place of exile to the Petropavlosk
prison. Tarov gives an account of the treatment afforded to the
imprisoned Trotskyists. He describes how the prisoners were as­
signed to typhoid infected cells, how they contracted spotted fever.
I-Le recounts how the imprisoned members of the Opposition, be­
cau:;e of the inhuman treatment, resorted to repeated hunger
strikes; how the G.P.U., to break the strike, sprayed them with
cold water in their unheated cells where they had lain exhausted
and weak from hunger.

Tarov also recalls that during one of the G.P.U's "pranks"
of using the water-hose upon the Opposition, one of the Trotskyists,
Pogasyan, was hit in the face by the full force of the water stream,
and because of it was blinded. (Some of those who do not under­
stand why the Old Bolsheviks, even though they are innocent, c'api­
tulated and confessed, please note Tarov's story). Apparently
Petropavlosk was too good a place to keep Tarov and his comrades,
because after a few months, they were shipped off to the Verkhni­
Uralsk solitary. Here Tarov and four hundred and fifty other
Bolshevik-Leninists underwent an eighteen day hunger strike as a
protest against the treatment by the G.P.U. administration. (Among
other things, a prison guard fired into a cell, wounding the Trotsky­
ist Essayen because the prisoners, in the opinion of the guard, were
too loud in commemorating a revolutionary holiday.)

Tarov claims personal knowledge of the existence of a number
of colonies of exiled members of the Opposition; among them:
Akmolinsk (with many others, Masya Joffe, the widow of Dr. J. J.
Joffe, who represented the USSR at the peace conference of Brest­
Litovsk and who later committed suicide, is here), Funze and
Uralsk. Tarov, not wishing to get acquainted with all the places
of exile and with all the prisons of the USSR, decided upon and
succeeded in escaping from Russia. He found his way to a country
in Central Asia. (Fearing that the Government of the USSR will
demand his expulsion, as the expulsion of Trotsky was demanded
of Norway, Tarov is not anxious to publicize his present domicile.)

Tarov's conclusion is that today the Bolshevik-Leninists repre­
sent the only force which effectively opposes the reactionary policies
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of Stalin and of the Third International.(55) The youth looks towards
them for .leadership, and this confidence is one of the reasons why
the bureaucracy concentrates all of its' tremendous power on
eradicating them from the political life of the USSR. As it always
happens in history, in spite of all persecution, in spite of all the
slander, even prison, exile and the firing' squad, the number ~f the
Bolshevik Leninists increases from day to day. It is not impossible
that the moral of the story told about Ga.1i1eo has its application
to the USSR and to the program of the Bolshevik-Leninists-in
spite of the Holy Synod and its holy "line;" EPPUR SI MUOVE.

E. SHOOTING ZINOVIEV, K,AMENEv', etc., BUT AIMING AT
TROTSKY AND THE OPPOSITION

The clumsiness with which the trial of the Old Bolshevi~s was
conducted makes it impossible even for the "faithfuP' not to se~, that
the main, if not the only purpose of the trial, was to defame Trotsky
and the Bolshevik-Leninists and thus to discourage, if not prevent
the growth of the Opposition. The actions of the Government of
the USSR, of the Communist Party of Russia and of the Third
International in Russia and abroad, all contributed to the creation
of a deep impression upon the world, that the purpose of the trial
was to smash the Trotskyists. Such is the conclusion arrived at by
the Moscow Correspondent of the Manchester Guardian, who, im­
mediately following the execution of Zinoviev and others, wrote:

"The people of the Soviet Union· watch anxiously for the next
step, for it is certain that the trial itself is only th~ beginning
of a "purge" that will leave the whole country sco.ured to its.
political core of every trace of 'Trotskyism' of every kind rand
color."(56)

The next step was not long in coming. Already on the fourth
of September it was reported from Moscow:

"The ruthless campadgn to stamp out the survivors of the
former alleged anti-Stalin opposition in the Communist party
is' going on unabated:. The Soviet press daily reports countless
resolutions of the Communist party committees from all parts
of the country expelling men from party posts and demanding
further investigation and criminal proceedings against sus­
pects. . .. The 'purge' is cailTied out by the ordinary party of­
ficials. The Ogpu only arrests the suspects.... General V. K.
Putna, Soviet Military Attache in London, has been arrested and
charged with complicity in the 'Trotskyist plot' against Stalin ....
M,me. Sokolnikoff (wife of the first Soviet Ambassador in
London) has been expelled from the Communist party. She has

(55) A, Tarov: "M:y Escape From Stalin's Prison," New Militant, February 15 1936
(56) Manchester Guardian Weekly, August 28, 1936. ' .
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also been expelled from the Communist WTiters' Union, of which
she has been secretary. Her husband, Gregory Sokolnikoff, 1S

under arrest on a charge of complicity in the TrotSKy plot....
Ivan Ka~yeff, anot.her well-know writer, is to be "purged"
from the party ranks for aHeged 'Trotskyist" sympathies:'~5'l)

Still later it was reported:
"It is now officially confirmed that Karl Radek, the famous
Russian pubhcist is under arrest .... Investigation ha.s establish­
ed Radek's connection with, the alleged conspiracy for which a
month ago sixteen distinguished BOlsheviks were sentenced to
death. Rauek's arrest had been expected.... Although the
Soviet ·authoritles had persistently refused to confirm l<.adek's
fate, it was no longer in doubt when a fortnight ago an official
communique absolved Rykov and Bucharin of similar charges
without mention~ng Radek's name. The arrests of.... Piatakov
had been previously co'nfirmed."(58)

While Rykov was cleared of the charges implicating him by the
testimony of K,amenev, in the Trotskyist plot, he did not get off
scot free, because:

"Important changes are announced in the Council of People's
Commissa.rs, and they have caused the greatest astonishment
In Moscow. Rykov, who early last month was cleared of charges
made against him in the Zinoviev trial, has been 'releasedl
from his duties' as Peoples Comissar for Communications. In
his place has been appointed G. G. Yagoda who was Commissar
of H,ome Affairs and E,. N. Yezhoff goes to the Commissariat
of Home Affairs .... Yagoda has been devoted to political police
work since joining the Cheka in 1920 .... Yezhoff who is chair­
man of the party Control Commission and 81 candidate for the
important Political Bureau.... It is significant that Yezhoff
has been among the nnimpeachable Bolshevist nucleus whose
devotion and loyalty to Stalin have been untouched by the
political struggle of the last ten years."(59)

(Yagoda, the fox;m'er chief of the G.P.V. was in reality demoted,
by being made the head of the "unpolitical" Commissariat for
Communications. His demotion is undoubtedly due to the many
blunders committed by the G.P.V. in preparing the trial of August,
1936.) i

That the "pu;ge" against the Trotskyists was to go on with
unabated violence was to be seen clearly from the reports of the
Soviet newspapers. Following immediately upon the trial of the
Old B:olsheviks, a great number of party workers belonging to the
Opposition were arrested. The Pravda reported

"The arrest in Minsk of a large organization of 'counter-revolu-

(57) Ibid, September 4, 1936.
(58) Ibid, October 9, 1936.
(59) Ibid, October 2, 1936.
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,tionary young communists' who were 'impudent enough to discuss
openly the theory of Socialism in One CGuntry'."(60)

The sam\e paper one day later reports the arrest of Lepechev,
secretary of the Palas district committee of the Communist Party
of Russia; F.edotov, party se~retary of Franca; Tatulov, secretary of
Krasnoukout; Tchifrenovich, head of the Propaganda Section of
the Soviet republic on the Volga; Stepanian of the Caucasian Dis­
trict Comm'ittee; Khandgian, secretary of the Armenian Communist
Party, all charged with counter-revolutionary activities. .

From the Russian press of Septe:mber and October, we learn
about the arrest of Red General Putna military attache in London;
Chopechnikov, the Director of the Supreme War School; Schmidt,
famous military leader of the Ukranian Civil War; Kliava Kliavine,
the former chief of the Red Army" . :... It is also re,ported that
charges are raised against many writers who are thrown out of the
writer's union, as Tarassov-Rodionov, the author of the Civil War
memories February, 1927. The papers write about the discovery of
Trotskyist Ce·nters in the party organizations of the Caucasus, in
Rybinsk, in Tcheliabinsk, Moscow" Leningrad, etc. Those who
were unpolitical in the past, did in ,most cases escape suspicion and
arrest. This is not the case with those who, though neutral in
politics-had the misfortune to be related to a member of the
Opposition. So Sergei Sedov, the youngest son of L. Trotsky, was
arrested in January, 1935, and kept in jail ever since.(61) Sergei, now
twenty-nine years old, failed to find interest in politics. His only
interest was mathe\m'atics and engineering, the two subjects, which
he taught up to h:s arrest in one of the Colleges of the U.S.S.R.
Sergei's interest in engineering prompted him to remain in Russia,
and separate himself from his family when in 1929, his father was
deported to Turkey.

For those of the "faithful" who fail to see the real purpose of
the trial of the Old Bolsheviks, the Soviet government gave clear
proof of her real intentions to destroy Trotsky when she demanded
from Norway the latter's expulsion. On August 29th, the Soviet
Union pesented to the Norwegian government a request that it
expel Leon Trotsky, former War Commissar of the USSR, declar­
ing it proven, that he had plotted from exile there, a series of ter­
roristic acts against the head of the Soviet state. The Soviet re­
quest became almost threatening when it stated that:

"It bringing this to the notice of the Norwegian government,
the Soviet government believes that the further granting of

(60) Pravda, September, 1936.
(61) Letter of Nathalie Y. Trotsky (mother of Sergei), New Militant, June 29, 1935.
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refuge to Trotsky, an organizer of terroristic activities, may
harm the existing friendly relations between the USSR and
Norway, and that it would contradict the accepted understanding
of internationaJ. principles."(62)

Apparently the interpretation of the international principles,
concerning the right of asylum, is not quite the same in Norway
and in other parts of the world, as in the USSR. Such a difference
of opinion was expressed by Norwegian premier Nygaardsvold.
who, with reference to the Soviet demand, says:

"It is beyond my comprehension how anybody could argue in
the way Russia does."

Norway's foreign ,minister, Halvdan Koht, was even more emphatic
in his declaration: I

"The principle of asylum will be maintained by the present
government in Norway. We will not let ourselves be subdued
in such matters by anyone."

(As a matter of fact, Norway, under the pressure exerted by the
Soviet government from without, and by the conservative and
fascist elements within, becam,:e "'somewhat subdued" because she
later ordered the interment of Trotsky, which amounts 'to virtual
imprisonment. )

The bureaucracy of Russia finds strange bedfellows in demand­
ing, together with the conservatives of Norw,ay, the expulsion of
Trotsky. Even though such a meeting of the minds of the So­
viet government and of the conservatives, knowing the motives of
the trial of Moscow, must be considered logical, nevertheless, the
organ of the Norwegian Labor Party finds it bewildering:

"It is -strange to find! Norwegian conservatism in close coopera­
tion with Moscow Communists in demanding the removal of
Leon Trotsky. The whole afflair is au ,abominable attack on
asylum rights. If it is asserted that the granting of asylum
to a political refugee endangers friendly relations between
countries, the principle of asylum is reduced to an absurdity.
Even though Trotsky is guilty of the Soviet chaiI"ges, ;he still is
a poHtical refugee justified in enjoying asylum. Norway, 8J free
country, upholds asylum ~ghts."(63)

While speaking of "strange things," one is struck by a further
portion of the Moscow note to Norway, which recalls the Declaration
in the Council of the League of Nations, following the assassination
of King Alexander of Yugo-Slavia and Louis Barthou, French for­
eign minister, in October, 1934. The Declaration provides that mem­
bers of the League should assist each other against terrorists and
lays the foundation of a convention against the harboring of ter-

(62) Soviet note to Norway, August 29. 1936.
(63) Arbeiterbladet, Oslo, August 31, 1936.
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rorists. One cannot fail to wonder why Liivinov, himself a former
refugee from czarist Russia, was the first to support such a con­
vention of the League of Nations. Is it possible that the bureau­
cracy of Russia already in October, 1934 was preparing the stage
on which to "try" Trotsky and thus bring about his expulsion from
Norway, or from any country where he may find asylum?

It is strange that a reactionary bourgeois newspaper, the
Chicago Daily News should remind the Soviet government that the
maintenance of the principle of asylum is "a streak of decency" still
to be seen in the world. It is strange that the revolutionary gov­
ernment of Russia can be compared, by a bourgeois paper, with
the government of the Czar:

"The Russian Bear, now Bolshevik but having the same inter­
national habits as under the Czar is growling outside the door
of Leon Trotsky's refugee home in Norway. The Soviet demand
that this 'man without a country' be driven out of that
country. Well, Trotsky is used to that...... when the police
,agents of Czard:om chased him all over the world .
Occasionally politicians and rulers give rein to their passions
and, yielding to the dictates of demagogy, attack the right of
beaten men to s'anctuary abroad. . .. Mr. Trotsky, it seems safe
to say, will remain in Norway until he decides to leave volun­
tarily. It may be true that the world has -gone 'nuts' but not
quite so 'nutty' as to scrap the rights of asylum."(M)

The Soviet government having been reminded by an over­
whelming number of individuals and newspaper protests that she,
in demanding from Norway the abrogation of Trotsky's right to
:asylum, apparently forgot that there should be left at least '~a"

streak of decency" even in politics, dropped her demand for
Trotsky's expulsion. But it is strange, nevertheless, that the revo­
lutionary government of Russia and the mouth-piece of the Third
International in Norway, the Arbeideren found other strange bed­
fellows in the Norwegian Fascists. The slanders and calumnies
spread against Trotsky are repeated word for word by the Arbeideren
(organ of the Communist Party of Norway) and by the Fritt-Folk
(organ of the Norwegian fascists). The articles appearing in the
communist and in the fascist press are so similar that attorney
Puntervold, representing Trotsky, in filing his fibel suits against the
Arbeideren and the Fritt-Folk, was able to word both complaints as
one. It was declared that the purpose of the libel suits was to give
Trotsky an opportunity, before the Norwegian court, to force
his slanderers to present whatever proof they may, or may not, have
had concerning h.is terroristic activities. (Latest reports from

(M) Chicago DaUy New.. September 3. 1936.
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Norway indicate that the government, apparently under the, pre's­
sure of Russia, forbade Trotsky to prosecute his suits. Thtis
Trotsky's demand for the sifting of the charges against him
before an impartial board was made impossible, at least for the
present.)

If the purpose of the trial had been the punishing of the con­
spirators, then the shooting of Zinoviev and the others should have
put an end to the affair. But not so! Following the trial, thousands
of "Trotskyists" were removed from their party positions, arrested
and were sent to exile in Siberia and to the various jails of Russia.
The newspaper campaign, begun against the "handful of Trotsky­
ists" before the August Trial, went on with increased fury.

The organ of the Executive Commiitte of the Communist In­
ternational (XIIl', 1246-1261), in discussing the trial, speaks of a
"bloc from Hitler to Trotsky-Zinoviev" (it does not, by necessity,
mention the Norwegian fascist paper, Fritt-Folk; this paper being
in a bloc with the Norwegian Communists in their abuse of
Trotsky). Even though many of the Trotskyists were expelled'
from the Communist parties of the world for no other reason than
because they demanded the formation of a United Front with the
Social Democratic Party of Germany before the advent of Hitler,
now the Communist International dares to write: '"At the time
when everything speaks in favor of the policy of the United
Front. " Trotky opposes the policy of the United Front, distort::;
facts and casts mud at the leaders and supporters of the policy of
the People's Front." (65) One wonders at the audacity with which
the position of the Left Opposition concerning the United Front is
being misrepresented. One wonders at the ignorance of the per­
sons for whom the article in the Communist International is written;
the ignorance of those to whom the "United Front" and the
"Peoples Front" appear to be interchangeable, as 111 the article
referred to. .

One wonders whether or not those members of the Communist
parties, who actually read the article in the Communist International,
understand and believe the incoherent slur directed against the
Trotskyists:

"In Spain, as in the Soviet Union, the foul activity of the Trot­
skyists and the Gestapo are directly interwoven. T,he agents>
of Hitler's secret police prepared: the Spanish f8lScists for the
struggle against the Republic long before the military revolt
broke out. And here the Gestapo made use of the activity of
the Trotskyists." (66)

(65) CoMmunist International, New York, Xli, 1259. (66) Ibid
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The statement above follows no proof on which to base such
a grave accusation. In absence of proof, the article as a whole
appears as the raving of a maniac. Even a maniac, however, may
have a lucid interval, and so has the editorial writer of the
Communist International when he discusses,the purpose of the trial.
He states it succinctly: ''Trotskyism must be liquidiated."(67)

The magazine just quoted from counts on the ignorance of its
readers, when it attempts to show that the teachings of Trotsky
brought the French Com.munist Doriot into the camp of fascism.
The fact is that Doriot was never a member of the Opposition, but
to the contrary, was a rabid anti-Trotskyist. Such an attempted
falsification is made though it is well-known that Doriot stepped
into the fascist camp directly from the m~'mbership in the Central
Committee of the French Communist Party (Stalinist). It seems
that distortion and falsification are the only means available to
bolster up the tottering structure of Stalin's "revolutionary theory."
The Communist International (Third) thinks that falsifications
will sometimes do in place of facts; more often, however, they do
not because facts and truth have an obstinate habit-they "will
out."

No article written by any supporter of the official policy of
the Third International seems to be complete unless it tells the
Second International where to get off. So,. the editorial of the
Communist International concludes:

"Shameful is the behavior of W. Citrine, F. Adler, etc. To de­
fend the Trotskyite terrorists means to help fascism;. (Emp:hasis
in the· original) Only such a conclusion follows from the be­
havior of these people of the Second InternationaJ." (68)

The real /man, however, to discuss the Second International is
Georgi Dimitroff, the secretary of the Third International, and he
does so in every organ of the lnternational and in the papers of
the national sections. Dimitroff discussed the trial with the vehe­
mence of one possessed by it. In an article entitled '"To Protect
Terrorists It To Help Fascism," Dimitroff writes:

"It is impossible to read without a feeling of deepest indigna­
tion the telegram sent in such a haste to the Soviet government
regarding the trial of the terrorist Trotsky-Zinoviev Center,
by the official representatives of the Labor and Socialist Inter­
national and the InternationaJ Federation of Trade Unions,
signed by DeBrouckere, Adler, Citrine and Schevenels." (69)

Dimitroff is deeply indignant, because:
"If the proletarian court in the Soviet Union brought down the

sword of punishment on saboteurs who scattered glass-splinters

(67) Ibid (68) Ibid, p. 1261 (69) Ibid, p. 1243
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in the workers' food, poisoned collective farm cattle, spoiled
machines, or if the court took action against spies and military
saboteurs, agents of f~scism who destroyed railway tracks,
and caused explosions, every time such incident occurre~ such
reactionary leaders as Citrine and Adler interceded for and
came forward to pro.tect this counter-revolutionary gang of
ruffians." (70)

:After reading Dimitroff's statement, one- must ask whether it
is just imagination or based on facts; whether it is nothing but the
maniacal raving of one wpo has no factual arguments to rely upon,
or the bitter truth. If it is the truth,. how in the name of common
sense can the Third International (Secretary Dimitroff) expect
to work within the Peoples Front with persons like Citrine and
Adler?' There is no escape from the dile~ma, unless one assumes
that Dimitroff does not believe a word of what he writes, that his
writing is nothing but window dressing to blind the "faithful."

Dimitroff himself senses the discord between his present article
against the leaders of the Second International and the official
policy towards Peoples Fronts. H;e opines that Citrine, Adler, etc.:

"Try to create the impression that the trial of the counter­
revolutionaries in the Soviet Union endangers the realization
of the proletarian solidarity with the Spanish People." (71) .

This impression apparently obtains with thousands of workers
throughout the world; the same impression is given expression in
many hundreds of resolutios adapted by workers' organizations in
Spain, France, England, the United States. Dimitroff, however,
knows better; he simply says: "But that is an obvious lie." (72)

The national organs of the Third International do nothing but
repeat the slanderous statements made in the Russian press against
the Trotskyists. There are, however, some which. offer something
new and thus worth quoting. P. Lang's masterly thesis on "The
Trotsky-Zinoviev Assassins Before the Bar of· the Working Class"
contains some real stuff, some real charges not only against the
Trotskyists but also against. the Second International. (Is there
any proof? No! Proof is not necessary if the accusations are p~e­

sented before the "faithful.") Lang asks and answ,ers the question
why there were no outside attorneys present to defend Zinoviev,
et al. He recalls the trial of the Social Revolutionaries charged
with the murder of Uritsky and Volodarsky and with the attempt
upon the life of Lenin. The Soviet government (that was while
Lenin still was alive and Trotsky, a member of the Council of
Commissars) invited representatives of the Socialist Interna-

(70) Ibid (71) Ibid, p. 1245 (72) Ibid
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tional to defend the accused. The invitation was accepted and
attorneys Vandervelde, Rosenfeld and Liebknecht (Theodore, the
brother of Karl) represented the defendants. Not a word has
been heard since the trial either against the Soviet government, or
against the Socialist International, or the representative lawyers,
until now when Lang lets us in on his secret:

"When Vanderveld'e, ° Rosenfeld lllnd! Theodore Liebknecht took
their places as official defense counsel, they did not set them­
selves the task of helping to find out the truth about the act­
ivity of their clients but did everything possible to obscure the
truth." (73)

Lang's article is reprinted in the International Press Correspon­
dence(74) under the title "Against the Trotskyist Counter-Revolu­
tionary Plotters. There l's No F:lace for Fascist Murderes on Soviet
Soil." The reprint contains the charges against Vandervelde, Ro­
senfeld and Liebknecht. Since the !l1;!Jernational Press Correspondence
is printed in many languages and issued in many countries, it is
possible that Dr. Kurt Rosenfeld (one of the attorneys referred to
by Lang) may get to see the article. While going from one meet­
ing to another to speak for one or the other Communist controlled
Leagues, Rosenfeld m'ay speculate about the United Front as it is
meant by the Communist Party and by the Third International.
The meaning must be clear if the stat~ments of Lang and Dimitroff
have any meaning at all, i.e., Trotsky and Trotskyism must be
discredited by hook or crook, and anyone who refuses to join in
the campaign of slander and misrepresentation against Trotskyism
will himself be slandered and defamed. So, take your choice! That
choose one must, seems to be the decision of those who are in
control of the powerful propaganda machinery of the Third In­
ternational.

F. The Spanish Rebelllion of July and the Moscow Trial
of August, 1936.

At first it would appear that Spain and Russia, as the common
subjects of the analysis of the trial, are too far apart. It would also
seem that the Franco rebellion of Spain hardly could have anyth­
ing in common with the trial of the Old Bolsheviks in Russia.
There are, nevertheless, certain factors which point to the fact
that the Fraonco rebellion, while it did not bring about the trial,
did determine its date.

Let ous recall a number of the late happenings in Europe, then

(73) The Communiat, New York, XV. 953­
(74) New York. XVI, 1156-1160.
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consider them in the light of the facts generally known and ac­
cepted as facts concerning Russia.

Generals Franco and Mola elmbarked upon their adventure to
make Spain safe for further exploitation by the q~adrumvirate,

army, church, landlord and industrialist, on the 18th of July, 1936.
Within three days, the Communist press of the world, proudly­
and justifiably so-reported about the spontaneous demonstrations
all over Russia; about the proletariat of that country offering its
whole-hearted support to the embattled workers of Spain. Collec­
tions of money in the Russian factories, communal-farms, etc, be­
nefitted the Spanish fighters to the extent of twelve million rubles.
Money collections and sympathy messages did not exhaust the
Russian workers; they also demanded the sending of arms and
ammunition to Spain. Since in Russia no unauthorized demonstra­
tions or unapproved money collections can take place, it is obvious
that the first and "spontaneous" expressions coming from the
workers must have been met with the tacit, if not with the open
approval of and sponsoring by the Soviet government. Suddenly,
and towards the end of July, the "spontaneous" demonstrations of
the Russian workers ceased. The Communist press of the world,
generally uninformed, but for the official material dished out to
them from Moscow, was unable to explain the "spontaneous" ab­
sence of the Russian demonstrations. For lack of news, the Com­
munist press felt itself constrained to repeat the old stories over
and over again. During the last week of July;, and early August,
the readers of the Communist press were informed about a dozen
times that the toilers of the Workers' Fatherland had collected
twelve million rubles in support of the workers.(75) (Incidentally,
this sum was transmItted by the Soviet government not to the
fighting organizations of the Spanish workers, not to the syndicalist
or socialist trade unions, not even to the Communist Party, but to
the governm.ent of the self-same Azafia who, as late as June, 1936
and against the opposition of the labor organizations, reappointed
Generals Mola and Franco to their respective high commands.)

What really happened was never a secret to anyone but to
the Communist press. The British government decided to follow
a strict neutrality towards the Spanish situation, but, as is tradi­
tional with that government, it further decided to have some other
power present a proposal incorporating the British position. The
French Popular Front government of Leon Blum was inspired
by London, and surprised the world by offering the Neutrality

(75) L'Humanite, Paris; Dlaily Worker, New York; Arbelderen, Oslo; Der Kampfer, Zurich; etc:.
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Pact of July, 1936, into which Great Britain and Russia joined
without delay. The pact incorporated a novel idea, sOiIl1ewhat as
follows: The Spanish government is a constitutionally elected
body; elected by the overwhelming majority of the voters as late
as February of this year. The generals attacking this government
represent but a small fraction of the people, but they have the
sympathy of the fascist countries, Italy, Germany and Portugal.
"Ve know that the tenets of the Internationa1 Law provide that in
case a legally established government (as of Madrid) is attacked
by a rebellious group, it is to be conSidered an "unfriendly act" on
the part of any other government should it refuse to sell arms and
ammunition to the lawfully elected government. According to the
same laws, it is not less an "unfriendly act" if ap:y government
should sell war supplies to the rebellious forces making war on the
legally established government of their country.

People who are less sophisticated than the governments of
England, France and Russia would think that the latter governing
bodies would, in accordance with the laws a;mong the nations,
supply all the needed war materials to the attacked government
of Spain, and simultaneously would make an honest attempt to
prevent gun-running to the rebellious generals. However, nothing
as logical as that occurred: to the contrary, Great Britain, France
and Russia, calling themselves the "peace-loving nations," assumed
that Italy, Germany and Portugal (designated the "war-loving na­
tions") might resent their acting in accordance with the Interna­
tional Law. To avoid the displeasure of. Hitler and Mussolini, the
peaceful natiOlIlS, i.e. Great Britain, France and Russia, themselves
became violators of the law and proposed the Neutrality Pact.
This pact in effect stated to Hjtler and Mussolini: Boys! 1'£ you
promise not to do that which you are forbidden to do anyway
(mpplying arms to the rebels), then we shall refuse to do our duty
(supplying the legal government of Spain with war materials).
Hitler and Mussolini were taken by surprise when they heard about
this new interpretation of the International Law, hesitated for a
while, wondering where the catch to it was, but then concurred.
They concurred, because the pact represented to them just one
more "scrap of paper," to be repudiated at w.ill.

The offering of the Neutrality Pact to Hitler and Mussolini
must have convinced them, if that was necessary after the shame­
ful attitude of Great Britain, France and Russia towards the
Ethiopian rape perpetrated by Italy, that they had nothing to fear
as far as the "peaceful nations" of Europe were concerned. One
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can even trace the bold and defiant attitude of Hitler and Mussolini
to the presentation of the Neutrality Pact. While Great Britain,
France and Russia(76) scrupulously adhered to the Pact, Hitler and
Mussolini openly and effectively supplied General Franco with the
most modern implements of war.

The Russian workers were awaiting the time when their revo­
lutionary government would declare itself in support of the sorely
beset Spanish workers. The Russian proletariat, correctly consi­
deing itself the carrier of the revolutionary tradition of 1917, could
not but demand its government's intervention against the Spanish
counter-revolution. The Soviet government, on the other hand,
was tied to the policy of the status quo. It was engaged in the
maintenance of the Neutrality Pact; therefore no popular demon­
strations in favor of Spanish were to be pennitted. That is the
reason for the sudden lack of news frOm Russia (which lack of
news was naturally incomprehensible to and unexplainable by the
official communist press).

The Russian workers, be it said to their credit, failed to see
the high-falutin ramifications of Stalin's latest theory concerning
"good" and "bad imperialist nations." This new theory maintains
that there are good or peaceful, and bad or warlike nations. The
first includes Britain, France and Czecho-Slovakia, the latter, Ger­
many, Italy and Japan. The theory then concludes that the duty
of the proletarian state is to ally itself with the peaceful nations
against the second group. (The old-fashioned Marxian theory that
war is engendered not by war-like' nations but by capitalism itself
is, by all the signs of the theory of Stalin, not applicable anymore,
at least not in Russia.) The honest revolutionary demand of the
Russian workers for a support of the Spanish victims of fascist
aggression could not be suppressed without increasing the already
existing opposition to the internal and external policies of the
Soviet government. The newly engendered opposition, however,
could not be eliminated by the old methods of slander and calumny,
because the opposition was created by the attempt to eliminate
an obviously revolutionary demand of the masses itself, while pre­
vious oppositions were the result of disagreement concerning more
or less abstract theoretical questions. To get rid of the opposition
of the workers, which opposition the Soviet Government feared
might find leadership in the exiled or imprisoned members of the
earlier opposition to Stalin's policies, new methods and slogans

(76) Russia's first arms supply was reported on September 24, 1936. See announcem~nt of
the London Neutrality Committee.
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were to be found. The new, slogans were to discredit any possible
opposition, and Were at the same time to distract the attention of
the masses from their demands concerning Spain. The slogans
were to be not only dem;agogic but were to incite mass-hysteria.
When this conclusion was arrived at, the finding of the proper
slogan was child's play. It.is known from times iJmmemorial that
the cry about "'the counrty in danger," "the enemy from within and
from without is threatening the national existence" will bring
about just that kind of mob psychosis which displaces all other
sentiment and supersedes any and all thought. Just such a cry
was raised in the form of the trial. The· accused were charged
with having conspired with the country's enemy, (the traditional
fascists) to bring about the destruction of the Fatherland. The
defendants were presented as the pernicious enemies of the people,
having planned to destroy the "Peoples own Tribune," i.e., the
"beloved leader". Stalin. The old-fashioned slogan worked, and
worked well as it has innumerable times before in history. The
clamor for the open support for Spain died down since it was op­
posed to the policy of the government and every opposition was
considered to be in support of the enemies of the Fatherland. The
opposition became inarticulate, since opposition to the govern­
ment in any form was considered conspiracy with those who were
to 'murder the people's own "leader."

While the communist press fell for the blood-curdling stories
preceding the trial as emanating from Russia, some of the bour­
geois correspondents caught, if not the whole, at least some of the
significance of the trial and of the slogan raised by the Soviet
governm'ent. In discussing the motives for the trial, the Manchester
Guardian writes:

"On can look for their explaI1Jlltion not in any desire for justice
but in the shift of state's policy and the need of internal di­
version. In this case it is the familiar cry, the state in danger,
the beloved leader's life hazarded, a foreign power fomenting
assasshlJation." (77)

Yes, there was a need, a great need at that, for internal diver­
sion. The need for internal diversion in July and August, 1936
explains many things heretofore incomprehensible. It explains
how it came about that no one heard about the now executed Old
Bolsheviks' great crime against the nation before the end of July,
1936. The need for internal diversion explains why it was that
Smirnov, though in jail since January 1, 1933, never was tried, not
even accused of any crim~ before August, 1936. The same need

(77) Manchester Guardian Weekly, August 21, 1936.
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for internal diversion and the urgent need for a bloody, hysterical
slogan explains the incredible charge that the Old Bolsheviks plot­
ted with the Nazis (the eternal and traditional enemy of the Father­
land); that they were plotting assassinations. (The traditional
foreign enemy is here again at w,ork of destroying the Fatherland;
making preparations for it by destroying the "People's Tribune"
who alone stands between the ene\my and the Fatherland.)

Zinoviev, in his jail, likely did not learn about the Spanish
rebellion and may have died without knowing the name of General
Franco, who, however circuitously, in a positive manner brought
about the trial and execution of the Old Bolsheviks.

Knowing something about the workings of the minds of the
"faithful," one may expect a two-fold objection to the analysis pf
Stalin's status quo policy. The first is: "Russia was forced by
Leon Blum of France to adhere to the Neutrality Pact." This
answer may be instantly negated because the present analysis is
not concerned with anything but with the tracing of the policies
of the Third International and of the Communist Party of Russia,
both dominated by Stalin's theories and tactics, which policies cul­
minated in th~ trial of the Bolsheviks. Furthermore, a "faithful"
must not expect anything but an incorrect policy from Leon Blum,
who just a short time ago was classified as a '"social-fascist." If
Stalin, characterizing the leadership of the Social Democracy, and
with it Leon Blum, as the "twin brothers of fascism," believes
his oft repeated characterization, then he must have been prepared
to see the "social-fascists" embarking upon a path which would
lead to the strenghtening of fascism itself, which path Stalin never
was to follow.

The second objection is that Russia at the present supports
the Loyalist forces of Spain by a considerable supply of arms and
ammunitions. This fact could not disprove; to the contrary, it
proves the allegation that the neutrality policy in the beginning
was incorrect, harmful and treacherous against the workers of
Spain. In any case, it was not before October 7th and thereafter
that Russia woke up to the fact that the Neutrality Pact is "an
em'pty torn scrap of paper." It was not before October 23rd when
Russia proclaimed its right to extend aid to the Madrid govern­
ment to the same extent to which the fascist states of Germany
and Italy were aiding the rebels.(78) As a matter of fact, Ambas­
sador Maisky confessed in his statement that Russia knew about
the fascist states' arm-running to the rebels during the life of the

(78) Ambassador Maisky's statement to the London Neutrality Committee, October 23, 1938.
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Neutrality Pact; "the time which has elapsed has shown that the
agreCJment is being systematically violated by a Dumber of partici­
pants and that the supply of arms to the rebels goes on unpu­
nished." (79)

The change in Russia's policy concerning the help to Loyalist
Spain shows that every step taken by Russia is determined by the
status quo. Adherence to the Neutrality Pact was in the interest
of the status quo. The threat to )Jolt the pact was again in the in­
terest of the status quo, because the threat was made after it be­
came obvious, even to the Russian diplomatists, that the pact it­
self endangered the status quo, since Bitler and Mussolini were
using the opportunity to obtain territorial gains; Hitler in Ceuta
and Mussolini in the Ballearics. When it became clear that the
status quo was endangered in spite of or because of the Neutrality
Pact, when it became public that Franco was ready to barter parts
of Spain for the fascist stat~s' support, then and only then occurred
the change in the policy of Russia. It is common knowledge that
Russia's changed attitude was preceded by changed opinion in
England, the latter country slowly realizing the danger inherent
in a fascist alliance in the Mediterranean as far as the '"life line"
of the Empire to India was concerned.

The change in policy occurred only after the workers of France
went on strike not for better working conditions, not for higher
wages, but for "planes for Spain." It is not unlikely that the revo­
lutionary workers of Russia were chafing under the prohibition to
raise their cry "arms and planes for Spain." Their cry may have
been suppressed, but their feelings could not be suppressed; and
this fact was one of the factors which changed Russia's policy to­
ward Spain.

(79) Ibid.



VIII. THE ACCUSED

T o SEE THE CHARGES presented by the indictment in their
proper light, it is necessary to know the historical past of
the accused, or at least of those of the sixteen whose lives

were intimately connected with .the labor movement in general and
with the Soviet government in particular. It also appears necessary
to identify some of the persons implicated by the "confessions"
of the accused.

Among the accused are:
, 1. Zinoviev, often referred to as the first understudy of Lenin.

This designation was given to him because of the close collabora­
tion-literary and political-between Lenin and Zinoviev during
the period of their exile. In addition to writing a great number
of articles with the open approval of Lenin and presented to party
congresses, Zinoviev cooperated with Lenin in editing the Vorbote,
published in Zurich at the address of Fritz Platten in 1916. The
collected articles of N. Lenin and G. Zinoviev for the years 1914­
1916 were published by the Communist International in 1921 under
the title Gegen den Strom. The book Socialism. and War by GJ. Zino­
viev and V. 1. Lenin appeared in many editions sponsored by the
Communist International and by the national affiliates and was
used as a text-book for "Workers' Schools" abroad and in this
country. One edition, as Volume III of the Little Lenin Library,
was brought on the market by the International Publishers in
New York in 1931 and was reprinted in 1933.

What Lenin, whose greatest disciple Stalin claims to be,
thought of Zinoviev not as a man, but as a revolutionary may be
seen from the "Minutes of the First Congress of the Communist
International" held in Moscow from the 2nd to the 19th of March,
1919. The Imeeting having been opened by Lenin and a presidium
elected, reports Were presented by Albert and Bucharin, Lenin and
Rabja, Platten and Zinoviev, Obolensky, Trotsky and Sirola. (A
careful check-up' fails to disclose the names of Stalin's present co­
workers either as reporters on any subject or a delegates.) During
the preliminary discussion, a statement on behalf of the Zimmer­
walder Left was delivered and signed by Zinoviev, L. Trotsky, C.

- 150-
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Rakovaky, F. Platten and N. Lenin. (After reading those names,
one wonders where these men are.) On the 4th of March, 1919, a
'~Manifesto of the Communist International to the Workers of the
World" was presented by L. Trotsky, and then the Program of the
Communist International was brought before the delegates. During
these discussions, Lenin introduced Zinoviev as the representative
of Russia to report concerning the Communist Party of Russia,
to which was added a further report by L. Trotsky concerning the
situation jn and about the Red Army. (It almost stuns one to find
that among the delegates of the Communist Party of Russia there
was only one, Stalin, who was not called to report on any point of
the agenda. The work was taken over in its entirety by the other
delegates, Lenin, Trotsky, Zinoviev, Bucharin,. Tchitcherin and
Obolenski.) After Lenin presented his basic thesis to the congress,
a motion was made to found the Third International. The Zimmer­
,,,,'alder Left, represented by Balabanoff, Rakovsky, Platten, Lenin,
Trotsky and Zinoviev, was declared as dissolved and the Communist
International, with an Executive Committee representing Russia,
Germany, Austria, Hungary, Balkan Confederation, Switzerland
and the Scandinavian countries, was founded. The Executive Com"
mittee elected as its president G. Zinoviev, a:nd as its secretary,
K. Radek.

The Second Congress of the Communist International was
opened on the 19th day of July, 1920, by no one else but G. Zino­
viev and proceeded to the election of the presidium. The Executive
Committee, represented by N. Bucharin, proposed the two Russian
representatives, N. Lenin and G. Zinoviev. The report of the Second
Congress extending over seven hundred ninety pages shows among
the Russian delegates the names of Bucharin, Lenin, Radek, Rud­
sutak, Rakovsky, Rykov, Safarov, Serebrjakow, Zinoviev, Sok()llni·
kov, Tomski and Trotsky. (Stalin's name appears neither as a
delegate of Georgia, nor as that of Russia.) The only name now
connected with the USSR Was that of delegate Manuilski, who,
however, did not appear among those participating in any discussion.

The Third Congress of the Communist International was opened
on the 22nd of June, 1921 and again presided over by the self-same
Zinoviev, who together with Bucharin, Kolontai, Lenin, Radek,
Rakovsky, Trotsky, represented the Russian section of the Com­
munist International.

Zinoviev was formerly a member of the Central Committee
and the Political Bureau of the Communist Party of Russia and
Chairman of the Leningrad Soviet, who when executed by the Soviet
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government at the age of fifty-two had spent thirty-five years of
his life with the Bolshevik party.

12. Kamenev was executed at the age of fifty-two by the
Soviet government in 1936 as a counter-revolutionary fascist, after
having been a member of the Bolshevik party for over thirty years,
one of Lenin's co-workers, cooperating with him as the vice-chair­
man of the Council of the People's Commissars of Russia, mem­
ber of the Central Committee and of the Political Bureau, chair­
man of the Council of Labor and Defense in the early days of the
revolution, also chairman of the Moscow Soviet. As late as 1934,
he was the head of the Academia Publishing House in Russia and
as such was referred to as the "Literary Heir of Lenin's Work."

(Both Zinoviev and Kamenev, during the final illness and
after the death of Lenin and after the relegation of Trotsky to an
administrative position, became members of the triumvirate com­
posed of Stalin, Zinoviev and Kamenev, responsible for the policies
of the Communist International and the Communist Party of Rus­
sia during the period of 1923-1925.)

4. Evdokimov, executed at the age of fifty-two, was one of
the leaders of the revolution of 1917 and for decades a leader of
the Bolshevik party into which he grew from the ranks of common
labor. He was a member of the Central Committee and of the
Organization Bureau of the Communist Party of Russia, a leading
member of the Leningrad Soviet, who spoke on behalf of the Lenin­
grad organization at Lenin's funeral.

5. 'Bakayev, was shot at the age of forty-nine as a counter­
revolutionary after he had become famous as the most daring of
workers's military men in the fight against the white generals.
For decades he had been a member of the Bolshevik party, a mem­
ber of the Central Control Commission of the party, a member of
the Leningrad Soviet.

6. Mrachkovsky was shot at the age of fifty-three after, as
an Old Bolshevik, he had led the troups defending Siberia and the
Far East against the counter-revolutionary White troups. Mrach­
kovsky was "an old revolutionary and one of the finest commanders
in the civil war."(1)

7. Ter-Vaganyan was executed at the age of forty-three as a
fascist terrorist after having been the leader of the Armenian
(Russian) Communist Party since the October Revolution. The
executed was considered one of the outstanding Marxists; he edited
the Armenian Marxist Review "Under the Banner of Marxism."

(1) L. Trotsky, "My Life," p. 54 - C. Scribner, June. 1931



THE ACCUSED 153

These seven are among the sixteen accused in the indictment
as being members of a bloc of counter-revolutionary terrorist gang
of assassins who strove to seize power in the country by any means
whatever. These seven are among the men who were accused and
characterized by the State's Attorney as "representatives" of the
vanguard of an international counter-revolution."(2) They are ac­
cused of having issued the slogan "kill" and thereupon and upon
their responsibility "the underground machinery begins to work,
knives are sharpened, revolvers are loaded, bombs are charged, false
documents are written and fabricated, secret connections 'are
established with the German Political Police, people are sent to
their posts, they engage in revolver practice and finally they shoot
and kill." (3) The Italian proverb says "Se non e vero, ben trovato,"
but Mr. State's Attoney, your story is not even well made up.

* * * *
The characterization of those accused would not be complete

if Leon Tortsky, the chief accused were left unmentioned. It is
not necessary to deal with his person and with his activities at
length, since those are things that are well known. However, it
appears necessary to point out briefly Trotsky's position as to
terrorism, the defense of the Soviet Union and the present Soviet
leadership. That Trotsky was considered a leader of the revolu­
tionary movement even by his political antagonists is testified to
by M. J. Olgin, the present editor of one of the official communist
dailies in the United States, who published Trotsky's collected
essays.. In the ,preface to the collection Olgin writes:

"We have selected L. Trotsky's contribution to revolutionary
thought, not because he is' now in the lime-light of history,
but because his conceptions represent a very definite, clear-cut
and intrinsically consistent trend of revolutionary thought, quite
apart from that of other leaders."(4)

\As to terrorism, Trotsky once wrote some thirty-five years ago:
"Whether or not the terrorist act, even if 'successful,' throws thel
ruling circles into turmoil, depends upon the concrete politicaJ
circumstanceS'. In any case such turmoil can only be of short
duration; the capitalist state is not founded upon ministers and
cannot be destroyed with them. The classes it serves will always
find new men, the mechanism remains whole and continues
its work.
"But the turmoil which the terrorilrt act introduces into the
ranks of the toiling masses themselves is faJr more profound.
If it is enough to arm oneself with a revolver to reach the goal,
what need is there for the strivings of the class struggle?

(2) Report of Court Proceedings, etc., p. 163
(3) Ibid, pp. 129, 130.
(4) M. ]. Olgin,' Preface to "Our Revolution," by L. Trotzy, February 16, 1919.
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If people in high positions can be intimidated by the noiS'e of
an explosion, what need is there then for a party? "(5)

During his early polemics with the Social-Revolutionaries,
Trotsky expressed the same thought:

"Arguments about the use of terrorist methods began. After
individual vacillations, the Marxist section of the exiled went on
record against terrorism. The chemistry of the high explosive
cannot take the place of mass action, we s'aid. Individ'uals may
be destroyed in a heroic struggle, but that will not rouse the
working class to action. Our task is not the assalssination of
the Czar's ministers, but the revolutionary overthrow of Czarism.
ThiS' is where the line was drawn between the Social Demo­
,crats a,nd the Socialist-Revolutionists." (6)

Concerning the defense of the Soviet Union and the present
leadership, Trotsky consistently :maintained that in spite, of the pre­
aent incorrect policy of the leadersh.ip in Russia, revolutionaries
aU over the world have no more impo'rlaint task than the defense
of the Workers' State. Trotsky broke with the opposition group
of Urbans, which considered the Soviet Union, at the present, a form
of state capitalism. 'Trotsky disagreed with this analysis and
answered it as follows:

"The privileges of the bureaucracy by themselves do not change
the bases of the Soviet society, because the bureaucracy derives
its privileges not from any special property relations, peculiar
to it as a 'class,' but from those property relations which have
been created by the October revolution, and which are fun­
damentally adequate for the dictatorship of the prole1airiat .... (7)

"The theories of reformism, in so far as reformism generally
has attained to theory, are always based upon t.he inability to
understand that class antagonisms are profound and irrecon­
cilable; hence the perspective of a peaceful transformation of':
capitaliS'm into socialism. The Marxian thesis relating to the
catastrophic character of the transfer of power from the halnds
of one class into the hands of another supplieS' not only to revolu­
tionary periods, when history madly sweeps ahead, but also to
the periods of counter-revolution when society rolls backwards.
He who asserts that the Soviet government has been gradually
changed from proletarian to bourgeois is only, so to speak,
running backwards the film or reformism.. '.. (8)

"The anatomy of society is determined by its economic relations.
So long as the forms of property that have been created by the
October revolution are not overthrown, the proletariat remains
the ruling class.... "(9)

(5)

(6)
(7)

(8)

L.Trotsky, "A Reply to Friends in America," The Kirov Assassination, Pioneer Publi­
shers, February, 1935.

L. Trots1<y, "My Life," Charles Scribner & Sons, N. Y., 1930.
L. Trotsky, "The Soviet Union and the Fourth International, The Class Nature of the
Soviet State." Pioneer Publishers, February, 1934, p. 20.

Ibid, p. 5 (9) Ibid, p. 7
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The bureaucracy may be burdensome to the Russian workers
and perhaps would have been eliminated:

" •....had the Western horizon flamed not with the brown color
~f Fascism but with the red of revolution. So long as this does
not happen, the proletariat with clenched teeth bears ('tolerates')
the bureaucracy, and in this, sense recognizes it as the bearer of
the proletarian dictatorship. In a heart to heart conversation,
no Soviet worker would be sparing of strong words addressed
to the Stalinist bureaucracy. But not a single One of them
would allow that the counter-revolution has already tlaken place.
The proletariat is the spine of the Soviet state. But in so far
as the function of governing is concentrated in the hands of
irresponsible bureaucracy, we have before us an obviously sick
state. Can it be cured? wm not further attempts at cures
mean a, fruitless expenditure of precious time? The question
is badly put. By cures we und~rstand not all sorts of artificial
measures separate and apart from the world revolutionary
movement but a further struggle under the banner of Marx­
ism. Merciless criticism of the Stalinist bureaucracy, training
the cadres of the New International, resurrecting the fighting
capacity of the world p·roletarian-vanguard-this is the essence
of the 'cure.' It coincides with the fundamental direc:tion of
histarical progress."(lO)

During his visit to Copenhagen in December, 1932, Trotsky
delivered a lecture "In Defense of the Russian Revolution." In this
speech, L. Trotsky made it clear that the great economic accomplish­
ment of the USSR came about in spite of the incorrect leadership,
because of the inherent constructive forces of the revolution of the
past fifteen years:

"Socialism is allowed by its enemies, that is, by the adherents
of ca,pitalism, only a decade and' a half to install Par,adise:
on earth with all modern improvements. No, such obligations
were never assumed by us. Such periods of time were never set
forth. The processes of great changes must be measured by
scales which are commensurate with them. I do not know if
the Socialist society will resemble the biblical Paradise. I doubt,
it. But in the Soviet Union there is no Socialism as yet. The
situation that prevails there is one of transition, full of con­
tradictions, burdened with the heavy inheritance of the past,
and in addition under the hostile pressure of the capitalistic
states. The October Revolution has proclaimed the principle
of the new society. The Soviet Republic has shown only the
first stage of its realization. Edison's first lamp was very
bad. We must know how to distinguish the future from among
the mistakes and faults of the first Socialist construction .... "(11)

" .... progress can be measured by the growth of the produc-
----
(10) Ibid, p. 8
(11) L. Trotsky, "In Defense of the Russian Revolution," Speech delivered at Cope.nhagen,

December, 1932, Pioneer Publishers, February, 1933,. p. 32.
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tivity of social labor. The evaluation of the October Revolu­
tion from this point of view is already given by experience.
The principle of socialistic. organization has for the first time
in history shown its ability to record unheard-of results in pro­
duction in a short space of time.
"The curve of the industrial development of Russia, expressed
in crude index numbers, is ... to say, three times as much as
'on the eve of the war.
"The picture becomeS' even more striking in the light of the in­
ternational index. From 1925 to 1932 the industrial production
of Germany has declined one and a half times, in America twice;
in the Soviet Union it has increased fourfold. These figures
speak for themselves."(12)

As to the defense of the Soviet Union, the Draft Theses Adopt­
ed by the Committee for the Fourth International, which Committee
is headed by Trotsky, speaks for itself:

"Defense of the Soviet Union from the blows of the capitalist
enemies, irrespective of the circumstances and immediate causes
of the conflict, is the elementary and imperative duty of every
honest labor organization."(13)

We quoted Trotsky, not, by any means, exhaustively, but, we
believe, sufficiently to counterpose his sayings and writings to the
incredible tales of a Berman-Yurin, Lurye, David, and Vyshinsky.

(12) Ibid, p. a
(13) "War and the Fourth International," Pioneer Publishers, July, 1934.



IX. SOME QUESTIONS WHICH CANNOT BE ANSWERED

BY THE "FAITHFUL"

T HIS ANALYSIS of the causes for and the motives of the trial
attempted, it is believed successfully, to answer many, if not
all, pertinent questions. There are, however, a great number

of questions which are to be put to those who maintain that the
trial of Zinoviev and Kamenev was a fair one, to those who declare
that the trial was not motivated by the desire to suppress a grow­
ing opposition in Russia.

The first of the questions to be answered is: Why is it that
Rykov, Bucharin and others who were implicated by the confessions
of the executed Old Bolsheviks were not tried but exonerated
upon a preliminary investigation? If the executed Old Bolsheviks
were convicted on their own testimony, then the conclusion is that
the testimonies were accepted as true. If this conclusion is correct,
then all their testimony must be so accepted. Nevertheless, that
part of the testimony which implicated Rykov and Bucharin was
disregarded, and therefore one may query: By what occult means
did the prosecution arrive at the line which separates the false from
the true testimony? There is a possible answer and that is, that
the Old Bolsheviks were convicted on their own confessions and
on the incriminating evidence supplied by· the other accused. This
statement, however, is only partly true, since Smirnov and Holtz­
man did not confess, but were, nevertheless, convicted because of
the evidence offered by the others. Furthermore, Radek and
Piatakov were implicated similarly to Rykov and Bucharin and
none of them confessed, but while the latter two were cleared of all
charges, the first tWlO were imprisoned and according to the latest
reports are to be tried. There is no answer to our questions, but
one, and that is, that only those of the Old Bolsheviks were to
pay the "supreme penalty" who were considered potentially danger­
ous to Stalin's leadership.

The second question requiring an answer is: What supreme
force compelled the USSR to stage the trial during the most critical
period of the Spanish civil war? The accused were in safe-keeping
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for many months. They were made harmless by their incarceration.
Nineteen months had already elapsed between the Kirov assassina­
tion and the trial; therefore a further delay of a few months (the
expected duration of the Spanish civil war) could not, by any
chance, have endangered the existence of the USSR. Even though
Dimitroff denies that the staging of the trial damaged the cause
of the "United Front;" the possibility of such damage is not ex­
cluded. Why then the staging of the trial in August, 1936? The
oBly possible answer is that the growing opposition to Stalin's
domestic and external policy might have, under certain circum­
stances, found leadership in some of the incarcerated members of
the Opposition. To prevent such a possibility, the jailed leaders
were to be doomed and eliminated by the firing squad. This use
of the firing-squad, after the spectacular trial, must have checked
any opposition from crystalizing, in spite of the opposition senti­
ment engendered by Stalin's neutrality policy toward Spain.

The third question refers to the incredible charge that the
Old Bolsheviks on trial were fascists engaged in activities to restore
capitalism in Russia. Assuming, but not for a moment admitting,
that this accusation is correct, then one is justified in ask~ng how
it is possible that Old Bolsheviks, living for seventeen years under
the aegis of Bolshevism, abandoned it in favor of fascism.. l's it
possible that they caJrne to the conclusion that Bolshevism is not
beneficial to the masses and that fascism is to be preferred? No one
would admit this as a correct answer, but there is a possibility of
asking further: Did Zinoviev, Kamenev, etc. turn not from Bol­
shevism, but from that brand which is known as "Stalinism" and
which is on the way to blossom out into national Bolshevism?

No, it is impossible for the "faithful" to answer these questions
satisfactorily. There Was no satisfactory answer at the time of
Kirov's assassination, and there is none now. On December 27,
1934, the Telegraphic Agency of the Soviet Union, reporting the
Kirov assassination, informed the world that there were fifteen
members of the old Zinoviev group under arrest. It was then
officially admitted that against seven of those arrested, among
them Zinoviev, Kamenev, Evdokimov, there was no proof that
they had had any connection with the murder. But, as Trotsky
points out,

"this admission is made in such a way that one can call it
nothing but brazen. The dispatch speaks of 'lack of proof'­
as if there could generally be any proof of an accusation in­
tentionally so false and improbable as this accusation by its
very essence. By making an artificial division into two groups
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of the Old Bolsheviks arrested in Moscow and by declaring tha.t
for one of them there are insufficient proofs, the Stalinist
clique seeks by this very thing to color its so-called investiga­
iton with a'tinge of objectivity.' (1)

Nevertheless, the charges were made; therefore, Trotsky asks:
"H<lW could it come to pass that at a time like this, after all the
economic successes, after the 'abolition'-according to officiaJ as­
surances-of classes in the USSR, and the 'construction' of the
socialist society-how could it come to pass that Old Bolshe­
viks, the most intimate collaborators of Lenin, those who shared
power with Stalin, members of the 'Old' Guard' could have posed
for their tas'k the restoration of capitalism? Do Zinoviev, Kame­
nev and the others consider that the socialist regime is no
boon to the masses? Or on the contrary, do they expect from
capitalism personal advantages both for themselves and their
descendants? And what sort of advanta.ges?
"Only utter imbeciles would be capable of thinking tbat
capitalist relations, that is to say, the private ownership of the
means of production, including the land, can be reestabliehed
in the USSR by peaceful methods and' lead to the regime of
oourgeois democracy. As a matter of fact, even if it were pos­
sible in general, capitalism could not be regenerated in 'Russia:
except as the result of a savage counter-revolutionary coup d'etat
which would cost ten times as many victims as the October

revolution and! the civil war. In the event of the overthrow 011
the Soviets their place could only be taken by a distinctly
Russian Fascism, so ferocious that in comparison to it the
ferocity of the Mussolini regime and that of Hitler would ap­
pear like philanthropic institutions. Zinoviev and Kamenev
are no fools. They cannot but understand that the restc.ratioR
of capitalism would first of all signify the total extermination
of the revolutiona:ry generation, themselves of course included.
Consequently, there cannot be the slightest doubt here that the
accusation concocted by Stalin against the Zinoviev group is
fraudulent frOom top to bottom: both as regards the goal speci­
fied-restoration of capitalism; and as' regards the means.-ter­
rorist acts." (2)

Hard, if not impossible, is it to believe that there is anyone
who could deny the logic of Trotsky's statement. Why then the
charge? What is to be accomplished? Trotsky gave his answer:

" ... the leading bureaucratic group is not at all inclined to esti-
mate Nikolayev's crime as an isolated, and accidental phenome-
non, as a tragic episode; on the contrary, it is investing this act
with a political importance so exceptional that it does not stop
at constructing an amaJgam which compromises itself, nor even
at placing all types of opposition, discontent and criticism on
the same plane with terrorist acts. The goal of the maneuver
is quite evident: to terrorize completely all critics ana opposi·

(1) L.Trotsky, "A Reply to Friends in America," Pioneer Publis'hers, February, 1935, p. '1.
(2) Ibid, PP, 7, 8
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tionists, and this time not by expulsion from the party nor by
depriving them of their daily bread, nor even by imprisonment
or exile, but by the firing squad. To. the terrorist act of Niko­
layev, Stalin replies by redoubling the terror against the party.(3)
"Using 'the Zinovievist group as a footstool, Stalin is aiming
to strike a blow at Trotskyism. And cost what it may, he
must strike that blow."(4)

Why is it that, in Trotsky's opinion, Stalin must follow up
and strike at the Trotskyists? Because:

" .... the Kremlin ha,s reconciled itself to the Communist Inter­
national as a nonentity, by means of the theory of socialism
in one country. The hopes bas'ed on the world proletarian
revolution it has swapped for hapes in the League of Nations.
,Command: ,has been issued to the communist parties abroa,d to
conduct 'realistic' policieS' which would succeed in destroying
in a very short period of time whatever still remains of the Com­
munist International. Stalin is already reconciled to all this.
But it is impossible fOJ: him to become reconciled to the regene­
ration of the world revolutionary movement under an indepen­
dent banner. Criticism of reformism may be renounced; blocks
may be concluded with Radicals; the workers may be poisoned
with the venom of nationalism and pacifism; but under no con­
dition is it permissible for the international proletarian van­
guard to obtain the opportunity for verifying freely and criti­
cally the ideas of Leninism through its own experience and to
juxt8Jpose Stalinism and the so-called Trotskyism in the broad
light of day .... (5)

a " ....danger exists which is beginning to weigh like a night­
mare on the Stalinist faction. The growing influence of the un­
falsified ideas o.f Leninism in the working class movement of
EurolM! and America cannot long remain a mystery to the work­
ers iR tke USSR. It is possible to keep quiet, even if this is
not easy, about the participation of the former Communist
League of America in the Minneapolis strike; it is possible
although difficult to maintain silence about the merger of the
League with the American Workers Party; but when the con­
fluence of events will take on a broader sweep and the revolu­
tionary Marxists, the Leninists, will take a leading part therein.
it will no longer be possible to keep quiet about these facts.
The enormous danger which flows from this for the StaliNst
'faction is ebvious. The entire structure of lies, calumnies, per­
secutions, falsifications and amalgami!l-the structure which has
been uninterruptedly rish\g since Lenin's illness and tIeath., ;will
crumble upon the very heads of the engineers, that is to S'ay,
the calumniators and forgers. The Stalinists are blind and deaf
t& the perspectives of the world proletarian movement, but they
have a very keen nose for the dangers w;hich menace their
prestige, their interests, and their bureaucratic privileges."(6)

(3) Thid, pp. 8, 9 (4) Ibid, p. 18 (5) Ibid, pp. HI, 20 (6) Ibid, p. 21
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What, if anything is to be done for those who still believe 10

what Trotsky calls the Bolshevism of Lenin?
"Expose the scheme in advance. The Stalinists are trying to
mold the public opinion of the world police towards expulsions,
extraditions, arrests, and other more decisive measures. The
Leninists must prepare the public opinion of the world prole­
ta.riat for these possible events. In this case, as in others,
it is necessary to speak out openly what is."(7)

(7) Ibid, p. 23



APPENDIX

The opinion of International Labor Concerning

the Moscow Trial

Dimitroff, the Secretary of the Third International, states with
great emphasis that Citrine, Adler, and other leaders of the Second
International are lying when they "try to create the impression
that the trial of the counter-reolutionary terrorists in the Soviet
Union endangers the realization of the pro1etarian solidiarity with
the Spanish people."(l) To see whether or not the Secretary of the
Third International is correct in his evaluation of the world prole­
tarian opinion, a short review of such opinion is necessary.

It is difficult, if not impossible, to know what, if anything,
would be accepted by Dimitroff as a sign of actually existing
danger to the proletarian solidarity. One may assume that the
resentment towards the trial openly expressed by sections of the
fighting Spanish workers can and must be considered such a sign.
The Executive Cdmmittee of the Workers Party of Marxist Unifi­
<>ation (PODM) adopted a resolution, which is a direct answer to
Dimitroff's emphatic statement:

"There are differences between ourselves and Trotsky, yet we
consider that a crime is being committed against him and we
demand the cessation of this international scandall. Certain of
interpreting their feelings, we demand that Trotsky be offered
a refuge in Catalonia under the revolutionary protection of the
working class.
"We know where opposition to the realization of this fine propo­
sition lies. We will fight against it with all our energy, thereby
fulfilling a high duty of revolutionary solidarity."(2)

If the answer of Dimitroff is that the resolution expresses
nothing but the opinion of the bureaucracy of the POUM, then the
front-fighting forces themselves must be heard:

"The comrades serving in the POUM ambulance at Lesinena, and
the wound'ed of the same ambulance, together with sympathizers
of other workers' organizations-C.N.T., U.G.T.-gathered to­
gether on September 3rd, approved the protestation of the Ex-

(1) Communist International, XIII, 1245.
(2) Infonnatien BlSIletin of the POUM, September 1, 1936, p. 4.
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ecutive Committee of the POUM in connection with the Moscow
trials and signed a declaration that they consider the assassina­
tion of Zinoviev, Kamenev and other bolsheviks as a direct at­
,tack on the Russian revolution, and that only the proletarian
world revolution-of which the POUM militants are the
pioneers-can save the conquests of the USSR proletariat."(3)

* * * *
Otto Bauer, one of the leaders of the Second International,

after analyzing the so-called confessions obtained prior to and dur­
ing the trial, concludes:

"Five years ago, while the first five years' plaiIl waS' being
carried through, demanding the most terrible sacrifices from
the masses of the people, Stalin strangled all opposition in the
ranks of his own party \With a chain of trumped! up political
trials. No.w he has resolved to intimidate and suppress the
op,positio.n in his own ranks in the same way as he did then,
by staging political trials. This is obviously the aim and the
end of the terrible Moscow trial."(4)

It seems obvious that in the opinion of Otto Bauer, it is not
impossible that Stalin may "strangle" his "Popular Front" allies as
he did "all opposition in the ranks of his own party." After ex­
pressing such an opinion, one wonders whether Otto Bauer will be
very anxious to enter into a United Front, not to speak of "organic
unity," as proposed by the Third International. Bauer's opinion
carries considerable weight with the Second International; there­
fore, it is correct to assume that Dimitroff erred when he found
that the trial did not endanger proletarian unity.

* * * *
Maurice Paz, a leader of the French Socialist Party, is unable

to accept the charges as correct or the sentences as justified.(5)

* * * *
The organ of the British Labor Party reports in detail about

toe trial. It uses column upon column analyzing the testimony and
seeking motives for and behind the trial. The conclusion arrived
at by the paper is expressed by the great horror felt towards the
methods used by the USSR. The paper sees in the trial "the end
of Bolshevism and of the Bolsheviks."(6)

* * * *
The Norwegian Labor Party and its official organ, after care-

fully reviewing the trial and all the evidence, cannot believe that
Trotsky and Trotskyism were in any way proved guilty of the
charge of terrorism. To the contrary, the daily organ of the party

(3) !hid. September 15, 1936. p. 7.
(.) Otto Bauer on the Moscow Trial. See the Sociialist and Trade Union press, Sept., 1936-
(5) Populaire, August 81, 1936.
(6) Daily Herald, September, 1936.
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..

finds that the Trotskyists and L. Trotsky had nothing to do with
the terroristic acts (if such terroristic acts or attempts actually
existed.) The party organ of the Norwegian Labor P;arty demands
-as against the "request of the government of the USSR to expel
Trotsky-that the right of asylum must be maintained primarily
for the purpose of preventing the persecution of L. Trotsky." (7)

* * * *
Jeanette Olson, a leading member of the Norwegian Communist

Party, whose statement was refused publication in the communist
paper Arbeweren, writes in the organ of the Labor Party:

"That the working class did not rise with a tempestous indigna­
tion agatinst the methods employed against Zinoviev, Kamenev
and the other old comrades of Lenin, can only be explained\ by
the faith upon which the confidence of the workers in Stalin's
government is based. The workers can't believe that the leaders
of the Workers' State are capable of using such methods in
political fights. Leaving aside just for a moment this great
faith and the great confidence; reading the reports of the trial
as if they were from some country other than Russia, the work­
ers would see that the charges, the testimonies, the confessions
and the prosecutor's final plea were all part of the com.bina,tion
serving one purpose only, and that is, to justify the death
sentences which in reality were not justified at all. The work­
erS' would then understand further the desperation of Stalin's
government which forced it to annihilate the a.ccused; they
would understand that the real reasons for the trial were wholly
different from those advocated at the trial. The acceleration
of the trial-it took but five or six days to rush through the
matters which atre of vital importance to the working class of
the world-and the rapidity with which executions were ac­
complished are additional and sinister things pointing to the
existing inconsistencies of the trial.
" .... The answer, given by the officials of the USSR to the
two Internationals concerning the proposal that the a.ccused
be given the opportunity to secure their defense counsel from
outside of Russia was nothing but a repetition of the unproven
charges ag;tinst the defendants. Can it be expected that such
an answer convinced anyone that the trial would be conducted
in substantial fairness to the accused?
"In this connection, it is recalled that during the trial of the
,Social-Revolutionaries, who actually carried out their attempt
upon the life of Lenin but failed to kill him, the foreign defense
attorneys were given full freedom of action."
"The bourgeois, the "fascist and reactionary papen gleefully
report the details of the charges. These papers cannot conceal
their joy when commenting about the trial. They rub their
hands, they smile, they are extremely happy to see Lenin's

----
(7~ Arbeiderbladet, September, 1936.
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closest friends being annihilated~ The reactionaries observe with
great satisfaction that the remaining Old Bolsheviks, in or
outside of Russia, are hounded and persecuted by the USSR.
"An end must be put to the whole affair. This end, however,
cannot be reached without exposing the matter to the searching
day-light, without submitting the case to a most thOrough
discussion. The working class of the world has a right to know
the truth, and nothing less than the whole truth."(8)

The resolution of the Central Committee of the Polish Bund,
after pointing out its traditional sympathetic attitude towards the
USSR, and after recalling the great revolutionary accomplishments
of Zinoviev, Kamenev and Trotsky during the past forty years,
states:

"The most deplorable fact is that the staging of the trial oc­
cured at the moment when the fascist criminals put the liberty
of the Spanish workers in a mortal danger, at a moment when
the danger of war is extremely grave. The trial gave a weapon
to the international reaction and fascism, a weapon which will
help the carrying on of the fjght of the reaction against the
international and against the USSR. The staging of the trial
filled the heart of every worker with the most painful feel.­
ings; the feeling became infinitely more painful because of the
sentencing of the accused. However, even after the verdict we
hoped tha,t the proletarian sense of justice would not permit
the execution of the sentence. Our most modest hopes were
betrayed and the most terrible of all verdicts was executed with
the greatest possible cruelty. In the name of the proletaria.n;
and socialist justice we raise our voice in protesting against
this crime. At the same time we express our conviction that
the Russian proletariat, w,hich was steeled in the battles of
the revolution, understands all the horror of thi:a act, and
will not permit the repetition of similar trials."(9)

* * * *
Resolution of the Central COmJmittee of the Polish Trade Unions:

"We indignantly condemn the assassination of the Old Bol­
sheviks; of the leaders of the October Revolution who failed to
agree with the personal dictatorship of Stalin. The Central
Committee finds the causes for the trial and executions to be
in the absence of the real democracy of the workers in the
USSR and in the degenerated dictatorship of the Russian Com­
munist Party. The Central Committee protests energetically
because of the attack against the Socialist International and
the International Federation of the Trade Unions, which bodies,
in their telegrams, demanded the guarantees of elementary
justice to the sixteen defendants." (10)

* * ~ *
The central organ of the French Socialist Party, Le Populaire,

(8) Ibid, August 31, 1936.
(9) My.. Soclali.tycni, September, 1936.
(10) Ibid
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gives colu'mns upon columns to the question of "the Moscow trial
and the United Front." The paper republishes the article which
appeared in the Pravda late in August, in which the scurrilous at­
tack is made upon deBrouckere, Adler, Citrine and Shevenels.
(The attack is made upon the leaders of the Second Inter:nationaI
because of the telegram they sent to Moscow asking for judicious
and fair treatment of the accused Old Bolsheviks.) Le Populaire
then reprints a subsequent article printed in the Com:munist paper
L'Humanite, in which the Socialist paper is presented as "one of the
few papers publishing no news about the USSR, with the present
exception when it comes to the defense of 'the counter-revolu­
tionary Trotskyists-Zinovievists, who in concert with Hitler's Gestapo
organized the murder of Kirov and prepared the assassination of the
greatest leaders of the Soviet Union; the assassinations to begin
with that of Stalin'."(l1)

Le Populaire points, for the benefit of the communist paper, to
the great number of articles pertaining to the USSR which ap­
peared in its columns and then states in greatly measured terms
that its "defense of the counter-revolutionaries" consisted of nothing
more than the support given to the telegram sent on behalf of the
Second International by de Brouckere, etc.

To the article is added a postscript which is of great signifi­
cance to some, possibly even to Dimitroff. The postscript quotes
an article by Dimitroff (12) in which the leaders of the Second In­
ternational are told, and not in any measured terms, what the
secretary of the Third International thinks of them; to which the
central organ of the French Socialist Party makes the rejoinder:

''The general secreta;ry of the Communist International continues
in treating our friends de Brouckere, Adler, Citrine and Scheve..:
nels as' 'reactionary leaders.' He designates their act (their
telegram to Moscow) as a 'disgraceful intervention.' The man
who writes in this manner pretends to serve the 'proletarian
unity.' No commentary is necessary."(13)

One must agree with the organ of the French Socialist Party
that all comments are superfluous, even useless, since Dimitroff is
convinced that the Moscow trial did in no sense endanger the unity
of the workers.

The Pravda felt it necessary to follow' up, the dignified answer
of the socialist paper, with another long dissertation (14) to which
the Socialist paper replies:

(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)

L'Humanite, August 27, 1936,
Ibid, August 28. 1936.
Le PopuJaire, AUl't"ust 29, 1936.
Reprin't in the L'Humanite on September
·A us'wer to the I." Pcpulaire."

1, 1936. under the heading "The P",avda'.
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"We have no pact binding us to the Communist Party of Russia;
nor to the Communist International, nor to the USSR; con­
sequently, we may not invoke S'Uch a pact to protect us against
the charges heaped upon us by the Pravda. W'e are, however,
tied by a 'pact of united action' to the French Communist Party
and to its da,uy paper. We have the right to express our
astonishment that the grave accusations of the Pravda found
their place in the columns of the L'HiUmanite. If the Pravda
decides to continue its splitting work that is its own affair.
Dimitroff's article already showed the dangerous attitude taken
by the leaders of the Communist. International. By what
means, however, can the publication of the Pravda article in the
L'Humanite be reconciled with the publication of the Garches
lresolution printed in the same number of the L'Humanite, in
w,hich resolution it is emphasized that 'U;nion is our common
slogan.' 'Splitting of the working class is our com:mon defeat.
We are united, and! united :we remain.' .. (15)
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The Central Organ of the French Socialist Party (S.F.I.O.)
does not feel the necessity of any further comment. There is no
comment needed, nor is it possible concerning the central ·organ
of the French Communist Party which writes for unity on its
first page and attacks the members of the unity pact on its inside
pages.

* * * *
Not only organizations, but also individuals, well known for

their outspoken support of the USSR, express their indignation
and horror because of the Moscow trial of the Old Bolsheviks.

Ignazio Silone, the author of "Fontamara," "Bread and Wine,"
"Fascism," the well known Italian anti-fascist sent an open letter
to the Moscow paper Das Wort, in which he calls upon other anti­
fascist writers to join with him in a protest agai!nst the trial.
Silone declares that it shall not be possible for a Ludwig, Feucht­
wanger, etc. to protest against the cruelty of Hitler Germany, if
now they remain silent in face of the most cruel and m<?st un­
justified treatment lmeted out to the Old Bolsheviks, Kamenev
and Zinoviev. Silone expresses his own indignation (with certain
misunderstanding of the factors involved): "To remain quiet now
means that we ourselves become fascists,-red fascists. I, how­
ever, refuse to become a fascist,-even a red fascist."(16)

!Joining Silone in protest against the Moscow executions,
one finds the illustrious name of Franz Pfempfert, the old German
revolutionary publisher of the "Aktion"; Victor Serge, the· well

(15) Le Populaire, September 2, 1936.
(16) ServIce d'Information et de Presse, October 21, 1936.



168 THE FIRST TWO MOSCOW TRIALS

known Belgian writer, an active worker in the Bolshevik Revolu­
tion since 1917; and hundreds of others.

The protest against the Moscow executions crystalized in a
demand for an International Commission of Inquiry, which is to
investigate the Moscow trial and the charges published in the com­
munist press against Trotsky. An appeal to organize such a Com­
mission was issued and signed by many organizations and in­
dividuals; among the organizations, the following are found:

Left Revolutionary French Socialist Party,
Organization of Young Socialists of the Seine District of the

S.F.I.O. (France)
Communist group, "Que Faire"
Group "Combat Marxiste"
Seine Federation of the Proletarian U.nity Party
International WorkerS' Party (Bolshevik-Leninists) and the

Revolutionary Socialist Youth (17)

Bureau for Revolutionary Socialist Unification (London Bureau)
International Bureau of the Socialist Medical Doctors
Revolutionary Socialist Action (Belgium)
Workers Pairty Marxist Unification (Spain)
and the parties belonging to the Committee for a Fourth

International:
Workers Party of Canada
Marxistiche Action (Switzerland)
Bolshevik-Leninist Workers Party of Cuba
International Communist League of Belgium
Communist Lea,gue of Italy,
and others.

* * * *
Organizations were created by individuals in different countries

for the purpose of obtaining the calling of an International Inquiry
Committee to investigate the charge of the USSR against Trotsky.
Such committees were formed in France,(1S) Denmark, Czechoslo­
vakia (initiated "lnternational Committee for Right and Truth") ;(19)
United States of America (American Committee for Defense of
Leon Trotsky.) (20)

* * * *
Among the signers of the various appeals, one finds the names

of men and women long known as friends of the Soviet Union.
Some of the names of the signers are:

France: a number of writers, editors, teachers, etc. as:

(17)

(18)
(19)
(20)

Address of French Committee for Commission of Inquiry: coo
Rue Pigalle. Paris (ge).
Suzanne Barbier, 18 Cite-Jardin, Les Lihas (Seine), France.
Sonka: Prague I. Postfach 158.
Rm. 921, 22 E. 17th St., New York, N. Y.

Gaston Goldschild, 28,
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"
,~

"
"

Victor Marguerite-W'rlter
Miagdeleine Paz "
Paul Des-Jardins "
Marcel Martinet "
George Dumoulin "
Georges Pioch "
Maurice Lacroix "
Henry Pastoureau "

and a committee of attorneys, among them:
Marcel Fouries
Phillippe Lamour
Jean Victor Munier
Gaston Bergery (21)

Denmark:
Brend Johnson-Trade Union Secretary
A. Dupont " " "
Einar Nielsen "
Niels Madsen "
Kai Hoffman Writer
Oscar Hansen Editor
Ernst Christiansen "
Ernst Berg Worker
Arild Hvidfeldt Student

Czechoslovakia:
Dr. Wolfgang Bruegel, Writer
Dr. Th. Hartwig, Professor and writer
Dr. Stefan Szende, Writer
Dr. Oscar Fischer, University professor
FUller-Breiersdorf, Engineer, Academic sculptor
Dr. Egon Schwelb, Attorney
Dr. Friedrich Bill, Attorney
Joseph Srb - Trade Union Secretary
K. Sindelar " " "
B. Urbanova " " "
Joseph Wintern" " "
Vacla,v Valcher" " "
B. Pantnerova " " "
Vilen Wuensch" " "
B. M'arova " " "
Joseph Guttman, Former member of Political Bureau and Editor in

Chief of Central Organ of the Communist Party
Zavis KaJandra, Former editor in chief of the theoretical organ of

the Communist Party.

United States: the long list of names includes :(22)

Devere Allen, Writer, National Executive Committee Socialist Party
Harry W. Laidler, State Chairman, Socialist Party, New York

(211
(22)

Former member of the Commission of Inquiry-Reichstag Fire.
After this' was written, it became known that the National ExecutiTe Committee of the
Socialist Party of America endorsed the American Committee for the Defense of Leon
'Trotsky and set up a suh-ClOmmittee for the purpose of closer oooperation with the
committee.
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Norman Thomas, National Executive Committee Socialist Party
Anita Brenner Writer
Anna Bercowitz "
Martha Gruening, "
Charles Yale Harrison "
Manuel Komroff, "
Joseph Wood Krutch "
Suzanne Lafollette, "
Ludwig Lore, "
Charles Malamuth, "
James T. Farrell, "
Max Nomad, "
Max Eastman, "
John Dos Passos, "
Lewis Gannett "
James Rorty, "
Edmund Wilson, "
Benjamin Stolberg, "
C. Erskine Scott Wood, "
Vincent R. Dunne, Trade Union leader
John Dewey, University Professor
James Burnham, " "
Louis M. Hacker, " "
Sidney Hook " " .
Oscar Jaszi " "
V. F. Calverton, Editor
Mauritz A. Hallgren, "
Freda Kirchwey, "
Carlo Tresca, "

* * * *
There is a possibility that Dimitroff did not receive the letter

of August 23, 1936, addressed to him by Marie Nielsen, member
of the Danish Communist Party; therefore, the reproduction of the
letter may be of great value. Miss Nielsen writes:

"I was a member of the Zimmerwalder movement, I broke with
the Danish Social Democrats in the spring of 1918. I was a
co-founder of the Socialist Workers Party (later the Commun­
ist Party). In 1920 I participated in the Second Congress of the
Third International, and there I promised Comrade Lenin always
to fight for Communism. I always fought tor Communism. I am
a member of the Danish Communist Party.
"Now to the subject of my letter. I am greatly disturbed be­
cause of the trial against the Old Bolsheviks. Did you, Comrade
Dimitroff, by any chance read the Scandinavian Socialist papers
on this subject 'I One cannot, one will not believe that the old
Marxists, the old students and the loyal co-workers of Lenin
up to his death were transformed into terrorists who committed
such outrages as becoming the allies of the Nazis, of our deadly
enemies; one cannot, one does Rot believe that these QJd Bel-
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sheviks have conspired and plotted with the Nazis to assassinate
the Soviet leaders. The labor movement of Norway addressed
to the Second (Socialist) International and to the Trade Union
International of Amsterdam an invitation requesting that the
two organizations ask Moscow whether ,or not it is possible
for representatives or even attorneys of the two Internationals
to assist at the trial for the purpose of obtaining exact informa­
tion.
"If it concerned "Whites" in this trial, my opinion would be that
it is an impudent interference with the domestic affairs of the
USSR. But since it concerns many of the well known Old Bol­
sheviks, well known throughout the labor movement for their
great accomplishment in the Russian Revolution, who, in addi­
tion, were such good comrades, such close political friends of
Lenin; therefore, I join the Norwegian appeal and beg of you,
Comrade Dimitroff, that you help the Social-Democrats in ob­
taining the files for examination. Wie dio not desire in any case
-is not true?-that they speak with wJtatever justification
about 'the Leipzig trial in Moscow.'
"Our Danish party did not inform its members in any manner
concerning the terrible happenings of the trial, but the Arbei­
derbladet simply published the telegrams and thereunder, before
the verdict was given, designated the defendants as assas­
sins. I know that I cannot send this, my appeal, through our
party, that is the reason why I send it to you personally and
directly. Later I shall communicate the contents of my letter to
the party.
"The Seventh Congress took place, but there is still no freedom
of discussion in the party, no freedom of discussion for those
who have an opinion different from that of the leaders."

Marie Nielsen adds a postscript to her letter to Dimitroff:
"I must remark that Comrade Lenin in 1920 told me that I shall

always be permitted to speak directly to the Communist Inter­
national." (23)

One wonders whether Dimitroff still believes that the Moscow
trial did not endanger the proletarian unity. Is it possible that he
would consider the POUM, the Second International, the London
Bureau, the A;m'sterdam Trade Unions and innumerable indivi­
duals friendly to the Soviet Union such whose opinions are of no
value? Is it not possible that even Dimitroff and the other leaders
of the Third International can and will wake up to the danger of
a split in the proletarian ranks brought about by the trial? In any
case, it is necessary to know what transpired. The workers of the
world are entitled to know what went on in back of the trial.
To prevent the recurrence of other Old Bolshevik trial., there i.
only one thing to do--expose the scheme in advance.

IT IS NECESSARY TO SPEAK OUT O,PENLY.
(23) Serviee d'Information et de Presse-Paris, October. 1936.



recognize a number implicated by
trial. During that trial Kamenev

N. 1. Muralov
V~ V. Arnold
J. D. Turok
G. E. Pushin
J. N. Drobnis
B. O. Norkin
1. 1. Grashe
S. A. Rataychek

THE TRIAL OF RADEK, SOKOLNIKOV, AND
FIFTEEN OTHERS.

After the foregoing review of the Zinoviev·Kamenev Trial of August 1936
had gone to press, the news of a second trial to_begin on January 23, 1937,
was announced from Moscow. The defendants, all charged with high
treason, were sentenced on January 30th, 1937. To make the analysis com­
plete, it was felt necessary to delay the publication in order to include
whatever data is available with reference to the second trial.

January 30th, 1937. F.R.

L
EON TROTSKY, the outstanding defendant of the Moscow trial
of August 1936, was forcibly deported from Norway on the 18th
day of December 1936, because of the pressure brought to bear

by the government of the U.S.S.R. He was given asylum '·in Mexico
where he arrived on January 9, 1937. Just a few days later, Moscow
reports announced the opening of a new trial of "counter-revolu­
tionaries," who were charged with engaging in activities under the
leadership of the exiled Trotsky. The seventeen defendants recen­
tly tried are:

:Karl Radek
Gregory Sokolnikov
Gregory L. Piatakov
M. S. Bogulavsky
J. A. Kiniazev
L. Serebryakov
J. A. Livschitz
A. A. Shestov
M. S. Stroilov

Among the defendants we
the defendants of the August
testified:

"Among the leaders of the conspiracy smother person may be
named who in point of fact was one of the leaders, but who, in
view of the special plans we made in regard to him, was not
drawn into the practical work. I refer to Sokolnikov.... It
seemed to us that on the side of the Trotskyites this role could
be successfully performed by Serebryakov and Radek."(1)

(1) Report of Court Proceediugs, etc., p. 67.

-172 -
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Assuming, but not admitting, that Kamenev's statement was
correct, one expects that the present defendants are to answer
for the same charges which were lodged against Zinoviev,
Kamenev and their co-defendants. But no, the Moscow nightmare
goes on as nightmares do, showing no logic, no rhyme, no reason.
The ,old charges are well-nigh forgotten, and new ones, more in­
credible, more fantastic, are presented by the Soviet prosecutor.
The indictment, briefly stated, charges that Radek and his co­
defendants:

1. Attempted to overthrow the Soviet Government and restore

capitalism.
2. Made a pact wi1<h the enemies of the U.S.S.R. (Germany

and Japan) for the purpose of provoking war.
3. Made plans for the invasion and seizure of Soviet territory

by Germany and Japan, and to facilitate such invasion
engaged in espionage in favor of those arch enemies of the
U.S.S.R.

4. Commit acts of sabotage to weaken the Soviet State.
5. Attempted to commit actS' of terrorism, including the assas­

sination of Soviet leaders.(2)

If one recalls the indictment against the August defendants, one
sees that only the fifth point of the present indictment was leveled
against Zinoviev and the sixteen others. If one further recalls that
from among the present defendants at least three, Radek, Sokolni­
kov, and Serebryakov, were designated as leaders of the Zinoviev
conspiracy, one is confronted with a riddle, hard if not impossible
to solve, i.e.: Hiow is it possible that neither Zinoviev nor any of
his sixteen co-defendants mentioned any of the first four charges
of the present indictment? It is possible that Radek, Sokolnikov
and Serebryakov kept their co-conspirators, Zinoviev and Kamenev,
in the dark concerning the military plans of Japan and Germany?
Did the present defendants do all their sabotaging without the help
of Bakayev, Mrachkovsky, and others sentenced for conspiracy in
August? Did Radek, Sokolnikov and Serebryakov do their espionage
for Japan and Germany without the knowledge of Zinoviev and
Kamenev, their co-leaders in the conspiracy? These and other
questions must be answered before it is possible to give any kind of
evaluation of the present trial.

When analyzing the August trial, we pointed out the many
obvious mistakes made by A. Y. Vyshinsky, and concluded that
his inability to frame a logical indictment was due to his being a
novice in conducting trials of such a delicate nature. We also

(2) News reports in Chicago and New York papers', January 22, 1937.
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stated that it was to be expected that in the trial of the second set
of defendants, Radek, Sokolnikov, and others, Vyshinsky's indict­
ment would be more logical and would stand scrutiny. Such ex­
pectation was based on the possibility that even a state's attorney
may learn from experience; but we must confess error. The present
indictment, in the light of the testimonies, is shot full of holes.

Walter Duranty, the Moscow correspondent of the N. Y. Times,
who in his own words is a great admirer of Stalin and definitely
anti-Trotsky, gives a detailed report of the trial. But first he
states where his symphaties lie:

"As fa,r back as 1923 I became convinced that Stalin would win,
and that Stalin was the man Russia needed and Lenin's destined
successor. From that conviction I have never wavered through
the whole opposition period."(3)

Duranty's report from the court-room in Moscow must be ac­
cepted as, if anything, favorable to the prosecution; therefore his
statement gives away the show and answers the question of what
the purpose of the present trial is. He concludes that:

"T,he people abroad said the former trial of Gregory Zinoviev
and Leon Kamenev was somehow phony, that it did not "stamd
up," or seem reasonable. But this trial does stand up and the
evidence rings true.(4)

Because of his faith or intuition, Duranty feels that:
"On the w,hole the trial bids fair to be much more convincing to
foreign opinion than the Kamenev-Zinoviev affair."(5)

Let us see whether the present trial actually does stand up better
than that of August. Do the present indictments and testimonies
sound more reasonable than those of 1936? Is Mr. Duranty correct
that the evidence does ring true? Duranty himself gives the answer
while describing the scene, when during the trial the courtroom
roared with laughter:

, "That is an am8Jzing feature of these Moscow trials; that all
have an element of the theater, and yet it is not just a play,
for t,he losers pay with their lives. This trial is pure Hamlet,
but there will be no come-back for the actors when the curtain
falls. Radek's testimony today amd Gregory Sokolnikov's and
L. Serebryakov's showed clearly that they had 'Let I dare not
wait upon I would.' They planned this and talked that, but in
reality did little. They said they followed Trotsky in believing
that Stalin's regime could be overthrown only by their country's
defeat, but they could not quite do t.hings bec8Juse there was
an inner contradiction in their heart. Anyone of them might
have killed Stalin, but they did not-not from fear but on ac­
count of this inner contradiction that ruined their whole plot.

(3) New York Time., January 24, 1937.
(4) Ibid, January 26, 1937. (5) Ibid, January 24, 1937.
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This is a strange Russian story, which only readers of Feodor
Dostoyevsky will understand." (6)

Come, come, Mr. Duranty. Do you really believe that one has
only to read Dostoyevsky to be able to understand this "'strange
Russian story"? Do you really believe that the "inner contradic­
tion" which you discovered in the heart of Radek will explain the
fact that none of the alleged plans were ever executed? Do you
really want us to believe that the conspirators "ruined their whole
plot" because of Dostoyevsky, and the "inner contradicti,on?"
Duranty assumes many things, but in one of his statements he
comes clear up to the truth. He says that the conspirators:
"Planned this, and talked that, but in reality did little."

We expect to show that the conspirators actually did noth­
ing to execute the plans charged against them, and that the plans
themselves were concocted by the prosecution and the G.P.V. Yes,
of course they confessed, but those confessions were to be expected
from Radek after his statement in the Pravda of August 23rd, 1936;
from Piatakov, after his exculpation published in the Pravda the sa'm~

day. Confession, from the others, after many months in the G.
P. V. jails were to be expected as natural. How much these con­
fessions really mean when confronted with known facts, when
scrutinized with open eyes, is demonstrated by the confessions
themselves.

The Testimony of the Defendants.

,Both Radek and Piatakov agreed that the members of the so­
called parallel center, now on trial,

'''adopted Leon Trotsky's view," in order "to achieve that world
revoJution,' which was their ultimate aim."(7)

While speaking of their view to accomplish the world revolu­
tion, Radek, almost in the same breath,

"admitted elaborate plans were drawn to .... bring back a modi­
fied form of capitalism to the 'Soviet Union."(8)

Yes, the observers at the trial are right, it is indeed a strange
Russian story, wherein conspirators work to bring about a world
revolution, for the purpose of restoring capitalism.

All the defendants presented themselves as lieutenants of Leon
Trotsky, who allegedly gave them instructions. Some of them even
claimed to have met Trotsky in his exile in France and in Norway.
The dates and places of these visits are not as exactly given as
Holtzman's in the Britol-Hotel in Copenhagen. (The G.P.V. and
state's attorney did learn from past mistakes.)

(6) Ibid
(8) Ibid

(7) News reports in Chicago and New York papers, January 25, 1937.
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One of the witnesses, Vladimir Romm, testified:
"That he carried five letters from Leon Trotsky, discussed the
situation in a dark alley, near a Paris Park with Leon Trotsky,
and agreed to become the latter's undercover informant while
serving as Izvestia correspondent in Washington, but was unable
to do so .... because of 'circumstances'."(9)

Here is the connecting link between the conspirators and
Trotsky. The liaison man, Romm, meets Trotsky in a dark alley
(which dark alley, and when the alleged meeting took place is not
established. The dark alley is placed near a Paris park. It is hard
to disprove that there is a dark alley near one of the Paris Parks.)
Romm agrees to become Trotsky's undecover informant in Wash­
ington. Why undercover, and why Trotsky does need an informant
in Washington is not told. Could not and did not Trotsky receive
all the information available to Romm through the international
press? Apparently yes, because Trotsky was forced to get along
without his "undercover informant Room," the latter being unable
to serve him due to "circumstances." Prosecutor Vyshinsky seems
to be a singularly placid man, who has no curiosity whatever. How
otherwise can it be explained why he failed to inquire from Romm
as to his alleged duties as Trotsky's "undercover informant" in
Washington, or as to the "circumstances" which kept him from
undertaking those duties?

Romm is a man of mystery who acted as no other human being
would. He confessed that he had been one of the conspirators and
go-betweens from Radek to Trotsky for the past four or five years.
He was reasonably safe from arrest and subsequent execution in
the U. S. A., as the correspondent for Izvestia. He confessed
knowledge of the conspiracy to murder Kirov. He read about the
Kirov trial and the discovery of the conspiracy in 1935. He learned
about the discovery of further details of this conspiracy and the trial
of Zinoviev and Kamenev. He even read about Radek's (his
chief's) implication through the testimony of Kamenev. He was
informed as to how alleged conspirators such as Zinoviev and
Kamenev, are dealt with in the U.S.S.R. Is it logical to assume that
he knew what his own fate would be, if his role as conspirator were
discovered while on the territory of the U.S.S.R. Nevertheless,
Romm in the fall of 1936 leaves the safe haven of Washington, D.C.
and goes to Moscow. Is there one other man besides Romm, who,
knowing of his guilt, would return and testify against himself?
Hardly; but it is a "strange Russian story," which not even the
readers of Dostoyevsky can understand. Is it not possible that,

(9) Ibid
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Romm returned to the U.S.S.R. in the fall of 1936 without even
suspecting tha( he would be assigned a role, and a fantastic one at
that, in this alleged plot? Is it impossible to assume that Romm
was unaware of the fact that he was being asked to return for the
purpose of testifying as a "star witness?"

Radek admitted that
"ela,borate plans were drawn to paralyze the railway system in

a scheme· by which it was hoped to overthrow Stalin, and to
bring back a modified system of capitalism in the Soviet Union.
Germany was to receive the rich Ukrainian Valley and Japan
was' to get the Maritime Provinces in return for aid in over­
throwing the government."(lO)

Radek apparently forgot that he had previously testified that
his and the conspirators' aim was to bring about the world revolu­
tion. While the purpose of a world revolution to bFing about
capitalism is not clear, Radek's testimony concerning an alleged
Trotsky letter is more than clear. This letter, supposedly written
by Trotsky in 1935, but not introduced in evidence, contained the
plan: '

I. "Should Ja,pan go to war with the U.S.A., 'invaluable concessions'
would be made to aid the Nipponese Nation. These were to
include the .rich oil resources at the Russian portion of Sakha­
in Island."(l1)

It is not hard to divine the purpose of such a "confession,"
if one knows that the whole trial is directed against the Trotskyites.
'The Soviet government is disturbed by the sympathetic attitude
shown by the American public in general towards the exile, Trotsky.
The American public and the newspapers, while in complete dis­
agreement with Trotsky's political ideas, reacted against the Soviet
government's violation of the rules of fair play. The alleged
lett,er from Trotsky was to show up Trotsky to the American
public as one who conspired with Uncle Sam's potential enemy­
Japan. It is possible that this alleged letter, which never saw the
light of day, was to accomplish another purpose in the United
States. It is no secret that the Soviet Government is after a U.S.
alliance; a defensive alliance naturally and logically directed against
Japan: It is not farfetched to assume that Trotsky's alleged plot
to support Japan in a war against the United States is a good
talking point for the Soviet Government when discussing the desire
for alliance with the State Department in Washington.

i What is the purpose, if any, of making Radek present an alleged
plot of Trotsky which includes the ceding of Russian territory to

(10) Ibid, January 24, 1937 (11) Ibid, January 23, 1937.
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Hitler Germany? It is well known that the Soviet Foreign Office
dreads the possibility of Hitler's succeeding in isolating the U.S.S.R.
Great efforts are made by the Soviet diplomats to prevent Great
Britain and France from being drawn into the German-Japanese
anti-Russian alliance. Hitler's chief argument in Downing Street
and on Quai D'Orsai is that Russia endangers the European nations
because of the revolutionary propensity of the Soviet government
and of the Third International. To show Hitler and Trotsky as
the authors of a common plot is intended by the U.S.S.R. to keep
Great Britain and France away from Hitler, who, as it is to be
shown, is not beyond allying himself with the "world revolutionary
Trotsky." This is the only explanation for the hair-brained "con­
fession," showing Trotsky, in his alleged letter to Radek, as a world
revolutionary working for a modified form of capi~alism.This is the
only explanation of why Radek confessed that he was a Trotskyite
and disbelieved jn Stalin's theory of "Socialism in one country,"
while at the same time admitting his connection with "all counter­
revolutionary forces." As a atter of fact, Radek went much
farther when he stated tpat: "I am guilty of all the charges, of all
the terrorist plots---even those 1 did not know about." (12)

One wonders what Radek meant by this. Did he mean to
confess to all charges of the indictment, according to which:

"The investigation has establis'hed that t,his parallel group,
(Piatakov, Radek, Sokolnikov et al), upon direct instructions
il'rom Trotsky, orga,nized diversionist and terrorist groups,
which carried out wrecking and undermining acts at a number
of workshops, especially those used for the defense of the Soviet
Union, and which prepared terrorist acts against leaders of

I ,the Communist Party, the Soviet Union and the Soviet Govern­
ment. This same group, upon direct instructions from Trotsky,
also carried out espionage work, for certain foreign states.
The investigation ,has established that the criminal activities of
the group and other members of the Trotskyist organization,
who are accused in the present case, were aimed at the destruc­
tion ·of the military might of the Soviet Union, acceleration of a
military attack against the Soviet Union, assistance to for­
eign aggressors in seizing territory from and dismembering
the Soviet Union, overthrowing the Soviet power, and restoring
capitalism and the domination of a bourgeoisie in the Soviet
Union."(13)

Radek, the former secretary of the Communist International,
the authoritative commentator of the Soviet Government for the
past seven years, confesses to a plan to restore capitalism. To

(12) New York Times, January 25. 1937.
(13) News reports in Chicago and New York papers, January 22, 1937.
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bring back the domination of the bourgeoisie in the Soviet Union
is the plan to which G. L. Piatakov, the Vice-Commissar for Heavy
Industries and a B.olshevik since 1910, confessed. Sokolnikov, the
Vice-Commissar of the Foreign Office, the former Soviet ambassador
to England, confessed an intention to dismember the Soviet Union.
M: S. Bogulavsky, the former member of the Moscow Sovjet, L.
Serebryakov, the former Commissar of Communications, J. N. Drob­
nis, former secretary of the Moscow Soviet, all of them members
of the Bolshevik party before the revolution of 1917, confessed
that they were aiming «at the destruction of the military might of
the Soviet Union, at the acceleration of a military attack against"
the self-sa/me Soviet power which they helped to establish. Facts
in proof of such accusations are not submitted by the prosecution-

. nothing but the "confessions." But, as Mr. Duranty remarked
"plans, always plans; not action. Hamlet again and the inner con­
tradiction."(14) The confessions are the thing the prosecution is
after. It may be that Radek said more than the State's Attorney
expected of him, when he said:

"I gave evidence on the basis of its significance and on i~he

basis of usefulness."(15)

What did Radek mean by referring to the significance of his
evidence? What did he consider to be the basis of the usefulness
of his confession? To attempt an answer to these questions, we
must proceed to some other confessions.

Piatakov, while confessing to every charge of the indictment,
gave details, almost too many details as to the execution of the plans.
He was too meticulous to suit even the prosecutor in bringing the
plot home to Trotsky.

Piatakov "in a clear, colorless voice, as precise and unemotional
as that of a professor addressing his class, .... today threw
away his life a.nd the lives of the sixteen fellow-accused as their
trial as conspirators against the Soviet began."(16)

Piatakov described a secret visit to Trotsky at Oslo, Norway,
In December, 1935, stating that he went to Berlin and

"the following mo,rning went early to Tempelhof Airfield, where
the emissary (of Trotsky, F.H.) met me and gave me a German
passport in a strange name with a Norwegian visa, and by
3 o'clock that afternoon I left by a swift passenger pla,ne, in
whic.h I was the only traveller, to the Oslo Airfield, and was
rushed in an auto to Trotsky's residence."(17)

The story did not sound quite convincing even to the prosecutor,

(14) New York Times, January 25, 1937.
(15) Telegram of the U.P. from Moscow, January 29, 1937.
(16) Walter Duranty, New York Times, January 24, 1937.
(17) News' reports in Chicago and New York papers, January 24, 1937.
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because, Piatakov was pressed to explain, "how was this arranged?"
"Piatakov shrugged his shoulders, but Bukhartsef, who is also under
arrest who has admitted that he was a member of the conspiracy,
replied blandly to the same question: 'Stimmer knew people able to
arrange things like that.''' (18)

Stimmer must have been good, to say the least, and the people
who Stimmer knew must have been still better, to be "able to ar­
range things like that." What are the "things like that?" First of
all, Piatakov, holding down the job of the Vice-Commissar for
Heavy Industries must have left the USSR without the knowledge
of the government and of the all-knowing G.P.V. Secondly, as a
Soviet official, he must have been in Hitler's Berlin in December,
1935, without the knowledge of the Hitler Government and of the
all-knowing Gestapo. Piatakov, a Soviet official of primary im­
portance, left by airplane the Nazi-controlled Tempelhof Airfield
without anyone knowing about it, and arrived in Oslo without
coming to the attention of the Norwegian Government. He must
have gone from Oslo to Hpnefoss, (the nearest railroad station to
the village of Veksel, where Trotsky stayed with the family of
Knutsen), without being spotted or recognized by anyone. Piatakov.
the stranger, must have gone to the village of Veksel and there
must have found the home of Knutsen without being met or seen
by anyone. And there he was able to "interview Trotsky for two
hours." But that is only one half of the "things like that" which
were "arranged." Piatakov was forced to retrace his steps from
Veksel to Honefoss and from there to Oslo, from Oslo to Berlin
and finally from' Berlin to Moscow and he did '"things like that"
without ever being noticed by the police of Norway or by Hitler's
G,estapo, or by Stalin's G.P.V. No, we were in error when we
thought that Vyshinsky would learn from experience and improve
his practice in the second trial. The Soviet prosecutor cannot
make up a plausible story. That the story' is made up is proved
by the report of two Oslo papers, the A;jtenposten and the Dagbladet,
both of which report that their checkup at the Oslo Airport
shows no such landing as that confessed to by Piatakov. Of
course it is possible, assuming that the Soviet engineers are as
good inventors as the prosecutor is, that Piatakov was supplied
(by the G.P.V.?) with a folding pocket-size airplane, with which
he could take off and land unobserved by anyone.

The State's Attorney must be given credit for trying to learn,
as when he makes the defendant Shestov visit Trotsky in Norway

(18) Ibid
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for the purpose of obtaining Trotsky's written instructions which
ipstructions Shestov confessed having ''hidden'' in the heels of his
shoes. The prosecutor recalls Holtzman's double-bottomed trunk,
in which he allegedly brought to Russia Trotsky's verbal instruc­
tions. To avoid a pitfall, Vyshinsky made Shestov use his double­
bottomed shoe-heel, though the defendant fails to confess whether
or not he is an expert shoemaker (he is the manager of the Kusbas
Coal Mines), able to place the documents in the shoes, nor does he
state whether or not he had with him an expert Russian shoemaker
specializing in double bottomed shoe-heels. l't is, of course, possible
that Trotsky had such experts on hand in the village of Veksel, on
the job 24 hours a day, to accommodate such bright emissarit;s as
Shestov. This is part of the story to which Walter Duranty refers
as part of the trial which "bids fair to be much more convincing
to foreign opinion than the Kamenev-Zinoviev affairs." Duranty
surely does not think highly of foreign opinion.

The Story of the Sabotage.

With the defendants "confessing" to fanciful plans, aimed "at
the destruction of the military-might of the Soviet Union, accelera­
tion of a military attack against the Soviet-Union, assistance to
foreign aggressors in ceding territory from, and dismembering,
the Soviet-Union, overthrowing the Soviet Power and restoring
capitalism," one is ready to hear just about everything in subse­
quent confessions. However the stories unfolded by Shestov, in
charge of the Kusbas Coal Mines, by Vladimir Lozinov, an engineer,
in charge of the mining works, by J. D. Turok, a former head of
a railway division, by J. A. Livschitz, Vice-Commissar of the rail­
ways, by J. A. Kiniazev, chief of the Southern Railways, by B. C.
Norkin and S. A. Rataychek, both leading officers of the chemical
industries, will test the credulity of the most credulous.

Kiniazev "'confessed" having accomplished thirty-five hundred
train wrecks in the period of 1935-1936. Quite a job, is it not?
That many wrecks in the period of two years means in the average
five train wrecks each day, a good average even for the best
"Stakhanovite." This average of five train wrecks a day must be
understood as having been caused by Kiniazev in his own territory,
i.e. the territory of the Southern Railway, which is a small part of
the U.S.S.R. Such an incredible number of wrecks was caused by
no one else than the manager of the Railway himself. How did
he do it? How many thousands of helpers did he have? Where
are those handy helpers? Did Kiniazev do nothing else but wreck
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trains for two years? Did he ever go to his managerial office or
was he always on the road, doing his train wrecking? Was his
time not pretty well taken up by an average of five wrecks daily?
There are some of the questions which may occur to some of the
readers of the trial-report. One wonders whether many will agree
with Duranty that the trial "bids fair to be more convincing to
foreigl1 opinion that the Kamenev-Zinoviev affair."

r D. Turok is another high ranking railway official,. who "con­
fesses" to a number of wrecks, saying that:

"to deceive higher authorities, the wrecks were made to appellir
as accidents, or the responsibility was shifted to innocent per­
sons."(19)

This testimony is put quite blandly. How do train wrecks
usually appear, if not as accidents? What is to be done to a
wreck to make it appear to be an accident? Is it necessary to
point out that high officials of a railway system customarily shift
the responsibil}ty for any accident to innocent persons, usually to
lower functionaries? Why then Turok's statement? To make the
story more fanciful and thus more convincing? Possibly so, though
one may have justifiable suspicions about "things like that."

Shestov, manager of the Kuzbas coal mining works "confessed:"
"I planted a cache of dynamite with the aid of a German en­

gineer, for the purpose of blowing up the mine. A group of
children discovered the dynamite and played with it.... the
cache exploded and killed aJI the youngsters, thus the plot
failed."(20) .

Hearing Shestov's testimony, a great number of legitimate
questions come to the fore, all clamoring for answer. How much
dynam:ite is needed to blow up the Kuzbas mining works? Did
Shestov and his unnamed German engineer carryall the dynamite
on their persons? Did they need a truck, or a number of trucks, or
possible a freight train to convey the explosives? Where did Shestov
obtain the dynamite, without involving many, many other persons?
Where did he cache the dynamite, inside or outside of the mines?
If an outside cache, how did Shestov expect to get the dynamite into
the workings? In one day or during many? If in one load, by
what arrangement, with the help of how many people? 1'f the
loading of the mines was to be done step by step, then how secret
the dynamite from being discovered by the great number of miners
engaged in the workings? How did the children come near or into
the mines, to discover the cache? How did the youngsters cause
the explosion of the dynamite? Were they supplied with percussion

(19) Ibid (20) Ibid
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caps, without which dynamite does not explode? Apparently the
prosecutor, does not know the simple fact that dynamite will not
explode even if thrown into fire and that a detonator is required to
bring about explosion. Lack of such knowledge led Vyshinsky to
present such an absurd confession. These are questions which in
the interest of truth and clarification should have been put by the
prosecutor. He failed to do so. Why? Did he consider the fan­
tastic tale of Shestov in itself sufficient proof of the sabotage? Was
he afraid to repeat the question, put to Piatakov: "How was this
arranged? " Was the prosecutor afraid that no one would answer
obligingly: "Someone knew people able to arrange things like
that?" Was the prosecutor himself wondering whether there are
people in the whole wide world able to accomplish the thing alleged­
ly planned by Shestov? This same Shestov Hconfessed" to many
other no less fantastic plans. But plans they remained, none of
them ever ripening into acts. The reason. was, as Shestov put it,
that "all the conspirators lacked nerve."

"Lack of nerve did," according to Arnold's testimony save
the life of Prime Minister Molotov. Arnold, as agreed by the
conspirators, was to sacrifice himself to murder Molotov. He
volunteered as Molotov's chauffeur, and was to drive the car over a
precipice. Some of the co-conspirators did not trust Arnold, and
therefore they followed Molotov in a truck. In case of an ex­
pected "nerve-failure" on the part of Arnold, the truck was to push
the car over the precipice. But let's have Arnold's story.

"I drove the car towards the precipice, and the truck following
me, passed by, the others in the truck t,hinking that I shall
drive over the cliff. Mterwards I lost my nerve, and turned back
to the road."(21) ,

Such a story, such a senseless story) Imagine those conspira­
tors who passed by with their truck, not even looking to see
whether or not, Arnold actually drove over the cliff. No, they had
no curiosity whatever. They are "funny people" these confessed
conspirators. But so is Molotov, the intended victim ·in the car.
What did Molotov do? He apparently just forgot about the ex­
citing experience of seeing himself being carted toward the cliff.
Or possibly, he was so glad about Arnold losing his nerve, and not
going through with his ghastly plan, that he "refused to prosecute?"
Or-an iconoclastic idea-was Molotov one of the conspirators out
to murder himself? This latter can be the only real reason for
Molotov's failure to repo'rt the incident. But-another blasphemous

(21) Ibid, January 25, 1937
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thought-, if Molotov failed to report the attempt upon his life,
then he is guilty, at least to the extent of being "morally respon­
stble." The conseqt,1ence of such a conclusion . ., . . will probably
be discussed in subsequent trials. We can not believe that Old Bol­
sheviks.; as Molotov, would ever become terrorist conspirators;
therefore, the incident never occurred, except in the corrupted mind
of a G.P.D. agent.

To dozens of plans, dozens of terroristic plots, and much
sabotage did the accused confess, but nothing beyond plans, nothing
·beyond confessions was demonstrated. Oh yes! There was cor­
roborating evidence, at least in the opinion of Mr. Duranty, who
writes;

"For the first time there was introduced today some circum­
stantia.l evidence, in the form of a diary by M. ,So Stroilov of
his contact with German agents. Prosecutor Vyshinsky also
'placed in the record the telephone directory of Dortmund, a
Ruhr .town, to prove that a German, with w;hom Stroilov de­
clared he was connected there, did live at the address mentioned.
,Further evidence came from the Savoy Hotel in Moscow to prove
that certain Germans, with whom Stroilov said he conspired,
were there at the time he said he talked to them. TPen Stroilov
and A. A. Shestov were called on to pick out from twenty
'Photographs the five Germans they had worked with in common
sapotage. They did it easily."(22)

So they did it easily. But who would not? What prevented
the "confessing"Str6ilov and Shestov from seeing the photographs
before the trial? Does the picking of five pictures out of twenty
prove the alleged sabotage, or Trotsky's and the Trotskyites' con­
nection with it? The evidence of the Savoy Hotel in Moscow
(conti-olled by the self-same government which prosecutes the
defendants), is simply overwhelming. The fact that the govern­
ment-controlled Hotel shows from its records that certain Germans
.roomed there at a certain time, is expected to be taken as evidence
that the confessing defendant Stroilov was actually engaged in
sabotage with those Germans. The same "evidence" supplied by
the Hotel must be accepted as proof, that Trotsky and the Trotsky­
ites directed the sabotage.

The crowning piece of Vishinsky's evidence was undoubtedly
the telephone directory of Dortmund. One can visualize the breath­
taking scene. when this holy telephone directory from Hitler Ger­
many was·. produced. One must understand that after such
evidence, all denials were in vain. How could it be otherwise?

(22) New York Times, January 28, 1937.
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This public directory 'contained a name and an address ·mentioned
by Stroilov as his German accomplice. No denial is going to help,
because the prosecutor could easily prove. that Stroilov never saw
the telephone directory before his trial. Vyshinsky could further
prove that Stroilov did not get the name and address from the
telephone directory, but, on the contrary, the directory was located
by means of the data supplied by Stroilov. From: reading such
conclusive evidence, another blasphem'ous idea could occur. How
did the Soviet prosecutor obtain the telephone directory from the
city of Dortmund? Did he by any chance maintain connections with
Hitler? Such a conclusion is as m.uch justified as that of the pro­
secutor, that the telephone directory proves sabotage and Trotsky's
connection with it.

Stroilov's diary introduced in evidence and showing data pertain­
ing to his contact with German agents, could be considered as cor­
roborating evidence but for one thing, and that is that the diary
could have been prepared as easily as confessions are prepared.

While during the Zinoviev trial in August, Trotsky's alleged
instructions to the conspirators were written with invisible ink,
using certain pages of the Arabian Nights as code, the conspirators
of the present trial varied ,their method. The engineer, Vladimir
Lozinov, "confessed" that he "carried out terroristic instructions
conveyed to him by means of algebraic formulae." Vyshinsky, up
to this time a reader of Nick Carter stories, here goes modern;
his' "algebraic formulae" are a stock in trade of modern mystery
stories.

All acts of sabotage w~re to be commited by high officials
of the U.S.S.R. How impossible such a plot is, one can see easily
by transferring the scene to another country. How cold e.g. the
Secretary of Commerce or of the Interior in the U.S.A. bring about
3,500 -trainwrecks in two years, or even in two hundred years ? How
could such things be accomplished here without the help of thou­
sands of co-conspirators? Can such sabotage be accomplished by
the top alone?

We could go on endlessly, but the stories are always the same.
Plans with many trimmings. Blood-curdling episodes, all described
in detail, never carried out. Livschitz, a former Vice-Commissar of
Railways, confessed to everyone of the charges; so did Sokolnikov,
the former Vice-Commissar of Foreign Affairs; and so did Piata­
kov, Pushin, former chemistry Official, Karl Radek, J. N. Drobnis,
former leading functionary of the Moscow Soviet, M. S. Bogulav-
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sky, high functionary of the Commissariat for Industry and former
member of the Moscow Soviet. Plan they did for years, but the
plots were bungled because, as Arnold put it, they "lost their nerve."
"Plans always plans; not action." The result, however, is the pro­
nouncement of the Court handed down on January 30, 1937. All
defendants were found guilty and sentenced to die with the excep­
tion of Radek, Sokolnikov, Arnold and Stroilov. The date of
January 30th thus became a double holiday for Hitler Germany.
It was the anniversary of H\itler's taking power; and now there is
additional reason for celebration; the liquidation of the "Old Bol­
sheviks" continues apace.

More Trials to Come

As during the first trial, there were a great number of people
implicated now by the testimony of Radek and his co-defedants.
Many arrests were announced and many more are anticipated,
among them A. G. Beloborodov, the former head of the Ekaterin­
burg Soviet; Leonid Sosnovsky, one of the best known journalists,
and propagandist of the U.S.S.R.; Bucharin, up to now the Editor
in Chief of t~e newspaper Izvestia, Christian Rakovsky, former
ambassador to Britain and France. The arrest of these men and of
many" others casts a sinister shadow upon the days to com~. One
anticipated arrest appears to be more sinister than all others, and
that is the arrest of Sergei Sedov, the youngest son of Leon Trotsky,
the only member of his family remaining in Russia. There has been
"as yet no official confirmation of the arrest of Trotsky's son, but
the "Pravda" published a great number of letters from workers
demanding such an arrest. The cynical correspondents of foreign
newspapers in Moscow consider such "spontaneous" workers' letters
as a proof "'that Sergei Sedov has been arrested. The fact is that
such an arrest did take place, but not recently. It occured some
two years ago and was announced by newspaper headlines, such
as one reprinted" here from June 29, 1935.

The announcement of the arrest, came through an open letter
of Mrs. Nathalie I. Trotsky, the mother of Sergei. The letter, dated
June 1st, 1935, requested some of the outstanding intellectuals of
Europe to investigate her charges that Sergei's arrest was caused
by Stalin's malicious desire to wreak vengeance upon Leon Trotsky.
Mrs. Trotsky wrote:

"Sergei was born in 1908. At the outbreak of the October Revo­
lution he was a nine year old boy. He grew up in the Kremlin.,
In families w;hose older members are absorbed by politics, the
younger ones "are o-ften repelled thereby. Such was also our case.
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Sergei never occupied himself with political questions; he was
not even a member of the Communist youth .... In the Univer­
sity he concentrated on mathematics amI mechanics. As an
-engineer, he received a professorship in one of the higher tech­
nical sC,hools and in the last couple of years; he cairried on very
extensive pedagogical activities. With two other colleagues he
published recently a specia,l work entitled; 'Light Gas Gene­
rators of Automobile Tractor Type.'.... When we were forced
into exile abroad, Sergei was still a student. The authorities aJ­
lowed members of our family either to accompany us or to
lI"emain in the USSR. Sergei decided to remain in Moscow so as
not to be turned away from that work 'which from then on
absorbed! his whole being.... My correspondence with my son
was limited to exclusively 'neutral' every day subjects not
tOUching on politicaJ questions and the special living conditions
of our family circle .... L. D. (Leon Trot-sky) did not correspond
at all with our son in the years of exile 8'0 as not to give the
authorities the slightest pretext for persecution or simple an­
noyance, and as a matter of fact, in the six yea.rs of our present
emigration, Sergei co.ntinued his intense scientific pedagogical
work without any interference on the pa.rt of the authorities.
Things took a different course following the assassination of
Kirov and the famous trial of Zinoviev and Kamenev. Cor­
respondence ceased entirely and: half a year has elapsed since
Sergei has been in prison. It is precisely this tha,t compels
me to think that the jailers have some special designs in mind...
From various sources we knew that Sergei was just a much
removed from politics in recent years as before .... The GPU
and the university authorities kept a redoubled watch over him
;first as a student and secondly aiS' a young professor. He was
arrested not for any sort of opposition activity (which did not
exist .and under all circumstances could not exist), but ex­
clusively as the son of L. D. with the aim of wreaking vengeance
:upon the family. . .. Remember the attempt of the GPU to link
up the name of L.D. with the Kirov assassina'tion.... the
Latvian consul.... etc...... this whole scheme, however, fell
through and served only to compromise the organizers of the
trial. But precisely because of it, we repeated frequently
in our family circle after the trial: They will not stop at this,
they will have to prepare some new case to cover up the
ama.lgam with the consul. . . . The only thing that we did not
know was the method the GPU will choose this time. But now
there cannot be even a shadow of a doubt. By arresting the
absolutely innocent Sergei, by keeping him in jail for months,
Stalin, clearly and indubitably, presses the aim of creating a new
"amalgam." For this purpose, he must force from Sergei some
sort of suitable confession--even if only a renunciation {)f hiS'
father." (23)

(23) New MllltaDt, June 29, 1~.
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Fail to Shake
Mini

There is something horrible, something too sinister about the
fact that while Sergei was arrested in 1935, his arrest is now hinted
at. Does the prosecutor intend, as Mrs. Trotsky claims, to "force
fro;rn Sergei some sort of suitable confession--even if only a re­
nunciatiQ!n of hi. father?" Do the "jailers have some special design
in mind" concerning Sergei? Will they try to make him confess
and present his confession to an already suspicious world as a con­
fession spontaneously and freely given, while in fact he has been
at the mercy of the G.P.U. for the past two years? Will the world,
and more particularly those intellectuals to whom Mrs. Trotsky ad­
dressed her letter in June, 1935, remain silent while plots are laid by
the G.P.U.? Will Romain Rolland, Charles G;'ide, Bernard Shaw and
other friends of the Soviet Union remain silent while the trials of
other Old Bolsheviks are in preparation, or will they, as Mrs.
Trotsky requested, «assume the initiative and establish a committee
for investigation in agree~ent with the Societ Union?" Do not
Rolland, Gide, Shaw and the others believe that the method sug­
gested by Mrs. TrotSKy would be the best and only one for check­
ing the truth of the charges leveled by the Soviet Government
against the Old Bolsheviks? Would such a committee not be the
only institution which could effectively check the spread of the ac­
cusations leveled against the Soviet Government; that the trials
are framed?



THE TRIAL OF RADEK AND OTHERS

Why did Radek and his co-defendants confess?

189

The answer to this question was supplied by Radek in his
closing statement. The answer is clear from the blunt statement
of Radek.

"I gave evidence on the basis of its significance and on the
basis of usefulness." (Of course he added, "on the basis of truth").

This declaration tallies with the analysis given by Trotsky in
a statement issued by him on January 27, in Coyoacan, Mexico. Trot­
sky comments upon the confessions, in which the defendants take
upon themselves guilt for the most unspeakable crimes. He further
c0l11.iments upon the "cheap phychologist's attempt to explain this
phenomenon by the qualities of the 'Russian soul.'" But to that
Trotsky points out that "Russian revolutionists, among them ter­
rorists, had in the past the courage to defend their convictions."
Why then the unheard of scene presented by Radek and his co­
defendants? Trotsky's answer is that now among the accused:

"there sit not terrorists by conviction but terrorists produced
under instructions."

What are these instructions? And how are they made to
bring about the desired results? Trotsky believes that the defend­
ants are brought to confess by pointing to the threatening shadow
of Hitler cast across the U.S.S.R. The prisoners are told "Hitler
w:mts to Itn\obilize the entire world against us under the slogan of
defense of order against anarchy." How can we fend off this danger?
There is only one weapon available and that is, we must demon­
strate to the bourgeoisie of England, France and the U. S. A. that
Hitler himself does not recoil from an alliance with Trotsky." That
is the reason for the "confessions" concerning a Hitler-Trotskyite
alliance. The defendants, by fair means or foul, are then made to
see the light: that they as old Trotskyites, and they alone, can help
in the patriotic work of discrediting Trotsky and besmirching every­
thing Trotsky stands for.

Many of the defendants, as the past trial shows, did see the
light. They "confessed" abjectly, wretched from the long isolation
in their prison. There are many who confessed because they were
guaranteed a reprieve from the verdict. (That such reprieve was
held out to Zinoviev, Kamenev, Radek, Sokolnikov, etc., is obvious
from two special decrees handed down by the Central Executive
Committee, one after the Kirov murder and the other just preced­
ing the Zinoviev trial. The first special degree provided for the



190 THE FIRST TWO MOSCOW TRIALS

immediate execution of the sentences, brought in against terrorists
and took away the right of reprieve previously held by the Executive
Co~mittee. The second decree penmitted the defendants in the
Zinoviev trial to present their petition to the Committee for a
reprieve. The connection is clear. The defendants were told that
a reprieve would be granted to them, but they were fooled: and the
defendants were fooled again in January, 1937. They could be fooled,
because all of them were in the custody of the G.P.U. prior to the
execution of Zinoviev and Kamenev.)

While there are many who confessed to the most unspeakable
crimes, there are still more who failed to see the patriotic motive
for their confessing to crimes never committed. Those who fail
to make an agreement with the G.P.U. are not brought to trial.
Whether they are isolated in the G.P.U. cells, or are summarily
executed, history will tell. But one thing is assured now-that
other trials are in preparation, other victims are selected, and the
executioner's gun will crack again, unless the intellectuals and the
workers of the world, the friends of the Soviet Union, will rise and
will dtkmand;

AN END MUST BE PUT TO TH.E FARCICAL TRIALS
AND TO THE TRAGIC EXECUTIONS!

The publication of this pamphlet involved a great
amount of detail work: critical reviewing of the
manuscript, checking of the data, typing, proof-reading
and helping financially the publication. For their as­
sistance in this work, acknowledgement is due to Martin
Abern, Roy E. Burt, Nathan Gould', Frank and Helen
Trager, John and Dorothy Stirling, Yetta Barsh, Mar­
jorie Kipp, A.S.L., E.S.T., Walter Walden, the artist­
E. G. Myer, Leon D. Stevenson, "two friends" of the
author, the Italian Labor Publish:ng Co.; and last, but
not least, acknowledgement is due to Dr. Friedy B.
Heisler and Ivan for their "critical support."
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